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From time to time after the effective date of this registration statement, as determined by market and other conditions.

(Approximate date of commencement of proposed sale to the public)
 

If the only securities being registered on this Form are being offered pursuant to dividend or interest reinvestment plans, please check the following box.  o
 
If any of the securities being registered on this Form are to be offered on a delayed or continuous basis pursuant to Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 1933, other than

securities offered only in connection with dividend or interest reinvestment plans, check the following box.  x
 
If this Form is filed to register additional securities for an offering pursuant to Rule 462(b) under the Securities Act, please check the following box and list the

Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering.  o
 
If this Form is a post-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(c) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities Act registration

statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering.  o
 
If this Form is a registration statement pursuant to General Instruction I.D. or a post-effective amendment thereto that shall become effective upon filing with the

Commission pursuant to Rule 462(e) under the Securities Act, check the following box.  x
 

If this Form is a post-effective amendment to a registration statement filed pursuant to General Instruction I.D. filed to register additional securities or additional classes
of securities pursuant to Rule 413(b) under the Securities Act, check the following box.  o

 
*Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See the



definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.
 

Large accelerated filer  x Accelerated filer  o
Non-accelerated filer  o
(Do not check if a smaller reporting company)

Smaller reporting company  o

 
CALCULATION OF REGISTRATION FEE

 

Title of Each Class of Securities to be Registered
Amount to be
Registered(1)

Proposed
Maximum

Offering Price
per Unit

 

Proposed
Maximum
Aggregate

Offering Price(2)
 

Amount of
Registration

Fee(3)
Common Stock, par value $0.001 per share — — — —
Preferred Stock, par value $0.001 per share — — — —
Debt Securities — — — —
Warrants — — — —
Units — — — —
Total — — $ 100,000,000 $ 3,930

 
(1)          There are being registered hereunder such indeterminate number of shares of common stock and preferred stock, such indeterminate principal amount of debt securities,

such indeterminate number of warrants to purchase common stock, preferred stock or debt securities, and such indeterminate number of units as shall have an aggregate
initial offering price not to exceed $100,000,000. If any debt securities are issued at an original issued discount, then the offering price of such debt securities shall be in
such greater principal amount as shall result in an aggregate initial offering price not to exceed $100,000,000, less the aggregate dollar amount of all securities previously
issued hereunder. Any securities registered hereunder may be sold separately or as units with other securities registered hereunder. The proposed maximum initial offering
price per unit will be determined, from time to time, by the registrant in connection with the issuance by the registrant of the securities registered hereunder. The securities
registered also include such indeterminate amounts and numbers of common stock, preferred stock, and debt securities as may be issued upon conversion of or exchange
for preferred stock or debt securities that provide for conversion or exchange, upon exercise of warrants or pursuant to the antidilution provisions of any such securities. In
addition, pursuant to Rule 416 under the Securities Act, the shares being registered hereunder include such indeterminate number of shares of common stock and preferred
stock as may be issuable with respect to the shares being registered hereunder as a result of stock splits, stock dividends or similar transactions.

 
(2)          The proposed maximum aggregate offering price per class of security will be determined from time to time by the registrant in connection with the issuance by the

registrant of the securities registered hereunder and is not specified as to each class of security pursuant to General Instruction II.D of Form S-3 under the Securities Act.
 
(3)          Calculated pursuant to Rule 457(o) under the Securities Act.
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EXPLANATORY NOTE
 

This Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to the Registration Statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-148838) on Form S-3 is being filed to include information that is
required to be included in the registration statement by such form for registrants who are no longer well-known seasoned issuers, as defined in Rule 405 under the Securities
Act of 1933, as amended.
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PROSPECTUS
 

 
RIGEL PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

 

 
$100,000,000

 
Common Stock
Preferred Stock
Debt Securities

Warrants
Units

 

 
From time to time, we may sell common stock, preferred stock, debt securities and/or warrants, either individually or in units, with a total value of up to $100



million.  We may also offer common stock or preferred stock issuable upon conversion of debt securities, common stock issuable upon conversion of preferred stock, or
common stock, preferred stock or debt securities issuable upon the exercise of warrants.

 
We will provide the specific terms of these offerings and securities in one or more supplements to this prospectus.  We may also authorize one or more free writing

prospectuses to be provided to you in connection with these offerings. The prospectus supplement and free writing prospectus add, update or change in the prospectus
supplement any of the information contained in this prospectus or in the documents incorporated by reference into this prospectus. You should carefully read this prospectus,
the applicable prospectus supplement and any free writing prospectus, as well as any documents incorporated by reference in this prospectus and any prospectus supplement,
carefully before you invest in any securities.

 
Our common stock is traded on The Nasdaq Global Market under the trading symbol “RIGL.” The applicable prospectus supplement will contain information, where

applicable, as to any other listing (if any) on The Nasdaq Stock Market’s Global Market or any securities exchange of the securities covered by the prospectus supplement. On
February 23, 2009, the last reported sale price of our common stock on the Nasdaq Global Market was $5.40 per share.

 
THIS PROSPECTUS MAY NOT BE USED TO OFFER OR SELL ANY SECURITIES UNLESS ACCOMPANIED BY A PROSPECTUS

SUPPLEMENT.
 
The securities may be sold directly by us to investors, through agents designated from time to time or to or through underwriters or dealers.  For additional

information on the methods of sale, you should refer to the section entitled “Plan of Distribution” in this prospectus. If any underwriters are involved in the sale of any
securities with respect to which this prospectus is being delivered, the names of  such underwriters and any applicable commissions or discounts will be set forth in a
prospectus supplement. The net proceeds we expect to receive from such sale will also be set forth in a prospectus supplement.

 
NEITHER THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION NOR ANY STATE SECURITIES COMMISSION HAS  APPROVED OR

DISAPPROVED OF THESE SECURITIES OR DETERMINED IF THIS PROSPECTUS IS TRUTHFUL OR COMPLETE. ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE
CONTRARY IS A CRIMINAL OFFENSE.

 
INVESTING IN OUR SECURITIES INVOLVES A HIGH DEGREE OF RISK. YOU SHOULD CAREFULLY REVIEW THE RISKS AND

UNCERTAINTIES DESCRIBED IN THE SECTION ENTITLED “RISK  FACTORS” CONTAINED IN THE APPLICABLE PROSPECTUS SUPPLEMENT
AND ANY RELATED FREE WRITING PROSPECTUS AND UNDER SIMILAR HEADINGS IN THE OTHER DOCUMENTS THAT ARE INCORPORATED
BY REFERENCE INTO THIS PROSPECTUS.

 
The date of this prospectus is February 26, 2009
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ABOUT THIS PROSPECTUS 
 

This prospectus is part of a registration statement on Form S-3 that we filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC, using the “shelf” registration
process.  By using a shelf registration statement, we may offer and sell from time to time in one or more offerings the common stock, preferred stock, debt securities, warrants,
and units described in this prospectus up to a total dollar amount of $100,000,000.  This prospectus provides you with a general description of the securities we may offer. 
Each time we sell securities under this shelf registration statement, we will provide a prospectus supplement that will contain specific information about the terms of that
offering.  We may also authorize one or more free writing prospectuses to be provided to you that may contain material information relating to the offerings.  The prospectus
supplement and any related free writing prospectus that we may authorize to be provided to you may also add, update or change the information set forth in this prospectus.

 
You should rely only on the information contained in or incorporated by reference into this prospectus, any applicable prospectus supplement and any related free

writing prospectus that we may authorize to be delivered to you.  We have not authorized anyone to provide you with different information. This document may only be used
where it is legal to sell these securities.  You should not assume that the information contained in this prospectus, in any applicable prospectus supplement or in any related
free writing prospectus, is accurate as of any date other than its date regardless of the time of delivery of the prospectus, prospectus supplement or related free writing
prospectus, or any sale of the common stock.  If there is any inconsistency between the information in this prospectus and the applicable prospectus supplement, you should
rely on the information in the prospectus supplement.

 
This prospectus and the information incorporated herein by reference includes trademarks, service marks and trade names owned by us or others.  All trademarks,

service marks and trade names included or incorporated by reference into this prospectus or any applicable prospectus supplement are the property of their respective owners.
 
We urge you to read carefully this prospectus, any applicable prospectus supplement and any related free writing prospectus that we may authorize to be delivered to



you, together with the information incorporated herein by reference as described under the heading “Where You Can Find More Information,” before deciding whether to
invest in any of the securities being offered.
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SUMMARY 
 

This summary highlights selected information from this prospectus and does not contain all of the information that you need to consider in making your investment
decision. You should carefully read the entire prospectus, including the risks of investing discussed under “Risk Factors” contained in the applicable prospectus supplement
and any related free writing prospectus and under similar headings in the other documents that are incorporated by reference into this prospectus, the information incorporated
by reference, including our financial statements, and the exhibits to the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part.

 
References in this prospectus to “Rigel”, “we”, “us” and “our” refer to Rigel Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a Delaware corporation.
 

Our Company
 

Rigel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. is a clinical-stage drug development company that discovers and develops novel, small-molecule drugs for the treatment of
inflammatory/autoimmune diseases, as well as for certain cancers and metabolic diseases. Our pioneering research focuses on intracellular signaling pathways and related
targets that are critical to disease mechanisms. Our productivity has resulted in strategic collaborations with large pharmaceutical partners to develop and market our product
candidates. We have product development programs in inflammatory/autoimmune diseases, such as rheumatoid arthritis, thrombocytopenia and asthma, as well as in cancer.

 
Rigel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. was incorporated in Delaware in June 1996.  Our principal executive offices are located at 1180 Veterans Boulevard, South San

Francisco, CA 94080 and our telephone number is (650) 624-1100.  Our web site address is http://www.rigel.com.  The information contained in, or that can be accessed
through, our web site is not part of this prospectus.

 
The Securities We May Offer
 

We may offer shares of our common stock and preferred stock, various series of debt securities and/or warrants to purchase any of such securities, either
individually or in units, with a total value of up to $100,000,000 from time to time under this prospectus, together with any applicable prospectus supplement and related free
writing prospectus, at prices and on terms to be determined by market conditions at the time of offering.  This prospectus provides you with a general description of the
securities we may offer.  Each time we offer a type or series of securities under this prospectus, we will provide a prospectus supplement that will describe the specific
amounts, prices and other important terms of the securities, including, to the extent applicable: designation or classification; aggregate principal amount or aggregate offering
price; maturity, if applicable; original issue discount, if any; rates and times of payment of interest or dividends, if any; redemption, conversion, exchange or sinking fund
terms, if any; conversion or exchange prices or rates, if any, and, if applicable, any provisions for changes to or adjustments in the conversion or exchange prices or rates and in
the securities or other property receivable upon conversion or exchange;  ranking; restrictive covenants, if any; voting or other rights, if any; and important United States
federal income tax considerations.

 
A prospectus supplement and any related free writing prospectus that we may authorize to be provided to you may also add, update or change information contained

in this prospectus or in documents we have incorporated by reference.  However, no prospectus supplement or free writing prospectus will offer a security that is not
registered and described in this prospectus at the time of the effectiveness of the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part.

 
This prospectus may not be used to offer or sell any securities unless accompanied by a prospectus supplement.
 
We may sell the securities directly to investors or to or through agents, underwriters or dealers. We, and our agents or underwriters, reserve the right to accept or

reject all or part of any proposed purchase of securities. If we do offer securities through agents or underwriters, we will include in the applicable prospectus supplement: the
names of those agents or underwriters; applicable fees, discounts and commissions to be paid to them; details regarding over-allotment options, if any; and the net proceeds to
us.

 
Common Stock. We may issue shares of our common stock from time to time. Holders of our common stock are entitled to one vote per share on all matters

submitted to a vote of stockholders. Subject to any preferences of outstanding shares of preferred stock, holders of our common stock are entitled to dividends when and if
declared by our board of directors.  In this prospectus, we have summarized certain general features of the common stock under “Description of Capital Stock — Common
Stock.”  We urge you, however, to read the prospectus supplements and any related free writing prospectus that we may authorize to be provided to you related to any
common stock being offered.

 
Preferred Stock. We may issue shares of our preferred stock from time to time, in one or more series. Our board of directors shall determine the rights, preferences,

privileges and restrictions of the preferred stock, including dividend rights, conversion rights, voting rights, terms of redemption, liquidation preferences, sinking fund terms
and the number of shares constituting any series or the designation of any series. Convertible preferred stock will be convertible into our common stock. Conversion may be
mandatory or at your option and would be at prescribed conversion rates.
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If we sell any series of preferred stock under this prospectus and applicable prospectus supplements, we will fix the rights, preferences, privileges, qualifications and

restrictions of the preferred stock of such series in the certificate of designation relating to that series.  We will file as an exhibit to the registration statement of which this
prospectus is a part, or will incorporate by reference from a current report on Form 8-K that we file with the SEC, the form of any certificate of designation that describes the
terms of the series of preferred stock we are offering before the issuance of the related series of preferred stock.  In this prospectus, we have summarized certain general
features of the preferred stock under “Description of Capital Stock — Preferred Stock.”  We urge you, however, to read the prospectus supplements and any related free
writing prospectus that we may authorize to be provided to you related to the series of preferred stock being offered, as well as the complete certificate of designation that
contains the terms of the applicable series of preferred stock.

 
Debt Securities. We may issue debt securities from time to time, in one or more series, as either senior or subordinated debt or as senior or subordinated convertible

debt.  The senior debt securities will rank equally with any other unsubordinated debt that we may have and may be secured or unsecured.  The subordinated debt securities
will be subordinate and junior in right of payment, to the extent and in the manner described in the instrument governing the debt, to all or some portion of our indebtedness. 
Any convertible debt securities that we issue will be convertible into or exchangeable for our common stock or other securities of ours.  Conversion may be mandatory or at
the holder’s option and would be at prescribed conversion rates.

 
The debt securities will be issued under one or more documents called indentures, which are contracts between us and a trustee for the holders of the debt securities.

 Indentures have been filed as exhibits to the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part, and supplemental indentures and forms of debt securities containing the



terms of debt securities being offered will be  filed as exhibits to the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part, or will be incorporated by reference from a
current report on Form 8-K that we file with the SEC.  In this prospectus, we have summarized certain general features of the debt securities under “Description of Debt
Securities.” We urge you, however, to read the prospectus supplements and any free writing prospectus that we may authorize to be provided to you related to the series of
debt securities being offered, as well as the complete indentures that contain the terms of the series of debt securities.

 
Warrants. We may issue warrants for the purchase of our common stock, preferred stock and/or debt securities in one or more series, from time to time.  We may

issue warrants independently or together with common stock, preferred stock and/or debt securities, and the warrants may be attached to or separate from those securities.
 
The warrants will be evidenced by warrant certificates issued under one or more warrant agreements, which are contracts between us and an agent for the holders of

the warrants.  Forms of the warrant agreements and forms of warrants containing the terms of the warrants being offered have been filed as exhibits to the registration
statement of which this prospectus is a part, and supplemental agreements and forms of warrants will be filed as exhibits to the registration statement of which this prospectus
is a part, or will be incorporated by reference from a current report on Form 8-K that we file with the SEC.  In this prospectus, we have summarized certain general features of
the warrants under “Description of Warrants.”. We urge you, however, to read the prospectus supplements and any free writing prospectus that we may authorize to be
provided to you related to the series of warrants being offered, as well as the complete warrant agreements and warrant certificates that contain the terms of the warrants.

 
Units. We may issue units consisting of common stock, preferred stock, debt securities and/or warrants to purchase any of such securities in one or more series.
 
We will evidence each series of units by unit certificates that we will issue under a separate agreement. We will enter into the unit agreements with a unit agent. Each

unit agent will be a bank or trust company that we select. We will indicate the name and address of the unit agent in the applicable prospectus supplement relating to a
particular series of units. We will file as exhibits to the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part, or will incorporate by reference from a current report on
Form 8-K that we file with the SEC, the form of unit agreement and any supplemental agreements that describe the terms of the series of units we are offering before the
issuance of the related series of units.  In this prospectus, we have summarized certain general features of the units under “Description of Units.” We urge you, however, to
read the prospectus supplements and any free writing prospectus that we may authorize to be provided to you related to the series of units being offered, as well as the unit
agreements that contain the terms of the units.
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RISK FACTORS 
 

Investing in our securities involves a high degree of risk. You should consider carefully the risk factors identified in any applicable prospectus supplement and any
related free writing prospectus, and in our most recent annual and quarterly filings with the SEC, as well as other information contained in this prospectus, any applicable
prospectus supplement and any related free writing prospectus, and in the documents incorporated by reference herein or therein before deciding to purchase any of the
securities being registered pursuant to the registrations statement of which this prospectus is a part. Each of the risk factors could adversely affect our business, operating
results and financial condition, as well as adversely affect the value of an investment in our securities, and the occurrence of any of these risks might cause you to lose all or
part of your investment.

 
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

 
This prospectus and the documents incorporated by reference contain forward-looking statements. These are based on our management’s current beliefs,

expectations and assumptions about future events, conditions and results and on information currently available to us. Discussions containing these forward-looking
statements may be found, among other places, in the Sections entitled “Business,” “Risk Factors” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations” incorporated by reference from our most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K and in our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, as well as any amendments
thereto, filed with the SEC. Within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Act, and Section 21E of the Exchange Act, these
forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements about: our business and scientific strategies; the progress of our product development programs,
including clinical testing, and the timing of results thereof; our corporate collaborations, including revenues that may be received from these collaborations; our drug
discovery technologies; our research and development expenses; protection of our intellectual property; sufficiency of our cash resources; and our operations and legal risks.

 
All statements, other than statements of historical fact, included or incorporated herein regarding our strategy, future operations, financial position, future revenues,

projected costs, plans, prospectus and objectives are forward-looking statements. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terms such as “anticipate,”
“believe,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,” “potential,” “predict,” “project,” “should,” “will,” “would” and similar expressions. These statements
involve risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results, performance, time frames or achievements to be materially different from any future results,
performance, time frames or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. Risks, uncertainties and other factors that might cause or contribute to
such differences include, but are not limited to, those discussed in the Section entitled “Risk Factors” in our most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K and in our Quarterly
Reports on Form 10-Q, as well as any amendments thereto filed with the SEC. Given these risks, uncertainties and other factors, many of which are beyond our control, you
should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements.

 
Except as required by law, we assume no obligation to update these forward-looking statements publicly, or to revise any forward-looking statements to reflect events

or developments occurring after the date of this prospectus, even if new information becomes available in the future.
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RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES AND 
COMBINED FIXED CHARGES AND PREFERRED STOCK DIVIDENDS

 
The following table sets forth our ratio of earnings to fixed charges and the ratio of our earnings to combined fixed charges and preferred stock dividends earnings

for the periods presented.  Our earnings were insufficient to cover fixed charges and combined fixed charges and preferred stock dividends in each of the years in the years
ended December 31, 2004, 2005, 2006, 2007 and 2008. “Earnings” consist of loss from operations before income taxes and fixed charges. “Fixed charges” consist of interest
expense and the portion of operating lease expense that represents interest. The extent to which earnings were insufficient to cover fixed charges and combined fixed charges
and preferred stock dividends for those periods is shown below. Amounts shown are in thousands.
 

Year Ended December 31,
2008 2007

 

2006
 

2005
 

2004
Deficiency of earnings available to cover fixed

charges $ (132,435) $ (74,272) $ (37,637) $ (45,256) $ (56,255)
            
Deficiency of earnings available to cover combined

fixed charges and preferred stock dividends $ (132,435) $ (74,272) $ (37,637) $ (45,256) $ (56,255)
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USE OF PROCEEDS 
 

Except as described in any applicable prospectus supplement and in any related free writing prospectus that we may authorize to be delivered to you in connection
with a specific offering, we anticipate using the net proceeds to us from the sale of securities offered hereby for research and development and other general corporate
purposes. We may also use a portion of the net proceeds to acquire or invest in businesses, products and technologies that we believe are complementary to our own, although
we are not currently planning or negotiating any such transactions. Pending these uses, we intend to invest the net proceeds in investment-grade, interest-bearing securities.
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DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK 
 

Our authorized capital stock consists of 100 million shares of common stock, $0.001 par value, and 10 million shares of preferred stock, $0.001 par value. As of
December 31, 2008, there were 36,646,397 shares of our common stock outstanding and no shares of preferred stock outstanding. We may issue shares of our common stock
and/or our preferred stock from time to time in one or more offerings. We will set forth in the applicable prospectus supplement and/or in any related free writing prospectus
that we may authorize to be delivered to you in connection with a specific offering, a description of the terms of the offering of common stock and/or preferred stock,
including the offering price, the net proceeds to us and other material terms relating to such offering.

 
The following summary description of our capital stock is based on the provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated

bylaws, and the applicable provisions of the Delaware General Corporation Law. This information may not be complete in all respects and is qualified entirely by reference to
the provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws, and the Delaware General Corporation Law. For information on how
to obtain copies of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws, which are exhibits to the registration statement of which this
prospectus forms a part, see the section entitled “Where You Can Find More Information.”

 
Common Stock
 

The holders of our common stock are entitled to one vote for each share held of record on all matters submitted to a vote of the stockholders and do not have cumulative
voting rights. Accordingly, holders of a majority of the shares of our common stock entitled to vote in any election of directors may elect all of the directors standing for
election. Subject to preferences that may be applicable to any shares of our preferred stock that may become outstanding, the holders of our common stock are entitled to
receive ratably such dividends as may be declared by the board of directors out of funds legally available therefor. Upon the liquidation, dissolution or winding up of Rigel,
holders of our common stock are entitled to share ratably in all assets remaining available for distribution to our stockholders after payment of our liabilities and the
liquidation preferences of any shares of our preferred stock then outstanding. Holders of our common stock have no preemptive rights and no right to convert their common
stock into any other securities. There are no redemption or sinking fund provisions applicable to our common stock. All outstanding shares of our common stock are, and all
shares of our common stock that may be issued under this prospectus will be, fully paid and non-assessable.

 
Preferred Stock
 

Pursuant to our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, our board of directors has the authority, without further action by the stockholders, to issue up to
10 million shares of preferred stock, in one or more series. Our board of directors is authorized to fix or alter from time to time the designation, powers, preferences and rights
of the shares of each series, including dividend rights, conversion rights, voting rights, terms of redemption, liquidation preferences and sinking fund terms, as well as the
qualifications, limitations or restrictions of any unissued series of preferred stock. Our board of directors may also establish from time to time the number of shares
constituting any series of preferred stock, and to increase or decrease the number of shares of any series subsequent to the issuance of shares of that series, but not below the
number of shares of any series then outstanding.

 
We will fix the rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions of the preferred stock of each series in the certificate of designation relating to that series. We will file

as exhibits to the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part, or will incorporate by reference from a current report on Form 8-K that we file with the SEC, the
form of any certificate of designation that describes the terms of the series of preferred stock we are offering before the issuance of the related series of preferred stock. This
description will include:

 
·  the title and stated value;
·  the number of shares we are offering;
·  the liquidation preference per share;
·  the purchase price;
·  the dividend rate, period and payment date and method of calculation for dividends;
·  whether dividends will be cumulative or non-cumulative and, if cumulative, the date from which dividends will accumulate;
·  the procedures for any auction and remarketing, if any;
·  the provisions for a sinking fund, if any;
·  the provisions for redemption or repurchase, if applicable, and any restrictions on our ability to exercise those redemption and repurchase rights;
·  any listing of the preferred stock on any securities exchange or market;
· whether the preferred stock will be convertible into our common stock, and, if applicable, the conversion price, or how it will be calculated, and the conversion

period;
·  whether the preferred stock will be exchangeable into debt securities, and, if applicable, the exchange price, or how it will
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be calculated, and the exchange period;
·  voting rights, if any, of the preferred stock;
·  preemption rights, if any;
·  restrictions on transfer, sale or other assignment, if any;
·  whether interests in the preferred stock will be represented by depositary shares;
·  a discussion of any material or special United States federal income tax considerations applicable to the preferred stock;
·  the relative ranking and preferences of the preferred stock as to dividend rights and rights if we liquidate, dissolve or wind up our affairs;



·  any limitations on issuance of any class or series of preferred stock ranking senior to or on a parity with the series of preferred stock as to dividend rights and rights if
we liquidate, dissolve or wind up our affairs; and
·  any other specific terms, preferences, rights or limitations of, or restrictions on, the preferred stock.
 
If we issue shares of preferred stock under this prospectus, the shares will be fully paid and non-assessable and will not have, or be subject to, any preemptive or

similar rights.
 
The General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, our state of incorporation, provides that the holders of preferred stock will have the right to vote separately

as a class on any proposal involving fundamental changes in the rights of holders of that preferred stock. This right is in addition to any voting rights that may be provided in
the applicable certificate of designation.

 
The issuance of preferred stock could adversely affect the voting power, liquidation rights, conversion or other rights of holders of our common stock. Preferred

stock could be issued quickly with terms calculated to delay or prevent a change in control of our company or make removal of management more difficult. Additionally, the
issuance of preferred stock may have the effect of decreasing the market price of common stock.

 
Stock Options and Warrants
 

As of December 31, 2008, there were 10,340,053 shares of our common stock reserved for issuance or future grant under our 2000 Equity Incentive Plan, 1,409,931
shares available for issuance under our 2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan and 532,211 shares available for issuance or future grant under our 2000 Non-Employee
Directors’ Stock Option Plan. In addition, as of such date, an entity held warrants to purchase 100,000 shares of our common stock and certain other individuals held options
to purchase 6,386,625 shares of our common stock.

 
Anti-Takeover Effects of Provisions of Delaware Law and Our Charter Documents
 

Delaware Takeover Statute.   We are subject to the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law. In general, the statute prohibits a publicly-
held Delaware corporation such as Rigel from engaging in a business combination with an interested stockholder for a period of three years after the date of the transaction in
which the person became an interested stockholder, unless the business combination is approved in a prescribed manner. For purposes of Section 203, a business combination
includes a merger, asset sale or other transaction resulting in a financial benefit to the interested stockholder, and an interested stockholder is a person who, together with
affiliates and associates, owns (or within three years prior, did own) 15% or more of the corporation’s voting stock.

 
Charter Documents.   Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation requires that any action required or permitted to be taken by our stockholders must be

effected at a duly called annual or special meeting of stockholders and may not be effected by a consent in writing. Additionally, our amended and restated certificate of
incorporation: does not provide for the use of cumulative voting in the election of directors; provides for a board of directors, classified into three classes of directors; provides
that the authorized number of directors may be changed only by resolution of our board of directors; and provides for the authority of our board of directors to issue up to
10 million shares of “blank check” preferred stock and to determine the price, powers, preferences and rights of these shares, without stockholder approval.

 
Our amended and restated bylaws provide that candidates for director may be nominated only by our board of directors or by a stockholder who gives written notice

to us no later than 90 days prior nor earlier than 120 days prior to the first anniversary of the last annual meeting of stockholders, subject to certain exceptions. The authorized
number of directors is fixed in accordance with our amended and restated certificate of incorporation. Our board of directors may appoint new directors to fill vacancies or
newly created directorships. Our amended and restated bylaws also limit who may call a special meeting of stockholders.

 
Delaware law and these charter provisions may have the effect of deterring hostile takeovers or delaying changes in control of our management, which could depress

the market price of our common stock.
 

Transfer Agent and Registrar
 

The transfer agent and registrar for our common stock is Wells Fargo Bank, N. A. Its address is 161 North Concord Exchange, South St. Paul, MN 55075-1139 and
its telephone number is (800) 468-9716.

 
Listing on the Nasdaq Global Market
 

Our common stock is traded on The Nasdaq Global Market under the trading symbol “RIGL.”
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DESCRIPTION OF DEBT SECURITIES 
 

The following description, together with the additional information we include in any applicable prospectus supplements or free writing prospectuses, summarizes
the material terms and provisions of the debt securities that we may offer under this prospectus. We may issue debt securities, in one or more series, as either senior or
subordinated debt or as senior or subordinated convertible debt. While the terms we have summarized below will apply generally to any future debt securities we may offer
under this prospectus, we will describe the particular terms of any debt securities that we may offer in more detail in the applicable prospectus supplement or free writing
prospectus. The terms of any debt securities we offer under a prospectus supplement may differ from the terms we describe below. However, no prospectus supplement shall
fundamentally change the terms that are set forth in this prospectus or offer a security that is not registered and described in this prospectus at the time of its effectiveness. As
of the date of this prospectus, we have no outstanding registered debt securities. Unless the context requires otherwise, whenever we refer to the “indentures,” we also are
referring to any supplemental indentures that specify the terms of a particular series of debt securities.

 
We will issue any senior debt securities under the senior indenture that we will enter into with the trustee named in the senior indenture. We will issue any

subordinated debt securities under the subordinated indenture that we will enter into with the trustee named in the subordinated indenture. We have filed forms of these
documents as exhibits to the registration statement, of which this prospectus is a part, and supplemental indentures and forms of debt securities containing the terms of the
debt securities being offered will be filed as exhibits to the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part or will be incorporated by reference from reports that we
file with the SEC.

 
The indentures will be qualified under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, or the Trust Indenture Act. We use the term “trustee” to refer to either the trustee

under the senior indenture or the trustee under the subordinated indenture, as applicable.
 
The following summaries of material provisions of the senior debt securities, the subordinated debt securities and the indentures are subject to, and qualified in their

entirety by reference to, all of the provisions of the indenture applicable to a particular series of debt securities. We urge you to read the applicable prospectus supplements
and any related free writing prospectuses related to the debt securities that we may offer under this prospectus, as well as the complete indentures that contains the terms of
the debt securities. Except as we may otherwise indicate, the terms of the senior indenture and the subordinated indenture are identical.

 
General



 
The terms of each series of debt securities will be established by or pursuant to a resolution of our board of directors and set forth or determined in the manner provided

in an officers’ certificate or by a supplement indenture. Debt securities may be issued in separate series without limitation as to aggregate principal amount. We may specify a
maximum aggregate principal amount for the debt securities of any series. We will describe in the applicable prospectus supplement the terms of the series of debt securities
being offered, including:

 
·                  the title;
·                  the principal amount being offered, and if a series, the total amount authorized and the total amount outstanding;
·                  any limit on the amount that may be issued;
·                  whether or not we will issue the series of debt securities in global form, and, if so, the terms and who the depositary will be;
·                  the maturity date;
·                  whether and under what circumstances, if any, we will pay additional amounts on any debt securities held by a person who is not a United States person for tax

purposes, and whether we can redeem the debt securities if we have to pay such additional amounts;
·                  the annual interest rate, which may be fixed or variable, or the method for determining the rate and the date interest will begin to accrue, the dates interest will be

payable and the regular record dates for interest payment dates or the method for determining such dates;
·                  whether or not the debt securities will be secured or unsecured, and the terms of any secured debt;
·                  the terms of the subordination of any series of subordinated debt;
·                  the place where payments will be payable;
·                  restrictions on transfer, sale or other assignment, if any;
·                  our right, if any, to defer payment of interest and the maximum length of any such deferral period;
·                  the date, if any, after which, and the price at which, we may, at our option, redeem the series of debt securities pursuant to any optional or provisional redemption

provisions and the terms of those redemption provisions;
·                  the date, if any, on which, and the price at which we are obligated, pursuant to any mandatory sinking fund or analogous fund provisions or otherwise, to redeem, or at

the holder’s option, to purchase, the series of debt securities and the currency or currency unit in which the debt securities are payable;
·                  whether the indenture will restrict our ability or the ability of our subsidiaries to:
 

·      incur additional indebtedness;
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·      issue additional securities;
·      create liens;
·      pay dividends or make distributions in respect of our capital stock or the capital stock of our subsidiaries;
·      redeem capital stock;
·      place restrictions on our subsidiaries’ ability to pay dividends, make distributions or transfer assets;
·      make investments or other restricted payments;
·      sell or otherwise dispose of assets;
·      enter into sale-leaseback transactions;
·      engage in transactions with stockholders or affiliates;
·      issue or sell stock of our subsidiaries; or
·      effect a consolidation or merger;
·      whether the indenture will require us to maintain any interest coverage, fixed charge, cash flow-based, asset-based or other financial ratios;
·      a discussion of certain material or special United States federal income tax considerations applicable to the debt securities;
·      information describing any book-entry features;
·      provisions for a sinking fund purchase or other analogous fund, if any;
·      the applicability of the provisions in the indenture on discharge;
 

·                  whether the debt securities are to be offered at a price such that they will be deemed to be offered at an “original issue discount” as defined in paragraph (a) of
Section 1273 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended;

·                  the denominations in which we will issue the series of debt securities, if other than denominations of $1,000 and any integral multiple thereof;
·                  the currency of payment of debt securities if other than U.S. dollars and the manner of determining the equivalent amount in U.S. dollars; and
·                  any other specific terms, preferences, rights or limitations of, or restrictions on, the debt securities, including any additional events of default or covenants provided

with respect to the debt securities, and any terms that may be required by us or advisable under applicable laws or regulations.
 

Conversion or Exchange Rights
 

We will set forth in the applicable prospectus supplement the terms on which a series of debt securities may be convertible into or exchangeable for our common
stock, our preferred stock or other securities (including securities of a third-party). We will include provisions as to whether conversion or exchange is mandatory, at the
option of the holder or at our option. We may include provisions pursuant to which the number of shares of our common stock, our preferred stock or other securities
(including securities of a third-party) that the holders of the series of debt securities receive would be subject to adjustment.

 
Consolidation, Merger or Sale
 

Unless we provide otherwise in the prospectus supplement applicable to a particular series of debt securities, the indentures will not contain any covenant that restricts
our ability to merge or consolidate, or sell, convey, transfer or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of our assets. However, any successor to or acquirer of such assets
must assume all of our obligations under the indentures or the debt securities, as appropriate. If the debt securities are convertible into or exchangeable for our other securities
or securities of other entities, the person with whom we consolidate or merge or to whom we sell all of our property must make provisions for the conversion of the debt
securities into securities that the holders of the debt securities would have received if they had converted the debt securities before the consolidation, merger or sale.

 
Events of Default under the Indenture
 

Unless we provide otherwise in the prospectus supplement applicable to a particular series of debt securities, the following are events of default under the indentures
with respect to any series of debt securities that we may issue:

 
·                  if we fail to pay interest when due and payable and our failure continues for 90 days and the time for payment has not been extended;
·                  if we fail to pay the principal, premium or sinking fund payment, if any, when due and payable at maturity, upon redemption or repurchase or otherwise, and the time

for payment has not been extended;
·                  if we fail to observe or perform any other covenant contained in the debt securities or the indentures, other than a covenant specifically relating to another series of debt

securities, and our failure continues for 90 days after we receive notice from the trustee or we and the trustee receive notice from the holders of at least 25% in
aggregate principal amount of the outstanding debt securities of the applicable series; and

·                  if specified events of bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization occur.
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We will describe in each applicable prospectus supplement any additional events of default relating to the relevant series of debt securities.
 
If an event of default with respect to debt securities of any series occurs and is continuing, other than an event of default specified in the last bullet point above, the

trustee or the holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding debt securities of that series, by notice to us in writing, and to the trustee if notice is
given by such holders, may declare the unpaid principal, premium, if any, and accrued interest, if any, due and payable immediately. If an event of default specified in the last
bullet point above occurs with respect to us, the unpaid principal, premium, if any, and accrued interest, if any, of each issue of debt securities then outstanding shall be due
and payable without any notice or other action on the part of the trustee or any holder.

 
The holders of a majority in principal amount of the outstanding debt securities of an affected series may waive any default or event of default with respect to the

series and its consequences, except defaults or events of default regarding payment of principal, premium, if any, or interest, unless we have cured the default or event of
default in accordance with the indenture. Any waiver shall cure the default or event of default.

 
Subject to the terms of the indentures, if an event of default under an indenture shall occur and be continuing, the trustee will be under no obligation to exercise any

of its rights or powers under such indenture at the request or direction of any of the holders of the applicable series of debt securities, unless such holders have offered the
trustee reasonable indemnity or security satisfactory to it against any loss, liability or expense. The holders of a majority in principal amount of the outstanding debt securities
of any series will have the right to direct the time, method and place of conducting any proceeding for any remedy available to the trustee, or exercising any trust or power
conferred on the trustee, with respect to the debt securities of that series, provided that:

 
·                  the direction so given by the holder is not in conflict with any law or the applicable indenture; and
·                  subject to its duties under the Trust Indenture Act, the trustee need not take any action that might involve it in personal liability or might be unduly prejudicial to the

holders not involved in the proceeding.
 

The indentures provide that if an event of default has occurred and is continuing, the trustee will be required in the exercise of its powers to use the degree of care
that a prudent person would use in the conduct of its own affairs. The trustee, however, may refuse to follow any direction that conflicts with law or the indenture, or that the
trustee determines is unduly prejudicial to the rights of any other holder of the relevant series of debt securities, or that would involve the trustee in personal liability. Prior to
taking any action under the indentures, the trustee will be entitled to indemnification against all costs, expenses and liabilities that would be incurred by taking or not taking
such action.

 
A holder of the debt securities of any series will have the right to institute a proceeding under the indentures or to appoint a receiver or trustee, or to seek other

remedies only if:
 

·                  the holder has given written notice to the trustee of a continuing event of default with respect to that series;
·                  the holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding debt securities of that series have made written request, and such holders have offered

reasonable indemnity to the trustee or security satisfactory to it against any loss, liability or expense or to be incurred in compliance with instituting the proceeding as
trustee; and

·                  the trustee does not institute the proceeding, and does not receive from the holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding debt securities of that
series other conflicting directions within 90 days after the notice, request and offer.

 
These limitations do not apply to a suit instituted by a holder of debt securities if we default in the payment of the principal, premium, if any, or interest on, the debt

securities, or other defaults that may be specified in the applicable prospectus supplement.
 
We will periodically file statements with the trustee regarding our compliance with specified covenants in the indentures.
 
The indentures provide that if a default occurs and is continuing and is actually known to a responsible officer of the trustee, the trustee must mail to each holder

notice of the default within the earlier of 90 days after it occurs and 30 days after it is known by a responsible officer of the trustee or written notice of it is received by the
trustee, unless such default has been cured or waived. Except in the case of a default in the payment of principal or premium of or interest on any debt security or certain other
defaults specified in an indenture, the trustee shall be protected in withholding such notice if and so long as the board of directors, the executive committee or a trust
committee of directors, or responsible officers of the trustee, in good faith determine that withholding notice is in the best interests of holders of the relevant series of debt
securities.

 
Modification of Indenture; Waiver
 

Subject to the terms of the indenture for any series of debt securities that we may issue, we and the trustee may change an indenture without the consent of any holders
with respect to the following specific matters:
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·                  to fix any ambiguity, defect or inconsistency in the indenture;
·                  to comply with the provisions described above under “Description of Debt Securities — Consolidation, Merger or Sale”;
·                  to comply with any requirements of the SEC in connection with the qualification of any indenture under the Trust Indenture Act;
·                  to add to, delete from or revise the conditions, limitations, and restrictions on the authorized amount, terms, or purposes of issue, authentication and delivery of debt

securities, as set forth in the indenture;
·                  to provide for the issuance of and establish the form and terms and conditions of the debt securities of any series as provided under “Description of Debt Securities —

General,” to establish the form of any certifications required to be furnished pursuant to the terms of the indenture or any series of debt securities, or to add to the rights
of the holders of any series of debt securities;

·                  to evidence and provide for the acceptance of appointment hereunder by a successor trustee;
·                  to provide for uncertificated debt securities and to make all appropriate changes for such purpose;
·                  to add to our covenants such new covenants, restrictions, conditions or provisions for the benefit of the holders, to make the occurrence, or the occurrence and the

continuance, of a default in any such additional covenants, restrictions, conditions or provisions an event of default or to surrender any right or power conferred to us in
the indenture; or

·                  to change anything that does not adversely affect the interests of any holder of debt securities of any series in any material respect.
 
In addition, under the indentures, the rights of holders of a series of debt securities may be changed by us and the trustee with the written consent of the holders of at

least a majority in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding debt securities of each series that is affected. However, subject to the terms of the indenture for any series of
debt securities that we may issue or otherwise provided in the prospectus supplement applicable to a particular series of debt securities, we and the trustee may only make the



following changes with the consent of each holder of any outstanding debt securities affected:
 

·                  extending the stated maturity of the series of debt securities;
·                  reducing the principal amount, reducing the rate of or extending the time of payment of interest, or reducing any premium payable upon the redemption or repurchase

of any debt securities; or
·                  reducing the percentage of debt securities, the holders of which are required to consent to any amendment, supplement, modification or waiver.
 

Discharge
 

Each indenture provides that, subject to the terms of the indenture and any limitation otherwise provided in the prospectus supplement applicable to a particular series
of debt securities, we can elect to be discharged from our obligations with respect to one or more series of debt securities, except for specified obligations, including
obligations to:

 
·                  register the transfer or exchange of debt securities of the series;
·                  replace stolen, lost or mutilated debt securities of the series;
·                  maintain paying agencies;
·                  hold monies for payment in trust;
·                  recover excess money held by the trustee;
·                  compensate and indemnify the trustee; and
·                  appoint any successor trustee.
 

In order to exercise our rights to be discharged, we must deposit with the trustee money or government obligations sufficient to pay all the principal of, any premium
and interest on, the debt securities of the series on the dates payments are due.

 
Form, Exchange and Transfer
 

We will issue the debt securities of each series only in fully registered form without coupons and, unless we otherwise specify in the applicable prospectus supplement,
in denominations of $1,000 and any integral multiple thereof. The indentures provide that we may issue debt securities of a series in temporary or permanent global form and
as book-entry securities that will be deposited with, or on behalf of, The Depository Trust Company or another depositary named by us and identified in a prospectus
supplement with respect to that series. See the section entitled “Legal Ownership of Securities” below for a further description of the terms relating to any book-entry
securities.

 
At the option of the holder, subject to the terms of the indentures and the limitations applicable to global securities described in the applicable prospectus supplement, the

holder of the debt securities of any series can exchange the debt securities for other debt securities of the same series, in any authorized denomination and of like tenor and
aggregate principal amount.
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Subject to the terms of the indentures and the limitations applicable to global securities set forth in the applicable prospectus supplement, holders of the debt securities

may present the debt securities for exchange or for registration of transfer, duly endorsed or with the form of transfer endorsed thereon duly executed if so required by us or the
security registrar, at the office of the security registrar or at the office of any transfer agent designated by us for this purpose. Unless otherwise provided in the debt securities
that the holder presents for transfer or exchange, we will make no service charge for any registration of transfer or exchange, but we may require payment of any taxes or other
governmental charges.

 
We will name in the applicable prospectus supplement the security registrar, and any transfer agent in addition to the security registrar, that we initially designate for any

debt securities. We may at any time designate additional transfer agents or rescind the designation of any transfer agent or approve a change in the office through which any
transfer agent acts, except that we will be required to maintain a transfer agent in each place of payment for the debt securities of each series.

 
If we elect to redeem the debt securities of any series, we will not be required to:
 

·                  issue, register the transfer of, or exchange any debt securities of that series during a period beginning at the opening of business 15 days before the day of mailing of a
notice of redemption of any debt securities that may be selected for redemption and ending at the close of business on the day of the mailing; or

·                  register the transfer of or exchange any debt securities so selected for redemption, in whole or in part, except the unredeemed portion of any debt securities we are
redeeming in part.

 
Information Concerning the Trustee
 

The trustee, other than during the occurrence and continuance of an event of default under an indenture, undertakes to perform only those duties as are specifically
set forth in the applicable indenture and is under no obligation to exercise any of the powers given it by the indentures at the request of any holder of debt securities unless it is
offered reasonable security and indemnity against the costs, expenses and liabilities that it might incur. However, upon an event of default under an indenture, the trustee must
use the same degree of care as a prudent person would exercise or use in the conduct of his or her own affairs.

 
Payment and Paying Agents
 

Unless we otherwise indicate in the applicable prospectus supplement, we will make payment of the interest on any debt securities on any interest payment date to the
person in whose name the debt securities, or one or more predecessor securities, are registered at the close of business on the regular record date for the interest.

 
We will pay principal of and any premium and interest on the debt securities of a particular series at the office of the paying agents designated by us, except that

unless we otherwise indicate in the applicable prospectus supplement, we will make interest payments by check that we will mail to the holder or by wire transfer to certain
holders. Unless we otherwise indicate in the applicable prospectus supplement, we will designate the corporate trust office of the trustee as our sole paying agent for payments
with respect to debt securities of each series. We will name in the applicable prospectus supplement any other paying agents that we initially designate for the debt securities
of a particular series. We will maintain a paying agent in each place of payment for the debt securities of a particular series.

 
All money we pay to a paying agent or the trustee for the payment of the principal of or any premium or interest on any debt securities that remains unclaimed at the

end of two years after such principal, premium or interest has become due and payable will be repaid to us, and the holder of the debt security thereafter may look only to us
for payment thereof.

 
Governing Law
 

The indentures and the debt securities will be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New York, except to the extent that the
Trust Indenture Act is applicable.



 
Ranking Debt Securities
 

The subordinated debt securities will be unsecured and will be subordinate and junior in priority of payment to certain of our other indebtedness to the extent
described in a prospectus supplement. The subordinated indenture does not limit the amount of subordinated debt securities that we may issue. It also does not limit us from
issuing any other secured or unsecured debt.

 
The senior debt securities will be unsecured and will rank equally in right of payment to all our other senior unsecured debt. The senior indenture does not limit the

amount of senior debt securities that we may issue. It also does not limit us from issuing any other secured or unsecured debt.
 

Existing Subordinated Debt
 

As of December 31, 2008, the Company had no existing subordinated debt.
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DESCRIPTION OF WARRANTS 
 

The following description, together with the additional information we may include in any applicable prospectus supplements and free writing prospectuses,
summarizes the material terms and provisions of the warrants that we may offer under this prospectus, which may consist of warrants to purchase common stock, preferred
stock or debt securities and may be issued in one or more series. Warrants may be offered independently or together with common stock, preferred stock or debt securities
offered by any prospectus supplement, and may be attached to or separate from those securities. While the terms we have summarized below will apply generally to any
warrants that we may offer under this prospectus, we will describe the particular terms of any series of warrants that we may offer in more detail in the applicable prospectus
supplement and any applicable free writing prospectus. The terms of any warrants offered under a prospectus supplement may differ from the terms described below.
However, no prospectus supplement will fundamentally change the terms that are set forth in this prospectus or offer a security that is not registered and described in this
prospectus at the time of its effectiveness.

 
We will issue the warrants under a warrant agreement that we will enter into with a warrant agent to be selected by us. The warrant agent will act solely as an agent of

ours in connection with the warrants and will not act as an agent for the holders or beneficial owners of the warrants. We have filed forms of the warrant agreements and forms
of warrant certificates containing the terms of the warrants being offered under this prospectus as exhibits to the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part. We
will file as exhibits to the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part, or will incorporate by reference from a current report on Form 8-K that we file with the
SEC, the form of warrant agreement, including a form of warrant certificate, that describes the terms of the particular series of warrants we are offering before the issuance of
the related series of warrants. The following summaries of material provisions of the warrants and the warrant agreements are subject to, and qualified in their entirety by
reference to, all the provisions of the warrant agreement and warrant certificate applicable to a particular series of warrants. We urge you to read the applicable prospectus
supplement and any applicable free writing prospectus related to the particular series of warrants that we sell under this prospectus, as well as the complete warrant
agreements and warrant certificates that contain the terms of the warrants.

 
General
 

We will describe in the applicable prospectus supplement the terms relating to a series of warrants, including:
 

·                  the offering price and aggregate number of warrants offered;
·                  the currency for which the warrants may be purchased;
·                  if applicable, the designation and terms of the securities with which the warrants are issued and the number of warrants issued with each such security or each principal

amount of such security;
·                  if applicable, the date on and after which the warrants and the related securities will be separately transferable;
·                  in the case of warrants to purchase debt securities, the principal amount of debt securities purchasable upon exercise of one warrant and the price at, and currency in

which, this principal amount of debt securities may be purchased upon such exercise;
·                  in the case of warrants to purchase common stock or preferred stock, the number of shares of common stock or preferred stock, as the case may be, purchasable upon

the exercise of one warrant and the price at which these shares may be purchased upon such exercise;
·                  the effect of any merger, consolidation, sale or other disposition of our business on the warrant agreements and the warrants;
·                  the terms of any rights to redeem or call the warrants;
·                  any provisions for changes to or adjustments in the exercise price or number of securities issuable upon exercise of the warrants;
·                  the dates on which the right to exercise the warrants will commence and expire;
·                  the manner in which the warrant agreements and warrants may be modified;
·                  United States federal income tax consequences of holding or exercising the warrants;
·                  the terms of the securities issuable upon exercise of the warrants; and
·                  any other specific terms, preferences, rights or limitations of or restrictions on the warrants.
 
Before exercising their warrants, holders of warrants will not have any of the rights of holders of the securities purchasable upon such exercise, including:
 

·                  in the case of warrants to purchase debt securities, the right to receive payments of principal of, or premium, if any, or interest on, the debt securities purchasable upon
exercise or to enforce covenants in the applicable indenture; or

·                  in the case of warrants to purchase common stock or preferred stock, the right to receive dividends, if any, or, payments upon our liquidation, dissolution or winding up
or to exercise voting rights, if any.
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Exercise of Warrants
 

Each warrant will entitle the holder to purchase the securities that we specify in the applicable prospectus supplement at the exercise price that we describe in the
applicable prospectus supplement. Unless we otherwise specify in the applicable prospectus supplement, holders of the warrants may exercise the warrants at any time up to
the specified time on the expiration date that we set forth in the applicable prospectus supplement. After the close of business on the expiration date, unexercised warrants will
become void.

 
Holders of the warrants may exercise the warrants by delivering the warrant certificate representing the warrants to be exercised together with specified information,

and paying the required amount to the warrant agent in immediately available funds, as provided in the applicable prospectus supplement. We will set forth on the reverse side



of the warrant certificate and in the applicable prospectus supplement the information that the holder of the warrant will be required to deliver to the warrant agent.
 
Upon receipt of the required payment and the warrant certificate properly completed and duly executed at the corporate trust office of the warrant agent or any other

office indicated in the applicable prospectus supplement, we will issue and deliver the securities purchasable upon such exercise. If fewer than all of the warrants represented
by the warrant certificate are exercised, then we will issue a new warrant certificate for the remaining amount of warrants. If we so indicate in the applicable prospectus
supplement, holders of the warrants may surrender securities as all or part of the exercise price for warrants.

 
Governing Law
 

The warrants and warrant agreements will be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New York.
 

Enforceability of Rights by Holders of Warrants
 

Each warrant agent will act solely as our agent under the applicable warrant agreement and will not assume any obligation or relationship of agency or trust with any
holder of any warrant. A single bank or trust company may act as warrant agent for more than one issue of warrants. A warrant agent will have no duty or responsibility in
case of any default by us under the applicable warrant agreement or warrant, including any duty or responsibility to initiate any proceedings at law or otherwise, or to make
any demand upon us. Any holder of a warrant may, without the consent of the related warrant agent or the holder of any other warrant, enforce by appropriate legal action its
right to exercise, and receive the securities purchasable upon exercise of, its warrants.

 
Outstanding Warrants
 

As of December 31, 2008, an entity held warrants to purchase 100,000 shares of our common stock.
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DESCRIPTION OF UNITS 
 

The following description, together with the additional information we may include in any applicable prospectus supplements, summarizes the material terms and
provisions of the units that we may offer under this prospectus. While the terms we have summarized below will apply generally to any units that we may offer under this
prospectus, we will describe the particular terms of any series of units in more detail in the applicable prospectus supplement. The terms of any units offered under a
prospectus supplement may differ from the terms described below. However, no prospectus supplement will fundamentally change the terms that are set forth in this
prospectus or offer a security that is not registered and described in this prospectus at the time of its effectiveness.

 
We will file as exhibits to the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part, or will incorporate by reference from a current report on Form 8-K that we file

with the SEC, the form of unit agreement that describes the terms of the series of units we are offering, and any supplemental agreements, before the issuance of the related
series of units. The following summaries of material terms and provisions of the units are subject to, and qualified in their entirety by reference to, all the provisions of the unit
agreement and any supplemental agreements applicable to a particular series of units. We urge you to read the applicable prospectus supplements related to the particular
series of units that we sell under this prospectus, as well as the complete unit agreement and any supplemental agreements that contain the terms of the units.

 
General
 

We may issue units comprised of one or more debt securities, shares of common stock, shares of preferred stock and warrants in any combination. Each unit will be
issued so that the holder of the unit is also the holder of each security included in the unit. Thus, the holder of a unit will have the rights and obligations of a holder of each
included security. The unit agreement under which a unit is issued may provide that the securities included in the unit may not be held or transferred separately, at any time or
at any time before a specified date.

 
We will describe in the applicable prospectus supplement the terms of the series of units, including:
 

·                  the designation and terms of the units and of the securities comprising the units, including whether and under what circumstances those securities may be held or
transferred separately;

·                  any provisions of the governing unit agreement that differ from those described below; and
·                  any provisions for the issuance, payment, settlement, transfer or exchange of the units or of the securities comprising the units.
 
The provisions described in this section, as well as those described under “Description of Capital Stock,” “Description of Debt Securities” and “Description of

Warrants” will apply to each unit and to any common stock, preferred stock, debt security or warrant included in each unit, respectively.
 

Issuance in Series
 

We may issue units in such amounts and in numerous distinct series as we determine.
 

Governing Law
 

The units and unit agreements will be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New York.
 

Enforceability of Rights by Holders of Units
 

Each unit agent will act solely as our agent under the applicable unit agreement and will not assume any obligation or relationship of agency or trust with any holder
of any unit. A single bank or trust company may act as unit agent for more than one series of units. A unit agent will have no duty or responsibility in case of any default by us
under the applicable unit agreement or unit, including any duty or responsibility to initiate any proceedings at law or otherwise, or to make any demand upon us. Any holder of
a unit may, without the consent of the related unit agent or the holder of any other unit, enforce by appropriate legal action its rights as holder under any security included in
the unit.

 
Title
 

We, the unit agents and any of their agents may treat the registered holder of any unit certificate as an absolute owner of the units evidenced by that certificate for any
purpose and as the person entitled to exercise the rights attaching to the units so requested, despite any notice to the contrary. See the section entitled “Legal Ownership of
Securities.”

 
Existing Units
 

As of December 31, 2008, the Company had no existing units.
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LEGAL OWNERSHIP OF SECURITIES 
 

We can issue securities in registered form or in the form of one or more global securities. We describe global securities in greater detail below. We refer to those
persons who have securities registered in their own names on the books that we or any applicable trustee or depositary or warrant agent maintain for this purpose as the
“holders” of those securities. These persons are the legal holders of the securities. We refer to those persons who, indirectly through others, own beneficial interests in
securities that are not registered in their own names, as “indirect holders” of those securities. As we discuss below, indirect holders are not legal holders, and investors in
securities issued in book-entry form or in street name will be indirect holders.

 
Book-Entry Holders
 

We may issue securities in book-entry form only, as we will specify in the applicable prospectus supplement. This means securities may be represented by one or
more global securities registered in the name of a financial institution that holds them as depositary on behalf of other financial institutions that participate in the depositary’s
book-entry system. These participating institutions, which are referred to as participants, in turn, hold beneficial interests in the securities on behalf of themselves or their
customers.

 
Only the person in whose name a security is registered is recognized as the holder of that security. Global securities will be registered in the name of the depositary or

its participants. Consequently, for global securities, we will recognize only the depositary as the holder of the securities, and we will make all payments on the securities to the
depositary. The depositary passes along the payments it receives to its participants, which in turn pass the payments along to their customers who are the beneficial owners.
The depositary and its participants do so under agreements they have made with one another or with their customers; they are not obligated to do so under the terms of the
securities.

 
As a result, investors in a global security will not own securities directly. Instead, they will own beneficial interests in a global security, through a bank, broker or

other financial institution that participates in the depositary’s book-entry system or holds an interest through a participant. As long as the securities are issued in global form,
investors will be indirect holders, and not legal holders, of the securities.

 
Street Name Holders
 

We may terminate a global security or issue securities that are not issued in global form. In these cases, investors may choose to hold their securities in their own names
or in “street name.” Securities held by an investor in street name would be registered in the name of a bank, broker or other financial institution that the investor chooses, and
the investor would hold only a beneficial interest in those securities through an account he or she maintains at that institution.

 
For securities held in street name, we or any applicable trustee or depositary will recognize only the intermediary banks, brokers and other financial institutions in whose

names the securities are registered as the holders of those securities, and we or any such trustee or depositary will make all payments on those securities to them. These
institutions pass along the payments they receive to their customers who are the beneficial owners, but only because they agree to do so in their customer agreements or
because they are legally required to do so. Investors who hold securities in street name will be indirect holders, not holders, of those securities.

 
Legal Holders
 

Our obligations, as well as the obligations of any applicable trustee or third party employed by us or a trustee, run only to the legal holders of the securities. We do
not have obligations to investors who hold beneficial interests in global securities, in street name or by any other indirect means. This will be the case whether an investor
chooses to be an indirect holder of a security or has no choice because we are issuing the securities only in global form.

 
For example, once we make a payment or give a notice to the holder, we have no further responsibility for the payment or notice even if that holder is required, under

agreements with its participants or customers or by law, to pass it along to the indirect holders but does not do so. Similarly, we may want to obtain the approval of the holders
to amend an indenture, to relieve us of the consequences of a default or of our obligation to comply with a particular provision of an indenture, or for other purposes. In such
an event, we would seek approval only from the legal holders, and not the indirect holders, of the securities. Whether and how the holders contact the indirect holders is up to
the legal holders.
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Special Considerations for Indirect Holders
 

If you hold securities through a bank, broker or other financial institution, either in book-entry form because the securities are represented by one or more global
securities or in street name, you should check with your own institution to find out:

 
·                  how it handles securities payments and notices;
·                  whether it imposes fees or charges;
·                  how it would handle a request for the holders’ consent, if ever required;
·                  whether and how you can instruct it to send you securities registered in your own name so you can be a holder, if that is permitted in the future;
·                  how it would exercise rights under the securities if there were a default or other event triggering the need for holders to act to protect their interests; and
·                  if the securities are in book-entry form, how the depositary’s rules and procedures will affect these matters.
 

Global Securities
 

A global security is a security that represents one or any other number of individual securities held by a depositary. Generally, all securities represented by the same
global securities will have the same terms.

 
Each security issued in book-entry form will be represented by a global security that we issue to, deposit with and register in the name of a financial institution or its

nominee that we select. The financial institution that we select for this purpose is called the depositary. Unless we specify otherwise in the applicable prospectus supplement,
The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York, known as DTC, will be the depositary for all securities issued in book-entry form.

 
A global security may not be transferred to or registered in the name of anyone other than the depositary, its nominee or a successor depositary, unless special

termination situations arise. We describe those situations below under “—Special Situations When A Global Security Will Be Terminated.” As a result of these arrangements,
the depositary, or its nominee, will be the sole registered owner and legal holder of all securities represented by a global security, and investors will be permitted to own only



beneficial interests in a global security. Beneficial interests must be held by means of an account with a broker, bank or other financial institution that in turn has an account
with the depositary or with another institution that does. Thus, an investor whose security is represented by a global security will not be a legal holder of the security, but only
an indirect holder of a beneficial interest in the global security.

 
If the prospectus supplement for a particular security indicates that the security will be issued as a global security, then the security will be represented by a global

security at all times unless and until the global security is terminated. If termination occurs, we may issue the securities through another book-entry clearing system or decide
that the securities may no longer be held through any book-entry clearing system.

 
Special Considerations For Global Securities
 

As an indirect holder, an investor’s rights relating to a global security will be governed by the account rules of the investor’s financial institution and of the
depositary, as well as general laws relating to securities transfers. We do not recognize an indirect holder as a holder of securities and instead deal only with the depositary that
holds the global security.

 
If securities are issued only as global securities, an investor should be aware of the following:
 
·    an investor cannot cause the securities to be registered in his or her name, and cannot obtain non-global certificates for his or her interest in the securities, except in

the special situations we describe below;
·    an investor will be an indirect holder and must look to his or her own bank or broker for payments on the securities and protection of his or her legal rights relating to

the securities, as we describe above;
·    an investor may not be able to sell interests in the securities to some insurance companies and to other institutions that are required by law to own their securities in

non-book-entry form;
·    an investor may not be able to pledge his or her interest in the global security in circumstances where certificates representing the securities must be delivered to the

lender or other beneficiary of the pledge in order for the pledge to be effective;
·    the depositary’s policies, which may change from time to time, will govern payments, transfers, exchanges and other matters relating to an investor’s interest in the

global security. We and any applicable trustee have no responsibility for any aspect of the depositary’s actions or for its records of ownership interests in the global
security. We and the trustee also do not supervise the depositary in any way;

·    the depositary may, and we understand that DTC will, require that those who purchase and sell interests in the global security within its book-entry system use
immediately available funds, and your broker or bank may require you to do so as well; and

·    financial institutions that participate in the depositary’s book-entry system, and through which an investor holds its interest in the global security, may also have their
own policies affecting payments, notices and other matters relating to the securities. There may be more than one financial intermediary in the chain of ownership for
an investor. We do not monitor and are not responsible for the actions of any of those intermediaries.
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Special Situations When A Global Security Will Be Terminated
 

In a few special situations described below, a global security will terminate and interests in it will be exchanged for physical certificates representing those interests.
After that exchange, the choice of whether to hold securities directly or in street name will be up to the investor. Investors must consult their own banks or brokers to find out
how to have their interests in securities transferred to their own names, so that they will be direct holders. We have described the rights of holders and street name investors
above.

 
A global security will terminate when the following special situations occur:
 
·    if the depositary notifies us that it is unwilling, unable or no longer qualified to continue as depositary for that global security and we do not appoint another

institution to act as depositary within 90 days;
·    if we notify any applicable trustee that we wish to terminate that global security; or
·    if an event of default has occurred with regard to securities represented by that global security and has not been cured or waived.

 
The applicable prospectus supplement may also list additional situations for terminating a global security that would apply only to the particular series of securities

covered by the prospectus supplement. When a global security terminates, the depositary, and neither we nor any applicable trustee, is responsible for deciding the names of
the institutions that will be the initial direct holders.
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PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION 
 

We may sell the securities to or through underwriters or dealers, through agents, or directly to one or more purchasers. A prospectus supplement or supplements (and
any related free writing prospectus that we may authorize to be provided to you) will describe the terms of the offering of the securities, including, to the extent applicable:

 
·                  the name or names of any underwriters, if any;
·                  the purchase price of the securities and the proceeds we will receive from the sale;
·                  any over-allotment options under which underwriters may purchase additional securities from us;
·                  any agency fees or underwriting discounts and other items constituting agents’ or underwriters’ compensation;
·                  any public offering price;
·                  any discounts or concessions allowed or reallowed or paid to dealers; and
·                  any securities exchange or market on which the securities may be listed.
 
Only underwriters named in the prospectus supplement are underwriters of the securities offered by the prospectus supplement.
 
If underwriters are used in the sale, they will acquire the securities for their own account and may resell the securities from time to time in one or more transactions at a

fixed public offering price or at varying prices determined at the time of sale. The obligations of the underwriters to purchase the securities will be subject to the conditions set
forth in the applicable underwriting agreement. We may offer the securities to the public through underwriting syndicates represented by managing underwriters or by
underwriters without a syndicate. Subject to certain conditions, the underwriters will be obligated to purchase all of the securities offered by the prospectus supplement. Any
public offering price and any discounts or concessions allowed or reallowed or paid to dealers may change from time to time. We may use underwriters with whom we have a
material relationship. We will describe in the prospectus supplement, naming the underwriter, the nature of any such relationship.

 



We may sell securities directly or through agents we designate from time to time. We will name any agent involved in the offering and sale of securities and we will
describe any commissions we will pay the agent in the prospectus supplement. Unless the prospectus supplement states otherwise, our agent will act on a best-efforts basis for
the period of its appointment.

 
We may authorize agents or underwriters to solicit offers by certain types of institutional investors to purchase securities from us at the public offering price set forth in

the prospectus supplement pursuant to delayed delivery contracts providing for payment and delivery on a specified date in the future. We will describe the conditions to these
contracts and the commissions we must pay for solicitation of these contracts in the prospectus supplement.

 
We may provide agents and underwriters with indemnification against civil liabilities related to this offering, including liabilities under the Securities Act, or

contribution with respect to payments that the agents or underwriters may make with respect to these liabilities. Agents and underwriters may engage in transactions with, or
perform services for, us in the ordinary course of business.

 
All securities we offer, other than common stock, will be new issues of securities with no established trading market. Any underwriters may make a market in these

securities, but will not be obligated to do so and may discontinue any market making at any time without notice. We cannot guarantee the liquidity of the trading markets for
any securities.

 
Any underwriter may engage in overallotment, stabilizing transactions, short covering transactions and penalty bids in accordance with Regulation M under the

Exchange Act. Overallotment involves sales in excess of the offering size, which create a short position. Stabilizing transactions permit bids to purchase the underlying
security so long as the stabilizing bids do not exceed a specified maximum. Short covering transactions involve purchases of the securities in the open market after the
distribution is completed to cover short positions. Penalty bids permit the underwriters to reclaim a selling concession from a dealer when the securities originally sold by the
dealer are purchased in a covering transaction to cover short positions. Those activities may cause the price of the securities to be higher than it would otherwise be. If
commenced, the underwriters may discontinue any of the activities at any time.

 
Any underwriters who are qualified market makers on the Nasdaq Global Market may engage in passive market making transactions in the securities on the Nasdaq

Global Market in accordance with Rule 103 of Regulation M under the Exchange Act, during the business day prior to the pricing of the offering, before the commencement
of offers or sales of the securities. Passive market makers must comply with applicable volume and price limitations and must be identified as passive market makers. In
general, a passive market maker must display its bid at a price not in excess of the highest independent bid for such security; if all independent bids are lowered below the
passive market maker’s bid, however, the passive market maker’s bid must then be lowered when certain purchase limits are exceeded.

 
In compliance with guidelines of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, or FINRA, the maximum consideration or discount to be received by any FINRA member

or independent broker dealer may not exceed 8% of the aggregate amount of the securities offered pursuant to this prospectus and any applicable prospectus supplement.
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LEGAL MATTERS 
 

Cooley Godward Kronish LLP, Palo Alto, California will pass for us upon the validity of the securities being offered by this prospectus and applicable prospectus
supplement, and counsel named in the applicable prospectus supplement will pass upon legal matters for any underwriters, dealers or agents.

 
EXPERTS 

 
Ernst & Young LLP, independent registered public accounting firm, has audited our financial statements as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 and for each of the three

years in the period ended December 31, 2008, included in Exhibit 99.1 to this Amendment No. 1 to the registration statement, of which this prospectus is a part, as set forth in
their report thereon, which is also included in Exhibit 99.1 to this Amendment No. 1 to the registration statement. Our financial statements are included in reliance on Ernst &
Young LLP’s report given on their authority as experts in accounting and auditing.

 
WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION 

 
We file annual, quarterly and special reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC. You may read and copy any document we file at the SEC’s Public

Reference Room at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for more information about the operation of the public reference
room. The SEC maintains an Internet site that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the
SEC, including Rigel. The SEC’s Internet site can be found at http://www.sec.gov .

 
The SEC allows us to incorporate by reference the information we file with it, which means that we can disclose important information to you by referring you to

another document that we have filed separately with the SEC. You should read the information incorporated by reference because it is an important part of this prospectus.
We incorporate by reference the following information or documents that we have filed with the SEC (Commission File No. 0-29889):

 
The following documents filed with the SEC are incorporated by reference in this prospectus:
 

·                  Our annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007, filed with the SEC on March 7, 2008;
·                  Our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2008, filed with the SEC on May 6, 2008;
·                  Our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2008, filed with the SEC on August 5, 2008;
·                  Our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2008, filed with the SEC on November 4, 2008;
·                  Our current report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on February 1, 2008;
·                  Our current report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on February 14, 2008;
·                  Our current report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on February 26, 2008;
·                  Our current report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on May 30, 2008;
·                  Item 8.01 of our current report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on November 3, 2008;
·                  Items 2.05 and 8.01 of our current report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on February 3, 2009;
·                  Our current report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on February 9, 2009;
·                  The information specifically incorporated by reference into our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007 from our definitive proxy statement

on Schedule 14A filed with the SEC on April 26, 2008;
·                  The description of our common stock set forth in our registration statement on Form 8-A, filed with the SEC on October 3, 2000, including any amendments thereto or

reports filed for the purposes of updating this description.
 
Any information in any of the foregoing documents will automatically be deemed to be modified or superseded to the extent that information in this prospectus or in a

later filed document that is incorporated or deemed to be incorporated herein by reference modifies or replaces such information.
 
We also incorporate by reference any future filings (other than current reports furnished under Item 2.02 or Item 7.01 of Form 8-K and exhibits filed on such form that

are related to such items) made with the SEC pursuant to Sections 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, until we file a post-effective amendment which indicates the



termination of the offering of the securities made by this prospectus. Information in such future filings updates and supplements the information provided in this prospectus.
Any statements in any such future filings will automatically be deemed to modify and supersede any information in any document we previously filed with the SEC that is
incorporated or deemed to be incorporated herein by reference to the extent that statements in the later filed document modify or replace such earlier statements.

 
We will furnish without charge to you, upon written or oral request, a copy of any or all of the documents incorporated by reference, including exhibits to these

documents. You should direct any requests for documents to Rigel Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Attention: Corporate Secretary, 1180 Veterans Boulevard, South San Francisco,
CA 94080. Our telephone number is (650) 624-1100.
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DISCLOSURE OF COMMISSION POSITION ON INDEMNIFICATION FOR 
SECURITIES ACT LIABILITY

 
Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act may be permitted to directors, officers or persons controlling the registrant pursuant to the

foregoing provisions, the registrant has been informed that in the opinion of the SEC such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and is,
therefore, unenforceable.
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PART II
 

INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN THE PROSPECTUS
 

Item 14. Other Expenses of Issuance and Distribution
 

The following table sets forth the estimated costs and expenses, other than the underwriting discounts and commissions, payable by the registrant in connection with
the offering of the securities being registered. All the amounts shown are estimates.
 

SEC registration fee $ 3,930
Nasdaq Global Market listing fee $ 45,000
Accounting fees and expenses $ 150,000
Legal fees and expenses $ 150,000
Transfer agent fees and expenses $ 5,000
Printing and miscellaneous expenses $ 50,000
Total $ 403,930

 
Item 15. Indemnification of Officers and Directors
 

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that we must indemnify our directors to the fullest extent under applicable law. Pursuant to Delaware
law, this includes elimination of liability for monetary damages for breach of the directors’ fiduciary duty of care to Rigel and its stockholders. However, our directors may be
personally liable for liability:

 
·              for any breach of duty of loyalty to us or to our stockholders;
·              for acts or omissions not in good faith or that involve intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law;
·              for unlawful payment of dividends or unlawful stock repurchases or redemptions under Section 174 of the Delaware General Corporation Law; or
·              for any transaction from which the director derived an improper personal benefit.
 

In addition, our amended and restated bylaws provide that:
 
·              we are required to indemnify our directors and executive officers to the fullest extent not prohibited by Delaware law or any other applicable law,

subject to limited exceptions;
·              we may indemnify our other officers, employees and other agents as set forth in Delaware law or any other applicable law;
·              we are required to advance expenses to our directors and executive officers as incurred in connection with legal proceedings against them for which

they may be indemnified; and
·              the rights conferred in the amended and restated bylaws are not exclusive.
 

We have entered into indemnification agreements with each of our directors and certain officers. These agreements, among other things, require us to indemnify each
director and officer to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law, including indemnification for expenses such as attorneys’ fees, judgments, fines and settlement amounts
incurred by the director or officer in any action or proceeding, including any action by or in the right of Rigel, arising out of the person’s services as a director or officer of us,
any subsidiary of ours or any other company or enterprise to which the person provides services at our request. At present, we are not aware of any pending or threatened
litigation or proceeding involving any of our directors, officers, employees or agents in which indemnification would be required or permitted. We believe that our charter
provisions and indemnification agreements are necessary to attract and retain qualified persons as directors and officers.

 
The underwriting agreement that we might enter into (Exhibit 1.1) will provide for indemnification by any underwriters of Rigel, our directors, our officers who sign

the registration statement and our controlling persons for some liabilities, including liabilities arising under the Securities Act.
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Item 16. Exhibits
 
Exhibit
Number

 

Description of Document
1.1 Form of Underwriting Agreement (1)
3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company (2)



3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company (3)
4.1 Reference is made to Exhibits 3.1 and 3.2
4.2 Specimen Common Stock Certificate (2)
4.3 Specimen Preferred Stock Certificate and Form of Certificate of Designations of Preferred Stock (1)
4.4 Form of Senior Debt Indenture
4.5 Form of Subordinated Debt Indenture
4.6 Form of Senior Note (1)
4.7 Form of Subordinated Note (1)
4.8 Form of Common Stock Warrant Agreement and Warrant Certificate
4.9 Form of Preferred Stock Warrant Agreement and Warrant Certificate

4.10 Form of Debt Securities Warrant Agreement and Warrant Certificate
4.11 Form of Unit Agreement (1)

5.1 Opinion of Cooley Godward Kronish LLP
12.1 Statement Regarding Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges and Ratio of Combined Fixed Charges and Preferred Stock Dividends
23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
23.2 Consent of Cooley Godward Kronish LLP (included in Exhibit 5.1)
24.1 Power of Attorney (previously filed with the SEC)
25.1 Statement of Eligibility of Trustee under the Indentures
99.1 Audited Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2008

 

(1) To be filed by amendment or as an exhibit to a current report on Form 8-K of the registrant and incorporated herein by reference, if applicable.
 
(2) Filed as an Exhibit to the registrant’s current report on Form 8-K (File No. 000-29889), originally filed with the SEC on June 24, 2003, and incorporated herein by
reference.
 
(3) Filed as an Exhibit to the registrant’s current report on Form 8-K, as filed with the SEC on February 2, 2007, and incorporated herein by reference.
 
Item 17. Undertakings
 

The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes:
 
(1)   To file, during any period in which offers or sales are being made, a post-effective amendment to this registration statement:
 

(i)  to include any prospectus required by section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act;
 

(ii)  to reflect in the prospectus any facts or events arising after the effective date of the registration statement (or the most recent post-effective amendment thereof)
which, individually or in the aggregate, represent a fundamental change in the information set forth in the registration statement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any increase
or decrease in volume of securities offered (if the total dollar value of securities offered would not exceed that which was registered) and any deviation from the low or high
end of the estimated maximum offering range may be reflected in the form of prospectus filed with the SEC pursuant to Rule 424(b) if, in the aggregate, the changes in
volume and price represent no more than a 20 percent change in the maximum aggregate offering price set forth in the “Calculation of Registration Fee” table in the effective
registration statement; and

 
(iii)  to include any material information with respect to the plan of distribution not previously disclosed in the registration statement or any material change to such

information in the registration statement;
 

provided, however, that the undertakings set forth in paragraphs (1)(i), (1)(ii) and (1)(iii) above do not apply if the information required to be included in a post-effective
amendment by those paragraphs is contained in reports filed with or furnished to the SEC by the registrant pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, that are incorporated by reference in the registration statements or is contained in a form of prospectus filed pursuant to
Rule 424(b) that is part of the registration statement.
 

(2)   That, for the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act, each such post-effective amendment shall be deemed to be a new registration statement
relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.
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(3)   To remove from registration by means of a post-effective amendment any of the securities being registered which remain unsold at the termination of this offering.
 
(4)   That, for the purpose of determining liability under the Securities Act to any purchaser:
 

(i) Each prospectus filed by the registrant pursuant to Rule 424(b)(3) shall be deemed to be part of the registration statement as of the date the filed prospectus was
deemed part of and included in the registration statement; and

 
(ii) Each prospectus required to be filed pursuant to Rule 424(b)(2), (b)(5), or (b)(7) as part of a registration statement in reliance on Rule 430B relating to an offering

made pursuant to Rule 415(a)(1)(i), (vii), or (x) for the purpose of providing the information required by Section 10(a) of the Securities Act shall be deemed to be part of and
included in the registration statement as of the earlier of the date such form of prospectus is first used after effectiveness or the date of the first contract of sale of securities in
the offering described in the prospectus. As provided in Rule 430B, for liability purposes of the issuer and any person that is at that date an underwriter, such date shall be
deemed to be a new effective date of the registration statement relating to the securities in the registration statement to which that prospectus relates, and the offering of such
securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial  bona fide  offering thereof.  Provided, however , that no statement made in a registration statement or prospectus that is
part of the registration statement or made in a document incorporated or deemed incorporated by reference into the registration statement or prospectus that is part of the
registration statement will, as to a purchaser with a time of contract of sale prior to such effective date, supersede or modify any statement that was made in the registration
statement or prospectus that was part of the registration statement or made in any such document immediately prior to such effective date.

 
(5)   That, for the purpose of determining liability of the registrant under the Securities Act to any purchaser in the initial distribution of the securities, the undersigned

registrant undertakes that in a primary offering of securities of the undersigned registrant pursuant to this registration statement, regardless of the underwriting method used to
sell the securities to the purchaser, if the securities are offered or sold to such purchaser by means of any of the following communications, the undersigned registrant will be a
seller to the purchaser and will be considered to offer or sell such securities to such purchaser:

 
(i)  Any preliminary prospectus or prospectus of the undersigned registrant relating to the offering required to be filed pursuant to Rule 424;
 



(ii)  Any free writing prospectus relating to the offering prepared by or on behalf of the undersigned registrant or used or referred to by the undersigned registrant;
 
(iii)  The portion of any other free writing prospectus relating to the offering containing material information about the undersigned registrant or its securities provided

by or on behalf of the undersigned registrant; and
 
(iv)  Any other communication that is an offer in the offering made by the undersigned registrant to the purchaser.

 
(6)  That, for purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act, each filing of the Registrant’s annual report pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the

Exchange Act (and, where applicable, each filing of an employee benefit plan’s annual report pursuant to Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act) that is incorporated by reference
in the registration statement shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be
deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.

 
(7)  That for purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act, (i) the information omitted from the form of prospectus filed as part of the registration

statement in reliance upon Rule 430A and contained in the form of prospectus filed by the registrant pursuant to Rule 424(b)(l) or (4) or 497(h) under the Securities Act shall
be deemed to be a part of the registration statement as of the time it was declared effective; and (ii) each post-effective amendment that contains a form of prospectus shall be
deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offing of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial  bona fide 
offering thereof.

 
(8) That, to file an application for the purpose of determining the eligibility of the trustee to act under subsection (a) of Section 310 of the Trust Indenture Act in

accordance with the rules and regulations prescribed by the SEC under Section 305(b)(2) of the Trust Indenture Act.
 
Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act may be permitted to directors, officers and controlling persons of the registrant pursuant to the

foregoing provisions, or otherwise, the registrant has been advised that in the opinion of the SEC such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities
Act and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment by the registrant of expenses incurred or paid
by a director, officer or controlling person of the registrant in the successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer or controlling person
in connection with the securities being registered, the registrant will, unless in the opinion of its counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to a court
of appropriate jurisdiction the question whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and will be governed by the final
adjudication of such issue.
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SIGNATURES
 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act, the registrant certifies that it has reasonable grounds to believe that it meets all of the requirements for filing on
Form S-3 and has duly caused this Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to the Registration Statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in
the City of South San Francisco, State of California, on February 26, 2009.

 
RIGEL PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

   
   

By: /s/ James M. Gower
James M. Gower

Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act, this Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to the Registration Statement has been signed below by the following
persons in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
 
Signatures Title

 

Date
     
/s/ James M. Gower Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and Director

(Principal Executive Officer)
February 26, 2009

James M. Gower
 

     
/s/ Ryan D. Maynard Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and

Accounting Officer)
February 26, 2009

Ryan D. Maynard
 

     
* Executive Vice President, Chief Scientific Officer and Director February 26, 2009

Donald G. Payan
 

     
* February 26, 2009

Jean Deleage Director
 

     
* February 26, 2009

Bradford S. Goodwin Director
 

     
* February 26, 2009

Gary A. Lyons Director
 

     
* February 26, 2009

Walter H. Moos Director
 

     
* February 26, 2009

Hollings C. Renton Director
 

     
* February 26, 2009

Peter S. Ringrose Director
 

     
* February 26, 2009

Stephen A. Sherwin Director
 

 
 



*  By: /s/ James M. Gower

James M. Gower
Attorney-In-Fact
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS
 
Exhibit
Number

 

Description of Document
1.1 Form of Underwriting Agreement (1)
3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company (2)
3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company (3)
4.1 Reference is made to Exhibits 3.1 and 3.2
4.2 Specimen Common Stock Certificate (2)
4.3 Specimen Preferred Stock Certificate and Form of Certificate of Designations of Preferred Stock (1)
4.4 Form of Senior Debt Indenture
4.5 Form of Subordinated Debt Indenture
4.6 Form of Senior Note (1)
4.7 Form of Subordinated Note (1)
4.8 Form of Common Stock Warrant Agreement and Warrant Certificate
4.9 Form of Preferred Stock Warrant Agreement and Warrant Certificate

4.10 Form of Debt Securities Warrant Agreement and Warrant Certificate
4.11 Form of Unit Agreement (1)

5.1 Opinion of Cooley Godward Kronish LLP
12.1 Statement Regarding Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges and Ratio of Combined Fixed Charges and Preferred Stock Dividends
23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
23.2 Consent of Cooley Godward Kronish LLP (included in Exhibit 5.1)
24.1 Power of Attorney (previously filed with the SEC)
25.1 Statement of Eligibility of Trustee under the Indentures
99.1 Audited Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2008

 

(1) To be filed by amendment or as an exhibit to a current report on Form 8-K of the registrant, and incorporated herein by reference, if applicable.
 
(2) Filed as an Exhibit to the registrant’s current report on Form 8-K (File No. 000-29889), originally filed with the SEC on June 24, 2003, and incorporated herein by
reference.
 
(3) Filed as an Exhibit to the registrant’s current report on Form 8-K, as filed with the SEC on February 2, 2007 and incorporated herein by reference.
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INDENTURE
 

INDENTURE, dated as of [·], 200    , among RIGEL PHARMACEUTICALS, INC., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), and [TRUSTEE], as trustee (the
“Trustee”):

 
WHEREAS, for its lawful corporate purposes, the Company has duly authorized the execution and delivery of this Indenture to provide for the issuance of debt

securities (hereinafter referred to as the “Securities”), in an unlimited aggregate principal amount to be issued from time to time in one or more series as in this Indenture
provided, as registered Securities without coupons, to be authenticated by the certificate of the Trustee;

 
WHEREAS, to provide the terms and conditions upon which the Securities are to be authenticated, issued and delivered, the Company has duly authorized the

execution of this Indenture; and
 
WHEREAS, all things necessary to make this Indenture a valid agreement of the Company, in accordance with its terms, have been done.
 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the purchase of the Securities by the holders thereof, it is mutually covenanted and agreed as follows for



the equal and ratable benefit of the holders of Securities:
 

ARTICLE 1

DEFINITIONS
 

Section 1.01         Definitions of Terms.
 
The terms defined in this Section (except as in this Indenture or any indenture supplemental hereto otherwise expressly provided or unless the context otherwise

requires) for all purposes of this Indenture and of any indenture supplemental hereto shall have the respective meanings specified in this Section and shall include the plural as
well as the singular.  All other terms used in this Indenture that are defined in the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, or that are by reference in such Act defined in the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended (except as herein or any indenture supplemental hereto otherwise expressly provided or unless the context otherwise requires), shall have
the meanings assigned to such terms in said Trust Indenture Act and in said Securities Act as in force at the date of the execution of this instrument.

 
“Authenticating Agent” means an authenticating agent with respect to all or any of the series of Securities appointed by the Trustee pursuant to Section 2.10.
 
“Bankruptcy Law” means Title 11, U.S. Code, or any similar federal or state law for the relief of debtors.
 
“Board of Directors” means the Board of Directors of the Company or any duly authorized committee of such Board.
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“Board Resolution” means a copy of a resolution certified by the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary of the Company to have been duly adopted by the Board of

Directors and to be in full force and effect on the date of such certification.
 
“Business Day” means, with respect to any series of Securities, any day other than a day on which federal or state banking institutions in the Borough of Manhattan,

the City of New York, or in the city of the Corporate Trust Office of the Trustee, are authorized or obligated by law, executive order or regulation to close.
 
“Certificate” means a certificate signed by any Officer.  The Certificate need not comply with the provisions of Section 13.07.
 
“Company” means Rigel Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a corporation duly organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware, and, subject to the provisions of

Article Ten, shall also include its successors and assigns.
 
“Corporate Trust Office” means the office of the Trustee at which, at any particular time, its corporate trust business shall be principally administered, which office

at the date hereof is located at                                                                                                 .
 
“Custodian” means any receiver, trustee, assignee, liquidator or similar official under any Bankruptcy Law.
 
“Default” means any event, act or condition that with notice or lapse of time, or both, would constitute an Event of Default.
 
“Defaulted Interest” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.03.
 
“Depositary” means, with respect to Securities of any series for which the Company shall determine that such Securities will be issued as a Global Security, The

Depository Trust Company, another clearing agency, or any successor registered as a clearing agency under the Exchange Act, or other applicable statute or regulation, which,
in each case, shall be designated by the Company pursuant to either Section 2.01 or 2.11.

 
“Event of Default” means, with respect to Securities of a particular series, any event specified in Section 6.01, continued for the period of time, if any, therein

designated.
 
“Exchange Act” means the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
 
“Global Security” means, with respect to any series of Securities, a Security executed by the Company and delivered by the Trustee to the Depositary or pursuant to

the Depositary’s instruction, all in accordance with the Indenture, which shall be registered in the name of the Depositary or its nominee.
 
“Governmental Obligations” means securities that are (a) direct obligations of the United States of America for the payment of which its full faith and credit is

pledged or (b) obligations of a Person controlled or supervised by and acting as an agency or instrumentality of the United
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States of America, the payment of which is unconditionally guaranteed as a full faith and credit obligation by the United States of America that, in either case, are not callable
or redeemable at the option of the issuer thereof at any time prior to the stated maturity of the Securities, and shall also include a depositary receipt issued by a bank or trust
company as custodian with respect to any such Governmental Obligation or a specific payment of principal of or interest on any such Governmental Obligation held by such
custodian for the account of the holder of such depositary receipt; provided, however, that (except as required by law) such custodian is not authorized to make any deduction
from the amount payable to the holder of such depositary receipt from any amount received by the custodian in respect of the Governmental Obligation or the specific
payment of principal of or interest on the Governmental Obligation evidenced by such depositary receipt.

 
“herein”, “hereof” and “hereunder”, and other words of similar import, refer to this Indenture as a whole and not to any particular Article, Section or other

subdivision.
 
“Indenture” means this instrument as originally executed or as it may from time to time be supplemented or amended by one or more indentures supplemental hereto

entered into in accordance with the terms hereof.
 
“Interest Payment Date”, when used with respect to any installment of interest on a Security of a particular series, means the date specified in such Security or in a

Board Resolution or in an indenture supplemental hereto with respect to such series as the fixed date on which an installment of interest with respect to Securities of that series
is due and payable.

 
“Officer” means, with respect to the Company, the chairman of the Board of Directors, a chief executive officer, a president, a chief financial officer, a chief

operating officer, any executive vice president, any senior vice president, any vice president, the treasurer or any assistant treasurer, the controller or any assistant controller or



the secretary or any assistant secretary.
 
 “Officer’s Certificate” means a certificate signed by any Officer.  Each such certificate shall include the statements provided for in Section 13.07, if and to the extent

required by the provisions thereof.
 
“Opinion of Counsel” means an opinion in writing subject to customary exceptions of legal counsel, who may be an employee of or counsel for the Company, that

is delivered to the Trustee in accordance with the terms hereof.  Each such opinion shall include the statements provided for in Section 13.07, if and to the extent required by
the provisions thereof.

 
“Outstanding”, when used with reference to Securities of any series, means, subject to the provisions of Section 8.04, as of any particular time, all Securities of that

series theretofore authenticated and delivered by the Trustee under this Indenture, except (a) Securities theretofore canceled by the Trustee or any paying agent, or delivered to
the Trustee or any paying agent for cancellation or that have previously been canceled; (b) Securities or portions thereof for the payment or redemption of which moneys or
Governmental Obligations in the necessary amount shall have been deposited in trust with the Trustee or with any paying agent (other than the Company) or shall have been
set aside and segregated in trust by the Company (if the Company
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shall act as its own paying agent); provided, however, that if such Securities or portions of such Securities are to be redeemed prior to the maturity thereof, notice of such
redemption shall have been given as provided in Article Three, or provision satisfactory to the Trustee shall have been made for giving such notice; and (c) Securities in lieu of
or in substitution for which other Securities shall have been authenticated and delivered pursuant to the terms of Section 2.07.

 
“Person” means any individual, corporation, partnership, joint venture, joint-stock company, limited liability company, association, trust, unincorporated

organization, any other entity or organization, including a  government or political subdivision or an agency or instrumentality thereof.
 
“Predecessor Security” of any particular Security means every previous Security evidencing all or a portion of the same debt as that evidenced by such particular

Security; and, for the purposes of this definition, any Security authenticated and delivered under Section 2.07 in lieu of a lost, destroyed or stolen Security shall be deemed to
evidence the same debt as the lost, destroyed or stolen Security.

 
“Responsible Officer” when used with respect to the Trustee means the chairman of its board of directors, the chief executive officer, the president, any vice

president, the secretary, the treasurer, any trust officer, any corporate trust officer or any other officer or assistant officer of the Trustee customarily performing functions
similar to those performed by the Persons who at the time shall be such officers, respectively, or to whom any corporate trust matter is referred because of his or her
knowledge of and familiarity with the particular subject.

 
“Securities” means the debt Securities authenticated and delivered under this Indenture.
 
“Securityholder”, “holder of Securities”, “registered holder”, or other similar term, means the Person or Persons in whose name or names a particular Security shall

be registered on the books of the Company kept for that purpose in accordance with the terms of this Indenture.
 
“Security Register” and “Security Registrar” shall have the meanings as set forth in Section 2.05.
 
“Subsidiary” means, with respect to any Person, (i) any corporation at least a majority of whose outstanding Voting Stock shall at the time be owned, directly or

indirectly, by such Person or by one or more of its Subsidiaries or by such Person and one or more of its Subsidiaries, (ii) any general partnership, joint venture or similar
entity, at least a majority of whose outstanding partnership or similar interests shall at the time be owned by such Person, or by one or more of its Subsidiaries, or by such
Person and one or more of its Subsidiaries and (iii) any limited partnership of which such Person or any of its Subsidiaries is a general partner.

 
“Trustee” means                                                   , and, subject to the provisions of Article Seven, shall also include its successors and assigns, and, if at any time

there is more than one Person acting in such capacity hereunder, “Trustee” shall mean each such Person.  The term “Trustee” as used with respect to a particular series of the
Securities shall mean the trustee with respect to that series.
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“Trust Indenture Act” means the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended.
 
“Voting Stock”, as applied to stock of any Person, means shares, interests, participations or other equivalents in the equity interest (however designated) in such

Person having ordinary voting power for the election of a majority of the directors (or the equivalent) of such Person, other than shares, interests, participations or other
equivalents having such power only by reason of the occurrence of a contingency.

 
ARTICLE 2

ISSUE, DESCRIPTION, TERMS, EXECUTION, REGISTRATION AND EXCHANGE OF SECURITIES
 

Section 2.01         Designation and Terms of Securities.
 

(a)           The aggregate principal amount of Securities that may be authenticated and delivered under this Indenture is unlimited.  The Securities may be
issued in one or more series up to the aggregate principal amount of Securities of that series from time to time authorized by or pursuant to a Board Resolution or pursuant to
one or more indentures supplemental hereto.  Prior to the initial issuance of Securities of any series, there shall be established in or pursuant to a Board Resolution, and set
forth in an Officer’s Certificate, or established in one or more indentures supplemental hereto:

 
(1)   the title of the Securities of the series (which shall distinguish the Securities of that series from all other Securities);
 
(2)   any limit upon the aggregate principal amount of the Securities of that series that may be authenticated and delivered under this Indenture

(except for Securities authenticated and delivered upon registration of transfer of, or in exchange for, or in lieu of, other Securities of that series);
 
(3)   the date or dates on which the principal of the Securities of the series is payable, any original issue discount that may apply to the Securities of

that series upon their issuance, the principal amount due at maturity, and the place(s) of payment;
 
(4)   the rate or rates at which the Securities of the series shall bear interest or the manner of calculation of such rate or rates, if any;
 
(5)   the date or dates from which such interest shall accrue, the Interest Payment Dates on which such interest will be payable or the manner of



determination of such Interest Payment Dates, the place(s) of payment, and the record date for the determination of holders to whom interest is payable on any such Interest
Payment Dates or the manner of determination of such record dates;

 
(6)   the right, if any, to extend the interest payment periods and the duration of such extension;
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(7)   the period or periods within which, the price or prices at which and the terms and conditions upon which Securities of the series may be

redeemed, in whole or in part, at the option of the Company;
 
(8)   the obligation, if any, of the Company to redeem or purchase Securities of the series pursuant to any sinking fund, mandatory redemption, or

analogous provisions (including payments made in cash in satisfaction of future sinking fund obligations) or at the option of a holder thereof and the period or periods within
which, the price or prices at which, and the terms and conditions upon which, Securities of the series shall be redeemed or purchased, in whole or in part, pursuant to such
obligation;

 
(9)   the form of the Securities of the series including the form of the Certificate of Authentication for such series;
 
(10) if other than denominations of one thousand U.S. dollars ($1,000) or any integral multiple thereof, the denominations in which the Securities

of the series shall be issuable;
 
(11) any and all other terms (including terms, to the extent applicable, relating to any auction or remarketing of the Securities of that series and any

security for the obligations of the Company with respect to such Securities) with respect to such series (which terms shall not be inconsistent with the terms of this Indenture,
as amended by any supplemental indenture) including any terms which may be required by or advisable under United States laws or regulations or advisable in connection
with the marketing of Securities of that series;

 
(12) whether the Securities are issuable as a Global Security and, in such case, the terms and the identity of the Depositary for such series;
 
(13) whether the Securities will be convertible into or exchangeable for shares of common stock, preferred stock or other securities of the

Company or any other Person and, if so, the terms and conditions upon which such Securities will be so convertible or exchangeable, including the conversion or exchange
price, as applicable, or how it will be calculated and may be adjusted, any mandatory or optional (at the Company’s option or the holders’ option) conversion or exchange
features, and the applicable conversion or exchange period;

 
(14) if other than the principal amount thereof, the portion of the principal amount of Securities of the series which shall be payable upon

declaration of acceleration of the maturity thereof pursuant to Section 6.01;
 
(15) any additional or different Events of Default or restrictive covenants (which may include, among other restrictions, restrictions on the

Company’s ability or the ability of the Company’s Subsidiaries to:  incur additional indebtedness; issue additional securities; create liens; pay dividends or make distributions
in respect of the capital stock of the Company or the Company’s Subsidiaries; redeem capital stock; place restrictions on the Company’s Subsidiaries’ ability to pay dividends,
make distributions or transfer assets; make investments or other restricted payments; sell or otherwise dispose of assets; enter into sale-
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leaseback transactions; engage in transactions with stockholders or affiliates; issue or sell stock of the Company’s Subsidiaries; or effect a consolidation or merger) or financial
covenants (which may include, among other financial covenants, financial covenants that require the Company and its Subsidiaries to maintain specified interest coverage,
fixed charge, cash flow-based, asset-based or other financial ratios) provided for with respect to the Securities of the series;

 
(16) if other than dollars, the coin or currency in which the Securities of the series are denominated (including, but not limited to, foreign

currency);
 
(17) the terms and conditions, if any, upon which the Company shall pay amounts in addition to the stated interest, premium, if any and principal

amounts of the Securities of the series to any Securityholder that is not a “United States person” for federal tax purposes; and
 
(18) any restrictions on transfer, sale or assignment of the Securities of the series.
 

All Securities of any one series shall be substantially identical except as may otherwise be provided in or pursuant to any such Board Resolution or in any indentures
supplemental hereto.

 
If any of the terms of the series are established by action taken pursuant to a Board Resolution of the Company, a copy of an appropriate record of such action shall

be certified by the secretary or an assistant secretary of the Company and delivered to the Trustee at or prior to the delivery of the Officer’s Certificate of the Company setting
forth the terms of the series.

 
Securities of any particular series may be issued at various times, with different dates on which the principal or any installment of principal is payable, with different

rates of interest, if any, or different methods by which rates of interest may be determined, with different dates on which such interest may be payable and with different
redemption dates.

 
Section 2.02         Form of Securities and Trustee’s Certificate.
 
The Securities of any series and the Trustee’s certificate of authentication to be borne by such Securities shall be substantially of the tenor and purport as set forth in

one or more indentures supplemental hereto or as provided in a Board Resolution, and set forth in an Officer’s Certificate, and they may have such letters, numbers or other
marks of identification or designation and such legends or endorsements printed, lithographed or engraved thereon as the Company may deem appropriate and as are not
inconsistent with the provisions of this Indenture,

 
or as may be required to comply with any law or with any rule or regulation made pursuant thereto or with any rule or regulation of any securities exchange on which

Securities of that series may be listed, or to conform to usage.
 



Section 2.03         Denominations: Provisions for Payment.
 
The Securities shall be issuable as registered Securities and in the denominations of one thousand U.S. dollars ($1,000) or any integral multiple thereof, subject to

Section 2.01(a)(10).
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The Securities of a particular series shall bear interest payable on the dates and at the rate specified with respect to that series.  Subject to Section 2.01(a)(16), the principal of
and the interest on the Securities of any series, as well as any premium thereon in case of redemption thereof prior to maturity, shall be payable in the coin or currency of the
United States of America that at the time is legal tender for public and private debt, at the office or agency of the Company maintained for that purpose.  Each Security shall
be dated the date of its authentication.  Interest on the Securities shall be computed on the basis of a 360-day year composed of twelve 30-day months.

 
The interest installment on any Security that is payable, and is punctually paid or duly provided for, on any Interest Payment Date for Securities of that series shall be

paid to the Person in whose name said Security (or one or more Predecessor Securities) is registered at the close of business on the regular record date for such interest
installment.  In the event that any Security of a particular series or portion thereof is called for redemption and the redemption date is subsequent to a regular record date with
respect to any Interest Payment Date and prior to such Interest Payment Date, interest on such Security will be paid upon presentation and surrender of such Security as
provided in Section 3.03.

 
Any interest on any Security that is payable, but is not punctually paid or duly provided for, on any Interest Payment Date for Securities of the same series (herein

called “Defaulted Interest”) shall forthwith cease to be payable to the registered holder on the relevant regular record date by virtue of having been such holder; and such
Defaulted Interest shall be paid by the Company, at its election, as provided in clause (1) or clause (2) below:

 
(1)           The Company may make payment of any Defaulted Interest on Securities to the Persons in whose names such Securities (or their

respective Predecessor Securities) are registered at the close of business on a special record date for the payment of such Defaulted Interest, which shall be fixed in the
following manner: the Company shall notify the Trustee in writing of the amount of Defaulted Interest proposed to be paid on each such Security and the date of the proposed
payment, and at the same time the Company shall deposit with the Trustee an amount of money equal to the aggregate amount proposed to be paid in respect of such
Defaulted Interest or shall make arrangements satisfactory to the Trustee for such deposit prior to the date of the proposed payment, such money when deposited to be held in
trust for the benefit of the Persons entitled to such Defaulted Interest as in this clause provided.  Thereupon the Trustee shall fix a special record date for the payment of such
Defaulted Interest which shall not be more than 15 nor less than 10 days prior to the date of the proposed payment and not less than 10 days after the receipt by the Trustee of
the notice of the proposed payment.  The Trustee shall promptly notify the Company of such special record date and, in the name and at the expense of the Company, shall
cause notice of the proposed payment of such Defaulted Interest and the special record date therefor to be mailed, first class postage prepaid, to each Securityholder at his or
her address as it appears in the Security Register (as hereinafter defined), not less than 10 days prior to such special record date.  Notice of the proposed payment of such
Defaulted Interest and the special record date therefor having been mailed as aforesaid, such Defaulted Interest shall be paid to the Persons in whose names such Securities (or
their respective Predecessor Securities) are registered on such special record date.
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(2)           The Company may make payment of any Defaulted Interest on any Securities in any other lawful manner not inconsistent with the
requirements of any securities exchange on which such Securities may be listed, and upon such notice as may be required by such exchange, if, after notice given by the
Company to the Trustee of the proposed payment pursuant to this clause, such manner of payment shall be deemed practicable by the Trustee.

 
Unless otherwise set forth in a Board Resolution or one or more indentures supplemental hereto establishing the terms of any series of Securities pursuant to

Section 2.01 hereof, the term “regular record date” as used in this Section with respect to a series of Securities and any Interest Payment Date for such series shall mean either
the fifteenth day of the month immediately preceding the month in which an Interest Payment Date established for such series pursuant to Section 2.01 hereof shall occur, if
such Interest Payment Date is the first day of a month, or the first day of the month in which an Interest Payment Date established for such series pursuant to Section 2.01
hereof shall occur, if such Interest Payment Date is the fifteenth day of a month, whether or not such date is a Business Day.

 
Subject to the foregoing provisions of this Section, each Security of a series delivered under this Indenture upon transfer of or in exchange for or in lieu of any other

Security of such series shall carry the rights to interest accrued and unpaid, and to accrue, that were carried by such other Security.
 
Section 2.04         Execution and Authentications.
 
The Securities shall be signed on behalf of the Company by one of its Officers.  Signatures may be in the form of a manual or facsimile signature.
 
The Company may use the facsimile signature of any Person who shall have been an Officer, notwithstanding the fact that at the time the Securities shall be

authenticated and delivered or disposed of such Person shall have ceased to be such an officer of the Company.  The Securities may contain such notations, legends or
endorsements required by law, stock exchange rule or usage.  Each Security shall be dated the date of its authentication by the Trustee.

 
A Security shall not be valid until authenticated manually by an authorized signatory of the Trustee, or by an Authenticating Agent.  Such signature shall be

conclusive evidence that the Security so authenticated has been duly authenticated and delivered hereunder and that the holder is entitled to the benefits of this Indenture.  At
any time and from time to time after the execution and delivery of this Indenture, the Company may deliver Securities of any series executed by the Company to the Trustee
for authentication, together with a written order of the Company for the authentication and delivery of such Securities, signed by an Officer, and the Trustee in accordance
with such written order shall authenticate and deliver such Securities.

 
In authenticating such Securities and accepting the additional responsibilities under this Indenture in relation to such Securities, the Trustee shall be entitled to

receive, if requested, and (subject to Section 7.01) shall be fully protected in relying upon, an Opinion of Counsel stating that the form and terms thereof have been
established in conformity with the provisions of this Indenture.
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The Trustee shall not be required to authenticate such Securities if the issue of such Securities pursuant to this Indenture will affect the Trustee’s own rights, duties or

immunities under the Securities and this Indenture or otherwise in a manner that is not reasonably acceptable to the Trustee.
 
Section 2.05         Registration of Transfer and Exchange.
 



(a)           Securities of any series may be exchanged upon presentation thereof at the office or agency of the Company designated for such purpose, for
other Securities of such series of authorized denominations, and for a like aggregate principal amount, upon payment of a sum sufficient to cover any tax or other
governmental charge in relation thereto, all as provided in this Section.  In respect of any Securities so surrendered for exchange, the Company shall execute, the Trustee shall
authenticate and such office or agency shall deliver in exchange therefor the Security or Securities of the same series that the Securityholder making the exchange shall be
entitled to receive, bearing numbers not contemporaneously outstanding.

 
(b)           The Company shall keep, or cause to be kept, at its office or agency designated for such purpose a register or registers (herein referred to as the

“Security Register”) in which, subject to such reasonable regulations as it may prescribe, the Company shall register the Securities and the transfers of Securities as in this
Article provided and which at all reasonable times shall be open for inspection by the Trustee.  The registrar for the purpose of registering Securities and transfer of Securities
as herein provided shall be appointed as authorized by Board Resolution (the “Security Registrar”).

 
Upon surrender for transfer of any Security at the office or agency of the Company designated for such purpose, the Company shall execute, the Trustee shall

authenticate and such office or agency shall deliver in the name of the transferee or transferees a new Security or Securities of the same series as the Security presented for a
like aggregate principal amount.

 
All Securities presented or surrendered for exchange or registration of transfer, as provided in this Section, shall be accompanied (if so required by the Company or

the Security Registrar) by a written instrument or instruments of transfer, in form satisfactory to the Company or the Security Registrar, duly executed by the registered holder
or by such holder’s duly authorized attorney in writing.

 
(c)           Except as provided pursuant to Section 2.01 pursuant to a Board Resolution, and set forth in an Officer’s Certificate, or established in one or more

indentures supplemental to this Indenture, no service charge shall be made for any exchange or registration of transfer of Securities, or issue of new Securities in case of partial
redemption of any series, but the Company may require payment of a sum sufficient to cover any tax or other governmental charge in relation thereto, other than exchanges
pursuant to Section 2.06, Section 3.03(b) and Section 9.04 not involving any transfer.

 
(d)           The Company shall not be required (i) to issue, exchange or register the transfer of any Securities during a period beginning at the opening of

business 15 days before the day of the mailing of a notice of redemption of less than all the Outstanding Securities of the same series and ending at the close of business on the
day of such mailing, nor (ii) to register the
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transfer of or exchange any Securities of any series or portions thereof called for redemption, other than the unredeemed portion of any such Securities being redeemed in
part.  The provisions of this Section 2.05 are, with respect to any Global Security, subject to Section 2.11 hereof.

 
Section 2.06         Temporary Securities.
 
Pending the preparation of definitive Securities of any series, the Company may execute, and the Trustee shall authenticate and deliver, temporary Securities

(printed, lithographed or typewritten) of any authorized denomination.  Such temporary Securities shall be substantially in the form of the definitive Securities in lieu of which
they are issued, but with such omissions, insertions and variations as may be appropriate for temporary Securities, all as may be determined by the Company.  Every
temporary Security of any series shall be executed by the Company and be authenticated by the Trustee upon the same conditions and in substantially the same manner, and
with like effect, as the definitive Securities of such series.  Without unnecessary delay the Company will execute and will furnish definitive Securities of such series and
thereupon any or all temporary Securities of such series may be surrendered in exchange therefor (without charge to the holders), at the office or agency of the Company
designated for the purpose, and the Trustee shall authenticate and such office or agency shall deliver in exchange for such temporary Securities an equal aggregate principal
amount of definitive Securities of such series, unless the Company advises the Trustee to the effect that definitive Securities need not be executed and furnished until further
notice from the Company.  Until so exchanged, the temporary Securities of such series shall be entitled to the same benefits under this Indenture as definitive Securities of
such series authenticated and delivered hereunder.

 
Section 2.07         Mutilated, Destroyed, Lost or Stolen Securities.
 
In case any temporary or definitive Security shall become mutilated or be destroyed, lost or stolen, the Company (subject to the next succeeding sentence) shall

execute, and upon the Company’s request the Trustee (subject as aforesaid) shall authenticate and deliver, a new Security of the same series, bearing a number not
contemporaneously outstanding, in exchange and substitution for the mutilated Security, or in lieu of and in substitution for the Security so destroyed, lost or stolen.  In every
case the applicant for a substituted Security shall furnish to the Company and the Trustee such security or indemnity as may be required by them to save each of them
harmless, and, in every case of destruction, loss or theft, the applicant shall also furnish to the Company and the Trustee evidence to their satisfaction of the destruction, loss or
theft of the applicant’s Security and of the ownership thereof.  The Trustee may authenticate any such substituted Security and deliver the same upon the written request or
authorization of any officer of the Company.  Upon the issuance of any substituted Security, the Company may require the payment of a sum sufficient to cover any tax or
other governmental charge that may be imposed in relation thereto and any other expenses (including the fees and expenses of the Trustee) connected therewith.

 
In case any Security that has matured or is about to mature shall become mutilated or be destroyed, lost or stolen, the Company may, instead of issuing a substitute

Security, pay or authorize the payment of the same (without surrender thereof except in the case of a mutilated Security) if the applicant for such payment shall furnish to the
Company and the Trustee such security or indemnity as they may require to save them harmless, and, in case of destruction, loss
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or theft, evidence to the satisfaction of the Company and the Trustee of the destruction, loss or theft of such Security and of the ownership thereof.

 
Every replacement Security issued pursuant to the provisions of this Section shall constitute an additional contractual obligation of the Company whether or not the

mutilated, destroyed, lost or stolen Security shall be found at any time, or be enforceable by anyone, and shall be entitled to all the benefits of this Indenture equally and
proportionately with any and all other Securities of the same series duly issued hereunder.  All Securities shall be held and owned upon the express condition that the
foregoing provisions are exclusive with respect to the replacement or payment of mutilated, destroyed, lost or stolen Securities, and shall preclude (to the extent lawful) any
and all other rights or remedies, notwithstanding any law or statute existing or hereafter enacted to the contrary with respect to the replacement or payment of negotiable
instruments or other securities without their surrender.

 
Section 2.08         Cancellation.
 
All Securities surrendered for the purpose of payment, redemption, exchange or registration of transfer shall, if surrendered to the Company or any paying agent, be

delivered to the Trustee for cancellation, or, if surrendered to the Trustee, shall be cancelled by it, and no Securities shall be issued in lieu thereof except as expressly required
or permitted by any of the provisions of this Indenture.  On request of the Company at the time of such surrender, the Trustee shall deliver to the Company canceled Securities
held by the Trustee.  In the absence of such request the Trustee may dispose of canceled Securities in accordance with its standard procedures and deliver a certificate of
disposition to the Company.  If the Company shall otherwise acquire any of the Securities, however, such acquisition shall not operate as a redemption or satisfaction of the



indebtedness represented by such Securities unless and until the same are delivered to the Trustee for cancellation.
 
Section 2.09         Benefits of Indenture.
 
Nothing in this Indenture or in the Securities, express or implied, shall give or be construed to give to any Person, other than the parties hereto and the holders of the

Securities any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under or in respect of this Indenture, or under any covenant, condition or provision herein contained; all such
covenants, conditions and provisions being for the sole benefit of the parties hereto and of the holders of the Securities.

 
Section 2.10         Authenticating Agent.
 
So long as any of the Securities of any series remain Outstanding there may be an Authenticating Agent for any or all such series of Securities which the Trustee

shall have the right to appoint.  Said Authenticating Agent shall be authorized to act on behalf of the Trustee to authenticate Securities of such series issued upon exchange,
transfer or partial redemption thereof, and Securities so authenticated shall be entitled to the benefits of this Indenture and shall be valid and obligatory for all purposes as if
authenticated by the Trustee hereunder.  All references in this Indenture to the authentication of Securities by the Trustee shall be deemed to include authentication by an
Authenticating Agent for such series.  Each Authenticating Agent shall be acceptable to the Company and shall be a corporation that has a combined capital and
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surplus, as most recently reported or determined by it, sufficient under the laws of any jurisdiction under which it is organized or in which it is doing business to conduct a
trust business, and that is otherwise authorized under such laws to conduct such business and is subject to supervision or examination by federal or state authorities.  If at any
time any Authenticating Agent shall cease to be eligible in accordance with these provisions, it shall resign immediately.

 
Any Authenticating Agent may at any time resign by giving written notice of resignation to the Trustee and to the Company.  The Trustee may at any time (and upon

request by the Company shall) terminate the agency of any Authenticating Agent by giving written notice of termination to such Authenticating Agent and to the Company. 
Upon resignation, termination or cessation of eligibility of any Authenticating Agent, the Trustee may appoint an eligible successor Authenticating Agent acceptable to the
Company.  Any successor Authenticating Agent, upon acceptance of its appointment hereunder, shall become vested with all the rights, powers and duties of its predecessor
hereunder as if originally named as an Authenticating Agent pursuant hereto.

 
Section 2.11         Global Securities.
 

(a)           If the Company shall establish pursuant to Section 2.01 that the Securities of a particular series are to be issued as a Global Security, then the
Company shall execute and the Trustee shall, in accordance with Section 2.04, authenticate and deliver, a Global Security that (i) shall represent, and shall be denominated in
an amount equal to the aggregate principal amount of, all of the Outstanding Securities of such series, (ii) shall be registered in the name of the Depositary or its nominee,
(iii) shall be delivered by the Trustee to the Depositary or pursuant to the Depositary’s instruction and (iv) shall bear a legend substantially to the following effect: “Except as
otherwise provided in Section 2.11 of the Indenture, this Security may be transferred, in whole but not in part, only to another nominee of the Depositary or to a successor
Depositary or to a nominee of such successor Depositary.”

 
(b)           Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 2.05, the Global Security of a series may be transferred, in whole but not in part and in the manner

provided in Section 2.05, only to another nominee of the Depositary for such series, or to a successor Depositary for such series selected or approved by the Company or to a
nominee of such successor Depositary.

 
(c)           If at any time the Depositary for a series of the Securities notifies the Company that it is unwilling or unable to continue as Depositary for such

series or if at any time the Depositary for such series shall no longer be registered or in good standing under the Exchange Act, or other applicable statute or regulation, and a
successor Depositary for such series is not appointed by the Company within 90 days after the Company receives such notice or becomes aware of such condition, as the case
may be, or if an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing and the Company has received a request from the Depositary or from the Trustee, this Section 2.11 shall no
longer be applicable to the Securities of such series and the Company will execute, and subject to Section 2.04, the Trustee will authenticate and deliver the Securities of such
series in definitive registered form without coupons, in authorized denominations, and in an aggregate principal amount equal to the principal amount of the Global Security of
such series in exchange for such Global Security.  In addition, the Company may at any time determine that
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the Securities of any series shall no longer be represented by a Global Security and that the provisions of this Section 2.11 shall no longer apply to the Securities of such
series.  In such event the Company will execute and, subject to Section 2.04, the Trustee, upon receipt of an Officer’s Certificate evidencing such determination by the
Company, will authenticate and deliver the Securities of such series in definitive registered form without coupons, in authorized denominations, and in an aggregate principal
amount equal to the principal amount of the Global Security of such series in exchange for such Global Security.  Upon the exchange of the Global Security for such Securities
in definitive registered form without coupons, in authorized denominations, the Global Security shall be canceled by the Trustee.  Such Securities in definitive registered form
issued in exchange for the Global Security pursuant to this Section 2.11(c) shall be registered in such names and in such authorized denominations as the Depositary, pursuant
to instructions from its direct or indirect participants or otherwise, shall instruct the Trustee.  The Trustee shall deliver such Securities to the Depositary for delivery to the
Persons in whose names such Securities are so registered.

 
ARTICLE 3

REDEMPTION OF SECURITIES AND SINKING FUND PROVISIONS
 

Section 3.01         Redemption.
 
The Company may redeem the Securities of any series issued hereunder on and after the dates and in accordance with the terms established for such series pursuant

to Section 2.01 hereof.
 
Section 3.02         Notice of Redemption.
 

(a)   In case the Company shall desire to exercise such right to redeem all or, as the case may be, a portion of the Securities of any series in accordance with
any right the Company reserved for itself to do so pursuant to Section 2.01 hereof, the Company shall, or shall cause the Trustee to, give notice of such redemption to holders
of the Securities of such series to be redeemed by mailing, first class postage prepaid, a notice of such redemption not less than 30 days and not more than 90 days before the
date fixed for redemption of that series to such holders at their last addresses as they shall appear upon the Security Register, unless a shorter period is specified in the
Securities to be redeemed.  Any notice that is mailed in the manner herein provided shall be conclusively presumed to have been duly given, whether or not the registered
holder receives the notice.  In any case, failure duly to give such notice to the holder of any Security of any series designated for redemption in whole or in part, or any defect
in the notice, shall not affect the validity of the proceedings for the redemption of any other Securities of such series or any other series.  In the case of any redemption of
Securities prior to the expiration of any restriction on such redemption provided in the terms of such Securities or elsewhere in this Indenture, the Company shall furnish the



Trustee with an Officer’s Certificate evidencing compliance with any such restriction.
 

Each such notice of redemption shall specify the date fixed for redemption and the redemption price at which Securities of that series are to be redeemed, and shall
state that payment of the redemption price of such Securities to be redeemed will be made at the office or
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agency of the Company, upon presentation and surrender of such Securities, that interest accrued to the date fixed for redemption will be paid as specified in said notice, that
from and after said date interest will cease to accrue and that the redemption is from a sinking fund, if such is the case.  If less than all the Securities of a series are to be
redeemed, the notice to the holders of Securities of that series to be redeemed in part shall specify the particular Securities to be so redeemed.

 
In case any Security is to be redeemed in part only, the notice that relates to such Security shall state the portion of the principal amount thereof to be redeemed, and

shall state that on and after the redemption date, upon surrender of such Security, a new Security or Securities of such series in principal amount equal to the unredeemed
portion thereof will be issued.

 
(b)           If less than all the Securities of a series are to be redeemed, the Company shall give the Trustee at least 45 days’ notice (unless a shorter notice

shall be satisfactory to the Trustee) in advance of the date fixed for redemption as to the aggregate principal amount of Securities of the series to be redeemed, and thereupon
the Trustee shall select, by lot or in such other manner as it shall deem appropriate and fair in its discretion and that may provide for the selection of a portion or portions
(equal to one thousand U.S. dollars ($1,000) or any integral multiple thereof) of the principal amount of such Securities of a denomination larger than $1,000, the Securities to
be redeemed and shall thereafter promptly notify the Company in writing of the numbers of the Securities to be redeemed, in whole or in part.  The Company may, if and
whenever it shall so elect, by delivery of instructions signed on its behalf by an Officer, instruct the Trustee or any paying agent to call all or any part of the Securities of a
particular series for redemption and to give notice of redemption in the manner set forth in this Section, such notice to be in the name of the Company or its own name as the
Trustee or such paying agent may deem advisable.  In any case in which notice of redemption is to be given by the Trustee or any such paying agent, the Company shall
deliver or cause to be delivered to, or permit to remain with, the Trustee or such paying agent, as the case may be, such Security Register, transfer books or other records, or
suitable copies or extracts therefrom, sufficient to enable the Trustee or such paying agent to give any notice by mail that may be required under the provisions of this Section.

 
Section 3.03         Payment Upon Redemption.
 

(a)           If the giving of notice of redemption shall have been completed as above provided, the Securities or portions of Securities of the series to be
redeemed specified in such notice shall become due and payable on the date and at the place stated in such notice at the applicable redemption price, together with interest
accrued to the date fixed for redemption and interest on such Securities or portions of Securities shall cease to accrue on and after the date fixed for redemption, unless the
Company shall default in the payment of such redemption price and accrued interest with respect to any such Security or portion thereof.  On presentation and surrender of
such Securities on or after the date fixed for redemption at the place of payment specified in the notice, said Securities shall be paid and redeemed at the applicable redemption
price for such series, together with interest accrued thereon to the date fixed for redemption (but if the date fixed for redemption is an interest payment date, the interest
installment payable on such date shall be payable to the registered holder at the close of business on the applicable record date pursuant to Section 2.03).
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(b)           Upon presentation of any Security of such series that is to be redeemed in part only, the Company shall execute and the Trustee shall authenticate

and the office or agency where the Security is presented shall deliver to the holder thereof, at the expense of the Company, a new Security of the same series of authorized
denominations in principal amount equal to the unredeemed portion of the Security so presented.

 
Section 3.04         Sinking Fund.
 
The provisions of Sections 3.04, 3.05 and 3.06 shall be applicable to any sinking fund for the retirement of Securities of a series, except as otherwise specified as

contemplated by Section 2.01 for Securities of such series.
 
The minimum amount of any sinking fund payment provided for by the terms of Securities of any series is herein referred to as a “mandatory sinking fund payment,”

and any payment in excess of such minimum amount provided for by the terms of Securities of any series is herein referred to as an “optional sinking fund payment”.  If
provided for by the terms of Securities of any series, the cash amount of any sinking fund payment may be subject to reduction as provided in Section 3.05.  Each sinking fund
payment shall be applied to the redemption of Securities of any series as provided for by the terms of Securities of such series.

 
Section 3.05         Satisfaction of Sinking Fund Payments with Securities.
 
The Company (i) may deliver Outstanding Securities of a series and (ii) may apply as a credit Securities of a series that have been redeemed either at the election of

the Company pursuant to the terms of such Securities or through the application of permitted optional sinking fund payments pursuant to the terms of such Securities, in each
case in satisfaction of all or any part of any sinking fund payment with respect to the Securities of such series required to be made pursuant to the terms of such Securities as
provided for by the terms of such series, provided that such Securities have not been previously so credited.  Such Securities shall be received and credited for such purpose by
the Trustee at the redemption price specified in such Securities for redemption through operation of the sinking fund and the amount of such sinking fund payment shall be
reduced accordingly.

 
Section 3.06         Redemption of Securities for Sinking Fund.
 
Not less than 45 days prior to each sinking fund payment date for any series of Securities (unless a shorter period shall be satisfactory to the Trustee), the Company

will deliver to the Trustee an Officer’s Certificate specifying the amount of the next ensuing sinking fund payment for that series pursuant to the terms of the series, the
portion thereof, if any, that is to be satisfied by delivering and crediting Securities of that series pursuant to Section 3.05 and the basis for such credit and will, together with
such Officer’s Certificate, deliver to the Trustee any Securities to be so delivered.  Not less than 30 days before each such sinking fund payment date the Trustee shall select
the Securities to be redeemed upon such sinking fund payment date in the manner specified in Section 3.02 and cause notice of the redemption thereof to be given in the name
of and at the expense of the Company in the manner provided in Section 3.02.  Such notice having been duly given, the redemption of such Securities shall be made upon the
terms and in the manner stated in Section 3.03.
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ARTICLE 4



COVENANTS
 

Section 4.01         Payment of Principal, Premium and Interest.
 
The Company will duly and punctually pay or cause to be paid the principal of (and premium, if any) and interest on the Securities of that series at the time and place

and in the manner provided herein and established with respect to such Securities.  Payments of principal on the Securities may be made at the time provided herein and
established with respect to such Securities by U.S. dollar check drawn on and mailed to the address of the Securityholder entitled thereto as such address shall appear in the
Security Register, or U.S. dollar wire transfer to, a U.S. dollar account (such wire transfer to be made only to a Securityholder of an aggregate principal amount of Securities
of the applicable series in excess of U.S. $2,000,000 and only if such Securityholder shall have furnished wire instructions to the Trustee no later than 15 days prior to the
relevant payment date).  Payments of interest on the Securities may be made at the time provided herein and established with respect to such Securities by U.S. dollar check
mailed to the address of the Securityholder entitled thereto as such address shall appear in the Security Register, or U.S. dollar wire transfer to, a U.S. dollar account (such a
wire transfer to be made only to a Securityholder of an aggregate principal amount of Securities of the applicable series in excess of U.S. $2,000,000 and only if such
Securityholder shall have furnished wire instructions in writing to the Security Registrar and the Trustee no later than 15 days prior to the relevant payment date.

 
Section 4.02         Maintenance of Office or Agency.
 
So long as any series of the Securities remain Outstanding, the Company agrees to maintain an office or agency with respect to each such series and at such other

location or locations as may be designated as provided in this Section 4.02, where (i) Securities of that series may be presented for payment, (ii) Securities of that series may
be presented as herein above authorized for registration of transfer and exchange, and (iii) notices and demands to or upon the Company in respect of the Securities of that
series and this Indenture may be given or served, such designation to continue with respect to such office or agency until the Company shall, by written notice signed by any
officer authorized to sign an Officer’s Certificate and delivered to the Trustee, designate some other office or agency for such purposes or any of them.  If at any time the
Company shall fail to maintain any such required office or agency or shall fail to furnish the Trustee with the address thereof, such presentations, notices and demands may be
made or served at the Corporate Trust Office of the Trustee, and the Company hereby appoints the Trustee as its agent to receive all such presentations, notices and demands. 
The Company initially appoints the Corporate Trust Office of the Trustee as its paying agent with respect to the Securities.

 
Section 4.03         Paying Agents.
 

(a)   If the Company shall appoint one or more paying agents for all or any series of the Securities, other than the Trustee, the Company will cause each
such paying agent to execute
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and deliver to the Trustee an instrument in which such agent shall agree with the Trustee, subject to the provisions of this Section:

 
(1)           that it will hold all sums held by it as such agent for the payment of the principal of (and premium, if any) or interest on the Securities of

that series (whether such sums have been paid to it by the Company or by any other obligor of such Securities) in trust for the benefit of the Persons entitled thereto;
 
(2)           that it will give the Trustee notice of any failure by the Company (or by any other obligor of such Securities) to make any payment of the

principal of (and premium, if any) or interest on the Securities of that series when the same shall be due and payable;
 
(3)           that it will, at any time during the continuance of any failure referred to in the preceding paragraph (a)(2) above, upon the written request

of the Trustee, forthwith pay to the Trustee all sums so held in trust by such paying agent; and
 
(4)           that it will perform all other duties of paying agent as set forth in this Indenture.
 

(b)           If the Company shall act as its own paying agent with respect to any series of the Securities, it will on or before each due date of the principal of
(and premium, if any) or interest on Securities of that series, set aside, segregate and hold in trust for the benefit of the Persons entitled thereto a sum sufficient to pay such
principal (and premium, if any) or interest so becoming due on Securities of that series until such sums shall be paid to such Persons or otherwise disposed of as herein
provided and will promptly notify the Trustee of such action, or any failure (by it or any other obligor on such Securities) to take such action.  Whenever the Company shall
have one or more paying agents for any series of Securities, it will, prior to each due date of the principal of (and premium, if any) or interest on any Securities of that series,
deposit with the paying agent a sum sufficient to pay the principal (and premium, if any) or interest so becoming due, such sum to be held in trust for the benefit of the Persons
entitled to such principal, premium or interest, and (unless such paying agent is the Trustee) the Company will promptly notify the Trustee of this action or failure so to act.

 
(c)           Notwithstanding anything in this Section to the contrary, (i) the agreement to hold sums in trust as provided in this Section is subject to the

provisions of Section 11.05, and (ii) the Company may at any time, for the purpose of obtaining the satisfaction and discharge of this Indenture or for any other purpose, pay,
or direct any paying agent to pay, to the Trustee all sums held in trust by the Company or such paying agent, such sums to be held by the Trustee upon the same terms and
conditions as those upon which such sums were held by the Company or such paying agent; and, upon such payment by the Company or any paying agent to the Trustee, the
Company or such paying agent shall be released from all further liability with respect to such money.
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Section 4.04         Appointment to Fill Vacancy in Office of Trustee.
 
The Company, whenever necessary to avoid or fill a vacancy in the office of Trustee, will appoint, in the manner provided in Section 7.10, a Trustee, so that there

shall at all times be a Trustee hereunder.
 
Section 4.05         Compliance with Consolidation Provisions.
 
The Company will not, while any of the Securities remain Outstanding, consolidate with or merge into any other Person, in either case where the Company is not the

survivor of such transaction, or sell or convey all or substantially all of its property to any other Person unless the provisions of Article Ten hereof are complied with.
 

ARTICLE 5

SECURITYHOLDERS’ LISTS AND REPORTS BY THE COMPANY AND THE TRUSTEE
 

Section 5.01         Company to Furnish Trustee Names and Addresses of Securityholders.
 
The Company will furnish or cause to be furnished to the Trustee (a) within 15 days after each regular record date (as defined in Section 2.03) a list, in such form as

the Trustee may reasonably require, of the names and addresses of the holders of each series of Securities as of such regular record date, provided that the Company shall not
be obligated to furnish or cause to furnish such list at any time that the list shall not differ in any respect from the most recent list furnished to the Trustee by the Company and



(b) at such other times as the Trustee may request in writing within 30 days after the receipt by the Company of any such request, a list of similar form and content as of a date
not more than 15 days prior to the time such list is furnished; provided, however, that, in either case, no such list need be furnished for any series for which the Trustee shall
be the Security Registrar.

 
Section 5.02         Preservation Of Information; Communications With Securityholders.
 

(a)           The Trustee shall preserve, in as current a form as is reasonably practicable, all information as to the names and addresses of the holders of
Securities contained in the most recent list furnished to it as provided in Section 5.01 and as to the names and addresses of holders of Securities received by the Trustee in its
capacity as Security Registrar (if acting in such capacity).

 
(b)           The Trustee may destroy any list furnished to it as provided in Section 5.01 upon receipt of a new list so furnished.
 
(c)           Securityholders may communicate as provided in Section 312(b) of the Trust Indenture Act with other Securityholders with respect to their rights

under this Indenture or under the Securities, and, in connection with any such communications, the Trustee shall satisfy
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its obligations under Section 312(b) of the Trust Indenture Act in accordance with the provisions of Section 312(b) of the Trust Indenture Act.

 
Section 5.03         Reports by the Company.
 
The Company covenants and agrees to provide (which delivery may be via electronic mail) to the Trustee, after the Company files the same with the Securities and

Exchange Commission, copies of the annual reports and of the information, documents and other reports (or copies of such portions of any of the foregoing as the Securities
and Exchange Commission may from time to time by rules and regulations prescribe) that the Company files with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to
Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act; provided, however, the Company shall not be required to deliver to the Trustee any materials for which the Company has
sought and received confidential treatment by the Securities and Exchange Commission; and provided further, so long as such filings by the Company are available on the
Securities and Exchange Commission’s Electronic Data Gathering, Analysis and Retrieval System (EDGAR), such filings shall be deemed to have been filed with the Trustee
for purposes of this Section 5.03 without any further action required by the Company.

 
Section 5.04         Reports by the Trustee.
 

(a)           If required by Section 313(a) of the Trust Indenture Act, the Trustee, within sixty (60) days after each May 1, shall transmit by mail, first class
postage prepaid, to the Securityholders, as their names and addresses appear upon the Security Register, a brief report dated as of such May 1, which complies with
Section 313(a) of the Trust Indenture Act.

 
(b)           The Trustee shall comply with Section 313(b) and 313(c) of the Trust Indenture Act.
 
(c)           A copy of each such report shall, at the time of such transmission to Securityholders, be filed by the Trustee with the Company, with each

securities exchange upon which any Securities are listed (if so listed) and also with the Securities and Exchange Commission.  The Company agrees to notify the Trustee when
any Securities become listed on any securities exchange.

 
ARTICLE 6

REMEDIES OF THE TRUSTEE AND SECURITYHOLDERS ON EVENT OF DEFAULT
 

Section 6.01         Events of Default.
 

(a)           Whenever used herein with respect to Securities of a particular series, “Event of Default” means any one or more of the following events that has
occurred and is continuing:

 
(1)           the Company defaults in the payment of any installment of interest upon any of the Securities of that series, as and when the same shall

become due and payable,
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and such default continues for a period of 90 days; provided, however, that a valid extension of an interest payment period by the Company in accordance with the terms of
any indenture supplemental hereto shall not constitute a default in the payment of interest for this purpose;

 
(2)           the Company defaults in the payment of the principal of (or premium, if any, on) any of the Securities of that series as and when the same

shall become due and payable whether at maturity, upon redemption, by declaration or otherwise, or in any payment required by any sinking or analogous fund established
with respect to that series; provided, however, that a valid extension of the maturity of such Securities in accordance with the terms of any indenture supplemental hereto shall
not constitute a default in the payment of principal or premium, if any;

 
(3)           the Company fails to observe or perform any other of its covenants or agreements with respect to that series contained in this Indenture

or otherwise established with respect to that series of Securities pursuant to Section 2.01 hereof (other than a covenant or agreement that has been expressly included in this
Indenture solely for the benefit of one or more series of Securities other than such series) for a period of 90 days after the date on which written notice of such failure,
requiring the same to be remedied and stating that such notice is a “Notice of Default” hereunder, shall have been given to the Company by the Trustee, by registered or
certified mail, or to the Company and the Trustee by the holders of at least 25% in principal amount of the Securities of that series at the time Outstanding;

 
(4)           the Company pursuant to or within the meaning of any Bankruptcy Law (i) commences a voluntary case, (ii) consents to the entry of an

order for relief against it in an involuntary case, (iii) consents to the appointment of a Custodian of it or for all or substantially all of its property or (iv) makes a general
assignment for the benefit of its creditors; or

 
(5)           a court of competent jurisdiction enters an order under any Bankruptcy Law that (i) is for relief against the Company in an involuntary

case, (ii) appoints a Custodian of the Company for all or substantially all of its property or (iii) orders the liquidation of the Company, and the order or decree remains
unstayed and in effect for 90 days.

 



(b)           In each and every such case (other than an Event of Default specified in clause (4) or clause (5) above), unless the principal of all the Securities of
that series shall have already become due and payable, either the Trustee or the holders of not less than 25% in aggregate principal amount of the Securities of that series then
Outstanding hereunder, by notice in writing to the Company (and to the Trustee if given by such Securityholders), may declare the principal of (and premium, if any, on) and
accrued and unpaid interest on all the Securities of that series to be due and payable immediately, and upon any such declaration the same shall become and shall be
immediately due and payable.  If an Event of Default specified in clause (4) or clause (5) above occurs, the principal of and accrued and unpaid interest on all the Securities of
that series shall automatically be immediately due and payable without any declaration or other act on the part of the Trustee or the holders of the Securities.

 
(c)           At any time after the principal of (and premium, if any, on) and accrued and unpaid interest on the Securities of that series shall have been so

declared due and payable,
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and before any judgment or decree for the payment of the moneys due shall have been obtained or entered as hereinafter provided, the holders of a majority in aggregate
principal amount of the Securities of that series then Outstanding hereunder, by written notice to the Company and the Trustee, may rescind and annul such declaration and its
consequences if: (i) the Company has paid or deposited with the Trustee a sum sufficient to pay all matured installments of interest upon all the Securities of that series and the
principal of (and premium, if any, on) any and all Securities of that series that shall have become due otherwise than by acceleration (with interest upon such principal and
premium, if any, and, to the extent that such payment is enforceable under applicable law, upon overdue installments of interest, at the rate per annum expressed in the
Securities of that series to the date of such payment or deposit) and the amount payable to the Trustee under Section 7.06, and (ii) any and all Events of Default under the
Indenture with respect to such series, other than the nonpayment of principal on (and premium, if any, on) and accrued and unpaid interest on Securities of that series that shall
not have become due by their terms, shall have been remedied or waived as provided in Section 6.06.

 
No such rescission and annulment shall extend to or shall affect any subsequent default or impair any right consequent thereon.
 

(d)           In case the Trustee shall have proceeded to enforce any right with respect to Securities of that series under this Indenture and such proceedings
shall have been discontinued or abandoned because of such rescission or annulment or for any other reason or shall have been determined adversely to the Trustee, then and in
every such case, subject to any determination in such proceedings, the Company and the Trustee shall be restored respectively to their former positions and rights hereunder,
and all rights, remedies and powers of the Company and the Trustee shall continue as though no such proceedings had been taken.

 
Section 6.02         Collection of Indebtedness and Suits for Enforcement by Trustee.
 

(a)           The Company covenants that (i) in case it shall default in the payment of any installment of interest on any of the Securities of a series, or in any
payment required by any sinking or analogous fund established with respect to that series as and when the same shall have become due and payable, and such default shall
have continued for a period of 90 days, or (ii) in case it shall default in the payment of the principal of (or premium, if any, on) any of the Securities of a series when the same
shall have become due and payable, whether upon maturity of the Securities of a series or upon redemption or upon declaration or otherwise then, upon demand of the Trustee,
the Company will pay to the Trustee, for the benefit of the holders of the Securities of that series, the whole amount that then shall have been become due and payable on all
such Securities for principal (and premium, if any) or interest, or both, as the case may be, with interest upon the overdue principal (and premium, if any) and (to the extent
that payment of such interest is enforceable under applicable law) upon overdue installments of interest at the rate per annum expressed in the Securities of that series; and, in
addition thereto, such further amount as shall be sufficient to cover the costs and expenses of collection, and the amount payable to the Trustee under Section 7.06.

 
(b)           If the Company shall fail to pay such amounts forthwith upon such demand, the Trustee, in its own name and as trustee of an express trust, shall

be entitled and empowered to institute any action or proceedings at law or in equity for the collection of the
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sums so due and unpaid, and may prosecute any such action or proceeding to judgment or final decree, and may enforce any such judgment or final decree against the
Company or other obligor upon the Securities of that series and collect the moneys adjudged or decreed to be payable in the manner provided by law or equity out of the
property of the Company or other obligor upon the Securities of that series, wherever situated.

 
(c)           In case of any receivership, insolvency, liquidation, bankruptcy, reorganization, readjustment, arrangement, composition or judicial proceedings

affecting the Company, or its creditors or property, the Trustee shall have power to intervene in such proceedings and take any action therein that may be permitted by the
court and shall (except as may be otherwise provided by law) be entitled to file such proofs of claim and other papers and documents as may be necessary or advisable in
order to have the claims of the Trustee and of the holders of Securities of such series allowed for the entire amount due and payable by the Company under the Indenture at the
date of institution of such proceedings and for any additional amount that may become due and payable by the Company after such date, and to collect and receive any
moneys or other property payable or deliverable on any such claim, and to distribute the same after the deduction of the amount payable to the Trustee under Section 7.06; and
any receiver, assignee or trustee in bankruptcy or reorganization is hereby authorized by each of the holders of Securities of such series to make such payments to the Trustee,
and, in the event that the Trustee shall consent to the making of such payments directly to such Securityholders, to pay to the Trustee any amount due it under Section 7.06.

 
(d)           All rights of action and of asserting claims under this Indenture, or under any of the terms established with respect to Securities of that series, may

be enforced by the Trustee without the possession of any of such Securities, or the production thereof at any trial or other proceeding relative thereto, and any such suit or
proceeding instituted by the Trustee shall be brought in its own name as trustee of an express trust, and any recovery of judgment shall, after provision for payment to the
Trustee of any amounts due under Section 7.06, be for the ratable benefit of the holders of the Securities of such series.

 
In case of an Event of Default hereunder, the Trustee may in its discretion proceed to protect and enforce the rights vested in it by this Indenture by such appropriate

judicial proceedings as the Trustee shall deem most effectual to protect and enforce any of such rights, either at law or in equity or in bankruptcy or otherwise, whether for the
specific enforcement of any covenant or agreement contained in the Indenture or in aid of the exercise of any power granted in this Indenture, or to enforce any other legal or
equitable right vested in the Trustee by this Indenture or by law.

 
Nothing contained herein shall be deemed to authorize the Trustee to authorize or consent to or accept or adopt on behalf of any Securityholder any plan of

reorganization, arrangement, adjustment or composition affecting the Securities of that series or the rights of any holder thereof or to authorize the Trustee to vote in respect of
the claim of any Securityholder in any such proceeding.
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Section 6.03         Application of Moneys Collected.



 
Any moneys collected by the Trustee pursuant to this Article with respect to a particular series of Securities shall be applied in the following order, at the date or

dates fixed by the Trustee and, in case of the distribution of such moneys on account of principal (or premium, if any) or interest, upon presentation of the Securities of that
series, and notation thereon of the payment, if only partially paid, and upon surrender thereof if fully paid:

 
FIRST: To the payment of reasonable costs and expenses of collection and of all amounts payable to the Trustee under Section 7.06;
 
SECOND: To the payment of the amounts then due and unpaid upon Securities of such series for principal (and premium, if any) and interest, in respect of which or

for the benefit of which such money has been collected, ratably, without preference or priority of any kind, according to the amounts due and payable on such Securities for
principal (and premium, if any) and interest, respectively; and

 
THIRD: To the payment of the remainder, if any, to the Company or any other Person lawfully entitled thereto.
 
Section 6.04         Limitation on Suits.
 
No holder of any Security of any series shall have any right by virtue or by availing of any provision of this Indenture to institute any suit, action or proceeding in

equity or at law upon or under or with respect to this Indenture or for the appointment of a receiver or trustee, or for any other remedy hereunder, unless (i) such holder
previously shall have given to the Trustee written notice of an Event of Default and of the continuance thereof with respect to the Securities of such series specifying such
Event of Default, as hereinbefore provided; (ii) the holders of not less than 25% in aggregate principal amount of the Securities of such series then Outstanding shall have
made written request upon the Trustee to institute such action, suit or proceeding in its own name as Trustee hereunder; (iii) such holder or holders shall have offered to the
Trustee such reasonable indemnity as it may require against the costs, expenses and liabilities to be incurred therein or thereby; (iv) the Trustee for 90 days after its receipt of
such notice, request and offer of indemnity, shall have failed to institute any such action, suit or proceeding and (v) during such 90 day period, the holders of a majority in
principal amount of the Securities of that series do not give the Trustee a direction inconsistent with the request.

 
Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary or any other provisions of this Indenture, the right of any holder of any Security to receive payment of the

principal of (and premium, if any) and interest on such Security, as therein provided, on or after the respective due dates expressed in such Security (or in the case of
redemption, on the redemption date), or to institute suit for the enforcement of any such payment on or after such respective dates or redemption date, shall not be impaired or
affected without the consent of such holder and by accepting a Security hereunder it is expressly understood, intended and covenanted by the taker and holder of every
Security of such series with every other such taker and holder and the Trustee, that no one or more holders of Securities of such series shall have any right in any manner
whatsoever by virtue or by availing of any provision of this Indenture to affect, disturb or
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prejudice the rights of the holders of any other of such Securities, or to obtain or seek to obtain priority over or preference to any other such holder, or to enforce any right
under this Indenture, except in the manner herein provided and for the equal, ratable and common benefit of all holders of Securities of such series.  For the protection and
enforcement of the provisions of this Section, each and every Securityholder and the Trustee shall be entitled to such relief as can be given either at law or in equity.

 
Section 6.05         Rights and Remedies Cumulative; Delay or Omission Not Waiver.
 

(a)           Except as otherwise provided in Section 2.07, all powers and remedies given by this Article to the Trustee or to the Securityholders shall, to the
extent permitted by law, be deemed cumulative and not exclusive of any other powers and remedies available to the Trustee or the holders of the Securities, by judicial
proceedings or otherwise, to enforce the performance or observance of the covenants and agreements contained in this Indenture or otherwise established with respect to such
Securities.

 
(b)           No delay or omission of the Trustee or of any holder of any of the Securities to exercise any right or power accruing upon any Event of Default

occurring and continuing as aforesaid shall impair any such right or power, or shall be construed to be a waiver of any such default or an acquiescence therein; and, subject to
the provisions of Section 6.04, every power and remedy given by this Article or by law to the Trustee or the Securityholders may be exercised from time to time, and as often
as shall be deemed expedient, by the Trustee or by the Securityholders.

 
Section 6.06         Control by Securityholders.
 

The holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Securities of any series at the time Outstanding, determined in accordance with Section 8.04,
shall have the right to direct the time, method and place of conducting any proceeding for any remedy available to the Trustee, or exercising any trust or power conferred on
the Trustee with respect to such series; provided, however, that such direction shall not be in conflict with any rule of law or with this Indenture.  Subject to the provisions of
Section 7.01, the Trustee shall have the right to decline to follow any such direction if the Trustee in good faith shall, by a Responsible Officer or officers of the Trustee,
determine that the proceeding so directed, subject to the Trustee’s duties under the Trust Indenture Act, would involve the Trustee in personal liability or might be unduly
prejudicial to the Securityholders not involved in the proceeding.  The holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Securities of any series at the time
Outstanding affected thereby, determined in accordance with Section 8.04, may on behalf of the holders of all of the Securities of such series waive any past default in the
performance of any of the covenants contained herein or established pursuant to Section 2.01 with respect to such series and its consequences, except a default in the payment
of the principal of, or premium, if any, or interest on, any of the Securities of that series as and when the same shall become due by the terms of such Securities otherwise than
by acceleration (unless such default has been cured and a sum sufficient to pay all matured installments of interest and principal and any premium has been deposited with the
Trustee (in accordance with Section 6.01(c)).  Upon any such waiver, the default covered thereby shall be deemed to be cured for all purposes of this Indenture and the
Company, the Trustee and the holders of the Securities of such series shall be restored to their former positions and rights
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hereunder, respectively; but no such waiver shall extend to any subsequent or other default or impair any right consequent thereon.

 
Section 6.07         Undertaking to Pay Costs.
 
All parties to this Indenture agree, and each holder of any Securities by such holder’s acceptance thereof shall be deemed to have agreed, that any court may in its

discretion require, in any suit for the enforcement of any right or remedy under this Indenture, or in any suit against the Trustee for any action taken or omitted by it as Trustee,
the filing by any party litigant in such suit of an undertaking to pay the costs of such suit, and that such court may in its discretion assess reasonable costs, including reasonable
attorneys’ fees, against any party litigant in such suit, having due regard to the merits and good faith of the claims or defenses made by such party litigant; but the provisions of
this Section shall not apply to any suit instituted by the Trustee, to any suit instituted by any Securityholder, or group of Securityholders, holding more than 10% in aggregate
principal amount of the Outstanding Securities of any series, or to any suit instituted by any Securityholder for the enforcement of the payment of the principal of (or premium,
if any) or interest on any Security of such series, on or after the respective due dates expressed in such Security or established pursuant to this Indenture.

 



ARTICLE 7

CONCERNING THE TRUSTEE
 

Section 7.01         Certain Duties and Responsibilities of Trustee.
 

(a)           The Trustee, prior to the occurrence of an Event of Default with respect to the Securities of a series and after the curing of all Events of Default
with respect to the Securities of that series that may have occurred, shall undertake to perform with respect to the Securities of such series such duties and only such duties as
are specifically set forth in this Indenture, and no implied covenants shall be read into this Indenture against the Trustee.  In case an Event of Default with respect to the
Securities of a series has occurred (that has not been cured or waived), the Trustee shall exercise with respect to Securities of that series such of the rights and powers vested
in it by this Indenture, and use the same degree of care and skill in their exercise, as a prudent man would exercise or use under the circumstances in the conduct of his own
affairs.

 
(b)           No provision of this Indenture shall be construed to relieve the Trustee from liability for its own negligent action, its own negligent failure to act,

or its own willful misconduct, except that:
 
(i)            prior to the occurrence of an Event of Default with respect to the Securities of a series and after the curing or waiving of all such Events of Default

with respect to that series that may have occurred:
 

(A)          the duties and obligations of the Trustee shall with respect to the Securities of such series be determined solely by the express provisions
of this Indenture, and the Trustee shall not be liable with respect to the Securities of such series except for the performance
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of such duties and obligations as are specifically set forth in this Indenture, and no implied covenants or obligations shall be read into this Indenture against the Trustee; and

 
(B)          in the absence of bad faith on the part of the Trustee, the Trustee may with respect to the Securities of such series conclusively rely, as to

the truth of the statements and the correctness of the opinions expressed therein, upon any certificates or opinions furnished to the Trustee and conforming to the requirements
of this Indenture; but in the case of any such certificates or opinions that by any provision hereof are specifically required to be furnished to the Trustee, the Trustee shall be
under a duty to examine the same to determine whether or not they conform to the requirements of this Indenture;

 
(ii)           the Trustee shall not be liable for any error of judgment made in good faith by a Responsible Officer or Responsible Officers of the Trustee,

unless it shall be proved that the Trustee was negligent in ascertaining the pertinent facts;
 
(iii)         the Trustee shall not be liable with respect to any action taken or omitted to be taken by it in good faith in accordance with the direction of the

holders of not less than a majority in principal amount of the Securities of any series at the time Outstanding relating to the time, method and place of conducting any
proceeding for any remedy available to the Trustee, or exercising any trust or power conferred upon the Trustee under this Indenture with respect to the Securities of that
series; and

 
(iv)          none of the provisions contained in this Indenture shall require the Trustee to expend or risk its own funds or otherwise incur personal financial

liability in the performance of any of its duties or in the exercise of any of its rights or powers if there is reasonable ground for believing that the repayment of such funds or
liability is not reasonably assured to it under the terms of this Indenture or adequate indemnity against such risk is not reasonably assured to it.

 
Section 7.02         Certain Rights of Trustee.
 
Except as otherwise provided in Section 7.01:
 

(a)           The Trustee may rely and shall be protected in acting or refraining from acting upon any resolution, certificate, statement, instrument, opinion,
report, notice, request, consent, order, approval, bond, security or other paper or document believed by it to be genuine and to have been signed or presented by the proper
party or parties;

 
(b)           Any request, direction, order or demand of the Company mentioned herein shall be sufficiently evidenced by a Board Resolution or an instrument

signed in the name of the Company by any authorized officer of the Company (unless other evidence in respect thereof is specifically prescribed herein);
 
(c)           The Trustee may consult with counsel and the written advice of such counsel or, if requested, any Opinion of Counsel shall be full and complete

authorization and protection in respect of any action taken or suffered or omitted hereunder in good faith and in reliance thereon;
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(d)           The Trustee shall be under no obligation to exercise any of the rights or powers vested in it by this Indenture at the request, order or direction of

any of the Securityholders pursuant to the provisions of this Indenture, unless such Securityholders shall have offered to the Trustee reasonable security or indemnity against
the costs, expenses and liabilities that may be incurred therein or thereby; nothing contained herein shall, however, relieve the Trustee of the obligation, upon the occurrence
of an Event of Default with respect to a series of the Securities (that has not been cured or waived), to exercise with respect to Securities of that series such of the rights and
powers vested in it by this Indenture, and to use the same degree of care and skill in their exercise, as a prudent man would exercise or use under the circumstances in the
conduct of his own affairs;

 
(e)           The Trustee shall not be liable for any action taken or omitted to be taken by it in good faith and believed by it to be authorized or within the

discretion or rights or powers conferred upon it by this Indenture;
 
(f)            The Trustee shall not be bound to make any investigation into the facts or matters stated in any resolution, certificate, statement, instrument,

opinion, report, notice, request, consent, order, approval, bond, security, or other papers or documents, unless requested in writing so to do by the holders of not less than a
majority in principal amount of the Outstanding Securities of the particular series affected thereby (determined as provided in Section 8.04); provided, however, that if the
payment within a reasonable time to the Trustee of the costs, expenses or liabilities likely to be incurred by it in the making of such investigation is, in the opinion of the
Trustee, not reasonably assured to the Trustee by the security afforded to it by the terms of this Indenture, the Trustee may require reasonable indemnity against such costs,
expenses or liabilities as a condition to so proceeding.  The reasonable expense of every such examination shall be paid by the Company or, if paid by the Trustee, shall be
repaid by the Company upon demand; and

 
(g)   The Trustee may execute any of the trusts or powers hereunder or perform any duties hereunder either directly or by or through agents or attorneys and

the Trustee shall not be responsible for any misconduct or negligence on the part of any agent or attorney appointed with due care by it hereunder.
 



In addition, the Trustee shall not be deemed to have knowledge of any Default or Event of Default except (1) any Event of Default occurring pursuant to Sections
6.01(a)(1) and 6.01(a)(2) or (2) any Default or Event of Default of which the Trustee shall have received written notification in the manner set forth in this Indenture or a
Responsible Officer of the Trustee shall have obtained actual knowledge.  Delivery of reports, information and documents to the Trustee under Section 5.03 is for
informational purposes only and the information and the Trustee’s receipt of the foregoing shall not constitute constructive notice of any information contained therein, or
determinable from information contained therein including the Company’s compliance with any of their covenants thereunder (as to which the Trustee is entitled to rely
exclusively on an Officer’s Certificate).
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Section 7.03         Trustee Not Responsible for Recitals or Issuance or Securities.
 

(a)           The recitals contained herein and in the Securities shall be taken as the statements of the Company, and the Trustee assumes no responsibility for
the correctness of the same.

 
(b)           The Trustee makes no representations as to the validity or sufficiency of this Indenture or of the Securities.
 
(c)           The Trustee shall not be accountable for the use or application by the Company of any of the Securities or of the proceeds of such Securities, or for

the use or application of any moneys paid over by the Trustee in accordance with any provision of this Indenture or established pursuant to Section 2.01, or for the use or
application of any moneys received by any paying agent other than the Trustee.

 
Section 7.04         May Hold Securities.
 
The Trustee or any paying agent or Security Registrar, in its individual or any other capacity, may become the owner or pledgee of Securities with the same rights it

would have if it were not Trustee, paying agent or Security Registrar.
 
Section 7.05         Moneys Held in Trust.
 
Subject to the provisions of Section 11.05, all moneys received by the Trustee shall, until used or applied as herein provided, be held in trust for the purposes for

which they were received, but need not be segregated from other funds except to the extent required by law.  The Trustee shall be under no liability for interest on any
moneys received by it hereunder except such as it may agree with the Company to pay thereon.

 
Section 7.06         Compensation and Reimbursement.
 

(a)           The Company covenants and agrees to pay to the Trustee, and the Trustee shall be entitled to, such reasonable compensation (which shall not be
limited by any provision of law in regard to the compensation of a trustee of an express trust) as the Company and the Trustee may from time to time agree in writing, for all
services rendered by it in the execution of the trusts hereby created and in the exercise and performance of any of the powers and duties hereunder of the Trustee, and, except
as otherwise expressly provided herein, the Company will pay or reimburse the Trustee upon its request for all reasonable expenses, disbursements and advances incurred or
made by the Trustee in accordance with any of the provisions of this Indenture (including the reasonable compensation and the expenses and disbursements of its counsel and
of all Persons not regularly in its employ), except any such expense, disbursement or advance as may arise from its negligence or bad faith and except as the Company and
Trustee may from time to time agree in writing.  The Company also covenants to indemnify the Trustee (and its officers, agents, directors and employees) for, and to hold it
harmless against, any loss, liability or expense incurred without negligence or bad faith on the part of the Trustee and arising out of or in connection with the acceptance or
administration of this trust, including the reasonable costs and expenses of defending itself against any claim of liability in the premises.
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(b)           The obligations of the Company under this Section to compensate and indemnify the Trustee and to pay or reimburse the Trustee for reasonable
expenses, disbursements and advances shall constitute additional indebtedness hereunder.  Such additional indebtedness shall be secured by a lien prior to that of the
Securities upon all property and funds held or collected by the Trustee as such, except funds held in trust for the benefit of the holders of particular Securities.

 
Section 7.07         Reliance on Officer’s Certificate.
 
Except as otherwise provided in Section 7.01, whenever in the administration of the provisions of this Indenture the Trustee shall deem it reasonably necessary or

desirable that a matter be proved or established prior to taking or suffering or omitting to take any action hereunder, such matter (unless other evidence in respect thereof be
herein specifically prescribed) may, in the absence of negligence or bad faith on the part of the Trustee, be deemed to be conclusively proved and established by an Officer’s
Certificate delivered to the Trustee and such certificate, in the absence of negligence or bad faith on the part of the Trustee, shall be full warrant to the Trustee for any action
taken, suffered or omitted to be taken by it under the provisions of this Indenture upon the faith thereof.

 
Section 7.08         Disqualification; Conflicting Interests.
 
If the Trustee has or shall acquire any “conflicting interest” within the meaning of Section 310(b) of the Trust Indenture Act, the Trustee and the Company shall in all

respects comply with the provisions of Section 310(b) of the Trust Indenture Act.
 
Section 7.09         Corporate Trustee Required; Eligibility.
 
There shall at all times be a Trustee with respect to the Securities issued hereunder which shall at all times be a corporation organized and doing business under the

laws of the United States of America or any state or territory thereof or of the District of Columbia, or a corporation or other Person permitted to act as trustee by the
Securities and Exchange Commission, authorized under such laws to exercise corporate trust powers, having a combined capital and surplus of at least fifty million U.S.
dollars ($50,000,000), and subject to supervision or examination by federal, state, territorial, or District of Columbia authority.

 
If such corporation or other Person publishes reports of condition at least annually, pursuant to law or to the requirements of the aforesaid supervising or examining

authority, then for the purposes of this Section, the combined capital and surplus of such corporation or other Person shall be deemed to be its combined capital and surplus as
set forth in its most recent report of condition so published.  The Company may not, nor may any Person directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by, or under common
control with the Company, serve as Trustee.  In case at any time the Trustee shall cease to be eligible in accordance with the provisions of this Section, the Trustee shall resign
immediately in the manner and with the effect specified in Section 7.10.
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Section 7.10         Resignation and Removal; Appointment of Successor.
 



(a)           The Trustee or any successor hereafter appointed may at any time resign with respect to the Securities of one or more series by giving written
notice thereof to the Company and by transmitting notice of resignation by mail, first class postage prepaid, to the Securityholders of such series, as their names and addresses
appear upon the Security Register.  Upon receiving such notice of resignation, the Company shall promptly appoint a successor trustee with respect to Securities of such series
by written instrument, in duplicate, executed by order of the Board of Directors, one copy of which instrument shall be delivered to the resigning Trustee and one copy to the
successor trustee.  If no successor trustee shall have been so appointed and have accepted appointment within 30 days after the mailing of such notice of resignation, the
resigning Trustee may petition any court of competent jurisdiction for the appointment of a successor trustee with respect to Securities of such series, or any Securityholder of
that series who has been a bona fide holder of a Security or Securities for at least six months may on behalf of himself and all others similarly situated, petition any such court
for the appointment of a successor trustee.  Such court may thereupon after such notice, if any, as it may deem proper and prescribe, appoint a successor trustee.

 
(b)           In case at any time any one of the following shall occur:
 

(i)            the Trustee shall fail to comply with the provisions of Section 7.08 after written request therefor by the Company or by any
Securityholder who has been a bona fide holder of a Security or Securities for at least six months; or

 
(ii)           the Trustee shall cease to be eligible in accordance with the provisions of Section 7.09 and shall fail to resign after written request

therefor by the Company or by any such Securityholder; or
 
(iii)         the Trustee shall become incapable of acting, or shall be adjudged a bankrupt or insolvent, or commence a voluntary bankruptcy

proceeding, or a receiver of the Trustee or of its property shall be appointed or consented to, or any public officer shall take charge or control of the Trustee or of its property
or affairs for the purpose of rehabilitation, conservation or liquidation;

 
then, in any such case, the Company may remove the Trustee with respect to all Securities and appoint a successor trustee by written instrument, in duplicate,

executed by order of the Board of Directors, one copy of which instrument shall be delivered to the Trustee so removed and one copy to the successor trustee, or any
Securityholder who has been a bona fide holder of a Security or Securities for at least six months may, on behalf of that holder and all others similarly situated, petition any
court of competent jurisdiction for the removal of the Trustee and the appointment of a successor trustee.  Such court may thereupon after such notice, if any, as it may deem
proper and prescribe, remove the Trustee and appoint a successor trustee.

 
(c)           The holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Securities of any series at the time Outstanding may at any time remove the Trustee

with respect to such series by so notifying the Trustee and the Company and may appoint a successor Trustee for such series with the consent of the Company.
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(d)           Any resignation or removal of the Trustee and appointment of a successor trustee with respect to the Securities of a series pursuant to any of the
provisions of this Section shall become effective upon acceptance of appointment by the successor trustee as provided in Section 7.11.

 
(e)           Any successor trustee appointed pursuant to this Section may be appointed with respect to the Securities of one or more series or all of such series,

and at any time there shall be only one Trustee with respect to the Securities of any particular series.
 

Section 7.11         Acceptance of Appointment By Successor.
 

(a)           In case of the appointment hereunder of a successor trustee with respect to all Securities, every such successor trustee so appointed shall execute,
acknowledge and deliver to the Company and to the retiring Trustee an instrument accepting such appointment, and thereupon the resignation or removal of the retiring
Trustee shall become effective and such successor trustee, without any further act, deed or conveyance, shall become vested with all the rights, powers, trusts and duties of the
retiring Trustee; but, on the request of the Company or the successor trustee, such retiring Trustee shall, upon payment of its charges, execute and deliver an instrument
transferring to such successor trustee all the rights, powers, and trusts of the retiring Trustee and shall duly assign, transfer and deliver to such successor trustee all property
and money held by such retiring Trustee hereunder.

 
(b)           In case of the appointment hereunder of a successor trustee with respect to the Securities of one or more (but not all) series, the Company, the

retiring Trustee and each successor trustee with respect to the Securities of one or more series shall execute and deliver an indenture supplemental hereto wherein each
successor trustee shall accept such appointment and which (i) shall contain such provisions as shall be necessary or desirable to transfer and confirm to, and to vest in, each
successor trustee all the rights, powers, trusts and duties of the retiring Trustee with respect to the Securities of that or those series to which the appointment of such successor
trustee relates, (ii) shall contain such provisions as shall be deemed necessary or desirable to confirm that all the rights, powers, trusts and duties of the retiring Trustee with
respect to the Securities of that or those series as to which the retiring Trustee is not retiring shall continue to be vested in the retiring Trustee, and (iii) shall add to or change
any of the provisions of this Indenture as shall be necessary to provide for or facilitate the administration of the trusts hereunder by more than one Trustee, it being understood
that nothing herein or in such supplemental indenture shall constitute such Trustees co-trustees of the same trust, that each such Trustee shall be trustee of a trust or trusts
hereunder separate and apart from any trust or trusts hereunder administered by any other such Trustee and that no Trustee shall be responsible for any act or failure to act on
the part of any other Trustee hereunder; and upon the execution and delivery of such supplemental indenture the resignation or removal of the retiring Trustee shall become
effective to the extent provided therein, such retiring Trustee shall with respect to the Securities of that or those series to which the appointment of such successor trustee
relates have no further responsibility for the exercise of rights and powers or for the performance of the duties and obligations vested in the Trustee under this Indenture, and
each such successor trustee, without any further act, deed or conveyance, shall become vested with all the rights, powers, trusts and duties of the retiring Trustee with respect
to the Securities of that or those series to which the appointment of such successor trustee relates; but, on request of the Company or any
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successor trustee, such retiring Trustee shall duly assign, transfer and deliver to such successor trustee, to the extent contemplated by such supplemental indenture, the
property and money held by such retiring Trustee hereunder with respect to the Securities of that or those series to which the appointment of such successor trustee relates.

 
(c)           Upon request of any such successor trustee, the Company shall execute any and all instruments for more fully and certainly vesting in and

confirming to such successor trustee all such rights, powers and trusts referred to in paragraph (a) or (b) of this Section, as the case may be.
 
(d)           No successor trustee shall accept its appointment unless at the time of such acceptance such successor trustee shall be qualified and eligible under

this Article.
 
(e)           Upon acceptance of appointment by a successor trustee as provided in this Section, the Company shall transmit notice of the succession of such

trustee hereunder by mail, first class postage prepaid, to the Securityholders, as their names and addresses appear upon the Security Register.  If the Company fails to transmit
such notice within ten days after acceptance of appointment by the successor trustee, the successor trustee shall cause such notice to be transmitted at the expense of the
Company.

 
Section 7.12         Merger, Conversion, Consolidation or Succession to Business.
 
Any corporation into which the Trustee may be merged or converted or with which it may be consolidated, or any corporation resulting from any merger, conversion

or consolidation to which the Trustee shall be a party, or any corporation succeeding to the corporate trust business of the Trustee, including the administration of the trust



created by this Indenture, shall be the successor of the Trustee hereunder, provided that such corporation shall be qualified under the provisions of Section 7.08 and eligible
under the provisions of Section 7.09, without the execution or filing of any paper or any further act on the part of any of the parties hereto, anything herein to the contrary
notwithstanding.  In case any Securities shall have been authenticated, but not delivered, by the Trustee then in office, any successor by merger, conversion or consolidation to
such authenticating Trustee may adopt such authentication and deliver the Securities so authenticated with the same effect as if such successor Trustee had itself authenticated
such Securities.

 
Section 7.13         Preferential Collection of Claims Against the Company.
 
The Trustee shall comply with Section 311(a) of the Trust Indenture Act, excluding any creditor relationship described in Section 311(b) of the Trust Indenture Act. 

A Trustee who has resigned or been removed shall be subject to Section 311(a) of the Trust Indenture Act to the extent included therein.
 
Section 7.14         Notice of Default
 
If any Default or any Event of Default occurs and is continuing and if such Default or Event of Default is known to a Responsible Officer of the Trustee, the Trustee

shall mail to each Securityholder in the manner and to the extent provided in Section 313(c) of the Trust Indenture
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Act notice of the Default or Event of Default within the earlier of 90 days after it occurs and 30 days after it is known to a Responsible Officer of the Trustee or written notice
of it is received by the Trustee, unless such Default or Event of Default has been cured; provided, however, that, except in the case of a default in the payment of the principal
of (or premium, if any) or interest on any Security, the Trustee shall be protected in withholding such notice if and so long as the board of directors, the executive committee
or a trust committee of directors and/or Responsible Officers of the Trustee in good faith determine that the withholding of such notice is in the interest of the Securityholders.

 
ARTICLE 8

 
CONCERNING THE SECURITYHOLDERS

 
Section 8.01         Evidence of Action by Securityholders.
 
Whenever in this Indenture it is provided that the holders of a majority or specified percentage in aggregate principal amount of the Securities of a particular series

may take any action (including the making of any demand or request, the giving of any notice, consent or waiver or the taking of any other action), the fact that at the time of
taking any such action the holders of such majority or specified percentage of that series have joined therein may be evidenced by any instrument or any number of
instruments of similar tenor executed by such holders of Securities of that series in person or by agent or proxy appointed in writing.

 
If the Company shall solicit from the Securityholders of any series any request, demand, authorization, direction, notice, consent, waiver or other action, the

Company may, at its option, as evidenced by an Officer’s Certificate, fix in advance a record date for such series for the determination of Securityholders entitled to give such
request, demand, authorization, direction, notice, consent, waiver or other action, but the Company shall have no obligation to do so.  If such a record date is fixed, such
request, demand, authorization, direction, notice, consent, waiver or other action may be given before or after the record date, but only the Securityholders of record at the
close of business on the record date shall be deemed to be Securityholders for the purposes of determining whether Securityholders of the requisite proportion of Outstanding
Securities of that series have authorized or agreed or consented to such request, demand, authorization, direction, notice, consent, waiver or other action, and for that purpose
the Outstanding Securities of that series shall be computed as of the record date; provided, however, that no such authorization, agreement or consent by such Securityholders
on the record date shall be deemed effective unless it shall become effective pursuant to the provisions of this Indenture not later than six months after the record date.

 
Section 8.02         Proof of Execution by Securityholders.
 
Subject to the provisions of Section 7.01, proof of the execution of any instrument by a Securityholder (such proof will not require notarization) or his agent or proxy

and proof of the holding by any Person of any of the Securities shall be sufficient if made in the following manner:
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(a)           The fact and date of the execution by any such Person of any instrument may be proved in any reasonable manner acceptable to the Trustee.
 
(b)           The ownership of Securities shall be proved by the Security Register of such Securities or by a certificate of the Security Registrar thereof.
 

The Trustee may require such additional proof of any matter referred to in this Section as it shall deem necessary.
 

Section 8.03         Who May be Deemed Owners.
 
Prior to the due presentment for registration of transfer of any Security, the Company, the Trustee, any paying agent and any Security Registrar may deem and treat

the Person in whose name such Security shall be registered upon the books of the Company as the absolute owner of such Security (whether or not such Security shall be
overdue and notwithstanding any notice of ownership or writing thereon made by anyone other than the Security Registrar) for the purpose of receiving payment of or on
account of the principal of, premium, if any, and (subject to Section 2.03) interest on such Security and for all other purposes; and neither the Company nor the Trustee nor any
paying agent nor any Security Registrar shall be affected by any notice to the contrary.

 
Section 8.04         Certain Securities Owned by Company Disregarded.
 
In determining whether the holders of the requisite aggregate principal amount of Securities of a particular series have concurred in any direction, consent or waiver

under this Indenture, the Securities of that series that are owned by the Company or any other obligor on the Securities of that series or by any Person directly or indirectly
controlling or controlled by or under common control with the Company or any other obligor on the Securities of that series shall be disregarded and deemed not to be
Outstanding for the purpose of any such determination, except that for the purpose of determining whether the Trustee shall be protected in relying on any such direction,
consent or waiver, only Securities of such series that the Trustee actually knows are so owned shall be so disregarded.  The Securities so owned that have been pledged in
good faith may be regarded as Outstanding for the purposes of this Section, if the pledgee shall establish to the satisfaction of the Trustee the pledgee’s right so to act with
respect to such Securities and that the pledgee is not a Person directly or indirectly controlling or controlled by or under direct or indirect common control with the Company
or any such other obligor.  In case of a dispute as to such right, any decision by the Trustee taken upon the advice of counsel shall be full protection to the Trustee.

 
Section 8.05         Actions Binding on Future Securityholders.
 
At any time prior to (but not after) the evidencing to the Trustee, as provided in Section 8.01, of the taking of any action by the holders of the majority or percentage

in aggregate principal amount of the Securities of a particular series specified in this Indenture in connection with such action, any holder of a Security of that series that is
shown by the evidence to be included in the Securities the holders of which have consented to such action may, by filing written notice with the Trustee, and upon proof of
holding as provided in Section 8.02, revoke
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such action so far as concerns such Security.  Except as aforesaid any such action taken by the holder of any Security shall be conclusive and binding upon such holder and
upon all future holders and owners of such Security, and of any Security issued in exchange therefor, on registration of transfer thereof or in place thereof, irrespective of
whether or not any notation in regard thereto is made upon such Security.  Any action taken by the holders of the majority or percentage in aggregate principal amount of the
Securities of a particular series specified in this Indenture in connection with such action shall be conclusively binding upon the Company, the Trustee and the holders of all
the Securities of that series.

 
ARTICLE 9

 
SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURES

 
Section 9.01         Supplemental Indentures Without the Consent of Securityholders.
 
In addition to any supplemental indenture otherwise authorized by this Indenture, the Company and the Trustee may from time to time and at any time enter into an

indenture or indentures supplemental hereto (which shall conform to the provisions of the Trust Indenture Act as then in effect), without the consent of the Securityholders, for
one or more of the following purposes:

 
(a)           to cure any ambiguity, defect, or inconsistency herein or in the Securities of any series;
 
(b)           to comply with Article Ten;
 
(c)           to provide for uncertificated Securities in addition to or in place of certificated Securities;
 
(d)           to add to the covenants, restrictions, conditions or provisions relating to the Company for the benefit of the holders of all or any series of Securities

(and if such covenants, restrictions, conditions or provisions are to be for the benefit of less than all series of Securities, stating that such covenants, restrictions, conditions or
provisions are expressly being included solely for the benefit of such series), to make the occurrence, or the occurrence and the continuance, of a default in any such additional
covenants, restrictions, conditions or provisions an Event of Default, or to surrender any right or power herein conferred upon the Company;

 
(e)           to add to, delete from, or revise the conditions, limitations, and restrictions on the authorized amount, terms, or purposes of issue, authentication,

and delivery of Securities, as herein set forth;
 
(f)            to make any change that does not adversely affect the rights of any Securityholder in any material respect;
 
(g)           to provide for the issuance of and establish the form and terms and conditions of the Securities of any series as provided in Section 2.01, to

establish the form of any
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certifications required to be furnished pursuant to the terms of this Indenture or any series of Securities, or to add to the rights of the holders of any series of Securities;
 
(h)           to evidence and provide for the acceptance of appointment hereunder by a successor trustee; or
 
(i)            to comply with any requirements of the Securities and Exchange Commission or any successor in connection with the qualification of this

Indenture under the Trust Indenture Act.
 

The Trustee is hereby authorized to join with the Company in the execution of any such supplemental indenture, and to make any further appropriate agreements and
stipulations that may be therein contained, but the Trustee shall not be obligated to enter into any such supplemental indenture that affects the Trustee’s own rights, duties or
immunities under this Indenture or otherwise.

 
Any supplemental indenture authorized by the provisions of this Section may be executed by the Company and the Trustee without the consent of the holders of any

of the Securities at the time Outstanding, notwithstanding any of the provisions of Section 9.02.
 
Section 9.02         Supplemental Indentures With Consent of Securityholders.
 
With the consent (evidenced as provided in Section 8.01) of the holders of not less than a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Securities of each series

affected by such supplemental indenture or indentures at the time Outstanding, the Company, when authorized by a Board Resolution, and the Trustee may from time to time
and at any time enter into an indenture or indentures supplemental hereto (which shall conform to the provisions of the Trust Indenture Act as then in effect) for the purpose of
adding any provisions to or changing in any manner or eliminating any of the provisions of this Indenture or of any supplemental indenture or of modifying in any manner not
covered by Section 9.01 the rights of the holders of the Securities of such series under this Indenture; provided, however, that no such supplemental indenture shall, without
the consent of the holders of each Security then Outstanding and affected thereby, (a) extend the fixed maturity of any Securities of any series, or reduce the principal amount
thereof, or reduce the rate or extend the time of payment of interest thereon, or reduce any premium payable upon the redemption thereof or (b) reduce the aforesaid
percentage of Securities, the holders of which are required to consent to any such supplemental indenture.

 
It shall not be necessary for the consent of the Securityholders of any series affected thereby under this Section to approve the particular form of any proposed

supplemental indenture, but it shall be sufficient if such consent shall approve the substance thereof.
 
Section 9.03         Effect of Supplemental Indentures.
 
Upon the execution of any supplemental indenture pursuant to the provisions of this Article or of Section 10.01, this Indenture shall, with respect to such series, be

and be deemed to be modified and amended in accordance therewith and the respective rights, limitations of rights, obligations, duties and immunities under this Indenture of
the Trustee, the Company and the
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holders of Securities of the series affected thereby shall thereafter be determined, exercised and enforced hereunder subject in all respects to such modifications and
amendments, and all the terms and conditions of any such supplemental indenture shall be and be deemed to be part of the terms and conditions of this Indenture for any and
all purposes.

 
Section 9.04         Securities Affected by Supplemental Indentures.



 
Securities of any series affected by a supplemental indenture, authenticated and delivered after the execution of such supplemental indenture pursuant to the

provisions of this Article or of Section 10.01, may bear a notation in form approved by the Company, provided such form meets the requirements of any securities exchange
upon which such series may be listed, as to any matter provided for in such supplemental indenture.  If the Company shall so determine, new Securities of that series so
modified as to conform, in the opinion of the Board of Directors, to any modification of this Indenture contained in any such supplemental indenture may be prepared by the
Company, authenticated by the Trustee and delivered in exchange for the Securities of that series then Outstanding.

 
Section 9.05         Execution of Supplemental Indentures.
 
Upon the request of the Company, accompanied by its Board Resolutions authorizing the execution of any such supplemental indenture, and upon the filing with the

Trustee of evidence of the consent of Securityholders required to consent thereto as aforesaid, the Trustee shall join with the Company in the execution of such supplemental
indenture unless such supplemental indenture affects the Trustee’s own rights, duties or immunities under this Indenture or otherwise, in which case the Trustee may in its
discretion but shall not be obligated to enter into such supplemental indenture.  The Trustee, subject to the provisions of Section 7.01, may receive an Officer’s Certificate or,
if requested, an Opinion of Counsel as conclusive evidence that any supplemental indenture executed pursuant to this Article is authorized or permitted by, and conforms to,
the terms of this Article and that it is proper for the Trustee under the provisions of this Article to join in the execution thereof; provided, however, that such Officer’s
Certificate or Opinion of Counsel need not be provided in connection with the execution of a supplemental indenture that establishes the terms of a series of Securities
pursuant to Section 2.01 hereof.

 
Promptly after the execution by the Company and the Trustee of any supplemental indenture pursuant to the provisions of this Section, the Trustee shall transmit by

mail, first class postage prepaid, a notice, setting forth in general terms the substance of such supplemental indenture, to the Securityholders of all series affected thereby as
their names and addresses appear upon the Security Register.  Any failure of the Trustee to mail such notice, or any defect therein, shall not, however, in any way impair or
affect the validity of any such supplemental indenture.
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ARTICLE 10

SUCCESSOR ENTITY
 

Section 10.01       Company May Consolidate, Etc.
 
Except as provided pursuant to Section 2.01 pursuant to a Board Resolution, and set forth in an Officer’s Certificate, or established in one or more indentures

supplemental to this Indenture, nothing contained in this Indenture shall prevent any consolidation or merger of the Company with or into any other Person (whether or not
affiliated with the Company) or successive consolidations or mergers in which the Company or its successor or successors shall be a party or parties, or shall prevent any sale,
conveyance, transfer or other disposition of the property of the Company or its successor or successors as an entirety, or substantially as an entirety, to any other corporation
(whether or not affiliated with the Company or its successor or successors) authorized to acquire and operate the same; provided, however, (a) the Company hereby covenants
and agrees that, upon any such consolidation or merger (in each case, if the Company is not the survivor of such transaction), sale, conveyance, transfer or other disposition,
the due and punctual payment of the principal of (premium, if any) and interest on all of the Securities of all series in accordance with the terms of each series, according to
their tenor, and the due and punctual performance and observance of all the covenants and conditions of this Indenture with respect to each series or established with respect to
such series pursuant to Section 2.01 to be kept or performed by the Company shall be expressly assumed, by supplemental indenture (which shall conform to the provisions of
the Trust Indenture Act, as then in effect) reasonably satisfactory in form to the Trustee executed and delivered to the Trustee by the entity formed by such consolidation, or
into which the Company shall have been merged, or by the entity which shall have acquired such property and (b) in the event that the Securities of any series then
Outstanding are convertible into or exchangeable for shares of common stock or other securities of the Company, such entity shall, by such supplemental indenture, make
provision so that the Securityholders of Securities of that series shall thereafter be entitled to receive upon conversion or exchange of such Securities the number of securities
or property to which a holder of the number of shares of common stock or other securities of the Company deliverable upon conversion or exchange of those Securities would
have been entitled had such conversion or exchange occurred immediately prior to such consolidation, merger, sale, conveyance, transfer or other disposition.

 
Section 10.02       Successor Entity Substituted.
 

(a)           In case of any such consolidation, merger, sale, conveyance, transfer or other disposition and upon the assumption by the successor entity by
supplemental indenture, executed and delivered to the Trustee and satisfactory in form to the Trustee, of the obligations set forth under Section 10.01 on all of the Securities of
all series Outstanding, such successor entity shall succeed to and be substituted for the Company with the same effect as if it had been named as the Company herein, and
thereupon the predecessor corporation shall be relieved of all obligations and covenants under this Indenture and the Securities.
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(b)           In case of any such consolidation, merger, sale, conveyance, transfer or other disposition, such changes in phraseology and form (but not in

substance) may be made in the Securities thereafter to be issued as may be appropriate.
 
(c)           Nothing contained in this Article shall require any action by the Company in the case of a consolidation or merger of any Person into the

Company where the Company is the survivor of such transaction, or the acquisition by the Company, by purchase or otherwise, of all or any part of the property of any other
Person (whether or not affiliated with the Company).

 
Section 10.03       Evidence of Consolidation, Etc. to Trustee.
 
The Trustee, subject to the provisions of Section 7.01, may receive an Officer’s Certificate and, if requested, an Opinion of Counsel as conclusive evidence that any

such consolidation, merger, sale, conveyance, transfer or other disposition, and any such assumption, comply with the provisions of this Article.
 

ARTICLE 11

SATISFACTION AND DISCHARGE
 

Section 11.01       Satisfaction and Discharge of Indenture.
 
If at any time: (a) the Company shall have delivered to the Trustee for cancellation all Securities of a series theretofore authenticated and not delivered to the Trustee

for cancellation (other than any Securities that shall have been destroyed, lost or stolen and that shall have been replaced or paid as provided in Section 2.07 and Securities for
whose payment money or Governmental Obligations have theretofore been deposited in trust or segregated and held in trust by the Company and thereupon repaid to the
Company or discharged from such trust, as provided in Section 11.05); or (b) all such Securities of a particular series not theretofore delivered to the Trustee for cancellation
shall have become due and payable, or are by their terms to become due and payable within one year or are to be called for redemption within one year under arrangements
satisfactory to the Trustee for the giving of notice of redemption, and the Company shall deposit or cause to be deposited with the Trustee as trust funds the entire amount in
moneys or Governmental Obligations or a combination thereof, sufficient in the opinion of a nationally recognized firm of independent public accountants expressed in a



written certification thereof delivered to the Trustee, to pay at maturity or upon redemption all Securities of that series not theretofore delivered to the Trustee for cancellation,
including principal (and premium, if any) and interest due or to become due to such date of maturity or date fixed for redemption, as the case may be, and if the Company shall
also pay or cause to be paid all other sums payable hereunder with respect to such series by the Company then this Indenture shall thereupon cease to be of further effect with
respect to such series except for the provisions of Sections 2.03, 2.05, 2.07, 4.01, 4.02, 4.03 and 7.10, that shall survive until the date of maturity or redemption date, as the
case may be, and Sections 7.06 and 11.05, that shall survive to such date and thereafter, and the Trustee, on demand of the Company and at the cost and expense of the
Company shall execute proper instruments acknowledging satisfaction of and discharging this Indenture with respect to such series.
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Section 11.02       Discharge of Obligations.
 
If at any time all such Securities of a particular series not heretofore delivered to the Trustee for cancellation or that have not become due and payable as described in

Section 11.01 shall have been paid by the Company by depositing irrevocably with the Trustee as trust funds moneys or an amount of Governmental Obligations sufficient to
pay at maturity or upon redemption all such Securities of that series not theretofore delivered to the Trustee for cancellation, including principal (and premium, if any) and
interest due or to become due to such date of maturity or date fixed for redemption, as the case may be, and if the Company shall also pay or cause to be paid all other sums
payable hereunder by the Company with respect to such series, then after the date such moneys or Governmental Obligations, as the case may be, are deposited with the
Trustee the obligations of the Company under this Indenture with respect to such series shall cease to be of further effect except for the provisions of Sections 2.03, 2.05, 2.07,
4,01, 4.02, 4,03, 7.06, 7.10 and 11.05 hereof that shall survive until such Securities shall mature and be paid.

 
Thereafter, Sections 7.06 and 11.05 shall survive.
 
Section 11.03       Deposited Moneys to be Held in Trust.
 
All moneys or Governmental Obligations deposited with the Trustee pursuant to Sections 11.01 or 11.02 shall be held in trust and shall be available for payment as

due, either directly or through any paying agent (including the Company acting as its own paying agent), to the holders of the particular series of Securities for the payment or
redemption of which such moneys or Governmental Obligations have been deposited with the Trustee.

 
Section 11.04       Payment of Moneys Held by Paying Agents.
 
In connection with the satisfaction and discharge of this Indenture all moneys or Governmental Obligations then held by any paying agent under the provisions of

this Indenture shall, upon demand of the Company, be paid to the Trustee and thereupon such paying agent shall be released from all further liability with respect to such
moneys or Governmental Obligations.

 
Section 11.05       Repayment to Company.
 
Any moneys or Governmental Obligations deposited with any paying agent or the Trustee, or then held by the Company, in trust for payment of principal of or

premium, if any, or interest on the Securities of a particular series that are not applied but remain unclaimed by the holders of such Securities for at least two years after the
date upon which the principal of (and premium, if any) or interest on such Securities shall have respectively become due and payable, or such other shorter period set forth in
applicable escheat or abandoned or unclaimed property law, shall be repaid to the Company on May 31 of each year or upon the Company’s request or (if then held by the
Company) shall be discharged from such trust; and thereupon the paying agent and the Trustee shall be released from all further liability with respect to such moneys or
Governmental Obligations, and the holder of any of the Securities entitled to receive such payment shall thereafter, as a general creditor, look only to the Company for the
payment thereof.
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ARTICLE 12

IMMUNITY OF INCORPORATORS, STOCKHOLDERS, OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS
 

Section 12.01       No Recourse.
 
No recourse under or upon any obligation, covenant or agreement of this Indenture, or of any Security, or for any claim based thereon or otherwise in respect thereof,

shall be had against any incorporator, stockholder, officer or director, past, present or future as such, of the Company or of any predecessor or successor corporation, either
directly or through the Company or any such predecessor or successor corporation, whether by virtue of any constitution, statute or rule of law, or by the enforcement of any
assessment or penalty or otherwise; it being expressly understood that this Indenture and the obligations issued hereunder are solely corporate obligations, and that no such
personal liability whatever shall attach to, or is or shall be incurred by, the incorporators, stockholders, officers or directors as such, of the Company or of any predecessor or
successor corporation, or any of them, because of the creation of the indebtedness hereby authorized, or under or by reason of the obligations, covenants or agreements
contained in this Indenture or in any of the Securities or implied therefrom; and that any and all such personal liability of every name and nature, either at common law or in
equity or by constitution or statute, of, and any and all such rights and claims against, every such incorporator, stockholder, officer or director as such, because of the creation
of the indebtedness hereby authorized, or under or by reason of the obligations, covenants or agreements contained in this Indenture or in any of the Securities or implied
therefrom, are hereby expressly waived and released as a condition of, and as a consideration for, the execution of this Indenture and the issuance of such Securities.

 
ARTICLE 13

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS
 

Section 13.01       Effect on Successors and Assigns.
 
All the covenants, stipulations, promises and agreements in this Indenture made by or on behalf of the Company shall bind its successors and assigns, whether so

expressed or not.
 
Section 13.02       Actions by Successor.
 
Any act or proceeding by any provision of this Indenture authorized or required to be done or performed by any board, committee or officer of the Company shall

and may be done and performed with like force and effect by the corresponding board, committee or officer of any corporation that shall at the time be the lawful successor of
the Company.

 
Section 13.03       Surrender of Company Powers.
 
The Company by instrument in writing executed by authority of its Board of Directors and delivered to the Trustee may surrender any of the powers reserved to the



Company, and
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thereupon such power so surrendered shall terminate both as to the Company and as to any successor corporation.

 
Section 13.04       Notices.
 
Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, any notice, request or demand that by any provision of this Indenture is required or permitted to be given, made or

served by the Trustee or by the holders of Securities or by any other Person pursuant to this Indenture to or on the Company may be given or served by being deposited in first
class mail, postage prepaid, addressed (until another address is filed in writing by the Company with the Trustee), as follows:                                                                            .. 
Any notice, election, request or demand by the Company or any Securityholder or by any other Person pursuant to this Indenture to or upon the Trustee shall be deemed to
have been sufficiently given or made, for all purposes, if given or made in writing at the Corporate Trust Office of the Trustee.

 
Section 13.05       Governing Law.
 
This Indenture and each Security shall be deemed to be a contract made under the internal laws of the State of New York, and for all purposes shall be construed in

accordance with the laws of said State, except to the extent that the Trust Indenture Act is applicable.
 
Section 13.06       Treatment of Securities as Debt.
 
It is intended that the Securities will be treated as indebtedness and not as equity for federal income tax purposes.  The provisions of this Indenture shall be

interpreted to further this intention.
 
Section 13.07       Certificates and Opinions as to Conditions Precedent.
 

(a)           Upon any application or demand by the Company to the Trustee to take any action under any of the provisions of this Indenture, the Company
shall furnish to the Trustee an Officer’s Certificate stating that all conditions precedent provided for in this Indenture (other than the certificate to be delivered pursuant to
Section 13.12) relating to the proposed action have been complied with and, if requested, an Opinion of Counsel stating that in the opinion of such counsel all such conditions
precedent have been complied with, except that in the case of any such application or demand as to which the furnishing of such documents is specifically required by any
provision of this Indenture relating to such particular application or demand, no additional certificate or opinion need be furnished.

 
(b)           Each certificate or opinion provided for in this Indenture and delivered to the Trustee with respect to compliance with a condition or covenant in

this Indenture shall include (i) a statement that the Person making such certificate or opinion has read such covenant or condition; (ii) a brief statement as to the nature and
scope of the examination or investigation upon which the statements or opinions contained in such certificate or opinion are based; (iii) a statement that, in the opinion of such
Person, he has made such examination or investigation as is reasonably necessary to enable him to express an informed opinion as to whether or not such
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covenant or condition has been complied with; and (iv) a statement as to whether or not, in the opinion of such Person, such condition or covenant has been complied with.

 
Section 13.08       Payments on Business Days.
 
Except as provided pursuant to Section 2.01 pursuant to a Board Resolution, and set forth in an Officer’s Certificate, or established in one or more indentures

supplemental to this Indenture, in any case where the date of maturity of interest or principal of any Security or the date of redemption of any Security shall not be a Business
Day, then payment of interest or principal (and premium, if any) may be made on the next succeeding Business Day with the same force and effect as if made on the nominal
date of maturity or redemption, and no interest shall accrue for the period after such nominal date.

 
Section 13.09       Conflict with Trust Indenture Act.
 
If and to the extent that any provision of this Indenture limits, qualifies or conflicts with the duties imposed by Sections 310 to 317, inclusive, of the Trust Indenture

Act, such imposed duties shall control.
 
Section 13.10       Counterparts.
 
This Indenture may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be an original, but such counterparts shall together constitute but one and the

same instrument.
 
Section 13.11       Separability.
 
In case any one or more of the provisions contained in this Indenture or in the Securities of any series shall for any reason be held to be invalid, illegal or

unenforceable in any respect, such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall not affect any other provisions of this Indenture or of such Securities, but this Indenture and
such Securities shall be construed as if such invalid or illegal or unenforceable provision had never been contained herein or therein.

 
Section 13.12       Compliance Certificates.
 
The Company shall deliver to the Trustee, within 120 days after the end of each fiscal year during which any Securities of any series were outstanding, an officer’s

certificate stating whether or not the signers know of any Default or Event of Default that occurred during such fiscal year.  Such certificate shall contain a certification from
the principal executive officer, principal financial officer or principal accounting officer of the Company that a review has been conducted of the activities of the Company
and the Company’s performance under this Indenture and that the Company has complied with all conditions and covenants under this Indenture.  For purposes of this Section
13.12, such compliance shall be determined without regard to any period of grace or requirement of notice provided under this Indenture.  If the officer of the Company
signing such certificate has knowledge of such a Default or Event of Default, the certificate shall describe any such Default or Event of Default and its status.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Indenture to be duly executed all as of the day and year first above written.
 



RIGEL PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

  
By:
Name:
Title:

  
  

[TRUSTEE], as Trustee
  

By:
Name:
Title:
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CROSS-REFERENCE TABLE (1)
 

Section of Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as Amended Section of Indenture
310(a) 7.09
310(b) 7.08

7.10
310(c) Inapplicable
311(a) 7.13
311(b) 7.13
311(c) Inapplicable
312(a) 5.01

5.02(a)
312(b) 5.02(c)
312(c) 5.02(c)
313(a) 5.04(a)
313(b) 5.04(b)
313(c) 5.04(a)

5.04(b)
313(d) 5.04(c)
314(a) 5.03

13.12
314(b) Inapplicable
314(c) 13.07(a)
314(d) Inapplicable
314(e) 13.07(b)
314(f) Inapplicable
315(a) 7.01(a)

7.01(b)
315(b) 7.14
315(c) 7.01
315(d) 7.01(b)
315(e) 6.07
316(a) 6.06

8.04
316(b) 6.04
316(c) 8.01
317(a) 6.02
317(b) 4.03
318(a) 13.09

(1)          This Cross-Reference Table does not constitute part of the Indenture and shall not have any bearing on the interpretation of any of its terms or provisions.
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INDENTURE

 
INDENTURE, dated as of [·], 200    , among RIGEL PHARMACEUTICALS, INC., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), and [TRUSTEE], as trustee (the

“Trustee”):
 
WHEREAS, for its lawful corporate purposes, the Company has duly authorized the execution and delivery of this Indenture to provide for the issuance of

subordinated debt securities (hereinafter referred to as the “Securities”), in an unlimited aggregate principal amount to be issued from time to time in one or more series as in
this Indenture provided, as registered Securities without coupons, to be authenticated by the certificate of the Trustee;

 
WHEREAS, to provide the terms and conditions upon which the Securities are to be authenticated, issued and delivered, the Company has duly authorized the

execution of this Indenture; and
 
WHEREAS, all things necessary to make this Indenture a valid agreement of the Company, in accordance with its terms, have been done.
 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the purchase of the Securities by the holders thereof, it is mutually covenanted and agreed as follows for

the equal and ratable benefit of the holders of Securities:
 

ARTICLE 1
 

DEFINITIONS
 

Section 1.01                            Definitions of Terms.
 
The terms defined in this Section (except as in this Indenture or any indenture supplemental hereto otherwise expressly provided or unless the context otherwise

requires) for all purposes of this Indenture and of any indenture supplemental hereto shall have the respective meanings specified in this Section and shall include the plural as
well as the singular.  All other terms used in this Indenture that are defined in the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, or that are by reference in such Act defined in the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended (except as herein or any indenture supplemental hereto otherwise expressly provided or unless the context otherwise requires), shall have
the meanings assigned to such terms in said Trust Indenture Act and in said Securities Act as in force at the date of the execution of this instrument.

 
“Authenticating Agent” means an authenticating agent with respect to all or any of the series of Securities appointed by the Trustee pursuant to Section 2.10.
 
“Bankruptcy Law” means Title 11, U.S. Code, or any similar federal or state law for the relief of debtors.

 
“Board of Directors” means the Board of Directors of the Company or any duly authorized committee of such Board.
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“Board Resolution” means a copy of a resolution certified by the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary of the Company to have been duly adopted by the Board of

Directors and to be in full force and effect on the date of such certification.
 
“Business Day” means, with respect to any series of Securities, any day other than a day on which federal or state banking institutions in the Borough of Manhattan,

the City of New York, or in the city of the Corporate Trust Office of the Trustee, are authorized or obligated by law, executive order or regulation to close.
 
“Certificate” means a certificate signed by any Officer.  The Certificate need not comply with the provisions of Section 13.07.
 
“Company” means Rigel Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a corporation duly organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware, and, subject to the provisions of

Article Ten, shall also include its successors and assigns.
 
“Corporate Trust Office” means the office of the Trustee at which, at any particular time, its corporate trust business shall be principally administered, which office

at the date hereof is located at                                                                                      .
 
“Custodian” means any receiver, trustee, assignee, liquidator or similar official under any Bankruptcy Law.
 
“Default” means any event, act or condition that with notice or lapse of time, or both, would constitute an Event of Default.
 
“Defaulted Interest” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.03.
 
“Depositary” means, with respect to Securities of any series for which the Company shall determine that such Securities will be issued as a Global Security, The

Depository Trust Company, another clearing agency, or any successor registered as a clearing agency under the Exchange Act, or other applicable statute or regulation, which,
in each case, shall be designated by the Company pursuant to either Section 2.01 or 2.11.

 
“Event of Default” means, with respect to Securities of a particular series, any event specified in Section 6.01, continued for the period of time, if any, therein

designated.
 
“Exchange Act” means the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
 
“Global Security” means, with respect to any series of Securities, a Security executed by the Company and delivered by the Trustee to the Depositary or pursuant to

the Depositary’s instruction, all in accordance with the Indenture, which shall be registered in the name of the Depositary or its nominee.
 
“Governmental Obligations” means securities that are (a) direct obligations of the United States of America for the payment of which its full faith and credit is

pledged or (b) obligations of a Person controlled or supervised by and acting as an agency or instrumentality of the United
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States of America, the payment of which is unconditionally guaranteed as a full faith and credit obligation by the United States of America that, in either case, are not callable
or redeemable at the option of the issuer thereof at any time prior to the stated maturity of the Securities, and shall also include a depositary receipt issued by a bank or trust
company as custodian with respect to any such Governmental Obligation or a specific payment of principal of or interest on any such Governmental Obligation held by such
custodian for the account of the holder of such depositary receipt; provided, however, that (except as required by law) such custodian is not authorized to make any deduction
from the amount payable to the holder of such depositary receipt from any amount received by the custodian in respect of the Governmental Obligation or the specific
payment of principal of or interest on the Governmental Obligation evidenced by such depositary receipt.

 
“herein”, “hereof” and “hereunder”, and other words of similar import, refer to this Indenture as a whole and not to any particular Article, Section or other

subdivision.
 
“Indenture” means this instrument as originally executed or as it may from time to time be supplemented or amended by one or more indentures supplemental hereto

entered into in accordance with the terms hereof.
 
“Interest Payment Date”, when used with respect to any installment of interest on a Security of a particular series, means the date specified in such Security or in a

Board Resolution or in an indenture supplemental hereto with respect to such series as the fixed date on which an installment of interest with respect to Securities of that series
is due and payable.

 
“Officer” means, with respect to the Company, the chairman of the Board of Directors, a chief executive officer, a president, a chief financial officer, a chief

operating officer, any executive vice president, any senior vice president, any vice president, the treasurer or any assistant treasurer, the controller or any assistant controller or
the secretary or any assistant secretary.

 
 “Officer’s Certificate” means a certificate signed by any Officer.  Each such certificate shall include the statements provided for in Section 13.07, if and to the extent

required by the provisions thereof.
 
“Opinion of Counsel” means an opinion in writing subject to customary exceptions of legal counsel, who may be an employee of or counsel for the Company, that

is delivered to the Trustee in accordance with the terms hereof.  Each such opinion shall include the statements provided for in Section 13.07, if and to the extent required by
the provisions thereof.

 
“Outstanding”, when used with reference to Securities of any series, means, subject to the provisions of Section 8.04, as of any particular time, all Securities of that

series theretofore authenticated and delivered by the Trustee under this Indenture, except (a) Securities theretofore canceled by the Trustee or any paying agent, or delivered to
the Trustee or any paying agent for cancellation or that have previously been canceled; (b) Securities or portions thereof for the payment or redemption of which moneys or
Governmental Obligations in the necessary amount shall have been deposited in trust with the Trustee or with any paying agent (other than the Company) or shall have been
set aside and segregated in trust by the Company (if the Company
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shall act as its own paying agent); provided, however, that if such Securities or portions of such Securities are to be redeemed prior to the maturity thereof, notice of such
redemption shall have been given as provided in Article Three, or provision satisfactory to the Trustee shall have been made for giving such notice; and (c) Securities in lieu of
or in substitution for which other Securities shall have been authenticated and delivered pursuant to the terms of Section 2.07.

 
“Person” means any individual, corporation, partnership, joint venture, joint-stock company, limited liability company, association, trust, unincorporated

organization, any other entity or organization, including a  government or political subdivision or an agency or instrumentality thereof.
 
“Predecessor Security” of any particular Security means every previous Security evidencing all or a portion of the same debt as that evidenced by such particular

Security; and, for the purposes of this definition, any Security authenticated and delivered under Section 2.07 in lieu of a lost, destroyed or stolen Security shall be deemed to
evidence the same debt as the lost, destroyed or stolen Security.

 
“Responsible Officer” when used with respect to the Trustee means the chairman of its board of directors, the chief executive officer, the president, any vice

president, the secretary, the treasurer, any trust officer, any corporate trust officer or any other officer or assistant officer of the Trustee customarily performing functions
similar to those performed by the Persons who at the time shall be such officers, respectively, or to whom any corporate trust matter is referred because of his or her
knowledge of and familiarity with the particular subject.

 
“Securities” means the debt Securities authenticated and delivered under this Indenture.
 
“Securityholder”, “holder of Securities”, “registered holder”, or other similar term, means the Person or Persons in whose name or names a particular Security shall

be registered on the books of the Company kept for that purpose in accordance with the terms of this Indenture.
 
“Security Register” and “Security Registrar” shall have the meanings as set forth in Section 2.05.
 
“Subsidiary” means, with respect to any Person, (i) any corporation at least a majority of whose outstanding Voting Stock shall at the time be owned, directly or

indirectly, by such Person or by one or more of its Subsidiaries or by such Person and one or more of its Subsidiaries, (ii) any general partnership, joint venture or similar
entity, at least a majority of whose outstanding partnership or similar interests shall at the time be owned by such Person, or by one or more of its Subsidiaries, or by such
Person and one or more of its Subsidiaries and (iii) any limited partnership of which such Person or any of its Subsidiaries is a general partner.

 
“Trustee” means                                                   , and, subject to the provisions of Article Seven, shall also include its successors and assigns, and, if at any time

there is more than one Person acting in such capacity hereunder, “Trustee” shall mean each such Person.  The term “Trustee” as used with respect to a particular series of the
Securities shall mean the trustee with respect to that series.
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“Trust Indenture Act” means the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended.
 
“Voting Stock”, as applied to stock of any Person, means shares, interests, participations or other equivalents in the equity interest (however designated) in such

Person having ordinary voting power for the election of a majority of the directors (or the equivalent) of such Person, other than shares, interests, participations or other
equivalents having such power only by reason of the occurrence of a contingency.

 
ARTICLE 2

 
ISSUE, DESCRIPTION, TERMS, EXECUTION, REGISTRATION AND EXCHANGE OF SECURITIES

 



Section 2.01                            Designation and Terms of Securities.
 

(a)                                  The aggregate principal amount of Securities that may be authenticated and delivered under this Indenture is unlimited.  The Securities may be
issued in one or more series up to the aggregate principal amount of Securities of that series from time to time authorized by or pursuant to a Board Resolution or pursuant to
one or more indentures supplemental hereto.  Prior to the initial issuance of Securities of any series, there shall be established in or pursuant to a Board Resolution, and set
forth in an Officer’s Certificate, or established in one or more indentures supplemental hereto:

 
(1)                                 the title of the Securities of the series (which shall distinguish the Securities of that series from all other Securities);
 
(2)                                 any limit upon the aggregate principal amount of the Securities of that series that may be authenticated and delivered under this Indenture

(except for Securities authenticated and delivered upon registration of transfer of, or in exchange for, or in lieu of, other Securities of that series);
 
(3)                                 the date or dates on which the principal of the Securities of the series is payable, any original issue discount that may apply to the

Securities of that series upon their issuance, the principal amount due at maturity, and the place(s) of payment;
 
(4)                                 the rate or rates at which the Securities of the series shall bear interest or the manner of calculation of such rate or rates, if any;
 
(5)                                 the date or dates from which such interest shall accrue, the Interest Payment Dates on which such interest will be payable or the manner

of determination of such Interest Payment Dates, the place(s) of payment, and the record date for the determination of holders to whom interest is payable on any such Interest
Payment Dates or the manner of determination of such record dates;

 
(6)                                 the right, if any, to extend the interest payment periods and the duration of such extension;
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(7)                                 the period or periods within which, the price or prices at which and the terms and conditions upon which Securities of the series may be

redeemed, in whole or in part, at the option of the Company;
 
(8)                                 the obligation, if any, of the Company to redeem or purchase Securities of the series pursuant to any sinking fund, mandatory redemption,

or analogous provisions (including payments made in cash in satisfaction of future sinking fund obligations) or at the option of a holder thereof and the period or periods
within which, the price or prices at which, and the terms and conditions upon which, Securities of the series shall be redeemed or purchased, in whole or in part, pursuant to
such obligation;

 
(9)                                 the form of the Securities of the series including the form of the Certificate of Authentication for such series;
 
(10)                           if other than denominations of one thousand U.S. dollars ($1,000) or any integral multiple thereof, the denominations in which the

Securities of the series shall be issuable;
 
(11)                           any and all other terms (including terms, to the extent applicable, relating to any auction or remarketing of the Securities of that series and

any security for the obligations of the Company with respect to such Securities) with respect to such series (which terms shall not be inconsistent with the terms of this
Indenture, as amended by any supplemental indenture) including any terms which may be required by or advisable under United States laws or regulations or advisable in
connection with the marketing of Securities of that series;

 
(12)                           whether the Securities are issuable as a Global Security and, in such case, the terms and the identity of the Depositary for such series;
 
(13)                           whether the Securities will be convertible into or exchangeable for shares of common stock, preferred stock or other securities of the

Company or any other Person and, if so, the terms and conditions upon which such Securities will be so convertible or exchangeable, including the conversion or exchange
price, as applicable, or how it will be calculated and may be adjusted, any mandatory or optional (at the Company’s option or the holders’ option) conversion or exchange
features, and the applicable conversion or exchange period;

 
(14)                           if other than the principal amount thereof, the portion of the principal amount of Securities of the series which shall be payable upon

declaration of acceleration of the maturity thereof pursuant to Section 6.01;
 
(15)                           any additional or different Events of Default or restrictive covenants (which may include, among other restrictions, restrictions on the

Company’s ability or the ability of the Company’s Subsidiaries to:  incur additional indebtedness; issue additional securities; create liens; pay dividends or make distributions
in respect of the capital stock of the Company or the Company’s Subsidiaries; redeem capital stock; place restrictions on the Company’s Subsidiaries’ ability to pay dividends,
make distributions or transfer assets; make investments or other restricted payments; sell or otherwise dispose of assets; enter into sale-
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leaseback transactions; engage in transactions with stockholders or affiliates; issue or sell stock of the Company’s Subsidiaries; or effect a consolidation or merger) or financial
covenants (which may include, among other financial covenants, financial covenants that require the Company and its Subsidiaries to maintain specified interest coverage,
fixed charge, cash flow-based, asset-based or other financial ratios) provided for with respect to the Securities of the series;

 
(16)                           if other than dollars, the coin or currency in which the Securities of the series are denominated (including, but not limited to, foreign

currency);
 
(17)                           the terms and conditions, if any, upon which the Company shall pay amounts in addition to the stated interest, premium, if any and

principal amounts of the Securities of the series to any Securityholder that is not a “United States person” for federal tax purposes;
 
(18)                           any restrictions on transfer, sale or assignment of the Securities of the series; and
 
(19)                           the subordination terms of the Securities of the series.
 

All Securities of any one series shall be substantially identical except as may otherwise be provided in or pursuant to any such Board Resolution or in any indentures
supplemental hereto.

 
If any of the terms of the series are established by action taken pursuant to a Board Resolution of the Company, a copy of an appropriate record of such action shall

be certified by the secretary or an assistant secretary of the Company and delivered to the Trustee at or prior to the delivery of the Officer’s Certificate of the Company setting
forth the terms of the series.



 
Securities of any particular series may be issued at various times, with different dates on which the principal or any installment of principal is payable, with different

rates of interest, if any, or different methods by which rates of interest may be determined, with different dates on which such interest may be payable and with different
redemption dates.

 
Section 2.02                            Form of Securities and Trustee’s Certificate.
 
The Securities of any series and the Trustee’s certificate of authentication to be borne by such Securities shall be substantially of the tenor and purport as set forth in

one or more indentures supplemental hereto or as provided in a Board Resolution, and set forth in an Officer’s Certificate, and they may have such letters, numbers or other
marks of identification or designation and such legends or endorsements printed, lithographed or engraved thereon as the Company may deem appropriate and as are not
inconsistent with the provisions of this Indenture, or as may be required to comply with any law or with any rule or regulation made pursuant thereto or with any rule or
regulation of any securities exchange on which Securities of that series may be listed, or to conform to usage.
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Section 2.03                            Denominations: Provisions for Payment.
 
The Securities shall be issuable as registered Securities and in the denominations of one thousand U.S. dollars ($1,000) or any integral multiple thereof, subject to

Section 2.01(a)(10).  The Securities of a particular series shall bear interest payable on the dates and at the rate specified with respect to that series.  Subject to Section 2.01(a)
(16), the principal of and the interest on the Securities of any series, as well as any premium thereon in case of redemption thereof prior to maturity, shall be payable in the
coin or currency of the United States of America that at the time is legal tender for public and private debt, at the office or agency of the Company maintained for that
purpose.  Each Security shall be dated the date of its authentication.  Interest on the Securities shall be computed on the basis of a 360-day year composed of twelve 30-day
months.

 
The interest installment on any Security that is payable, and is punctually paid or duly provided for, on any Interest Payment Date for Securities of that series shall be

paid to the Person in whose name said Security (or one or more Predecessor Securities) is registered at the close of business on the regular record date for such interest
installment.  In the event that any Security of a particular series or portion thereof is called for redemption and the redemption date is subsequent to a regular record date with
respect to any Interest Payment Date and prior to such Interest Payment Date, interest on such Security will be paid upon presentation and surrender of such Security as
provided in Section 3.03.

 
Any interest on any Security that is payable, but is not punctually paid or duly provided for, on any Interest Payment Date for Securities of the same series (herein

called “Defaulted Interest”) shall forthwith cease to be payable to the registered holder on the relevant regular record date by virtue of having been such holder; and such
Defaulted Interest shall be paid by the Company, at its election, as provided in clause (1) or clause (2) below:

 
(1)                                 The Company may make payment of any Defaulted Interest on Securities to the Persons in whose names such Securities (or their

respective Predecessor Securities) are registered at the close of business on a special record date for the payment of such Defaulted Interest, which shall be fixed in the
following manner: the Company shall notify the Trustee in writing of the amount of Defaulted Interest proposed to be paid on each such Security and the date of the proposed
payment, and at the same time the Company shall deposit with the Trustee an amount of money equal to the aggregate amount proposed to be paid in respect of such
Defaulted Interest or shall make arrangements satisfactory to the Trustee for such deposit prior to the date of the proposed payment, such money when deposited to be held in
trust for the benefit of the Persons entitled to such Defaulted Interest as in this clause provided.  Thereupon the Trustee shall fix a special record date for the payment of such
Defaulted Interest which shall not be more than 15 nor less than 10 days prior to the date of the proposed payment and not less than 10 days after the receipt by the Trustee of
the notice of the proposed payment.  The Trustee shall promptly notify the Company of such special record date and, in the name and at the expense of the Company, shall
cause notice of the proposed payment of such Defaulted Interest and the special record date therefor to be mailed, first class postage prepaid, to each Securityholder at his or
her address as it appears in the Security Register (as hereinafter defined), not less than 10 days prior to such special record date.  Notice of the proposed payment of such
Defaulted Interest and the special record date therefor having been mailed as aforesaid, such
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Defaulted Interest shall be paid to the Persons in whose names such Securities (or their respective Predecessor Securities) are registered on such special record date.

 
(2)                                 The Company may make payment of any Defaulted Interest on any Securities in any other lawful manner not inconsistent with the

requirements of any securities exchange on which such Securities may be listed, and upon such notice as may be required by such exchange, if, after notice given by the
Company to the Trustee of the proposed payment pursuant to this clause, such manner of payment shall be deemed practicable by the Trustee.

 
Unless otherwise set forth in a Board Resolution or one or more indentures supplemental hereto establishing the terms of any series of Securities pursuant to

Section 2.01 hereof, the term “regular record date” as used in this Section with respect to a series of Securities and any Interest Payment Date for such series shall mean either
the fifteenth day of the month immediately preceding the month in which an Interest Payment Date established for such series pursuant to Section 2.01 hereof shall occur, if
such Interest Payment Date is the first day of a month, or the first day of the month in which an Interest Payment Date established for such series pursuant to Section 2.01
hereof shall occur, if such Interest Payment Date is the fifteenth day of a month, whether or not such date is a Business Day.

 
Subject to the foregoing provisions of this Section, each Security of a series delivered under this Indenture upon transfer of or in exchange for or in lieu of any other

Security of such series shall carry the rights to interest accrued and unpaid, and to accrue, that were carried by such other Security.
 
Section 2.04                            Execution and Authentications.
 
The Securities shall be signed on behalf of the Company by one of its Officers.  Signatures may be in the form of a manual or facsimile signature.
 
The Company may use the facsimile signature of any Person who shall have been an Officer, notwithstanding the fact that at the time the Securities shall be

authenticated and delivered or disposed of such Person shall have ceased to be such an officer of the Company.  The Securities may contain such notations, legends or
endorsements required by law, stock exchange rule or usage.  Each Security shall be dated the date of its authentication by the Trustee.

 
A Security shall not be valid until authenticated manually by an authorized signatory of the Trustee, or by an Authenticating Agent.  Such signature shall be

conclusive evidence that the Security so authenticated has been duly authenticated and delivered hereunder and that the holder is entitled to the benefits of this Indenture.  At
any time and from time to time after the execution and delivery of this Indenture, the Company may deliver Securities of any series executed by the Company to the Trustee
for authentication, together with a written order of the Company for the authentication and delivery of such Securities, signed by an Officer, and the Trustee in accordance
with such written order shall authenticate and deliver such Securities.

 
In authenticating such Securities and accepting the additional responsibilities under this Indenture in relation to such Securities, the Trustee shall be entitled to

receive, if requested, and (subject to Section 7.01) shall be fully protected in relying upon, an Opinion of Counsel stating
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that the form and terms thereof have been established in conformity with the provisions of this Indenture.

 
The Trustee shall not be required to authenticate such Securities if the issue of such Securities pursuant to this Indenture will affect the Trustee’s own rights, duties or

immunities under the Securities and this Indenture or otherwise in a manner that is not reasonably acceptable to the Trustee.
 
Section 2.05                            Registration of Transfer and Exchange.
 

(a)                                  Securities of any series may be exchanged upon presentation thereof at the office or agency of the Company designated for such purpose, for other
Securities of such series of authorized denominations, and for a like aggregate principal amount, upon payment of a sum sufficient to cover any tax or other governmental
charge in relation thereto, all as provided in this Section.  In respect of any Securities so surrendered for exchange, the Company shall execute, the Trustee shall authenticate
and such office or agency shall deliver in exchange therefor the Security or Securities of the same series that the Securityholder making the exchange shall be entitled to
receive, bearing numbers not contemporaneously outstanding.

 
(b)                                  The Company shall keep, or cause to be kept, at its office or agency designated for such purpose a register or registers (herein referred to as the

“Security Register”) in which, subject to such reasonable regulations as it may prescribe, the Company shall register the Securities and the transfers of Securities as in this
Article provided and which at all reasonable times shall be open for inspection by the Trustee.  The registrar for the purpose of registering Securities and transfer of Securities
as herein provided shall be appointed as authorized by Board Resolution (the “Security Registrar”).

 
Upon surrender for transfer of any Security at the office or agency of the Company designated for such purpose, the Company shall execute, the Trustee shall

authenticate and such office or agency shall deliver in the name of the transferee or transferees a new Security or Securities of the same series as the Security presented for a
like aggregate principal amount.

 
All Securities presented or surrendered for exchange or registration of transfer, as provided in this Section, shall be accompanied (if so required by the Company or

the Security Registrar) by a written instrument or instruments of transfer, in form satisfactory to the Company or the Security Registrar, duly executed by the registered holder
or by such holder’s duly authorized attorney in writing.

 
(c)                                  Except as provided pursuant to Section 2.01 pursuant to a Board Resolution, and set forth in an Officer’s Certificate, or established in one or more

indentures supplemental to this Indenture, no service charge shall be made for any exchange or registration of transfer of Securities, or issue of new Securities in case of partial
redemption of any series, but the Company may require payment of a sum sufficient to cover any tax or other governmental charge in relation thereto, other than exchanges
pursuant to Section 2.06, Section 3.03(b) and Section 9.04 not involving any transfer.
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(d)                                  The Company shall not be required (i) to issue, exchange or register the transfer of any Securities during a period beginning at the opening of

business 15 days before the day of the mailing of a notice of redemption of less than all the Outstanding Securities of the same series and ending at the close of business on the
day of such mailing, nor (ii) to register the transfer of or exchange any Securities of any series or portions thereof called for redemption, other than the unredeemed portion of
any such Securities being redeemed in part.  The provisions of this Section 2.05 are, with respect to any Global Security, subject to Section 2.11 hereof.

 
Section 2.06                            Temporary Securities.
 
Pending the preparation of definitive Securities of any series, the Company may execute, and the Trustee shall authenticate and deliver, temporary Securities

(printed, lithographed or typewritten) of any authorized denomination.  Such temporary Securities shall be substantially in the form of the definitive Securities in lieu of which
they are issued, but with such omissions, insertions and variations as may be appropriate for temporary Securities, all as may be determined by the Company.  Every
temporary Security of any series shall be executed by the Company and be authenticated by the Trustee upon the same conditions and in substantially the same manner, and
with like effect, as the definitive Securities of such series.  Without unnecessary delay the Company will execute and will furnish definitive Securities of such series and
thereupon any or all temporary Securities of such series may be surrendered in exchange therefor (without charge to the holders), at the office or agency of the Company
designated for the purpose, and the Trustee shall authenticate and such office or agency shall deliver in exchange for such temporary Securities an equal aggregate principal
amount of definitive Securities of such series, unless the Company advises the Trustee to the effect that definitive Securities need not be executed and furnished until further
notice from the Company.  Until so exchanged, the temporary Securities of such series shall be entitled to the same benefits under this Indenture as definitive Securities of
such series authenticated and delivered hereunder.

 
Section 2.07                            Mutilated, Destroyed, Lost or Stolen Securities.
 
In case any temporary or definitive Security shall become mutilated or be destroyed, lost or stolen, the Company (subject to the next succeeding sentence) shall

execute, and upon the Company’s request the Trustee (subject as aforesaid) shall authenticate and deliver, a new Security of the same series, bearing a number not
contemporaneously outstanding, in exchange and substitution for the mutilated Security, or in lieu of and in substitution for the Security so destroyed, lost or stolen.  In every
case the applicant for a substituted Security shall furnish to the Company and the Trustee such security or indemnity as may be required by them to save each of them
harmless, and, in every case of destruction, loss or theft, the applicant shall also furnish to the Company and the Trustee evidence to their satisfaction of the destruction, loss or
theft of the applicant’s Security and of the ownership thereof.  The Trustee may authenticate any such substituted Security and deliver the same upon the written request or
authorization of any officer of the Company.  Upon the issuance of any substituted Security, the Company may require the payment of a sum sufficient to cover any tax or
other governmental charge that may be imposed in relation thereto and any other expenses (including the fees and expenses of the Trustee) connected therewith.
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In case any Security that has matured or is about to mature shall become mutilated or be destroyed, lost or stolen, the Company may, instead of issuing a substitute

Security, pay or authorize the payment of the same (without surrender thereof except in the case of a mutilated Security) if the applicant for such payment shall furnish to the
Company and the Trustee such security or indemnity as they may require to save them harmless, and, in case of destruction, loss or theft, evidence to the satisfaction of the
Company and the Trustee of the destruction, loss or theft of such Security and of the ownership thereof.

 
Every replacement Security issued pursuant to the provisions of this Section shall constitute an additional contractual obligation of the Company whether or not the

mutilated, destroyed, lost or stolen Security shall be found at any time, or be enforceable by anyone, and shall be entitled to all the benefits of this Indenture equally and
proportionately with any and all other Securities of the same series duly issued hereunder.  All Securities shall be held and owned upon the express condition that the
foregoing provisions are exclusive with respect to the replacement or payment of mutilated, destroyed, lost or stolen Securities, and shall preclude (to the extent lawful) any
and all other rights or remedies, notwithstanding any law or statute existing or hereafter enacted to the contrary with respect to the replacement or payment of negotiable
instruments or other securities without their surrender.



 
Section 2.08                            Cancellation.
 
All Securities surrendered for the purpose of payment, redemption, exchange or registration of transfer shall, if surrendered to the Company or any paying agent, be

delivered to the Trustee for cancellation, or, if surrendered to the Trustee, shall be cancelled by it, and no Securities shall be issued in lieu thereof except as expressly required
or permitted by any of the provisions of this Indenture.  On request of the Company at the time of such surrender, the Trustee shall deliver to the Company canceled Securities
held by the Trustee.  In the absence of such request the Trustee may dispose of canceled Securities in accordance with its standard procedures and deliver a certificate of
disposition to the Company.  If the Company shall otherwise acquire any of the Securities, however, such acquisition shall not operate as a redemption or satisfaction of the
indebtedness represented by such Securities unless and until the same are delivered to the Trustee for cancellation.

 
Section 2.09                            Benefits of Indenture.
 
Nothing in this Indenture or in the Securities, express or implied, shall give or be construed to give to any Person, other than the parties hereto and the holders of the

Securities (and, with respect to the provisions of Article Fourteen, the holders of any indebtedness of the Company to which the Securities of any series are subordinated) any
legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under or in respect of this Indenture, or under any covenant, condition or provision herein contained; all such covenants, conditions
and provisions being for the sole benefit of the parties hereto and of the holders of the Securities (and, with respect to the provisions of Article Fourteen, the holders of any
indebtedness of the Company to which the Securities of any series are subordinated).
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Section 2.10                            Authenticating Agent.
 
So long as any of the Securities of any series remain Outstanding there may be an Authenticating Agent for any or all such series of Securities which the Trustee

shall have the right to appoint.  Said Authenticating Agent shall be authorized to act on behalf of the Trustee to authenticate Securities of such series issued upon exchange,
transfer or partial redemption thereof, and Securities so authenticated shall be entitled to the benefits of this Indenture and shall be valid and obligatory for all purposes as if
authenticated by the Trustee hereunder.  All references in this Indenture to the authentication of Securities by the Trustee shall be deemed to include authentication by an
Authenticating Agent for such series.  Each Authenticating Agent shall be acceptable to the Company and shall be a corporation that has a combined capital and surplus, as
most recently reported or determined by it, sufficient under the laws of any jurisdiction under which it is organized or in which it is doing business to conduct a trust business,
and that is otherwise authorized under such laws to conduct such business and is subject to supervision or examination by federal or state authorities.  If at any time any
Authenticating Agent shall cease to be eligible in accordance with these provisions, it shall resign immediately.

 
Any Authenticating Agent may at any time resign by giving written notice of resignation to the Trustee and to the Company.  The Trustee may at any time (and upon

request by the Company shall) terminate the agency of any Authenticating Agent by giving written notice of termination to such Authenticating Agent and to the Company. 
Upon resignation, termination or cessation of eligibility of any Authenticating Agent, the Trustee may appoint an eligible successor Authenticating Agent acceptable to the
Company.  Any successor Authenticating Agent, upon acceptance of its appointment hereunder, shall become vested with all the rights, powers and duties of its predecessor
hereunder as if originally named as an Authenticating Agent pursuant hereto.

 
Section 2.11                            Global Securities.
 

(a)                                  If the Company shall establish pursuant to Section 2.01 that the Securities of a particular series are to be issued as a Global Security, then the
Company shall execute and the Trustee shall, in accordance with Section 2.04, authenticate and deliver, a Global Security that (i) shall represent, and shall be denominated in
an amount equal to the aggregate principal amount of, all of the Outstanding Securities of such series, (ii) shall be registered in the name of the Depositary or its nominee,
(iii) shall be delivered by the Trustee to the Depositary or pursuant to the Depositary’s instruction and (iv) shall bear a legend substantially to the following effect: “Except as
otherwise provided in Section 2.11 of the Indenture, this Security may be transferred, in whole but not in part, only to another nominee of the Depositary or to a successor
Depositary or to a nominee of such successor Depositary.”

 
(b)                                  Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 2.05, the Global Security of a series may be transferred, in whole but not in part and in the manner

provided in Section 2.05, only to another nominee of the Depositary for such series, or to a successor Depositary for such series selected or approved by the Company or to a
nominee of such successor Depositary.
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(c)                                  If at any time the Depositary for a series of the Securities notifies the Company that it is unwilling or unable to continue as Depositary for such

series or if at any time the Depositary for such series shall no longer be registered or in good standing under the Exchange Act, or other applicable statute or regulation, and a
successor Depositary for such series is not appointed by the Company within 90 days after the Company receives such notice or becomes aware of such condition, as the case
may be, or if an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing and the Company has received a request from the Depositary or from the Trustee, this Section 2.11 shall no
longer be applicable to the Securities of such series and the Company will execute, and subject to Section 2.04, the Trustee will authenticate and deliver the Securities of such
series in definitive registered form without coupons, in authorized denominations, and in an aggregate principal amount equal to the principal amount of the Global Security of
such series in exchange for such Global Security.  In addition, the Company may at any time determine that the Securities of any series shall no longer be represented by a
Global Security and that the provisions of this Section 2.11 shall no longer apply to the Securities of such series.  In such event the Company will execute and, subject to
Section 2.04, the Trustee, upon receipt of an Officer’s Certificate evidencing such determination by the Company, will authenticate and deliver the Securities of such series in
definitive registered form without coupons, in authorized denominations, and in an aggregate principal amount equal to the principal amount of the Global Security of such
series in exchange for such Global Security.  Upon the exchange of the Global Security for such Securities in definitive registered form without coupons, in authorized
denominations, the Global Security shall be canceled by the Trustee.  Such Securities in definitive registered form issued in exchange for the Global Security pursuant to this
Section 2.11(c) shall be registered in such names and in such authorized denominations as the Depositary, pursuant to instructions from its direct or indirect participants or
otherwise, shall instruct the Trustee.  The Trustee shall deliver such Securities to the Depositary for delivery to the Persons in whose names such Securities are so registered.

 
ARTICLE 3

 
REDEMPTION OF SECURITIES AND SINKING FUND PROVISIONS

 
Section 3.01                            Redemption.
 
The Company may redeem the Securities of any series issued hereunder on and after the dates and in accordance with the terms established for such series pursuant

to Section 2.01 hereof.
 
Section 3.02                            Notice of Redemption.
 

(a)                                  In case the Company shall desire to exercise such right to redeem all or, as the case may be, a portion of the Securities of any series in accordance
with any right the Company reserved for itself to do so pursuant to Section 2.01 hereof, the Company shall, or shall cause the Trustee to, give notice of such redemption to



holders of the Securities of such series to be redeemed by mailing, first class postage prepaid, a notice of such redemption not less than 30 days and not more than 90 days
before the date fixed for redemption of that series to such holders at their last addresses as they shall appear upon the Security Register, unless a shorter period is specified in
the Securities to be redeemed.  Any notice that is mailed in the manner herein
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provided shall be conclusively presumed to have been duly given, whether or not the registered holder receives the notice.  In any case, failure duly to give such notice to the
holder of any Security of any series designated for redemption in whole or in part, or any defect in the notice, shall not affect the validity of the proceedings for the redemption
of any other Securities of such series or any other series.  In the case of any redemption of Securities prior to the expiration of any restriction on such redemption provided in
the terms of such Securities or elsewhere in this Indenture, the Company shall furnish the Trustee with an Officer’s Certificate evidencing compliance with any such
restriction.

 
Each such notice of redemption shall specify the date fixed for redemption and the redemption price at which Securities of that series are to be redeemed, and shall

state that payment of the redemption price of such Securities to be redeemed will be made at the office or agency of the Company, upon presentation and surrender of such
Securities, that interest accrued to the date fixed for redemption will be paid as specified in said notice, that from and after said date interest will cease to accrue and that the
redemption is from a sinking fund, if such is the case.  If less than all the Securities of a series are to be redeemed, the notice to the holders of Securities of that series to be
redeemed in part shall specify the particular Securities to be so redeemed.

 
In case any Security is to be redeemed in part only, the notice that relates to such Security shall state the portion of the principal amount thereof to be redeemed, and

shall state that on and after the redemption date, upon surrender of such Security, a new Security or Securities of such series in principal amount equal to the unredeemed
portion thereof will be issued.

 
(b)                                  If less than all the Securities of a series are to be redeemed, the Company shall give the Trustee at least 45 days’ notice (unless a shorter notice

shall be satisfactory to the Trustee) in advance of the date fixed for redemption as to the aggregate principal amount of Securities of the series to be redeemed, and thereupon
the Trustee shall select, by lot or in such other manner as it shall deem appropriate and fair in its discretion and that may provide for the selection of a portion or portions
(equal to one thousand U.S. dollars ($1,000) or any integral multiple thereof) of the principal amount of such Securities of a denomination larger than $1,000, the Securities to
be redeemed and shall thereafter promptly notify the Company in writing of the numbers of the Securities to be redeemed, in whole or in part.  The Company may, if and
whenever it shall so elect, by delivery of instructions signed on its behalf by an Officer, instruct the Trustee or any paying agent to call all or any part of the Securities of a
particular series for redemption and to give notice of redemption in the manner set forth in this Section, such notice to be in the name of the Company or its own name as the
Trustee or such paying agent may deem advisable.  In any case in which notice of redemption is to be given by the Trustee or any such paying agent, the Company shall
deliver or cause to be delivered to, or permit to remain with, the Trustee or such paying agent, as the case may be, such Security Register, transfer books or other records, or
suitable copies or extracts therefrom, sufficient to enable the Trustee or such paying agent to give any notice by mail that may be required under the provisions of this Section.

 
Section 3.03                            Payment Upon Redemption.
 

(a)                                  If the giving of notice of redemption shall have been completed as above provided, the Securities or portions of Securities of the series to be
redeemed specified in such
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notice shall become due and payable on the date and at the place stated in such notice at the applicable redemption price, together with interest accrued to the date fixed for
redemption and interest on such Securities or portions of Securities shall cease to accrue on and after the date fixed for redemption, unless the Company shall default in the
payment of such redemption price and accrued interest with respect to any such Security or portion thereof.  On presentation and surrender of such Securities on or after the
date fixed for redemption at the place of payment specified in the notice, said Securities shall be paid and redeemed at the applicable redemption price for such series, together
with interest accrued thereon to the date fixed for redemption (but if the date fixed for redemption is an interest payment date, the interest installment payable on such date
shall be payable to the registered holder at the close of business on the applicable record date pursuant to Section 2.03).

 
(b)                                  Upon presentation of any Security of such series that is to be redeemed in part only, the Company shall execute and the Trustee shall authenticate

and the office or agency where the Security is presented shall deliver to the holder thereof, at the expense of the Company, a new Security of the same series of authorized
denominations in principal amount equal to the unredeemed portion of the Security so presented.

 
Section 3.04                            Sinking Fund.
 
The provisions of Sections 3.04, 3.05 and 3.06 shall be applicable to any sinking fund for the retirement of Securities of a series, except as otherwise specified as

contemplated by Section 2.01 for Securities of such series.
 
The minimum amount of any sinking fund payment provided for by the terms of Securities of any series is herein referred to as a “mandatory sinking fund payment,”

and any payment in excess of such minimum amount provided for by the terms of Securities of any series is herein referred to as an “optional sinking fund payment”.  If
provided for by the terms of Securities of any series, the cash amount of any sinking fund payment may be subject to reduction as provided in Section 3.05.  Each sinking fund
payment shall be applied to the redemption of Securities of any series as provided for by the terms of Securities of such series.

 
Section 3.05                            Satisfaction of Sinking Fund Payments with Securities.
 
The Company (i) may deliver Outstanding Securities of a series and (ii) may apply as a credit Securities of a series that have been redeemed either at the election of

the Company pursuant to the terms of such Securities or through the application of permitted optional sinking fund payments pursuant to the terms of such Securities, in each
case in satisfaction of all or any part of any sinking fund payment with respect to the Securities of such series required to be made pursuant to the terms of such Securities as
provided for by the terms of such series, provided that such Securities have not been previously so credited.  Such Securities shall be received and credited for such purpose by
the Trustee at the redemption price specified in such Securities for redemption through operation of the sinking fund and the amount of such sinking fund payment shall be
reduced accordingly.

 
16

 
Section 3.06                            Redemption of Securities for Sinking Fund.
 
Not less than 45 days prior to each sinking fund payment date for any series of Securities (unless a shorter period shall be satisfactory to the Trustee), the Company

will deliver to the Trustee an Officer’s Certificate specifying the amount of the next ensuing sinking fund payment for that series pursuant to the terms of the series, the
portion thereof, if any, that is to be satisfied by delivering and crediting Securities of that series pursuant to Section 3.05 and the basis for such credit and will, together with



such Officer’s Certificate, deliver to the Trustee any Securities to be so delivered.  Not less than 30 days before each such sinking fund payment date the Trustee shall select
the Securities to be redeemed upon such sinking fund payment date in the manner specified in Section 3.02 and cause notice of the redemption thereof to be given in the name
of and at the expense of the Company in the manner provided in Section 3.02.  Such notice having been duly given, the redemption of such Securities shall be made upon the
terms and in the manner stated in Section 3.03.

 
ARTICLE 4

 
COVENANTS

 
Section 4.01                            Payment of Principal, Premium and Interest.
 
The Company will duly and punctually pay or cause to be paid the principal of (and premium, if any) and interest on the Securities of that series at the time and place

and in the manner provided herein and established with respect to such Securities.  Payments of principal on the Securities may be made at the time provided herein and
established with respect to such Securities by U.S. dollar check drawn on and mailed to the address of the Securityholder entitled thereto as such address shall appear in the
Security Register, or U.S. dollar wire transfer to, a U.S. dollar account (such wire transfer to be made only to a Securityholder of an aggregate principal amount of Securities
of the applicable series in excess of U.S. $2,000,000 and only if such Securityholder shall have furnished wire instructions to the Trustee no later than 15 days prior to the
relevant payment date).  Payments of interest on the Securities may be made at the time provided herein and established with respect to such Securities by U.S. dollar check
mailed to the address of the Securityholder entitled thereto as such address shall appear in the Security Register, or U.S. dollar wire transfer to, a U.S. dollar account (such a
wire transfer to be made only to a Securityholder of an aggregate principal amount of Securities of the applicable series in excess of U.S. $2,000,000 and only if such
Securityholder shall have furnished wire instructions in writing to the Security Registrar and the Trustee no later than 15 days prior to the relevant payment date.

 
Section 4.02                            Maintenance of Office or Agency.
 
So long as any series of the Securities remain Outstanding, the Company agrees to maintain an office or agency with respect to each such series and at such other

location or locations as may be designated as provided in this Section 4.02, where (i) Securities of that series may be presented for payment, (ii) Securities of that series may
be presented as herein above authorized for registration of transfer and exchange, and (iii) notices and demands to or upon the Company in respect of the Securities of that
series and this Indenture may be given or served,
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such designation to continue with respect to such office or agency until the Company shall, by written notice signed by any officer authorized to sign an Officer’s Certificate
and delivered to the Trustee, designate some other office or agency for such purposes or any of them.  If at any time the Company shall fail to maintain any such required
office or agency or shall fail to furnish the Trustee with the address thereof, such presentations, notices and demands may be made or served at the Corporate Trust Office of
the Trustee, and the Company hereby appoints the Trustee as its agent to receive all such presentations, notices and demands.  The Company initially appoints the Corporate
Trust Office of the Trustee as its paying agent with respect to the Securities.

 
Section 4.03                            Paying Agents.
 

(a)                                  If the Company shall appoint one or more paying agents for all or any series of the Securities, other than the Trustee, the Company will cause each
such paying agent to execute and deliver to the Trustee an instrument in which such agent shall agree with the Trustee, subject to the provisions of this Section:

 
(1)                                 that it will hold all sums held by it as such agent for the payment of the principal of (and premium, if any) or interest on the Securities of

that series (whether such sums have been paid to it by the Company or by any other obligor of such Securities) in trust for the benefit of the Persons entitled thereto;
 
(2)                                 that it will give the Trustee notice of any failure by the Company (or by any other obligor of such Securities) to make any payment of the

principal of (and premium, if any) or interest on the Securities of that series when the same shall be due and payable;
 
(3)                                 that it will, at any time during the continuance of any failure referred to in the preceding paragraph (a)(2) above, upon the written request

of the Trustee, forthwith pay to the Trustee all sums so held in trust by such paying agent; and
 
(4)                                 that it will perform all other duties of paying agent as set forth in this Indenture.
 

(b)                                  If the Company shall act as its own paying agent with respect to any series of the Securities, it will on or before each due date of the principal of
(and premium, if any) or interest on Securities of that series, set aside, segregate and hold in trust for the benefit of the Persons entitled thereto a sum sufficient to pay such
principal (and premium, if any) or interest so becoming due on Securities of that series until such sums shall be paid to such Persons or otherwise disposed of as herein
provided and will promptly notify the Trustee of such action, or any failure (by it or any other obligor on such Securities) to take such action.  Whenever the Company shall
have one or more paying agents for any series of Securities, it will, prior to each due date of the principal of (and premium, if any) or interest on any Securities of that series,
deposit with the paying agent a sum sufficient to pay the principal (and premium, if any) or interest so becoming due, such sum to be held in trust for the benefit of the Persons
entitled to such principal, premium or interest, and (unless such paying agent is the Trustee) the Company will promptly notify the Trustee of this action or failure so to act.
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(c)                                  Notwithstanding anything in this Section to the contrary, (i) the agreement to hold sums in trust as provided in this Section is subject to the

provisions of Section 11.05, and (ii) the Company may at any time, for the purpose of obtaining the satisfaction and discharge of this Indenture or for any other purpose, pay,
or direct any paying agent to pay, to the Trustee all sums held in trust by the Company or such paying agent, such sums to be held by the Trustee upon the same terms and
conditions as those upon which such sums were held by the Company or such paying agent; and, upon such payment by the Company or any paying agent to the Trustee, the
Company or such paying agent shall be released from all further liability with respect to such money.

 
Section 4.04                            Appointment to Fill Vacancy in Office of Trustee.
 
The Company, whenever necessary to avoid or fill a vacancy in the office of Trustee, will appoint, in the manner provided in Section 7.10, a Trustee, so that there

shall at all times be a Trustee hereunder.
 
Section 4.05                            Compliance with Consolidation Provisions.
 
The Company will not, while any of the Securities remain Outstanding, consolidate with or merge into any other Person, in either case where the Company is not the

survivor of such transaction, or sell or convey all or substantially all of its property to any other Person unless the provisions of Article Ten hereof are complied with.
 

ARTICLE 5
 



SECURITYHOLDERS’ LISTS AND REPORTS BY THE COMPANY AND THE TRUSTEE
 

Section 5.01                            Company to Furnish Trustee Names and Addresses of Securityholders.
 
The Company will furnish or cause to be furnished to the Trustee (a) within 15 days after each regular record date (as defined in Section 2.03) a list, in such form as

the Trustee may reasonably require, of the names and addresses of the holders of each series of Securities as of such regular record date, provided that the Company shall not
be obligated to furnish or cause to furnish such list at any time that the list shall not differ in any respect from the most recent list furnished to the Trustee by the Company and
(b) at such other times as the Trustee may request in writing within 30 days after the receipt by the Company of any such request, a list of similar form and content as of a date
not more than 15 days prior to the time such list is furnished; provided, however, that, in either case, no such list need be furnished for any series for which the Trustee shall
be the Security Registrar.

 
Section 5.02                            Preservation Of Information; Communications With Securityholders.
 

(a)                                  The Trustee shall preserve, in as current a form as is reasonably practicable, all information as to the names and addresses of the holders of
Securities contained in the most recent list furnished to it as provided in Section 5.01 and as to the names and
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addresses of holders of Securities received by the Trustee in its capacity as Security Registrar (if acting in such capacity).

 
(b)                                  The Trustee may destroy any list furnished to it as provided in Section 5.01 upon receipt of a new list so furnished.
 
(c)                                  Securityholders may communicate as provided in Section 312(b) of the Trust Indenture Act with other Securityholders with respect to their rights

under this Indenture or under the Securities, and, in connection with any such communications, the Trustee shall satisfy its obligations under Section 312(b) of the Trust
Indenture Act in accordance with the provisions of Section 312(b) of the Trust Indenture Act.

 
Section 5.03                            Reports by the Company.
 
The Company covenants and agrees to provide (which delivery may be via electronic mail) to the Trustee, after the Company files the same with the Securities and

Exchange Commission, copies of the annual reports and of the information, documents and other reports (or copies of such portions of any of the foregoing as the Securities
and Exchange Commission may from time to time by rules and regulations prescribe) that the Company files with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to
Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act; provided, however, the Company shall not be required to deliver to the Trustee any materials for which the Company has
sought and received confidential treatment by the Securities and Exchange Commission; and provided further, so long as such filings by the Company are available on the
Securities and Exchange Commission’s Electronic Data Gathering, Analysis and Retrieval System (EDGAR), such filings shall be deemed to have been filed with the Trustee
for purposes of this Section 5.03 without any further action required by the Company.

 
Section 5.04                            Reports by the Trustee.
 

(a)                                  If required by Section 313(a) of the Trust Indenture Act, the Trustee, within sixty (60) days after each May 1, shall transmit by mail, first class
postage prepaid, to the Securityholders, as their names and addresses appear upon the Security Register, a brief report dated as of such May 1, which complies with
Section 313(a) of the Trust Indenture Act.

 
(b)                                  The Trustee shall comply with Section 313(b) and 313(c) of the Trust Indenture Act.
 
(c)                                  A copy of each such report shall, at the time of such transmission to Securityholders, be filed by the Trustee with the Company, with each

securities exchange upon which any Securities are listed (if so listed) and also with the Securities and Exchange Commission.  The Company agrees to notify the Trustee when
any Securities become listed on any securities exchange.
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ARTICLE 6

 
REMEDIES OF THE TRUSTEE AND SECURITYHOLDERS ON EVENT OF DEFAULT

 
Section 6.01                            Events of Default.
 

(a)                                  Whenever used herein with respect to Securities of a particular series, “Event of Default” means any one or more of the following events that has
occurred and is continuing:

 
(1)                                 the Company defaults in the payment of any installment of interest upon any of the Securities of that series, as and when the same shall

become due and payable, and such default continues for a period of 90 days; provided, however, that a valid extension of an interest payment period by the Company in
accordance with the terms of any indenture supplemental hereto shall not constitute a default in the payment of interest for this purpose;

 
(2)                                 the Company defaults in the payment of the principal of (or premium, if any, on) any of the Securities of that series as and when the same

shall become due and payable whether at maturity, upon redemption, by declaration or otherwise, or in any payment required by any sinking or analogous fund established
with respect to that series; provided, however, that a valid extension of the maturity of such Securities in accordance with the terms of any indenture supplemental hereto shall
not constitute a default in the payment of principal or premium, if any;

 
(3)                                 the Company fails to observe or perform any other of its covenants or agreements with respect to that series contained in this Indenture or

otherwise established with respect to that series of Securities pursuant to Section 2.01 hereof (other than a covenant or agreement that has been expressly included in this
Indenture solely for the benefit of one or more series of Securities other than such series) for a period of 90 days after the date on which written notice of such failure,
requiring the same to be remedied and stating that such notice is a “Notice of Default” hereunder, shall have been given to the Company by the Trustee, by registered or
certified mail, or to the Company and the Trustee by the holders of at least 25% in principal amount of the Securities of that series at the time Outstanding;

 
(4)                                 the Company pursuant to or within the meaning of any Bankruptcy Law (i) commences a voluntary case, (ii) consents to the entry of an

order for relief against it in an involuntary case, (iii) consents to the appointment of a Custodian of it or for all or substantially all of its property or (iv) makes a general
assignment for the benefit of its creditors; or

 
(5)                                 a court of competent jurisdiction enters an order under any Bankruptcy Law that (i) is for relief against the Company in an involuntary

case, (ii) appoints a Custodian of the Company for all or substantially all of its property or (iii) orders the liquidation of the Company, and the order or decree remains



unstayed and in effect for 90 days.
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(b)                                  In each and every such case (other than an Event of Default specified in clause (4) or clause (5) above), unless the principal of all the Securities of

that series shall have already become due and payable, either the Trustee or the holders of not less than 25% in aggregate principal amount of the Securities of that series then
Outstanding hereunder, by notice in writing to the Company (and to the Trustee if given by such Securityholders), may declare the principal of (and premium, if any, on) and
accrued and unpaid interest on all the Securities of that series to be due and payable immediately, and upon any such declaration the same shall become and shall be
immediately due and payable.  If an Event of Default specified in clause (4) or clause (5) above occurs, the principal of and accrued and unpaid interest on all the Securities of
that series shall automatically be immediately due and payable without any declaration or other act on the part of the Trustee or the holders of the Securities.

 
(c)                                  At any time after the principal of (and premium, if any, on) and accrued and unpaid interest on the Securities of that series shall have been so

declared due and payable, and before any judgment or decree for the payment of the moneys due shall have been obtained or entered as hereinafter provided, the holders of a
majority in aggregate principal amount of the Securities of that series then Outstanding hereunder, by written notice to the Company and the Trustee, may rescind and annul
such declaration and its consequences if: (i) the Company has paid or deposited with the Trustee a sum sufficient to pay all matured installments of interest upon all the
Securities of that series and the principal of (and premium, if any, on) any and all Securities of that series that shall have become due otherwise than by acceleration (with
interest upon such principal and premium, if any, and, to the extent that such payment is enforceable under applicable law, upon overdue installments of interest, at the rate per
annum expressed in the Securities of that series to the date of such payment or deposit) and the amount payable to the Trustee under Section 7.06, and (ii) any and all Events of
Default under the Indenture with respect to such series, other than the nonpayment of principal on (and premium, if any, on) and accrued and unpaid interest on Securities of
that series that shall not have become due by their terms, shall have been remedied or waived as provided in Section 6.06.

 
No such rescission and annulment shall extend to or shall affect any subsequent default or impair any right consequent thereon.
 

(d)                                  In case the Trustee shall have proceeded to enforce any right with respect to Securities of that series under this Indenture and such proceedings
shall have been discontinued or abandoned because of such rescission or annulment or for any other reason or shall have been determined adversely to the Trustee, then and in
every such case, subject to any determination in such proceedings, the Company and the Trustee shall be restored respectively to their former positions and rights hereunder,
and all rights, remedies and powers of the Company and the Trustee shall continue as though no such proceedings had been taken.

 
Section 6.02                            Collection of Indebtedness and Suits for Enforcement by Trustee.
 

(a)                                  The Company covenants that (i) in case it shall default in the payment of any installment of interest on any of the Securities of a series, or in any
payment required by any sinking or analogous fund established with respect to that series as and when the same shall have become due and payable, and such default shall
have continued for a period of 90 days, or (ii) in case it shall default in the payment of the principal of (or premium, if any, on) any of the
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Securities of a series when the same shall have become due and payable, whether upon maturity of the Securities of a series or upon redemption or upon declaration or
otherwise then, upon demand of the Trustee, the Company will pay to the Trustee, for the benefit of the holders of the Securities of that series, the whole amount that then
shall have been become due and payable on all such Securities for principal (and premium, if any) or interest, or both, as the case may be, with interest upon the overdue
principal (and premium, if any) and (to the extent that payment of such interest is enforceable under applicable law) upon overdue installments of interest at the rate per
annum expressed in the Securities of that series; and, in addition thereto, such further amount as shall be sufficient to cover the costs and expenses of collection, and the
amount payable to the Trustee under Section 7.06.

 
(b)                                  If the Company shall fail to pay such amounts forthwith upon such demand, the Trustee, in its own name and as trustee of an express trust, shall

be entitled and empowered to institute any action or proceedings at law or in equity for the collection of the sums so due and unpaid, and may prosecute any such action or
proceeding to judgment or final decree, and may enforce any such judgment or final decree against the Company or other obligor upon the Securities of that series and collect
the moneys adjudged or decreed to be payable in the manner provided by law or equity out of the property of the Company or other obligor upon the Securities of that series,
wherever situated.

 
(c)                                  In case of any receivership, insolvency, liquidation, bankruptcy, reorganization, readjustment, arrangement, composition or judicial proceedings

affecting the Company, or its creditors or property, the Trustee shall have power to intervene in such proceedings and take any action therein that may be permitted by the
court and shall (except as may be otherwise provided by law) be entitled to file such proofs of claim and other papers and documents as may be necessary or advisable in
order to have the claims of the Trustee and of the holders of Securities of such series allowed for the entire amount due and payable by the Company under the Indenture at the
date of institution of such proceedings and for any additional amount that may become due and payable by the Company after such date, and to collect and receive any
moneys or other property payable or deliverable on any such claim, and to distribute the same after the deduction of the amount payable to the Trustee under Section 7.06; and
any receiver, assignee or trustee in bankruptcy or reorganization is hereby authorized by each of the holders of Securities of such series to make such payments to the Trustee,
and, in the event that the Trustee shall consent to the making of such payments directly to such Securityholders, to pay to the Trustee any amount due it under Section 7.06.

 
(d)                                  All rights of action and of asserting claims under this Indenture, or under any of the terms established with respect to Securities of that series, may

be enforced by the Trustee without the possession of any of such Securities, or the production thereof at any trial or other proceeding relative thereto, and any such suit or
proceeding instituted by the Trustee shall be brought in its own name as trustee of an express trust, and any recovery of judgment shall, after provision for payment to the
Trustee of any amounts due under Section 7.06, be for the ratable benefit of the holders of the Securities of such series.

 
In case of an Event of Default hereunder, the Trustee may in its discretion proceed to protect and enforce the rights vested in it by this Indenture by such appropriate

judicial proceedings as the Trustee shall deem most effectual to protect and enforce any of such rights,
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either at law or in equity or in bankruptcy or otherwise, whether for the specific enforcement of any covenant or agreement contained in the Indenture or in aid of the exercise
of any power granted in this Indenture, or to enforce any other legal or equitable right vested in the Trustee by this Indenture or by law.

 
Nothing contained herein shall be deemed to authorize the Trustee to authorize or consent to or accept or adopt on behalf of any Securityholder any plan of

reorganization, arrangement, adjustment or composition affecting the Securities of that series or the rights of any holder thereof or to authorize the Trustee to vote in respect of
the claim of any Securityholder in any such proceeding.

 
Section 6.03                            Application of Moneys Collected.
 



Any moneys collected by the Trustee pursuant to this Article with respect to a particular series of Securities shall be applied in the following order, at the date or
dates fixed by the Trustee and, in case of the distribution of such moneys on account of principal (or premium, if any) or interest, upon presentation of the Securities of that
series, and notation thereon of the payment, if only partially paid, and upon surrender thereof if fully paid:

 
FIRST: To the payment of all indebtedness of the Company to which such series of Securities is subordinated to the extent required by Section 7.06 and

Article Fourteen;
 
SECOND: To the payment of the amounts then due and unpaid upon Securities of such series for principal (and premium, if any) and interest, in respect of which or

for the benefit of which such money has been collected, ratably, without preference or priority of any kind, according to the amounts due and payable on such Securities for
principal (and premium, if any) and interest, respectively; and

 
THIRD: To the payment of the remainder, if any, to the Company or any other Person lawfully entitled thereto.
 
Section 6.04                            Limitation on Suits.
 
No holder of any Security of any series shall have any right by virtue or by availing of any provision of this Indenture to institute any suit, action or proceeding in

equity or at law upon or under or with respect to this Indenture or for the appointment of a receiver or trustee, or for any other remedy hereunder, unless (i) such holder
previously shall have given to the Trustee written notice of an Event of Default and of the continuance thereof with respect to the Securities of such series specifying such
Event of Default, as hereinbefore provided; (ii) the holders of not less than 25% in aggregate principal amount of the Securities of such series then Outstanding shall have
made written request upon the Trustee to institute such action, suit or proceeding in its own name as Trustee hereunder; (iii) such holder or holders shall have offered to the
Trustee such reasonable indemnity as it may require against the costs, expenses and liabilities to be incurred therein or thereby; (iv) the Trustee for 90 days after its receipt of
such notice, request and offer of indemnity, shall have failed to institute any such action, suit or proceeding and (v) during such 90 day period, the holders of a majority in
principal amount of the Securities of that series do not give the Trustee a direction inconsistent with the request.
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Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary or any other provisions of this Indenture, the right of any holder of any Security to receive payment of the

principal of (and premium, if any) and interest on such Security, as therein provided, on or after the respective due dates expressed in such Security (or in the case of
redemption, on the redemption date), or to institute suit for the enforcement of any such payment on or after such respective dates or redemption date, shall not be impaired or
affected without the consent of such holder and by accepting a Security hereunder it is expressly understood, intended and covenanted by the taker and holder of every
Security of such series with every other such taker and holder and the Trustee, that no one or more holders of Securities of such series shall have any right in any manner
whatsoever by virtue or by availing of any provision of this Indenture to affect, disturb or prejudice the rights of the holders of any other of such Securities, or to obtain or
seek to obtain priority over or preference to any other such holder, or to enforce any right under this Indenture, except in the manner herein provided and for the equal, ratable
and common benefit of all holders of Securities of such series.  For the protection and enforcement of the provisions of this Section, each and every Securityholder and the
Trustee shall be entitled to such relief as can be given either at law or in equity.

 
Section 6.05                            Rights and Remedies Cumulative; Delay or Omission Not Waiver.
 

(a)                                  Except as otherwise provided in Section 2.07, all powers and remedies given by this Article to the Trustee or to the Securityholders shall, to the
extent permitted by law, be deemed cumulative and not exclusive of any other powers and remedies available to the Trustee or the holders of the Securities, by judicial
proceedings or otherwise, to enforce the performance or observance of the covenants and agreements contained in this Indenture or otherwise established with respect to such
Securities.

 
(b)                                  No delay or omission of the Trustee or of any holder of any of the Securities to exercise any right or power accruing upon any Event of Default

occurring and continuing as aforesaid shall impair any such right or power, or shall be construed to be a waiver of any such default or an acquiescence therein; and, subject to
the provisions of Section 6.04, every power and remedy given by this Article or by law to the Trustee or the Securityholders may be exercised from time to time, and as often
as shall be deemed expedient, by the Trustee or by the Securityholders.

 
Section 6.06                            Control by Securityholders.
 
The holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Securities of any series at the time Outstanding, determined in accordance with Section 8.04, shall

have the right to direct the time, method and place of conducting any proceeding for any remedy available to the Trustee, or exercising any trust or power conferred on the
Trustee with respect to such series; provided, however, that such direction shall not be in conflict with any rule of law or with this Indenture.  Subject to the provisions of
Section 7.01, the Trustee shall have the right to decline to follow any such direction if the Trustee in good faith shall, by a Responsible Officer or officers of the Trustee,
determine that the proceeding so directed, subject to the Trustee’s duties under the Trust Indenture Act, would involve the Trustee in personal liability or might be unduly
prejudicial to the Securityholders not involved in the proceeding.  The holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Securities of any series at the time
Outstanding affected thereby,
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determined in accordance with Section 8.04, may on behalf of the holders of all of the Securities of such series waive any past default in the performance of any of the
covenants contained herein or established pursuant to Section 2.01 with respect to such series and its consequences, except a default in the payment of the principal of, or
premium, if any, or interest on, any of the Securities of that series as and when the same shall become due by the terms of such Securities otherwise than by acceleration
(unless such default has been cured and a sum sufficient to pay all matured installments of interest and principal and any premium has been deposited with the Trustee (in
accordance with Section 6.01(c)).  Upon any such waiver, the default covered thereby shall be deemed to be cured for all purposes of this Indenture and the Company, the
Trustee and the holders of the Securities of such series shall be restored to their former positions and rights hereunder, respectively; but no such waiver shall extend to any
subsequent or other default or impair any right consequent thereon.

 
Section 6.07                            Undertaking to Pay Costs.
 
All parties to this Indenture agree, and each holder of any Securities by such holder’s acceptance thereof shall be deemed to have agreed, that any court may in its

discretion require, in any suit for the enforcement of any right or remedy under this Indenture, or in any suit against the Trustee for any action taken or omitted by it as Trustee,
the filing by any party litigant in such suit of an undertaking to pay the costs of such suit, and that such court may in its discretion assess reasonable costs, including reasonable
attorneys’ fees, against any party litigant in such suit, having due regard to the merits and good faith of the claims or defenses made by such party litigant; but the provisions of
this Section shall not apply to any suit instituted by the Trustee, to any suit instituted by any Securityholder, or group of Securityholders, holding more than 10% in aggregate
principal amount of the Outstanding Securities of any series, or to any suit instituted by any Securityholder for the enforcement of the payment of the principal of (or premium,
if any) or interest on any Security of such series, on or after the respective due dates expressed in such Security or established pursuant to this Indenture.

 
ARTICLE 7

 



CONCERNING THE TRUSTEE
 

Section 7.01                            Certain Duties and Responsibilities of Trustee.
 

(a)                                  The Trustee, prior to the occurrence of an Event of Default with respect to the Securities of a series and after the curing of all Events of Default
with respect to the Securities of that series that may have occurred, shall undertake to perform with respect to the Securities of such series such duties and only such duties as
are specifically set forth in this Indenture, and no implied covenants shall be read into this Indenture against the Trustee.  In case an Event of Default with respect to the
Securities of a series has occurred (that has not been cured or waived), the Trustee shall exercise with respect to Securities of that series such of the rights and powers vested
in it by this Indenture, and use the same degree of care and skill in their exercise, as a prudent man would exercise or use under the circumstances in the conduct of his own
affairs.
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(b)                                  No provision of this Indenture shall be construed to relieve the Trustee from liability for its own negligent action, its own negligent failure to act,

or its own willful misconduct, except that:
 
(i)                                    prior to the occurrence of an Event of Default with respect to the Securities of a series and after the curing or waiving of all such Events of Default

with respect to that series that may have occurred:
 

(A)                               the duties and obligations of the Trustee shall with respect to the Securities of such series be determined solely by the express provisions
of this Indenture, and the Trustee shall not be liable with respect to the Securities of such series except for the performance of such duties and obligations as are specifically set
forth in this Indenture, and no implied covenants or obligations shall be read into this Indenture against the Trustee; and

 
(B)                               in the absence of bad faith on the part of the Trustee, the Trustee may with respect to the Securities of such series conclusively rely, as to

the truth of the statements and the correctness of the opinions expressed therein, upon any certificates or opinions furnished to the Trustee and conforming to the requirements
of this Indenture; but in the case of any such certificates or opinions that by any provision hereof are specifically required to be furnished to the Trustee, the Trustee shall be
under a duty to examine the same to determine whether or not they conform to the requirements of this Indenture;

 
(ii)                                the Trustee shall not be liable for any error of judgment made in good faith by a Responsible Officer or Responsible Officers of the Trustee, unless

it shall be proved that the Trustee was negligent in ascertaining the pertinent facts;
 
(iii)                            the Trustee shall not be liable with respect to any action taken or omitted to be taken by it in good faith in accordance with the direction of the

holders of not less than a majority in principal amount of the Securities of any series at the time Outstanding relating to the time, method and place of conducting any
proceeding for any remedy available to the Trustee, or exercising any trust or power conferred upon the Trustee under this Indenture with respect to the Securities of that
series; and

 
(iv)                               None of the provisions contained in this Indenture shall require the Trustee to expend or risk its own funds or otherwise incur personal financial

liability in the performance of any of its duties or in the exercise of any of its rights or powers if there is reasonable ground for believing that the repayment of such funds or
liability is not reasonably assured to it under the terms of this Indenture or adequate indemnity against such risk is not reasonably assured to it.

 
Section 7.02                            Certain Rights of Trustee.
 
Except as otherwise provided in Section 7.01:
 

(a)                                  The Trustee may rely and shall be protected in acting or refraining from acting upon any resolution, certificate, statement, instrument, opinion,
report, notice, request, consent, order, approval, bond, security or other paper or document believed by it to be genuine and to have been signed or presented by the proper
party or parties;
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(b)                                  Any request, direction, order or demand of the Company mentioned herein shall be sufficiently evidenced by a Board Resolution or an instrument

signed in the name of the Company by any authorized officer of the Company (unless other evidence in respect thereof is specifically prescribed herein);
 
(c)                                  The Trustee may consult with counsel and the written advice of such counsel or, if requested, any Opinion of Counsel shall be full and complete

authorization and protection in respect of any action taken or suffered or omitted hereunder in good faith and in reliance thereon;
 
(d)                                  The Trustee shall be under no obligation to exercise any of the rights or powers vested in it by this Indenture at the request, order or direction of

any of the Securityholders pursuant to the provisions of this Indenture, unless such Securityholders shall have offered to the Trustee reasonable security or indemnity against
the costs, expenses and liabilities that may be incurred therein or thereby; nothing contained herein shall, however, relieve the Trustee of the obligation, upon the occurrence
of an Event of Default with respect to a series of the Securities (that has not been cured or waived), to exercise with respect to Securities of that series such of the rights and
powers vested in it by this Indenture, and to use the same degree of care and skill in their exercise, as a prudent man would exercise or use under the circumstances in the
conduct of his own affairs;

 
(e)                                  The Trustee shall not be liable for any action taken or omitted to be taken by it in good faith and believed by it to be authorized or within the

discretion or rights or powers conferred upon it by this Indenture;
 
(f)                                    The Trustee shall not be bound to make any investigation into the facts or matters stated in any resolution, certificate, statement, instrument,

opinion, report, notice, request, consent, order, approval, bond, security, or other papers or documents, unless requested in writing so to do by the holders of not less than a
majority in principal amount of the Outstanding Securities of the particular series affected thereby (determined as provided in Section 8.04); provided, however, that if the
payment within a reasonable time to the Trustee of the costs, expenses or liabilities likely to be incurred by it in the making of such investigation is, in the opinion of the
Trustee, not reasonably assured to the Trustee by the security afforded to it by the terms of this Indenture, the Trustee may require reasonable indemnity against such costs,
expenses or liabilities as a condition to so proceeding.  The reasonable expense of every such examination shall be paid by the Company or, if paid by the Trustee, shall be
repaid by the Company upon demand; and

 
(g)                                 The Trustee may execute any of the trusts or powers hereunder or perform any duties hereunder either directly or by or through agents or attorneys

and the Trustee shall not be responsible for any misconduct or negligence on the part of any agent or attorney appointed with due care by it hereunder.
 

In addition, the Trustee shall not be deemed to have knowledge of any Default or Event of Default except (1) any Event of Default occurring pursuant to Sections
6.01(a)(1) and 6.01(a)(2) or (2) any Default or Event of Default of which the Trustee shall have received written notification in the manner set forth in this Indenture or a
Responsible Officer of the Trustee shall
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have obtained actual knowledge.  Delivery of reports, information and documents to the Trustee under Section 5.03 is for informational purposes only and the information and
the Trustee’s receipt of the foregoing shall not constitute constructive notice of any information contained therein, or determinable from information contained therein
including the Company’s compliance with any of their covenants thereunder (as to which the Trustee is entitled to rely exclusively on an Officer’s Certificate).

 
Section 7.03                            Trustee Not Responsible for Recitals or Issuance or Securities.
 

(a)                                  The recitals contained herein and in the Securities shall be taken as the statements of the Company, and the Trustee assumes no responsibility for
the correctness of the same.

 
(b)                                  The Trustee makes no representations as to the validity or sufficiency of this Indenture or of the Securities.
 
(c)                                  The Trustee shall not be accountable for the use or application by the Company of any of the Securities or of the proceeds of such Securities, or for

the use or application of any moneys paid over by the Trustee in accordance with any provision of this Indenture or established pursuant to Section 2.01, or for the use or
application of any moneys received by any paying agent other than the Trustee.

 
Section 7.04                            May Hold Securities.
 
The Trustee or any paying agent or Security Registrar, in its individual or any other capacity, may become the owner or pledgee of Securities with the same rights it

would have if it were not Trustee, paying agent or Security Registrar.
 
Section 7.05                            Moneys Held in Trust.
 
Subject to the provisions of Section 11.05, all moneys received by the Trustee shall, until used or applied as herein provided, be held in trust for the purposes for

which they were received, but need not be segregated from other funds except to the extent required by law.  The Trustee shall be under no liability for interest on any
moneys received by it hereunder except such as it may agree with the Company to pay thereon.

 
Section 7.06                            Compensation and Reimbursement.
 

(a)                                  The Company covenants and agrees to pay to the Trustee, and the Trustee shall be entitled to, such reasonable compensation (which shall not be
limited by any provision of law in regard to the compensation of a trustee of an express trust) as the Company and the Trustee may from time to time agree in writing, for all
services rendered by it in the execution of the trusts hereby created and in the exercise and performance of any of the powers and duties hereunder of the Trustee, and, except
as otherwise expressly provided herein, the Company will pay or reimburse the Trustee upon its request for all reasonable expenses, disbursements and advances incurred or
made by the Trustee in accordance with any of the provisions of this Indenture (including the reasonable compensation and the expenses and disbursements of its
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counsel and of all Persons not regularly in its employ), except any such expense, disbursement or advance as may arise from its negligence or bad faith and except as the
Company and Trustee may from time to time agree in writing.  The Company also covenants to indemnify the Trustee (and its officers, agents, directors and employees) for,
and to hold it harmless against, any loss, liability or expense incurred without negligence or bad faith on the part of the Trustee and arising out of or in connection with the
acceptance or administration of this trust, including the reasonable costs and expenses of defending itself against any claim of liability in the premises.

 
(b)                                  The obligations of the Company under this Section to compensate and indemnify the Trustee and to pay or reimburse the Trustee for reasonable

expenses, disbursements and advances shall constitute indebtedness of the Company to which the Securities are subordinated.  Such additional indebtedness shall be secured
by a lien prior to that of the Securities upon all property and funds held or collected by the Trustee as such, except funds held in trust for the benefit of the holders of particular
Securities.

 
Section 7.07                            Reliance on Officer’s Certificate.
 
Except as otherwise provided in Section 7.01, whenever in the administration of the provisions of this Indenture the Trustee shall deem it reasonably necessary or

desirable that a matter be proved or established prior to taking or suffering or omitting to take any action hereunder, such matter (unless other evidence in respect thereof be
herein specifically prescribed) may, in the absence of negligence or bad faith on the part of the Trustee, be deemed to be conclusively proved and established by an Officer’s
Certificate delivered to the Trustee and such certificate, in the absence of negligence or bad faith on the part of the Trustee, shall be full warrant to the Trustee for any action
taken, suffered or omitted to be taken by it under the provisions of this Indenture upon the faith thereof.

 
Section 7.08                            Disqualification; Conflicting Interests.
 
If the Trustee has or shall acquire any “conflicting interest” within the meaning of Section 310(b) of the Trust Indenture Act, the Trustee and the Company shall in all

respects comply with the provisions of Section 310(b) of the Trust Indenture Act.
 
Section 7.09                            Corporate Trustee Required; Eligibility.
 
There shall at all times be a Trustee with respect to the Securities issued hereunder which shall at all times be a corporation organized and doing business under the

laws of the United States of America or any state or territory thereof or of the District of Columbia, or a corporation or other Person permitted to act as trustee by the
Securities and Exchange Commission, authorized under such laws to exercise corporate trust powers, having a combined capital and surplus of at least fifty million U.S.
dollars ($50,000,000), and subject to supervision or examination by federal, state, territorial, or District of Columbia authority.

 
If such corporation or other Person publishes reports of condition at least annually, pursuant to law or to the requirements of the aforesaid supervising or examining

authority, then for the purposes of this Section, the combined capital and surplus of such corporation or other Person shall be deemed to be its combined capital and surplus as
set forth in its most recent
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report of condition so published.  The Company may not, nor may any Person directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by, or under common control with the Company,
serve as Trustee.  In case at any time the Trustee shall cease to be eligible in accordance with the provisions of this Section, the Trustee shall resign immediately in the manner



and with the effect specified in Section 7.10.
 
Section 7.10                            Resignation and Removal; Appointment of Successor.
 

(a)                                  The Trustee or any successor hereafter appointed may at any time resign with respect to the Securities of one or more series by giving written
notice thereof to the Company and by transmitting notice of resignation by mail, first class postage prepaid, to the Securityholders of such series, as their names and addresses
appear upon the Security Register.  Upon receiving such notice of resignation, the Company shall promptly appoint a successor trustee with respect to Securities of such series
by written instrument, in duplicate, executed by order of the Board of Directors, one copy of which instrument shall be delivered to the resigning Trustee and one copy to the
successor trustee.  If no successor trustee shall have been so appointed and have accepted appointment within 30 days after the mailing of such notice of resignation, the
resigning Trustee may petition any court of competent jurisdiction for the appointment of a successor trustee with respect to Securities of such series, or any Securityholder of
that series who has been a bona fide holder of a Security or Securities for at least six months may on behalf of himself and all others similarly situated, petition any such court
for the appointment of a successor trustee.  Such court may thereupon after such notice, if any, as it may deem proper and prescribe, appoint a successor trustee.

 
(b)                                  In case at any time any one of the following shall occur:
 

(i)                                    the Trustee shall fail to comply with the provisions of Section 7.08 after written request therefor by the Company or by any
Securityholder who has been a bona fide holder of a Security or Securities for at least six months; or

 
(ii)                                the Trustee shall cease to be eligible in accordance with the provisions of Section 7.09 and shall fail to resign after written request

therefor by the Company or by any such Securityholder; or
 
(iii)                            the Trustee shall become incapable of acting, or shall be adjudged a bankrupt or insolvent, or commence a voluntary bankruptcy

proceeding, or a receiver of the Trustee or of its property shall be appointed or consented to, or any public officer shall take charge or control of the Trustee or of its property
or affairs for the purpose of rehabilitation, conservation or liquidation;

 
then, in any such case, the Company may remove the Trustee with respect to all Securities and appoint a successor trustee by written instrument, in duplicate,

executed by order of the Board of Directors, one copy of which instrument shall be delivered to the Trustee so removed and one copy to the successor trustee, or any
Securityholder who has been a bona fide holder of a Security or Securities for at least six months may, on behalf of that holder and all others similarly situated, petition any
court of competent jurisdiction for the removal of the Trustee and the
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appointment of a successor trustee.  Such court may thereupon after such notice, if any, as it may deem proper and prescribe, remove the Trustee and appoint a successor
trustee.

 
(c)                                  The holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Securities of any series at the time Outstanding may at any time remove the Trustee

with respect to such series by so notifying the Trustee and the Company and may appoint a successor Trustee for such series with the consent of the Company.
 
(d)                                  Any resignation or removal of the Trustee and appointment of a successor trustee with respect to the Securities of a series pursuant to any of the

provisions of this Section shall become effective upon acceptance of appointment by the successor trustee as provided in Section 7.11.
 
(e)                                  Any successor trustee appointed pursuant to this Section may be appointed with respect to the Securities of one or more series or all of such series,

and at any time there shall be only one Trustee with respect to the Securities of any particular series.
 

Section 7.11                            Acceptance of Appointment By Successor.
 

(a)                                  In case of the appointment hereunder of a successor trustee with respect to all Securities, every such successor trustee so appointed shall execute,
acknowledge and deliver to the Company and to the retiring Trustee an instrument accepting such appointment, and thereupon the resignation or removal of the retiring
Trustee shall become effective and such successor trustee, without any further act, deed or conveyance, shall become vested with all the rights, powers, trusts and duties of the
retiring Trustee; but, on the request of the Company or the successor trustee, such retiring Trustee shall, upon payment of its charges, execute and deliver an instrument
transferring to such successor trustee all the rights, powers, and trusts of the retiring Trustee and shall duly assign, transfer and deliver to such successor trustee all property
and money held by such retiring Trustee hereunder.

 
(b)                                  In case of the appointment hereunder of a successor trustee with respect to the Securities of one or more (but not all) series, the Company, the

retiring Trustee and each successor trustee with respect to the Securities of one or more series shall execute and deliver an indenture supplemental hereto wherein each
successor trustee shall accept such appointment and which (i) shall contain such provisions as shall be necessary or desirable to transfer and confirm to, and to vest in, each
successor trustee all the rights, powers, trusts and duties of the retiring Trustee with respect to the Securities of that or those series to which the appointment of such successor
trustee relates, (ii) shall contain such provisions as shall be deemed necessary or desirable to confirm that all the rights, powers, trusts and duties of the retiring Trustee with
respect to the Securities of that or those series as to which the retiring Trustee is not retiring shall continue to be vested in the retiring Trustee, and (iii) shall add to or change
any of the provisions of this Indenture as shall be necessary to provide for or facilitate the administration of the trusts hereunder by more than one Trustee, it being understood
that nothing herein or in such supplemental indenture shall constitute such Trustees co-trustees of the same trust, that each such Trustee shall be trustee of a trust or trusts
hereunder separate and apart from any trust or trusts hereunder administered by any other such Trustee and that no Trustee shall be responsible for any act or failure to act on
the part of any other Trustee hereunder; and upon the execution and
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delivery of such supplemental indenture the resignation or removal of the retiring Trustee shall become effective to the extent provided therein, such retiring Trustee shall
with respect to the Securities of that or those series to which the appointment of such successor trustee relates have no further responsibility for the exercise of rights and
powers or for the performance of the duties and obligations vested in the Trustee under this Indenture, and each such successor trustee, without any further act, deed or
conveyance, shall become vested with all the rights, powers, trusts and duties of the retiring Trustee with respect to the Securities of that or those series to which the
appointment of such successor trustee relates; but, on request of the Company or any successor trustee, such retiring Trustee shall duly assign, transfer and deliver to such
successor trustee, to the extent contemplated by such supplemental indenture, the property and money held by such retiring Trustee hereunder with respect to the Securities of
that or those series to which the appointment of such successor trustee relates.

 
(c)                                  Upon request of any such successor trustee, the Company shall execute any and all instruments for more fully and certainly vesting in and

confirming to such successor trustee all such rights, powers and trusts referred to in paragraph (a) or (b) of this Section, as the case may be.
 
(d)                                  No successor trustee shall accept its appointment unless at the time of such acceptance such successor trustee shall be qualified and eligible under

this Article.
 



(e)                                  Upon acceptance of appointment by a successor trustee as provided in this Section, the Company shall transmit notice of the succession of such
trustee hereunder by mail, first class postage prepaid, to the Securityholders, as their names and addresses appear upon the Security Register.  If the Company fails to transmit
such notice within ten days after acceptance of appointment by the successor trustee, the successor trustee shall cause such notice to be transmitted at the expense of the
Company.

 
Section 7.12                            Merger, Conversion, Consolidation or Succession to Business.
 
Any corporation into which the Trustee may be merged or converted or with which it may be consolidated, or any corporation resulting from any merger, conversion

or consolidation to which the Trustee shall be a party, or any corporation succeeding to the corporate trust business of the Trustee, including the administration of the trust
created by this Indenture, shall be the successor of the Trustee hereunder, provided that such corporation shall be qualified under the provisions of Section 7.08 and eligible
under the provisions of Section 7.09, without the execution or filing of any paper or any further act on the part of any of the parties hereto, anything herein to the contrary
notwithstanding.  In case any Securities shall have been authenticated, but not delivered, by the Trustee then in office, any successor by merger, conversion or consolidation to
such authenticating Trustee may adopt such authentication and deliver the Securities so authenticated with the same effect as if such successor Trustee had itself authenticated
such Securities.

 
Section 7.13                            Preferential Collection of Claims Against the Company.
 
The Trustee shall comply with Section 311(a) of the Trust Indenture Act, excluding any creditor relationship described in Section 311(b) of the Trust Indenture Act. 

A Trustee who has
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resigned or been removed shall be subject to Section 311(a) of the Trust Indenture Act to the extent included therein.

 
Section 7.14                            Notice of Default
 
If any Default or any Event of Default occurs and is continuing and if such Default or Event of Default is known to a Responsible Officer of the Trustee, the Trustee

shall mail to each Securityholder in the manner and to the extent provided in Section 313(c) of the Trust Indenture Act notice of the Default or Event of Default within the
earlier of 90 days after it occurs and 30 days after it is known to a Responsible Officer of the Trustee or written notice of it is received by the Trustee, unless such Default or
Event of Default has been cured; provided, however, that, except in the case of a default in the payment of the principal of (or premium, if any) or interest on any Security, the
Trustee shall be protected in withholding such notice if and so long as the board of directors, the executive committee or a trust committee of directors and/or Responsible
Officers of the Trustee in good faith determine that the withholding of such notice is in the interest of the Securityholders.

 
ARTICLE 8

 
CONCERNING THE SECURITYHOLDERS

 
Section 8.01                            Evidence of Action by Securityholders.
 
Whenever in this Indenture it is provided that the holders of a majority or specified percentage in aggregate principal amount of the Securities of a particular series

may take any action (including the making of any demand or request, the giving of any notice, consent or waiver or the taking of any other action), the fact that at the time of
taking any such action the holders of such majority or specified percentage of that series have joined therein may be evidenced by any instrument or any number of
instruments of similar tenor executed by such holders of Securities of that series in person or by agent or proxy appointed in writing.

 
If the Company shall solicit from the Securityholders of any series any request, demand, authorization, direction, notice, consent, waiver or other action, the

Company may, at its option, as evidenced by an Officer’s Certificate, fix in advance a record date for such series for the determination of Securityholders entitled to give such
request, demand, authorization, direction, notice, consent, waiver or other action, but the Company shall have no obligation to do so.  If such a record date is fixed, such
request, demand, authorization, direction, notice, consent, waiver or other action may be given before or after the record date, but only the Securityholders of record at the
close of business on the record date shall be deemed to be Securityholders for the purposes of determining whether Securityholders of the requisite proportion of Outstanding
Securities of that series have authorized or agreed or consented to such request, demand, authorization, direction, notice, consent, waiver or other action, and for that purpose
the Outstanding Securities of that series shall be computed as of the record date; provided, however, that no such authorization, agreement or consent by such Securityholders
on the record date shall be deemed effective unless it shall become effective pursuant to the provisions of this Indenture not later than six months after the record date.
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Section 8.02                            Proof of Execution by Securityholders.
 
Subject to the provisions of Section 7.01, proof of the execution of any instrument by a Securityholder (such proof will not require notarization) or his agent or proxy

and proof of the holding by any Person of any of the Securities shall be sufficient if made in the following manner:
 

(a)                                  The fact and date of the execution by any such Person of any instrument may be proved in any reasonable manner acceptable to the Trustee.
 
(b)                                  The ownership of Securities shall be proved by the Security Register of such Securities or by a certificate of the Security Registrar thereof.
 

The Trustee may require such additional proof of any matter referred to in this Section as it shall deem necessary.
 

Section 8.03                            Who May be Deemed Owners.
 
Prior to the due presentment for registration of transfer of any Security, the Company, the Trustee, any paying agent and any Security Registrar may deem and treat

the Person in whose name such Security shall be registered upon the books of the Company as the absolute owner of such Security (whether or not such Security shall be
overdue and notwithstanding any notice of ownership or writing thereon made by anyone other than the Security Registrar) for the purpose of receiving payment of or on
account of the principal of, premium, if any, and (subject to Section 2.03) interest on such Security and for all other purposes; and neither the Company nor the Trustee nor any
paying agent nor any Security Registrar shall be affected by any notice to the contrary.

 
Section 8.04                            Certain Securities Owned by Company Disregarded.
 
In determining whether the holders of the requisite aggregate principal amount of Securities of a particular series have concurred in any direction, consent or waiver

under this Indenture, the Securities of that series that are owned by the Company or any other obligor on the Securities of that series or by any Person directly or indirectly
controlling or controlled by or under common control with the Company or any other obligor on the Securities of that series shall be disregarded and deemed not to be
Outstanding for the purpose of any such determination, except that for the purpose of determining whether the Trustee shall be protected in relying on any such direction,



consent or waiver, only Securities of such series that the Trustee actually knows are so owned shall be so disregarded.  The Securities so owned that have been pledged in
good faith may be regarded as Outstanding for the purposes of this Section, if the pledgee shall establish to the satisfaction of the Trustee the pledgee’s right so to act with
respect to such Securities and that the pledgee is not a Person directly or indirectly controlling or controlled by or under direct or indirect common control with the Company
or any such other obligor.  In case of a dispute as to such right, any decision by the Trustee taken upon the advice of counsel shall be full protection to the Trustee.
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Section 8.05                            Actions Binding on Future Securityholders.
 
At any time prior to (but not after) the evidencing to the Trustee, as provided in Section 8.01, of the taking of any action by the holders of the majority or percentage

in aggregate principal amount of the Securities of a particular series specified in this Indenture in connection with such action, any holder of a Security of that series that is
shown by the evidence to be included in the Securities the holders of which have consented to such action may, by filing written notice with the Trustee, and upon proof of
holding as provided in Section 8.02, revoke such action so far as concerns such Security.  Except as aforesaid any such action taken by the holder of any Security shall be
conclusive and binding upon such holder and upon all future holders and owners of such Security, and of any Security issued in exchange therefor, on registration of transfer
thereof or in place thereof, irrespective of whether or not any notation in regard thereto is made upon such Security.  Any action taken by the holders of the majority or
percentage in aggregate principal amount of the Securities of a particular series specified in this Indenture in connection with such action shall be conclusively binding upon
the Company, the Trustee and the holders of all the Securities of that series.

 
ARTICLE 9

 
SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURES

 
Section 9.01                            Supplemental Indentures Without the Consent of Securityholders.
 
In addition to any supplemental indenture otherwise authorized by this Indenture, the Company and the Trustee may from time to time and at any time enter into an

indenture or indentures supplemental hereto (which shall conform to the provisions of the Trust Indenture Act as then in effect), without the consent of the Securityholders, for
one or more of the following purposes:

 
(a)                                  to cure any ambiguity, defect, or inconsistency herein or in the Securities of any series;
 
(b)                                  to comply with Article Ten;
 
(c)                                  to provide for uncertificated Securities in addition to or in place of certificated Securities;
 
(d)                                  to add to the covenants, restrictions, conditions or provisions relating to the Company for the benefit of the holders of all or any series of Securities

(and if such covenants, restrictions, conditions or provisions are to be for the benefit of less than all series of Securities, stating that such covenants, restrictions, conditions or
provisions are expressly being included solely for the benefit of such series), to make the occurrence, or the occurrence and the continuance, of a default in any such additional
covenants, restrictions, conditions or provisions an Event of Default, or to surrender any right or power herein conferred upon the Company;
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(e)                                  to add to, delete from, or revise the conditions, limitations, and restrictions on the authorized amount, terms, or purposes of issue, authentication,

and delivery of Securities, as herein set forth;
 
(f)                                    to make any change that does not adversely affect the rights of any Securityholder in any material respect;
 
(g)                                 to provide for the issuance of and establish the form and terms and conditions of the Securities of any series as provided in Section 2.01, to

establish the form of any certifications required to be furnished pursuant to the terms of this Indenture or any series of Securities, or to add to the rights of the holders of any
series of Securities;

 
(h)                                 to evidence and provide for the acceptance of appointment hereunder by a successor trustee; or
 
(i)                                    to comply with any requirements of the Securities and Exchange Commission or any successor in connection with the qualification of this

Indenture under the Trust Indenture Act.
 

The Trustee is hereby authorized to join with the Company in the execution of any such supplemental indenture, and to make any further appropriate agreements and
stipulations that may be therein contained, but the Trustee shall not be obligated to enter into any such supplemental indenture that affects the Trustee’s own rights, duties or
immunities under this Indenture or otherwise.

 
Any supplemental indenture authorized by the provisions of this Section may be executed by the Company and the Trustee without the consent of the holders of any

of the Securities at the time Outstanding, notwithstanding any of the provisions of Section 9.02.
 
Section 9.02                            Supplemental Indentures With Consent of Securityholders.
 
With the consent (evidenced as provided in Section 8.01) of the holders of not less than a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Securities of each series

affected by such supplemental indenture or indentures at the time Outstanding, the Company, when authorized by a Board Resolution, and the Trustee may from time to time
and at any time enter into an indenture or indentures supplemental hereto (which shall conform to the provisions of the Trust Indenture Act as then in effect) for the purpose of
adding any provisions to or changing in any manner or eliminating any of the provisions of this Indenture or of any supplemental indenture or of modifying in any manner not
covered by Section 9.01 the rights of the holders of the Securities of such series under this Indenture; provided, however, that no such supplemental indenture shall, without
the consent of the holders of each Security then Outstanding and affected thereby, (a) extend the fixed maturity of any Securities of any series, or reduce the principal amount
thereof, or reduce the rate or extend the time of payment of interest thereon, or reduce any premium payable upon the redemption thereof or (b) reduce the aforesaid
percentage of Securities, the holders of which are required to consent to any such supplemental indenture.
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It shall not be necessary for the consent of the Securityholders of any series affected thereby under this Section to approve the particular form of any proposed

supplemental indenture, but it shall be sufficient if such consent shall approve the substance thereof.



 
Section 9.03                            Effect of Supplemental Indentures.
 
Upon the execution of any supplemental indenture pursuant to the provisions of this Article or of Section 10.01, this Indenture shall, with respect to such series, be

and be deemed to be modified and amended in accordance therewith and the respective rights, limitations of rights, obligations, duties and immunities under this Indenture of
the Trustee, the Company and the holders of Securities of the series affected thereby shall thereafter be determined, exercised and enforced hereunder subject in all respects to
such modifications and amendments, and all the terms and conditions of any such supplemental indenture shall be and be deemed to be part of the terms and conditions of this
Indenture for any and all purposes.

 
Section 9.04                            Securities Affected by Supplemental Indentures.
 
Securities of any series affected by a supplemental indenture, authenticated and delivered after the execution of such supplemental indenture pursuant to the

provisions of this Article or of Section 10.01, may bear a notation in form approved by the Company, provided such form meets the requirements of any securities exchange
upon which such series may be listed, as to any matter provided for in such supplemental indenture.  If the Company shall so determine, new Securities of that series so
modified as to conform, in the opinion of the Board of Directors, to any modification of this Indenture contained in any such supplemental indenture may be prepared by the
Company, authenticated by the Trustee and delivered in exchange for the Securities of that series then Outstanding.

 
Section 9.05                            Execution of Supplemental Indentures.
 
Upon the request of the Company, accompanied by its Board Resolutions authorizing the execution of any such supplemental indenture, and upon the filing with the

Trustee of evidence of the consent of Securityholders required to consent thereto as aforesaid, the Trustee shall join with the Company in the execution of such supplemental
indenture unless such supplemental indenture affects the Trustee’s own rights, duties or immunities under this Indenture or otherwise, in which case the Trustee may in its
discretion but shall not be obligated to enter into such supplemental indenture.  The Trustee, subject to the provisions of Section 7.01, may receive an Officer’s Certificate or,
if requested, an Opinion of Counsel as conclusive evidence that any supplemental indenture executed pursuant to this Article is authorized or permitted by, and conforms to,
the terms of this Article and that it is proper for the Trustee under the provisions of this Article to join in the execution thereof; provided, however, that such Officer’s
Certificate or Opinion of Counsel need not be provided in connection with the execution of a supplemental indenture that establishes the terms of a series of Securities
pursuant to Section 2.01 hereof.

 
Promptly after the execution by the Company and the Trustee of any supplemental indenture pursuant to the provisions of this Section, the Trustee shall transmit by

mail, first class postage prepaid, a notice, setting forth in general terms the substance of such supplemental indenture, to the Securityholders of all series affected thereby as
their names and addresses
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appear upon the Security Register.  Any failure of the Trustee to mail such notice, or any defect therein, shall not, however, in any way impair or affect the validity of any
such supplemental indenture.

 
ARTICLE 10

 
SUCCESSOR ENTITY

 
Section 10.01                     Company May Consolidate, Etc.
 
Except as provided pursuant to Section 2.01 pursuant to a Board Resolution, and set forth in an Officer’s Certificate, or established in one or more indentures

supplemental to this Indenture, nothing contained in this Indenture shall prevent any consolidation or merger of the Company with or into any other Person (whether or not
affiliated with the Company) or successive consolidations or mergers in which the Company or its successor or successors shall be a party or parties, or shall prevent any sale,
conveyance, transfer or other disposition of the property of the Company or its successor or successors as an entirety, or substantially as an entirety, to any other corporation
(whether or not affiliated with the Company or its successor or successors) authorized to acquire and operate the same; provided, however, (a) the Company hereby covenants
and agrees that, upon any such consolidation or merger (in each case, if the Company is not the survivor of such transaction), sale, conveyance, transfer or other disposition,
the due and punctual payment of the principal of (premium, if any) and interest on all of the Securities of all series in accordance with the terms of each series, according to
their tenor, and the due and punctual performance and observance of all the covenants and conditions of this Indenture with respect to each series or established with respect to
such series pursuant to Section 2.01 to be kept or performed by the Company shall be expressly assumed, by supplemental indenture (which shall conform to the provisions of
the Trust Indenture Act, as then in effect) reasonably satisfactory in form to the Trustee executed and delivered to the Trustee by the entity formed by such consolidation, or
into which the Company shall have been merged, or by the entity which shall have acquired such property and (b) in the event that the Securities of any series then
Outstanding are convertible into or exchangeable for shares of common stock or other securities of the Company, such entity shall, by such supplemental indenture, make
provision so that the Securityholders of Securities of that series shall thereafter be entitled to receive upon conversion or exchange of such Securities the number of securities
or property to which a holder of the number of shares of common stock or other securities of the Company deliverable upon conversion or exchange of those Securities would
have been entitled had such conversion or exchange occurred immediately prior to such consolidation, merger, sale, conveyance, transfer or other disposition.

 
Section 10.02                     Successor Entity Substituted.
 

(a)                                  In case of any such consolidation, merger, sale, conveyance, transfer or other disposition and upon the assumption by the successor entity by
supplemental indenture, executed and delivered to the Trustee and satisfactory in form to the Trustee, of the obligations set forth under Section 10.01 on all of the Securities of
all series Outstanding, such successor entity shall succeed to and be substituted for the Company with the same effect as if it had been
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named as the Company herein, and thereupon the predecessor corporation shall be relieved of all obligations and covenants under this Indenture and the Securities.

 
(b)                                  In case of any such consolidation, merger, sale, conveyance, transfer or other disposition, such changes in phraseology and form (but not in

substance) may be made in the Securities thereafter to be issued as may be appropriate.
 
(c)                                  Nothing contained in this Article shall require any action by the Company in the case of a consolidation or merger of any Person into the Company

where the Company is the survivor of such transaction, or the acquisition by the Company, by purchase or otherwise, of all or any part of the property of any other Person
(whether or not affiliated with the Company).

 
Section 10.03                     Evidence of Consolidation, Etc. to Trustee.
 
The Trustee, subject to the provisions of Section 7.01, may receive an Officer’s Certificate and, if requested, an Opinion of Counsel as conclusive evidence that any

such consolidation, merger, sale, conveyance, transfer or other disposition, and any such assumption, comply with the provisions of this Article.



 
ARTICLE 11

 
SATISFACTION AND DISCHARGE

 
Section 11.01                     Satisfaction and Discharge of Indenture.
 
If at any time: (a) the Company shall have delivered to the Trustee for cancellation all Securities of a series theretofore authenticated and not delivered to the Trustee

for cancellation (other than any Securities that shall have been destroyed, lost or stolen and that shall have been replaced or paid as provided in Section 2.07 and Securities for
whose payment money or Governmental Obligations have theretofore been deposited in trust or segregated and held in trust by the Company and thereupon repaid to the
Company or discharged from such trust, as provided in Section 11.05); or (b) all such Securities of a particular series not theretofore delivered to the Trustee for cancellation
shall have become due and payable, or are by their terms to become due and payable within one year or are to be called for redemption within one year under arrangements
satisfactory to the Trustee for the giving of notice of redemption, and the Company shall deposit or cause to be deposited with the Trustee as trust funds the entire amount in
moneys or Governmental Obligations or a combination thereof, sufficient in the opinion of a nationally recognized firm of independent public accountants expressed in a
written certification thereof delivered to the Trustee, to pay at maturity or upon redemption all Securities of that series not theretofore delivered to the Trustee for cancellation,
including principal (and premium, if any) and interest due or to become due to such date of maturity or date fixed for redemption, as the case may be, and if the Company shall
also pay or cause to be paid all other sums payable hereunder with respect to such series by the Company then this Indenture shall thereupon cease to be of further effect with
respect to such series except for the provisions of Sections 2.03, 2.05, 2.07, 4.01, 4.02, 4.03 and 7.10, that shall survive until the date of maturity or redemption date, as the
case may be, and Sections 7.06 and 11.05, that shall survive to such date and thereafter, and the Trustee, on demand of the Company and at the cost and expense of the
Company shall
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execute proper instruments acknowledging satisfaction of and discharging this Indenture with respect to such series.

 
Section 11.02                     Discharge of Obligations.
 
If at any time all such Securities of a particular series not heretofore delivered to the Trustee for cancellation or that have not become due and payable as described in

Section 11.01 shall have been paid by the Company by depositing irrevocably with the Trustee as trust funds moneys or an amount of Governmental Obligations sufficient to
pay at maturity or upon redemption all such Securities of that series not theretofore delivered to the Trustee for cancellation, including principal (and premium, if any) and
interest due or to become due to such date of maturity or date fixed for redemption, as the case may be, and if the Company shall also pay or cause to be paid all other sums
payable hereunder by the Company with respect to such series, then after the date such moneys or Governmental Obligations, as the case may be, are deposited with the
Trustee the obligations of the Company under this Indenture with respect to such series shall cease to be of further effect except for the provisions of Sections 2.03, 2.05, 2.07,
4,01, 4.02, 4,03, 7.06, 7.10 and 11.05 hereof that shall survive until such Securities shall mature and be paid.

 
Thereafter, Sections 7.06 and 11.05 shall survive.
 
Section 11.03                     Deposited Moneys to be Held in Trust.
 
All moneys or Governmental Obligations deposited with the Trustee pursuant to Sections 11.01 or 11.02 shall be held in trust and shall be available for payment as

due, either directly or through any paying agent (including the Company acting as its own paying agent), to the holders of the particular series of Securities for the payment or
redemption of which such moneys or Governmental Obligations have been deposited with the Trustee.

 
Section 11.04                     Payment of Moneys Held by Paying Agents.
 
In connection with the satisfaction and discharge of this Indenture all moneys or Governmental Obligations then held by any paying agent under the provisions of

this Indenture shall, upon demand of the Company, be paid to the Trustee and thereupon such paying agent shall be released from all further liability with respect to such
moneys or Governmental Obligations.

 
Section 11.05                     Repayment to Company.
 
Any moneys or Governmental Obligations deposited with any paying agent or the Trustee, or then held by the Company, in trust for payment of principal of or

premium, if any, or interest on the Securities of a particular series that are not applied but remain unclaimed by the holders of such Securities for at least two years after the
date upon which the principal of (and premium, if any) or interest on such Securities shall have respectively become due and payable, or such other shorter period set forth in
applicable escheat or abandoned or unclaimed property law, shall be repaid to the Company on May 31 of each year or upon the Company’s request or (if then held by the
Company) shall be discharged from such trust; and thereupon the paying
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agent and the Trustee shall be released from all further liability with respect to such moneys or Governmental Obligations, and the holder of any of the Securities entitled to
receive such payment shall thereafter, as a general creditor, look only to the Company for the payment thereof.

 
ARTICLE 12

 
IMMUNITY OF INCORPORATORS, STOCKHOLDERS, OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS

 
Section 12.01                     No Recourse.
 
No recourse under or upon any obligation, covenant or agreement of this Indenture, or of any Security, or for any claim based thereon or otherwise in respect thereof,

shall be had against any incorporator, stockholder, officer or director, past, present or future as such, of the Company or of any predecessor or successor corporation, either
directly or through the Company or any such predecessor or successor corporation, whether by virtue of any constitution, statute or rule of law, or by the enforcement of any
assessment or penalty or otherwise; it being expressly understood that this Indenture and the obligations issued hereunder are solely corporate obligations, and that no such
personal liability whatever shall attach to, or is or shall be incurred by, the incorporators, stockholders, officers or directors as such, of the Company or of any predecessor or
successor corporation, or any of them, because of the creation of the indebtedness hereby authorized, or under or by reason of the obligations, covenants or agreements
contained in this Indenture or in any of the Securities or implied therefrom; and that any and all such personal liability of every name and nature, either at common law or in
equity or by constitution or statute, of, and any and all such rights and claims against, every such incorporator, stockholder, officer or director as such, because of the creation
of the indebtedness hereby authorized, or under or by reason of the obligations, covenants or agreements contained in this Indenture or in any of the Securities or implied
therefrom, are hereby expressly waived and released as a condition of, and as a consideration for, the execution of this Indenture and the issuance of such Securities.

 
ARTICLE 13



 
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

 
Section 13.01                     Effect on Successors and Assigns.
 
All the covenants, stipulations, promises and agreements in this Indenture made by or on behalf of the Company shall bind its successors and assigns, whether so

expressed or not.
 
Section 13.02                     Actions by Successor.
 
Any act or proceeding by any provision of this Indenture authorized or required to be done or performed by any board, committee or officer of the Company shall

and may be done and performed with like force and effect by the corresponding board, committee or officer of any corporation that shall at the time be the lawful successor of
the Company.
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Section 13.03                     Surrender of Company Powers.
 
The Company by instrument in writing executed by authority of its Board of Directors and delivered to the Trustee may surrender any of the powers reserved to the

Company, and thereupon such power so surrendered shall terminate both as to the Company and as to any successor corporation.
 
Section 13.04                     Notices.
 
Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, any notice, request or demand that by any provision of this Indenture is required or permitted to be given, made or

served by the Trustee or by the holders of Securities or by any other Person pursuant to this Indenture to or on the Company may be given or served by being deposited in first
class mail, postage prepaid, addressed (until another address is filed in writing by the Company with the Trustee), as
follows:                                                                                      . Any notice, election, request or demand by the Company or any Securityholder or by any other Person
pursuant to this Indenture to or upon the Trustee shall be deemed to have been sufficiently given or made, for all purposes, if given or made in writing at the Corporate Trust
Office of the Trustee.

 
Section 13.05                     Governing Law.
 
This Indenture and each Security shall be deemed to be a contract made under the internal laws of the State of New York, and for all purposes shall be construed in

accordance with the laws of said State, except to the extent that the Trust Indenture Act is applicable.
 
Section 13.06                     Treatment of Securities as Debt.
 
It is intended that the Securities will be treated as indebtedness and not as equity for federal income tax purposes.  The provisions of this Indenture shall be

interpreted to further this intention.
 
Section 13.07                     Certificates and Opinions as to Conditions Precedent.
 

(a)                                  Upon any application or demand by the Company to the Trustee to take any action under any of the provisions of this Indenture, the Company
shall furnish to the Trustee an Officer’s Certificate stating that all conditions precedent provided for in this Indenture (other than the certificate to be delivered pursuant to
Section 13.12) relating to the proposed action have been complied with and, if requested, an Opinion of Counsel stating that in the opinion of such counsel all such conditions
precedent have been complied with, except that in the case of any such application or demand as to which the furnishing of such documents is specifically required by any
provision of this Indenture relating to such particular application or demand, no additional certificate or opinion need be furnished.

 
(b)                                  Each certificate or opinion provided for in this Indenture and delivered to the Trustee with respect to compliance with a condition or covenant in

this Indenture shall include (i) a statement that the Person making such certificate or opinion has read such covenant
 

43

 
or condition; (ii) a brief statement as to the nature and scope of the examination or investigation upon which the statements or opinions contained in such certificate or opinion
are based; (iii) a statement that, in the opinion of such Person, he has made such examination or investigation as is reasonably necessary to enable him to express an informed
opinion as to whether or not such covenant or condition has been complied with; and (iv) a statement as to whether or not, in the opinion of such Person, such condition or
covenant has been complied with.

 
Section 13.08                     Payments on Business Days.
 
Except as provided pursuant to Section 2.01 pursuant to a Board Resolution, and set forth in an Officer’s Certificate, or established in one or more indentures

supplemental to this Indenture, in any case where the date of maturity of interest or principal of any Security or the date of redemption of any Security shall not be a Business
Day, then payment of interest or principal (and premium, if any) may be made on the next succeeding Business Day with the same force and effect as if made on the nominal
date of maturity or redemption, and no interest shall accrue for the period after such nominal date.

 
Section 13.09                     Conflict with Trust Indenture Act.
 
If and to the extent that any provision of this Indenture limits, qualifies or conflicts with the duties imposed by Sections 310 to 317, inclusive, of the Trust Indenture

Act, such imposed duties shall control.
 
Section 13.10                     Counterparts.
 
This Indenture may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be an original, but such counterparts shall together constitute but one and the

same instrument.
 
Section 13.11                     Separability.
 
In case any one or more of the provisions contained in this Indenture or in the Securities of any series shall for any reason be held to be invalid, illegal or

unenforceable in any respect, such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall not affect any other provisions of this Indenture or of such Securities, but this Indenture and
such Securities shall be construed as if such invalid or illegal or unenforceable provision had never been contained herein or therein.



 
Section 13.12                     Compliance Certificates.
 
The Company shall deliver to the Trustee, within 120 days after the end of each fiscal year during which any Securities of any series were outstanding, an officer’s

certificate stating whether or not the signers know of any Default or Event of Default that occurred during such fiscal year.  Such certificate shall contain a certification from
the principal executive officer, principal financial officer or principal accounting officer of the Company that a review has been conducted of the activities of the Company
and the Company’s performance under this Indenture and that the Company has complied with all conditions and covenants under this Indenture.  For purposes of this
Section 13.12, such compliance shall be determined without regard to any period of grace or requirement of notice provided under this Indenture.  If the officer of the
Company
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signing such certificate has knowledge of such a Default or Event of Default, the certificate shall describe any such Default or Event of Default and its status.

 
ARTICLE 14

 
SUBORDINATION OF SECURITIES

 
Section 14.01                     Subordination Terms.
 
The payment by the Company of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on any series of Securities issued hereunder shall be subordinated to the extent set

forth in an indenture supplemental hereto relating to such series.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Indenture to be duly executed all as of the day and year first above written.
 

RIGEL PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
   

By:
   

Name:
   

Title:
   
   

[TRUSTEE], as Trustee
   

By:
   

Name:
   

Title:
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CROSS-REFERENCE TABLE (1)
 
 
Section of Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as Amended Section of Indenture
310(a) 7.09
310(b) 7.08

7.10
310(c) Inapplicable
311(a) 7.13
311(b) 7.13
311(c) Inapplicable
312(a) 5.01

5.02(a)
312(b) 5.02(c)
312(c) 5.02(c)
313(a) 5.04(a)
313(b) 5.04(b)
313(c) 5.04(a)

5.04(b)
313(d) 5.04(c)
314(a) 5.03

13.12
314(b) Inapplicable
314(c) 13.07(a)
314(d) Inapplicable
314(e) 13.07(b)
314(f) Inapplicable
315(a) 7.01(a)

7.01(b)
315(b) 7.14
315(c) 7.01



315(d) 7.01(b)
315(e) 6.07
316(a) 6.06

8.04
316(b) 6.04
316(c) 8.01
317(a) 6.02
317(b) 4.03
318(a) 13.09

(1)                                  This Cross-Reference Table does not constitute part of the Indenture and shall not have any bearing on the interpretation of any of its terms or provisions.
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EXHIBIT 4.8

 
RIGEL PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

 
and

 
                , AS WARRANT AGENT

 
FORM OF COMMON STOCK

WARRANT AGREEMENT
 

DATED AS OF       
 

 
RIGEL PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

 
FORM OF COMMON STOCK WARRANT AGREEMENT

 
COMMON STOCK WARRANT AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”), dated as of                      between RIGEL PHARMACEUTICALS, INC., a Delaware

corporation (the “Company”) and                     , a [corporation] [national banking association] organized and existing under the laws of                      and having a corporate
trust office in                     , as warrant agent (the “Warrant Agent”).

 
WHEREAS, the Company proposes to sell [if Warrants are sold with other securities—[title of such other securities being offered] (the “Other Securities”) with]

warrant certificates evidencing one or more warrants (the “Warrants” or, individually, a “Warrant”) representing the right to purchase Common Stock of the Company, par
value $0.001 per share (the “Warrant Securities”), such warrant certificates and other warrant certificates issued pursuant to this Agreement being herein called the “Warrant
Certificates”; and

 
WHEREAS, the Company desires the Warrant Agent to act on behalf of the Company, and the Warrant Agent is willing so to act, in connection with the issuance,

registration, transfer, exchange, exercise and replacement of the Warrant Certificates, and in this Agreement wishes to set forth, among other things, the form and provisions
of the Warrant Certificates and the terms and conditions on which they may be issued, registered, transferred, exchanged, exercised and replaced.

 
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and of the mutual agreements herein contained, the parties hereto agree as follows:
 

ARTICLE 1

ISSUANCE OF WARRANTS AND EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF WARRANT CERTIFICATES
 

1.1          Issuance Of Warrants.  [If Warrants alone—Upon issuance, each Warrant Certificate shall evidence one or more Warrants.] [If Other Securities and
Warrants—Warrant Certificates shall be [initially] issued in connection with the issuance of the Other Securities [but shall be separately transferable on and after                     
(the “Detachable Date”)] [and shall not be separately transferable] and each Warrant Certificate shall evidence one or more Warrants.] Each Warrant evidenced thereby shall
represent the right, subject to the provisions contained herein and therein, to purchase one Warrant Security.  [If Other Securities and Warrants—Warrant Certificates shall be
initially issued in units with the Other Securities and each Warrant Certificate included in such a unit shall evidence                      Warrants for each [$             principal
amount] [                     shares] of Other Securities included in such unit.]

 
1.2          Execution And Delivery Of Warrant Certificates.  Each Warrant Certificate, whenever issued, shall be in registered form substantially in the form set

forth in Exhibit A hereto, shall be dated the date of its countersignature by the Warrant Agent and may have such
 

 
letters, numbers, or other marks of identification or designation and such legends or endorsements printed, lithographed or engraved thereon as the officers of the Company
executing the same may approve (execution thereof to be conclusive evidence of such approval) and as are not inconsistent with the provisions of this Agreement, or as may
be required to comply with any law or with any rule or regulation made pursuant thereto or with any rule or regulation of any securities exchange on which the Warrants may
be listed, or to conform to usage.  The Warrant Certificates shall be signed on behalf of the Company by any of its present or future chief executive officers, presidents, senior
vice presidents, vice presidents, chief financial officers, chief legal officers, treasurers, assistant treasurers, controllers, assistant controllers, secretaries or assistant secretaries
under its corporate seal reproduced thereon.  Such signatures may be manual or facsimile signatures of such authorized officers and may be imprinted or otherwise
reproduced on the Warrant Certificates.  The seal of the Company may be in the form of a facsimile thereof and may be impressed, affixed, imprinted or otherwise reproduced
on the Warrant Certificates.

 
No Warrant Certificate shall be valid for any purpose, and no Warrant evidenced thereby shall be exercisable, until such Warrant Certificate has been countersigned

by the manual signature of the Warrant Agent.  Such signature by the Warrant Agent upon any Warrant Certificate executed by the Company shall be conclusive evidence
that the Warrant Certificate so countersigned has been duly issued hereunder.

 
In case any officer of the Company who shall have signed any of the Warrant Certificates either manually or by facsimile signature shall cease to be such officer

before the Warrant Certificates so signed shall have been countersigned and delivered by the Warrant Agent, such Warrant Certificates may be countersigned and delivered
notwithstanding that the person who signed Warrant Certificates ceased to be such officer of the Company; and any Warrant Certificate may be signed on behalf of the
Company by such persons as, at the actual date of the execution of such Warrant Certificate, shall be the proper officers of the Company, although at the date of the execution
of this Agreement any such person was not such officer.

 
The term “holder” or “holder of a Warrant Certificate” as used herein shall mean any person in whose name at the time any Warrant Certificate shall be registered

upon the books to be maintained by the Warrant Agent for that purpose [If Other Securities and Warrants are not immediately detachable—or upon the registration of the
Other Securities prior to the Detachable Date.  Prior to the Detachable Date, the Company will, or will cause the registrar of the Other Securities to, make available at all times
to the Warrant Agent such information as to holders of the Other Securities as may be necessary to keep the Warrant Agent’s records up to date].

 
1.3          Issuance Of Warrant Certificates.  Warrant Certificates evidencing the right to purchase Warrant Securities may be executed by the Company and

delivered to the Warrant Agent upon the execution of this Warrant Agreement or from time to time thereafter.  The Warrant Agent shall, upon receipt of Warrant Certificates
duly executed on behalf of the Company, countersign such Warrant Certificates and shall deliver such Warrant Certificates to or upon the order of the Company.

 

 



ARTICLE 2

WARRANT PRICE, DURATION AND EXERCISE OF WARRANTS
 

2.1          Warrant Price.  During the period specified in Section 2.2, each Warrant shall, subject to the terms of this Warrant Agreement and the applicable Warrant
Certificate, entitle the holder thereof to purchase the number of Warrant Securities specified in the applicable Warrant Certificate at an exercise price of $             per Warrant
Security, subject to adjustment upon the occurrence of certain events, as hereinafter provided.  Such purchase price per Warrant Security is referred to in this Agreement as the
“Warrant Price.”

 
2.2          Duration Of Warrants.  Each Warrant may be exercised in whole or in part at any time, as specified herein, on or after [the date thereof] [                    ]

and at or before [            ] p.m., [            ] time, on [                    ] or such later date as the Company may designate by notice to the Warrant Agent and the holders of Warrant
Certificates mailed to their addresses as set forth in the record books of the Warrant Agent (the “Expiration Date”).  Each Warrant not exercised at or before [            ] p.m.,
[            ] time, on the Expiration Date shall become void, and all rights of the holder of the Warrant Certificate evidencing such Warrant under this Agreement shall cease.

 
2.3          Exercise Of Warrants.
 

(a)           During the period specified in Section 2.2, the Warrants may be exercised to purchase a whole number of Warrant Securities in registered form by
providing certain information as set forth on the reverse side of the Warrant Certificate and by paying in full, in lawful money of the United States of America, [in cash or by
certified check or official bank check in New York Clearing House funds] [by bank wire transfer in immediately available funds] the Warrant Price for each Warrant Security
with respect to which a Warrant is being exercised to the Warrant Agent at its corporate trust office, provided that such exercise is subject to receipt within five business days
of such payment by the Warrant Agent of the Warrant Certificate with the form of election to purchase Warrant Securities set forth on the reverse side of the Warrant
Certificate properly completed and duly executed.  The date on which payment in full of the Warrant Price is received by the Warrant Agent shall, subject to receipt of the
Warrant Certificate as aforesaid, be deemed to be the date on which the Warrant is exercised; provided, however, that if, at the date of receipt of such Warrant Certificates and
payment in full of the Warrant Price, the transfer books for the Warrant Securities purchasable upon the exercise of such Warrants shall be closed, no such receipt of such
Warrant Certificates and no such payment of such Warrant Price shall be effective to constitute the person so designated to be named as the holder of record of such Warrant
Securities on such date, but shall be effective to constitute such person as the holder of record of such Warrant Securities for all purposes at the opening of business on the next
succeeding day on which the transfer books for the Warrant Securities purchasable upon the exercise of such Warrants shall be opened, and the certificates for the Warrant
Securities in respect of which such Warrants are then exercised shall be issuable as of the date on such next succeeding day on which the transfer books shall next be opened,
and until such date the Company shall be under no duty to deliver any certificate for such Warrant Securities.  The Warrant Agent shall deposit all funds received by it in
payment of the Warrant Price in an account of the Company maintained with it and shall advise the Company by
 

 
telephone at the end of each day on which a payment for the exercise of Warrants is received of the amount so deposited to its account.  The Warrant Agent shall promptly
confirm such telephone advice to the Company in writing.

 
(b)           The Warrant Agent shall, from time to time, as promptly as practicable, advise the Company of (i) the number of Warrant Securities with respect

to which Warrants were exercised, (ii) the instructions of each holder of the Warrant Certificates evidencing such Warrants with respect to delivery of the Warrant Securities
to which such holder is entitled upon such exercise, (iii) delivery of Warrant Certificates evidencing the balance, if any, of the Warrants for the remaining Warrant Securities
after such exercise, and (iv) such other information as the Company shall reasonably require.

 
(c)           As soon as practicable after the exercise of any Warrant, the Company shall issue to or upon the order of the holder of the Warrant Certificate

evidencing such Warrant the Warrant Securities to which such holder is entitled, in fully registered form, registered in such name or names as may be directed by such holder. 
If fewer than all of the Warrants evidenced by such Warrant Certificate are exercised, the Company shall execute, and an authorized officer of the Warrant Agent shall
manually countersign and deliver, a new Warrant Certificate evidencing Warrants for the number of Warrant Securities remaining unexercised.

 
(d)           The Company shall not be required to pay any stamp or other tax or other governmental charge required to be paid in connection with any transfer

involved in the issue of the Warrant Securities, and in the event that any such transfer is involved, the Company shall not be required to issue or deliver any Warrant Security
until such tax or other charge shall have been paid or it has been established to the Company’s satisfaction that no such tax or other charge is due.

 
(e)           Prior to the issuance of any Warrants there shall have been reserved, and the Company shall at all times through the Expiration Date keep

reserved, out of its authorized but unissued Warrant Securities, a number of shares sufficient to provide for the exercise of the Warrants.
 

ARTICLE 3

OTHER PROVISIONS RELATING TO RIGHTS OF HOLDERS OF WARRANT CERTIFICATES
 

3.1          No Rights As Warrant Securityholder Conferred By Warrants Or Warrant Certificates.  No Warrant Certificate or Warrant evidenced thereby shall
entitle the holder thereof to any of the rights of a holder of Warrant Securities, including, without limitation, the right to receive the payment of dividends or distributions, if
any, on the Warrant Securities or to exercise any voting rights, except to the extent expressly set forth in this Agreement or the applicable Warrant Certificate.

 
3.2          Lost, Stolen, Mutilated Or Destroyed Warrant Certificates.  Upon receipt by the Warrant Agent of evidence reasonably satisfactory to it and the

Company of the ownership of and the loss, theft, destruction or mutilation of any Warrant Certificate and/or indemnity

 
reasonably satisfactory to the Warrant Agent and the Company and, in the case of mutilation, upon surrender of the mutilated Warrant Certificate to the Warrant Agent for
cancellation, then, in the absence of notice to the Company or the Warrant Agent that such Warrant Certificate has been acquired by a bona fide purchaser, the Company shall
execute, and an authorized officer of the Warrant Agent shall manually countersign and deliver, in exchange for or in lieu of the lost, stolen, destroyed or mutilated Warrant
Certificate, a new Warrant Certificate of the same tenor and evidencing Warrants for a like number of Warrant Securities.  Upon the issuance of any new Warrant Certificate
under this Section 3.2, the Company may require the payment of a sum sufficient to cover any tax or other governmental charge that may be imposed in relation thereto and
any other expenses (including the fees and expenses of the Warrant Agent) in connection therewith.  Every substitute Warrant Certificate executed and delivered pursuant to
this Section 3.2 in lieu of any lost, stolen or destroyed Warrant Certificate shall represent an additional contractual obligation of the Company, whether or not the lost, stolen
or destroyed Warrant Certificate shall be at any time enforceable by anyone, and shall be entitled to the benefits of this Agreement equally and proportionately with any and
all other Warrant Certificates duly executed and delivered hereunder.  The provisions of this Section 3.2 are exclusive and shall preclude (to the extent lawful) all other rights
and remedies with respect to the replacement of mutilated, lost, stolen or destroyed Warrant Certificates.

 
3.3          Holder Of Warrant Certificate May Enforce Rights.  Notwithstanding any of the provisions of this Agreement, any holder of a Warrant Certificate,

without the consent of the Warrant Agent, the holder of any Warrant Securities or the holder of any other Warrant Certificate, may, in such holder’s own behalf and for such
holder’s own benefit, enforce, and may institute and maintain any suit, action or proceeding against the Company suitable to enforce, or otherwise in respect of, such holder’s
right to exercise the Warrants evidenced by such holder’s Warrant Certificate in the manner provided in such holder’s Warrant Certificate and in this Agreement.

 
3.4          Adjustments.



 
(a)           In case the Company shall at any time subdivide its outstanding shares of Common Stock into a greater number of shares, the Warrant Price in

effect immediately prior to such subdivision shall be proportionately reduced and the number of Warrant Securities purchasable under the Warrants shall be proportionately
increased.  Conversely, in case the outstanding shares of Common Stock of the Company shall be combined into a smaller number of shares, the Warrant Price in effect
immediately prior to such combination shall be proportionately increased and the number of Warrant Securities purchasable under the Warrants shall be proportionately
decreased.

 
(b)           If at any time or from time to time the holders of Common Stock (or any shares of stock or other securities at the time receivable upon the

exercise of the Warrants) shall have received or become entitled to receive, without payment therefore,
 

(i)            Common Stock or any shares of stock or other securities which are at any time directly or indirectly convertible into or exchangeable for
Common Stock, or any rights or options to subscribe for, purchase or otherwise acquire any of the foregoing by way of dividend or other distribution;

 

 
(ii)           any cash paid or payable otherwise than as a cash dividend paid or payable out of the Company’s current or retained earnings;
 
(iii)         any evidence of the Company’s indebtedness or rights to subscribe for or purchase the Company’s indebtedness; or
 
(iv)          Common Stock or additional stock or other securities or property (including cash) by way of spinoff, split-up, reclassification,

combination of shares or similar corporate rearrangement (other than shares of Common Stock issued as a stock split or adjustments in respect of which shall be covered by
the terms of Section 3.4(a) above), then and in each such case, the holder of each Warrant shall, upon the exercise of the Warrant, be entitled to receive, in addition to the
number of Warrant Securities receivable thereupon, and without payment of any additional consideration therefore, the amount of stock and other securities and property
(including cash and indebtedness or rights to subscribe for or purchase indebtedness) which such holder would hold on the date of such exercise had he been the holder of
record of such Warrant Securities as of the date on which holders of Common Stock received or became entitled to receive such shares or all other additional stock and other
securities and property.

 
(c)           In case of (i) any reclassification, capital reorganization, or change in the Common Stock of the Company (other than as a result of a subdivision,

combination, or stock dividend provided for in Section 3.4(a) or Section 3.4(b) above), (ii) share exchange, merger or similar transaction of the Company with or into another
person or entity (other than a share exchange, merger or similar transaction in which the Company is the acquiring or surviving corporation and which does not result in any
change in the Common Stock other than the issuance of additional shares of Common Stock) or (iii) the sale, exchange, lease, transfer or other disposition of all or
substantially all of the properties and assets of the Company as an entirety (in any such case, a “Reorganization Event”), then, as a condition of such Reorganization Event,
lawful provisions shall be made, and duly executed documents evidencing the same from the Company or its successor shall be delivered to the holders of the Warrants, so
that the holders of the Warrants shall have the right at any time prior to the expiration of the Warrants to purchase, at a total price equal to that payable upon the exercise of
the Warrants, the kind and amount of shares of stock and other securities and property receivable in connection with such Reorganization Event by a holder of the same
number of Warrant Securities as were purchasable by the holders of the Warrants immediately prior to such Reorganization Event.  In any such case appropriate provisions
shall be made with respect to the rights and interests of the holders of the Warrants so that the provisions hereof shall thereafter be applicable with respect to any shares of
stock or other securities and property deliverable upon exercise the Warrants, and appropriate adjustments shall be made to the Warrant Price payable hereunder provided the
aggregate purchase price shall remain the same.  In the case of any transaction described in clauses (ii) and (iii) above, the Company shall thereupon be relieved of any further
obligation hereunder or under the Warrants, and the Company as the predecessor corporation may thereupon or at any time thereafter be dissolved, wound up or liquidated. 
Such successor or assuming entity thereupon may cause to be signed, and may issue either in its own name or in the name of the Company, any or all of the Warrants issuable
hereunder which heretofore shall not have been signed by the Company, and may execute and deliver securities in its own name, in fulfillment of its obligations to deliver
Warrant Securities upon exercise of the Warrants.  All the Warrants so issued shall in all respects have the same legal rank and benefit under this
 

 
Agreement as the Warrants theretofore or thereafter issued in accordance with the terms of this Agreement as though all of such Warrants had been issued at the date of the
execution hereof.  In any case of any such Reorganization Event, such changes in phraseology and form (but not in substance) may be made in the Warrants thereafter to be
issued as may be appropriate.

 
(d)           The Company may, at its option, at any time until the Expiration Date, reduce the then current Warrant Price to any amount deemed appropriate

by the Board of Directors of the Company for any period not exceeding twenty consecutive days (as evidenced in a resolution adopted by such Board of Directors), but only
upon giving the notices required by Section 3.5 at least ten days prior to taking such action.

 
(e)           Except as herein otherwise expressly provided, no adjustment in the Warrant Price shall be made by reason of the issuance of shares of Common

Stock, or securities convertible into or exchangeable for shares of Common Stock, or securities carrying the right to purchase any of the foregoing or for any other reason
whatsoever.

 
(f)            No fractional Warrant Securities shall be issued upon the exercise of Warrants.  If more than one Warrant shall be exercised at one time by the

same holder, the number of full Warrant Securities which shall be issuable upon such exercise shall be computed on the basis of the aggregate number of Warrant Securities
purchased pursuant to the Warrants so exercised.  Instead of any fractional Warrant Security which would otherwise be issuable upon exercise of any Warrant, the Company
shall pay a cash adjustment in respect of such fraction in an amount equal to the same fraction of the last sales price (or bid price if there were no sales) per Warrant Security,
in either case as reported on the New York Stock Exchange Composite Tape or the Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. (“NASDAQ”), as applicable, on the business day which next
precedes the day of exercise or, if the Warrant Securities are not then listed or admitted to trading on the New York Stock Exchange or NASDAQ, on the principal national
securities exchange on which the Warrant Securities are listed or admitted to trading or, if not listed or admitted to trading on any national securities exchange, the average of
the closing high bid and low asked prices in the over-the-counter market, as reported by The NASDAQ or the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, Inc. (“FINRA”), as
applicable, or such other system then in use, or if on any such date the Warrant Securities are not quoted by any such organization, an amount equal to the same fraction of the
average of the closing bid and asked prices as furnished by any NASDAQ firm selected from time to time by the Company for that purpose at the close of business on the
business day which next precedes the day of exercise.

 
(g)           Whenever the Warrant Price then in effect is adjusted as herein provided, the Company shall mail to each holder of the Warrants at such holder’s

address as it shall appear on the books of the Company a statement setting forth the adjusted Warrant Price then and thereafter effective under the provisions hereof, together
with the facts, in reasonable detail, upon which such adjustment is based.

 
3.5          Notice To Warrantholders.  In case the Company shall (a) effect any dividend or distribution described in Section 3.4(b), (b) effect any Reorganization

Event, (c) make any distribution on or in respect of the Common Stock in connection with the dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the Company, or (d) reduce the then
current Warrant Price pursuant to Section 3.4(d), then the Company shall mail to each holder of Warrants at such holder’s address
 

 



as it shall appear on the books of the Warrant Agent, at least ten days prior to the applicable date hereinafter specified, a notice stating (x) the record date for such dividend or
distribution, or, if a record is not to be taken, the date as of which the holders of record of Common Stock that will be entitled to such dividend or distribution are to be
determined, (y) the date on which such Reorganization Event, dissolution, liquidation or winding up is expected to become effective, and the date as of which it is expected
that holders of Common Stock of record shall be entitled to exchange their shares of Common Stock for securities or other property deliverable upon such Reorganization
Event, dissolution, liquidation or winding up, or (z) the first date on which the then current Warrant Price shall be reduced pursuant to Section 3.4(d).  No failure to mail such
notice nor any defect therein or in the mailing thereof shall affect any such transaction or any adjustment in the Warrant Price required by Section 3.4.

 
3.6          [If The Warrants Are Subject To Acceleration By The Company, Insert—Acceleration Of Warrants By The Company.
 

(a)           At any time on or after                     , the Company shall have the right to accelerate any or all Warrants at any time by causing them to expire at
the close of business on the day next preceding a specified date (the “Acceleration Date”), if the Market Price (as hereinafter defined) of the Common Stock equals or exceeds
             percent (            %) of the then effective Warrant Price on any twenty Trading Days (as hereinafter defined) within a period of thirty consecutive Trading Days ending
no more than five Trading Days prior to the date on which the Company gives notice to the Warrant Agent of its election to accelerate the Warrants.

 
(b)           “Market Price” for each Trading Day shall be, if the Common Stock is listed or admitted for trading on the New York Stock Exchange or the

NASDAQ, the last reported sale price, regular way (or, if no such price is reported, the average of the reported closing bid and asked prices, regular way) of Common Stock,
in either case as reported on the New York Stock Exchange Composite Tape or the NASDAQ, as applicable, or, if the Common Stock is not listed or admitted to trading on
the New York Stock Exchange or the NASDAQ, as applicable, on the principal national securities exchange on which the Common Stock is listed or admitted to trading or, if
not listed or admitted to trading on any national securities exchange, the average of the closing high bid and low asked prices in the over-the-counter market, as reported by
NASDAQ or FINRA, as applicable, or such other system then in use, or if on any such date the shares of Common Stock are not quoted by any such organization, the average
of the closing bid and asked prices as furnished by any NASDAQ firm selected from time to time by the Company for that purpose.  “Trading Day” shall be each Monday
through Friday, other than any day on which securities are not traded in the system or on the exchange that is the principal market for the Common Stock, as determined by the
Board of Directors of the Company.

 
(c)           In the event of an acceleration of less than all of the Warrants, the Warrant Agent shall select the Warrants to be accelerated by lot, pro rata or in

such other manner as it deems, in its discretion, to be fair and appropriate.
 
(d)           Notice of an acceleration specifying the Acceleration Date shall be sent by mail first class, postage prepaid, to each registered holder of a Warrant

Certificate representing a Warrant accelerated at such holder’s address appearing on the books of the Warrant Agent not more than sixty days nor less than thirty days before
the Acceleration Date.  Such notice of an

 

 
acceleration also shall be given no more than twenty days, and no less than ten days, prior to the mailing of notice to registered holders of Warrants pursuant to this
Section 3.6, by publication at least once in a newspaper of general circulation in the City of New York.

 
(e)           Any Warrant accelerated may be exercised until [            ] p.m., [            ] time, on the business day next preceding the Acceleration Date.  The

Warrant Price shall be payable as provided in Section 2.]
 

ARTICLE 4

EXCHANGE AND TRANSFER OF WARRANT CERTIFICATES
 

4.1          Exchange And Transfer Of Warrant Certificates.  [If Other Securities with Warrants which are immediately detachable—Upon] [If Other Securities
with Warrants which are not immediately detachable—Prior to the Detachable Date, a Warrant Certificate may be exchanged or transferred only together with the Other
Security to which the Warrant Certificate was initially attached, and only for the purpose of effecting or in conjunction with an exchange or transfer of such Other Security. 
Prior to any Detachable Date, each transfer of the Other Security shall operate also to transfer the related Warrant Certificates.  After the Detachable Date, upon] surrender at
the corporate trust office of the Warrant Agent, Warrant Certificates evidencing Warrants may be exchanged for Warrant Certificates in other denominations evidencing such
Warrants or the transfer thereof may be registered in whole or in part; provided that such other Warrant Certificates evidence Warrants for the same aggregate number of
Warrant Securities as the Warrant Certificates so surrendered.  The Warrant Agent shall keep, at its corporate trust office, books in which, subject to such reasonable
regulations as it may prescribe, it shall register Warrant Certificates and exchanges and transfers of outstanding Warrant Certificates, upon surrender of the Warrant
Certificates to the Warrant Agent at its corporate trust office for exchange or registration of transfer, properly endorsed or accompanied by appropriate instruments of
registration of transfer and written instructions for transfer, all in form satisfactory to the Company and the Warrant Agent.  No service charge shall be made for any exchange
or registration of transfer of Warrant Certificates, but the Company may require payment of a sum sufficient to cover any stamp or other tax or other governmental charge that
may be imposed in connection with any such exchange or registration of transfer.  Whenever any Warrant Certificates are so surrendered for exchange or registration of
transfer, an authorized officer of the Warrant Agent shall manually countersign and deliver to the person or persons entitled thereto a Warrant Certificate or Warrant
Certificates duly authorized and executed by the Company, as so requested.  The Warrant Agent shall not be required to effect any exchange or registration of transfer which
will result in the issuance of a Warrant Certificate evidencing a Warrant for a fraction of a Warrant Security or a number of Warrants for a whole number of Warrant
Securities and a fraction of a Warrant Security.  All Warrant Certificates issued upon any exchange or registration of transfer of Warrant Certificates shall be the valid
obligations of the Company, evidencing the same obligations and entitled to the same benefits under this Agreement as the Warrant Certificate surrendered for such exchange
or registration of transfer.

 
4.2          Treatment Of Holders Of Warrant Certificates.  [If Other Securities and Warrants are not immediately detachable—Prior to the Detachable Date, the

Company, the Warrant Agent and all other persons may treat the owner of the Other Security as the owner of
 

 
the Warrant Certificates initially attached thereto for any purpose and as the person entitled to exercise the rights represented by the Warrants evidenced by such Warrant
Certificates, any notice to the contrary notwithstanding.  After the Detachable Date and prior to due presentment of a Warrant Certificate for registration of transfer, the] [The]
Company, the Warrant Agent and all other persons may treat the registered holder of a Warrant Certificate as the absolute owner thereof for any purpose and as the person
entitled to exercise the rights represented by the Warrants evidenced thereby, any notice to the contrary notwithstanding.

 
4.3          Cancellation Of Warrant Certificates.  Any Warrant Certificate surrendered for exchange, registration of transfer or exercise of the Warrants evidenced

thereby shall, if surrendered to the Company, be delivered to the Warrant Agent and all Warrant Certificates surrendered or so delivered to the Warrant Agent shall be
promptly canceled by the Warrant Agent and shall not be reissued and, except as expressly permitted by this Agreement, no Warrant Certificate shall be issued hereunder in
exchange therefor or in lieu thereof.

 
The Warrant Agent shall deliver to the Company from time to time or otherwise dispose of canceled Warrant Certificates in a manner satisfactory to the Company.
 

ARTICLE 5

CONCERNING THE WARRANT AGENT



 
5.1          Warrant Agent.  The Company hereby appoints                      as Warrant Agent of the Company in respect of the Warrants and the Warrant Certificates

upon the terms and subject to the conditions herein set forth, and                      hereby accepts such appointment.  The Warrant Agent shall have the powers and authority
granted to and conferred upon it in the Warrant Certificates and hereby and such further powers and authority to act on behalf of the Company as the Company may hereafter
grant to or confer upon it.  All of the terms and provisions with respect to such powers and authority contained in the Warrant Certificates are subject to and governed by the
terms and provisions hereof.

 
5.2          Conditions Of Warrant Agent’s Obligations.  The Warrant Agent accepts its obligations herein set forth upon the terms and conditions hereof, including

the following to all of which the Company agrees and to all of which the rights hereunder of the holders from time to time of the Warrant Certificates shall be subject:
 

(a)           Compensation And Indemnification.  The Company agrees promptly to pay the Warrant Agent the compensation to be agreed upon with the
Company for all services rendered by the Warrant Agent and to reimburse the Warrant Agent for reasonable out-of-pocket expenses (including reasonable counsel fees)
incurred without negligence, bad faith or willful misconduct by the Warrant Agent in connection with the services rendered hereunder by the Warrant Agent.  The Company
also agrees to indemnify the Warrant Agent for, and to hold it harmless against, any loss, liability or expense incurred without negligence, bad faith or willful misconduct on
the part of the Warrant Agent, arising out of or in connection with its acting as Warrant Agent hereunder, including the reasonable costs and expenses of defending against any
claim of such liability.
 

 
(b)           Agent For The Company.  In acting under this Warrant Agreement and in connection with the Warrant Certificates, the Warrant Agent is acting

solely as agent of the Company and does not assume any obligations or relationship of agency or trust for or with any of the holders of Warrant Certificates or beneficial
owners of Warrants.

 
(c)           Counsel.  The Warrant Agent may consult with counsel satisfactory to it, which may include counsel for the Company, and the written advice of

such counsel shall be full and complete authorization and protection in respect of any action taken, suffered or omitted by it hereunder in good faith and in accordance with the
advice of such counsel.

 
(d)           Documents.  The Warrant Agent shall be protected and shall incur no liability for or in respect of any action taken or omitted by it in reliance

upon any Warrant Certificate, notice, direction, consent, certificate, affidavit, statement or other paper or document reasonably believed by it to be genuine and to have been
presented or signed by the proper parties.

 
(e)           Certain Transactions.  The Warrant Agent, and its officers, directors and employees, may become the owner of, or acquire any interest in,

Warrants, with the same rights that it or they would have if it were not the Warrant Agent hereunder, and, to the extent permitted by applicable law, it or they may engage or
be interested in any financial or other transaction with the Company and may act on, or as depositary, trustee or agent for, any committee or body of holders of Warrant
Securities or other obligations of the Company as freely as if it were not the Warrant Agent hereunder.  Nothing in this Warrant Agreement shall be deemed to prevent the
Warrant Agent from acting as trustee under any indenture to which the Company is a party.

 
(f)            No Liability For Interest.  Unless otherwise agreed with the Company, the Warrant Agent shall have no liability for interest on any monies at

any time received by it pursuant to any of the provisions of this Agreement or of the Warrant Certificates.
 
(g)           No Liability For Invalidity.  The Warrant Agent shall have no liability with respect to any invalidity of this Agreement or any of the Warrant

Certificates (except as to the Warrant Agent’s countersignature thereon).
 
(h)           No Responsibility For Representations.  The Warrant Agent shall not be responsible for any of the recitals or representations herein or in the

Warrant Certificates (except as to the Warrant Agent’s countersignature thereon), all of which are made solely by the Company.
 
(i)            No Implied Obligations.  The Warrant Agent shall be obligated to perform only such duties as are herein and in the Warrant Certificates

specifically set forth and no implied duties or obligations shall be read into this Agreement or the Warrant Certificates against the Warrant Agent.  The Warrant Agent shall
not be under any obligation to take any action hereunder which may tend to involve it in any expense or liability, the payment of which within a reasonable time is not, in its
reasonable opinion, assured to it.  The Warrant Agent shall not be accountable or under any duty or responsibility for the use by the Company of any of the Warrant
Certificates authenticated by the Warrant Agent and delivered by it to the Company

 

 
pursuant to this Agreement or for the application by the Company of the proceeds of the Warrant Certificates.  The Warrant Agent shall have no duty or responsibility in case
of any default by the Company in the performance of its covenants or agreements contained herein or in the Warrant Certificates or in the case of the receipt of any written
demand from a holder of a Warrant Certificate with respect to such default, including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, any duty or responsibility to initiate or
attempt to initiate any proceedings at law or otherwise or, except as provided in Section 6.2 hereof, to make any demand upon the Company.

 
5.3          Resignation, Removal And Appointment Of Successors.
 

(a)           The Company agrees, for the benefit of the holders from time to time of the Warrant Certificates, that there shall at all times be a Warrant Agent
hereunder until all the Warrants have been exercised or are no longer exercisable.

 
(b)           The Warrant Agent may at any time resign as agent by giving written notice to the Company of such intention on its part, specifying the date on

which its desired resignation shall become effective; provided that such date shall not be less than three months after the date on which such notice is given unless the
Company otherwise agrees.  The Warrant Agent hereunder may be removed at any time by the filing with it of an instrument in writing signed by or on behalf of the
Company and specifying such removal and the intended date when it shall become effective.  Such resignation or removal shall take effect upon the appointment by the
Company, as hereinafter provided, of a successor Warrant Agent (which shall be a bank or trust company authorized under the laws of the jurisdiction of its organization to
exercise corporate trust powers) and the acceptance of such appointment by such successor Warrant Agent.  The obligation of the Company under Section 5.2(a) shall
continue to the extent set forth therein notwithstanding the resignation or removal of the Warrant Agent.

 
(c)           In case at any time the Warrant Agent shall resign, or shall be removed, or shall become incapable of acting, or shall be adjudged a bankrupt or

insolvent, or shall commence a voluntary case under the Federal bankruptcy laws, as now or hereafter constituted, or under any other applicable Federal or state bankruptcy,
insolvency or similar law or shall consent to the appointment of or taking possession by a receiver, custodian, liquidator, assignee, trustee, sequestrator (or other similar
official) of the Warrant Agent or its property or affairs, or shall make an assignment for the benefit of creditors, or shall admit in writing its inability to pay its debts generally
as they become due, or shall take corporate action in furtherance of any such action, or a decree or order for relief by a court having jurisdiction in the premises shall have
been entered in respect of the Warrant Agent in an involuntary case under the Federal bankruptcy laws, as now or hereafter constituted, or any other applicable Federal or
state bankruptcy, insolvency or similar law, or a decree or order by a court having jurisdiction in the premises shall have been entered for the appointment of a receiver,
custodian, liquidator, assignee, trustee, sequestrator (or similar official) of the Warrant Agent or of its property or affairs, or any public officer shall take charge or control of
the Warrant Agent or of its property or affairs for the purpose of rehabilitation, conservation, winding up or liquidation, a successor Warrant Agent, qualified as aforesaid,
shall be appointed by the Company by an instrument in writing, filed with the successor Warrant Agent.  Upon the appointment as aforesaid of a successor Warrant Agent and



acceptance by the successor Warrant Agent of such appointment, the Warrant Agent shall cease to be Warrant Agent hereunder.
 

 
(d)           Any successor Warrant Agent appointed hereunder shall execute, acknowledge and deliver to its predecessor and to the Company an instrument

accepting such appointment hereunder, and thereupon such successor Warrant Agent, without any further act, deed or conveyance, shall become vested with all the authority,
rights, powers, trusts, immunities, duties and obligations of such predecessor with like effect as if originally named as Warrant Agent hereunder, and such predecessor, upon
payment of its charges and disbursements then unpaid, shall thereupon become obligated to transfer, deliver and pay over, and such successor Warrant Agent shall be entitled
to receive, all monies, securities and other property on deposit with or held by such predecessor, as Warrant Agent hereunder.

 
(e)           Any corporation into which the Warrant Agent hereunder may be merged or converted or any corporation with which the Warrant Agent may be

consolidated, or any corporation resulting from any merger, conversion or consolidation to which the Warrant Agent shall be a party, or any corporation to which the Warrant
Agent shall sell or otherwise transfer all or substantially all the assets and business of the Warrant Agent, provided that it shall be qualified as aforesaid, shall be the successor
Warrant Agent under this Agreement without the execution or filing of any paper or any further act on the part of any of the parties hereto.

 
ARTICLE 6

MISCELLANEOUS
 

6.1          Amendment.  This Agreement may be amended by the parties hereto, without the consent of the holder of any Warrant Certificate, for the purpose of
curing any ambiguity, or of curing, correcting or supplementing any defective provision contained herein, or making any other provisions with respect to matters or questions
arising under this Agreement as the Company and the Warrant Agent may deem necessary or desirable; provided that such action shall not materially adversely affect the
interests of the holders of the Warrant Certificates.

 
6.2          Notices And Demands To The Company And Warrant Agent.  If the Warrant Agent shall receive any notice or demand addressed to the Company by

the holder of a Warrant Certificate pursuant to the provisions of the Warrant Certificates, the Warrant Agent shall promptly forward such notice or demand to the Company.
 
6.3          Addresses.  Any communication from the Company to the Warrant Agent with respect to this Agreement shall be addressed to                 , Attention:

                 and any communication from the Warrant Agent to the Company with respect to this Agreement shall be addressed to Rigel Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 2411 Stanwell
Drive, Concord, California, 94520, Attention: General Counsel (or such other address as shall be specified in writing by the Warrant Agent or by the Company).

 
6.4          Governing Law.  This Agreement and each Warrant Certificate issued hereunder shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the

State of New York.
 
6.5          Delivery Of Prospectus.  The Company shall furnish to the Warrant Agent sufficient copies of a prospectus meeting the requirements of the Securities Act

of 1933, as amended, relating to the Warrant Securities deliverable upon exercise of the Warrants (the
 

 
“Prospectus”), and the Warrant Agent agrees that upon the exercise of any Warrant, the Warrant Agent will deliver to the holder of the Warrant Certificate evidencing such
Warrant, prior to or concurrently with the delivery of the Warrant Securities issued upon such exercise, a Prospectus.

 
The Warrant Agent shall not, by reason of any such delivery, assume any responsibility for the accuracy or adequacy of such Prospectus.
 
6.6          Obtaining Of Governmental Approvals.  The Company will from time to time take all action which may be necessary to obtain and keep effective any

and all permits, consents and approvals of governmental agencies and authorities and securities act filings under United States Federal and state laws (including without
limitation a registration statement in respect of the Warrants and Warrant Securities under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended), which may be or become requisite in
connection with the issuance, sale, transfer, and delivery of the Warrant Securities issued upon exercise of the Warrants, the issuance, sale, transfer and delivery of the
Warrants or upon the expiration of the period during which the Warrants are exercisable.

 
6.7          Persons Having Rights Under Warrant Agreement.  Nothing in this Agreement shall give to any person other than the Company, the Warrant Agent

and the holders of the Warrant Certificates any right, remedy or claim under or by reason of this Agreement.
 
6.8          Headings.  The descriptive headings of the several Articles and Sections of this Agreement are inserted for convenience only and shall not control or affect

the meaning or construction of any of the provisions hereof.
 
6.9          Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which as so executed shall be deemed to be an original, but such

counterparts shall together constitute but one and the same instrument.
 
6.10        Inspection Of Agreement.  A copy of this Agreement shall be available at all reasonable times at the principal corporate trust office of the Warrant Agent

for inspection by the holder of any Warrant Certificate.  The Warrant Agent may require such holder to submit his Warrant Certificate for inspection by it.
 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly executed, all as of the day and year first above written.
 

RIGEL PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
 
By
  
Its
 

Attest:
 
 
 
 

 
WARRANT AGENT
 



By
  
Its
 

Attest:
 
 
 
 
 

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO COMMON STOCK WARRANT AGREEMENT]
 

 
EXHIBIT A 

FORM OF WARRANT CERTIFICATE
[FACE OF WARRANT CERTIFICATE]

 
[[Form if Warrants are attached to Other Securities and are not immediately
detachable.]

[Prior to                     , this Warrant Certificate cannot be transferred or
exchanged unless attached to a [Title of Other Securities].]

   
[Form of Legend if Warrants are not immediately exercisable.] [Prior to                     , Warrants evidenced by this Warrant Certificate cannot be

exercised.]
 

EXERCISABLE ONLY IF COUNTERSIGNED BY THE WARRANT AGENT AS PROVIDED HEREIN
 

VOID AFTER [        ] P.M., [            ] TIME, ON                     ,
 

 

RIGEL PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.  
WARRANT CERTIFICATE REPRESENTING 

WARRANTS TO PURCHASE 
COMMON STOCK, PAR VALUE $0.001 PER SHARE

 
No. Warrants

 
This certifies that                      or registered assigns is the registered owner of the above indicated number of Warrants, each Warrant entitling such owner [if

Warrants are attached to Other Securities and are not immediately detachable—, subject to the registered owner qualifying as a “Holder” of this Warrant Certificate, as
hereinafter defined),] to purchase, at any time [after [        ] p.m., [            ] time, [on                  and] on or before [        ] p.m., [            ] time, on                 ,                     
shares of Common Stock, par value $0.001 per share (the “Warrant Securities”), of Rigel Pharmaceuticals, Inc.  (the “Company”) on the following basis: during the period
from                     , through and including                     , the exercise price per Warrant Security will be $            , subject to adjustment as provided in the Warrant Agreement
(as hereinafter defined) (the “Warrant Price”).  The Holder may exercise the Warrants evidenced hereby by providing certain information set forth on the back hereof and by
paying in full, in lawful money of the United States of America, [in cash or by certified check or official bank check in New York Clearing House funds] [by bank wire
transfer in immediately available funds], the Warrant Price for each Warrant Security with respect to which this Warrant is exercised to the Warrant Agent (as hereinafter
defined) and by surrendering this Warrant Certificate, with the purchase form on the back hereof duly executed, at the corporate trust office of [name of Warrant Agent], or its
successor as warrant agent (the “Warrant Agent”), which is, on the date hereof, at the address specified on the reverse hereof, and upon compliance with and subject to the
conditions set forth herein and in the Warrant Agreement (as hereinafter defined).

 
The term “Holder” as used herein shall mean [if Warrants are attached to Other Securities and are not immediately detachable—prior to                     ,              (the

“Detachable Date”), the registered owner of the Company’s [title of Other Securities] to which this Warrant Certificate was initially attached, and after such Detachable Date,]
the person in whose name at the time this Warrant Certificate shall be registered upon the books to be maintained by the Warrant Agent for that purpose pursuant to Section 4
of the Warrant Agreement.

 
The Warrants evidenced by this Warrant Certificate may be exercised to purchase a whole number of Warrant Securities in registered form.  Upon any exercise of

fewer than all of the Warrants evidenced by this Warrant Certificate, there shall be issued to the Holder hereof a new Warrant Certificate evidencing Warrants for the number
of Warrant Securities remaining unexercised.

 
This Warrant Certificate is issued under and in accordance with the Warrant Agreement dated as of                     ,              (the “Warrant Agreement”), between the

Company and the Warrant Agent and is subject to the terms and provisions contained in the Warrant Agreement, to all of which terms and provisions the Holder of this
Warrant Certificate consents by acceptance

 

 
hereof.  Copies of the Warrant Agreement are on file at the above-mentioned office of the Warrant Agent.

 
[If Warrants are attached to Other Securities and are not immediately detachable - Prior to the Detachable Date, this Warrant Certificate may be exchanged or

transferred only together with the [Title of Other Securities] (the “Other Securities”) to which this Warrant Certificate was initially attached, and only for the purpose of
effecting or in conjunction with, an exchange or transfer of such Other Security.  Additionally, on or prior to the Detachable Date, each transfer of such Other Security on the
register of the Other Securities shall operate also to transfer this Warrant Certificate.  After such date, transfer of this] [If Warrants are attached to Other Securities and are
immediately detachable - Transfer of this] Warrant Certificate may be registered when this Warrant Certificate is surrendered at the corporate trust office of the Warrant
Agent by the registered owner or such owner’s assigns, in the manner and subject to the limitations provided in the Warrant Agreement.

 
[If Other Securities with Warrants which are not immediately detachable - Except as provided in the immediately preceding paragraph, after] [If Other Securities with

Warrants which are immediately detachable or Warrants alone - After] countersignature by the Warrant Agent and prior to the expiration of this Warrant Certificate, this
Warrant Certificate may be exchanged at the corporate trust office of the Warrant Agent for Warrant Certificates representing Warrants for the same aggregate number of
Warrant Securities.

 



This Warrant Certificate shall not entitle the Holder hereof to any of the rights of a holder of the Warrant Securities, including, without limitation, the right to receive
payments of dividends or distributions, if any, on the Warrant Securities (except to the extent set forth in the Warrant Agreement) or to exercise any voting rights.

 
Reference is hereby made to the further provisions of this Warrant Certificate set forth on the reverse hereof, which further provisions shall for all purposes have the

same effect as if set forth at this place.
 
This Warrant Certificate shall not be valid or obligatory for any purpose until countersigned by the Warrant Agent.
 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Warrant to be executed in its name and on its behalf by the facsimile signatures of its duly authorized

officers.
 

Dated:
   

RIGEL PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
   

By
   

Its
   
Attest:
   
   
   

Countersigned:
   
   
   

As Warrant Agent
   

By
Authorized Signature

 

 
[REVERSE OF WARRANT CERTIFICATE]

 
(Instructions for Exercise of Warrant)

 
To exercise any Warrants evidenced hereby for Warrant Securities (as hereinafter defined), the Holder must pay, in lawful money of the United States of America,

[in cash or by certified check or official bank check in New York Clearing House funds] [by bank wire transfer in immediately available funds], the Warrant Price in full for
Warrants exercised, to [Warrant Agent] [address of Warrant Agent], Attn:                     , which payment must specify the name of the Holder and the number of Warrants
exercised by such Holder.  In addition, the Holder must complete the information required below and present this Warrant Certificate in person or by mail (certified or
registered mail is recommended) to the Warrant Agent at the appropriate address set forth above.  This Warrant Certificate, completed and duly executed, must be received by
the Warrant Agent within five business days of the payment.

 
(To be executed upon exercise of Warrants)

 
The undersigned hereby irrevocably elects to exercise                      Warrants, evidenced by this Warrant Certificate, to purchase                      shares of the Common

Stock, par value $0.001 per share (the “Warrant Securities”), of Rigel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and represents that he has tendered payment for such Warrant Securities, in lawful
money of the United States of America, [in cash or by certified check or official bank check in New York Clearing House funds] [by bank wire transfer in immediately
available funds], to the order of Rigel Pharmaceuticals, Inc., c/o [insert name and address of Warrant Agent], in the amount of $             in accordance with the terms hereof. 
The undersigned requests that said Warrant Securities be in fully registered form in the authorized denominations, registered in such names and delivered all as specified in
accordance with the instructions set forth below.

 
If the number of Warrants exercised is less than all of the Warrants evidenced hereby, the undersigned requests that a new Warrant Certificate evidencing the

Warrants for the number of Warrant Securities remaining unexercised be issued and delivered to the undersigned unless otherwise specified in the instructions below.
 

Dated Name
Please Print

   
   
Address:
   
   
   
   
(Insert Social Security or Other Identifying Number of Holder)
   
   
Signature Guaranteed

Signature
   
   

 

 
(Signature must conform in all respects to name of holder as specified on the face of this Warrant Certificate and must bear a signature guarantee by a bank, trust company or
member broker of the New York, Midwest or Pacific Stock Exchange).



 
This Warrant may be exercised at the following addresses:
 
By hand at
 
 
 
 
 
 
By mail at
 
 
 
 
 
[Instructions as to form and delivery of Warrant Securities and, if applicable, Warrant Certificates evidencing Warrants for the number of Warrant Securities remaining
unexercised—complete as appropriate.]
 

 

 
ASSIGNMENT

 
[Form of assignment to be executed if Warrant Holder desires to transfer Warrant)

 
FOR VALUE RECEIVED,                      hereby sells, assigns and transfers unto:
 

   
   
   
   
   
(Please print name and address including zip code) Please print Social Security or other identifying number
   
 
the right represented by the within Warrant to purchase                      shares of [Title of Warrant Securities] of Rigel Pharmaceuticals, Inc.  to which the within Warrant relates
and appoints                      attorney to transfer such right on the books of the Warrant Agent with full power of substitution in the premises.
 
Dated

Signature
 

(Signature must conform in all respects to name of holder as specified on the face of the Warrant)
 

Signature Guaranteed
 
  
 

 



EXHIBIT 4.9
 

RIGEL PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
 

and
 

                , AS WARRANT AGENT
 

FORM OF PREFERRED STOCK
WARRANT AGREEMENT

 
DATED AS OF

 

RIGEL PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
 

FORM OF PREFERRED STOCK WARRANT AGREEMENT
 

PREFERRED STOCK WARRANT AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”), dated as of                      between RIGEL PHARMACEUTICALS, INC., a Delaware
corporation (the “Company”) and                     , a [corporation] [national banking association] organized and existing under the laws of                      and having a corporate
trust office in                     , as warrant agent (the “Warrant Agent”).

 
WHEREAS, the Company proposes to sell [if Warrants are sold with other securities - [title of such other securities being offered] (the “Other Securities”) with]

warrant certificates evidencing one or more warrants (the “Warrants” or, individually, a “Warrant”) representing the right to purchase [title of Preferred Stock purchasable
through exercise of Warrants] (the “Warrant Securities”), such warrant certificates and other warrant certificates issued pursuant to this Agreement being herein called the
“Warrant Certificates”; and

 
WHEREAS, the Company desires the Warrant Agent to act on behalf of the Company, and the Warrant Agent is willing so to act, in connection with the issuance,

registration, transfer, exchange, exercise and replacement of the Warrant Certificates, and in this Agreement wishes to set forth, among other things, the form and provisions
of the Warrant Certificates and the terms and conditions on which they may be issued, registered, transferred, exchanged, exercised and replaced.

 
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and of the mutual agreements herein contained, the parties hereto agree as follows:
 

ARTICLE 1
 

ISSUANCE OF WARRANTS AND EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF WARRANT CERTIFICATES
 

1.1          Issuance of Warrants. [If Warrants alone - Upon issuance, each Warrant Certificate shall evidence one or more Warrants.] [If Other Securities and
Warrants — Warrant Certificates shall be [initially] issued in connection with the issuance of the Other Securities [but shall be separately transferable on and after
                          (the “Detachable Date”)] [and shall not be separately transferable] and each Warrant Certificate shall evidence one or more Warrants.] Each Warrant
evidenced thereby shall represent the right, subject to the provisions contained herein and therein, to purchase one Warrant Security. [If Other Securities and Warrants -
Warrant Certificates shall be initially issued in units with the Other Securities and each Warrant Certificate included in such a unit shall evidence                           Warrants for
each [$                          principal amount] [        shares] of Other Securities included in such unit.]

 
1.2          Execution And Delivery Of Warrant Certificates. Each Warrant Certificate, whenever issued, shall be in registered form substantially in the form set

forth in Exhibit A hereto, shall be dated the date of its countersignature by the Warrant Agent and may have such
 

letters, numbers, or other marks of identification or designation and such legends or endorsements printed, lithographed or engraved thereon as the officers of the Company
executing the same may approve (execution thereof to be conclusive evidence of such approval) and as are not inconsistent with the provisions of this Agreement, or as may
be required to comply with any law or with any rule or regulation made pursuant thereto or with any rule or regulation of any securities exchange on which the Warrants may
be listed, or to conform to usage. The Warrant Certificates shall be signed on behalf of the Company by any of its present or future chief executive officers, presidents, senior
vice presidents, vice presidents, chief financial officers, chief legal officers, treasurers, assistant treasurers, controllers, assistant controllers, secretaries or assistant secretaries
under its corporate seal reproduced thereon. Such signatures may be manual or facsimile signatures of such authorized officers and may be imprinted or otherwise reproduced
on the Warrant Certificates. The seal of the Company may be in the form of a facsimile thereof and may be impressed, affixed, imprinted or otherwise reproduced on the
Warrant Certificates.

 
No Warrant Certificate shall be valid for any purpose, and no Warrant evidenced thereby shall be exercisable, until such Warrant Certificate has been countersigned

by the manual signature of the Warrant Agent. Such signature by the Warrant Agent upon any Warrant Certificate executed by the Company shall be conclusive evidence that
the Warrant Certificate so countersigned has been duly issued hereunder.

 
In case any officer of the Company who shall have signed any of the Warrant Certificates either manually or by facsimile signature shall cease to be such officer

before the Warrant Certificates so signed shall have been countersigned and delivered by the Warrant Agent, such Warrant Certificates may be countersigned and delivered
notwithstanding that the person who signed Warrant Certificates ceased to be such officer of the Company; and any Warrant Certificate may be signed on behalf of the
Company by such persons as, at the actual date of the execution of such Warrant Certificate, shall be the proper officers of the Company, although at the date of the execution
of this Agreement any such person was not such officer.

 
The term “holder” or “holder of a Warrant Certificate” as used herein shall mean any person in whose name at the time any Warrant Certificate shall be registered

upon the books to be maintained by the Warrant Agent for that purpose [If Other Securities and Warrants are not immediately detachable—or upon the registration of the
Other Securities prior to the Detachable Date. Prior to the Detachable Date, the Company will, or will cause the registrar of the Other Securities to, make available at all times
to the Warrant Agent such information as to holders of the Other Securities as may be necessary to keep the Warrant Agent’s records up to date].

 
1.3          Issuance Of Warrant Certificates. Warrant Certificates evidencing the right to purchase Warrant Securities may be executed by the Company and

delivered to the Warrant Agent upon the execution of this Warrant Agreement or from time to time thereafter. The Warrant Agent shall, upon receipt of Warrant Certificates
duly executed on behalf of the Company, countersign such Warrant Certificates and shall deliver such Warrant Certificates to or upon the order of the Company.

 

ARTICLE 2
 

WARRANT PRICE, DURATION AND EXERCISE OF WARRANTS
 



2.1          Warrant Price. During the period specified in Section 2.2, each Warrant shall, subject to the terms of this Warrant Agreement and the applicable Warrant
Certificate, entitle the holder thereof to purchase the number of Warrant Securities specified in the applicable Warrant Certificate at an exercise price of $          per Warrant
Security, subject to adjustment upon the occurrence of certain events, as hereinafter provided. Such purchase price per Warrant Security is referred to in this Agreement as the
“Warrant Price.”

 
2.2          Duration Of Warrants. Each Warrant may be exercised in whole or in part at any time, as specified herein, on or after [the date thereof] [                         ]

and at or before [              ] p.m., [              ] time, on                           or such later date as the Company may designate by notice to the Warrant Agent and the holders of
Warrant Certificates mailed to their addresses as set forth in the record books of the Warrant Agent (the “Expiration Date”). Each Warrant not exercised at or before
[           ] p.m., [              ] time, on the Expiration Date shall become void, and all rights of the holder of the Warrant Certificate evidencing such Warrant under this
Agreement shall cease.

 
2.3          Exercise Of Warrants.
 

(a)           During the period specified in Section 2.2, the Warrants may be exercised to purchase a whole number of Warrant Securities in registered form by
providing certain information as set forth on the reverse side of the Warrant Certificate and by paying in full, in lawful money of the United States of America, [in cash or by
certified check or official bank check in New York Clearing House funds] [by bank wire transfer in immediately available funds] the Warrant Price for each Warrant Security
with respect to which a Warrant is being exercised to the Warrant Agent at its corporate trust office, provided that such exercise is subject to receipt within five business days
of such payment by the Warrant Agent of the Warrant Certificate with the form of election to purchase Warrant Securities set forth on the reverse side of the Warrant
Certificate properly completed and duly executed. The date on which payment in full of the Warrant Price is received by the Warrant Agent shall, subject to receipt of the
Warrant Certificate as aforesaid, be deemed to be the date on which the Warrant is exercised; provided, however, that if, at the date of receipt of such Warrant Certificates and
payment in full of the Warrant Price, the transfer books for the Warrant Securities purchasable upon the exercise of such Warrants shall be closed, no such receipt of such
Warrant Certificates and no such payment of such Warrant Price shall be effective to constitute the person so designated to be named as the holder of record of such Warrant
Securities on such date, but shall be effective to constitute such person as the holder of record of such Warrant Securities for all purposes at the opening of business on the next
succeeding day on which the transfer books for the Warrant Securities purchasable upon the exercise of such Warrants shall be opened, and the certificates for the Warrant
Securities in respect of which such Warrants are then exercised shall be issuable as of the date on such next succeeding day on which the transfer books shall next be opened,
and until such date the Company shall be under no duty to deliver any certificate for such Warrant Securities. The Warrant Agent shall deposit all funds received by it in
payment of the Warrant Price in an account of the Company maintained with it and shall advise the Company by

 

telephone at the end of each day on which a payment for the exercise of Warrants is received of the amount so deposited to its account. The Warrant Agent shall promptly
confirm such telephone advice to the Company in writing.

 
(b)           The Warrant Agent shall, from time to time, as promptly as practicable, advise the Company of (i) the number of Warrant Securities with respect

to which Warrants were exercised, (ii) the instructions of each holder of the Warrant Certificates evidencing such Warrants with respect to delivery of the Warrant Securities
to which such holder is entitled upon such exercise, (iii) delivery of Warrant Certificates evidencing the balance, if any, of the Warrants for the remaining Warrant Securities
after such exercise, and (iv) such other information as the Company shall reasonably require.

 
(c)           As soon as practicable after the exercise of any Warrant, the Company shall issue to or upon the order of the holder of the Warrant Certificate

evidencing such Warrant the Warrant Securities to which such holder is entitled, in fully registered form, registered in such name or names as may be directed by such holder.
If fewer than all of the Warrants evidenced by such Warrant Certificate are exercised, the Company shall execute, and an authorized officer of the Warrant Agent shall
manually countersign and deliver, a new Warrant Certificate evidencing Warrants for the number of Warrant Securities remaining unexercised.

 
(d)           The Company shall not be required to pay any stamp or other tax or other governmental charge required to be paid in connection with any transfer

involved in the issue of the Warrant Securities, and in the event that any such transfer is involved, the Company shall not be required to issue or deliver any Warrant Security
until such tax or other charge shall have been paid or it has been established to the Company’s satisfaction that no such tax or other charge is due.

 
(e)           Prior to the issuance of any Warrants there shall have been reserved, and the Company shall at all times through the Expiration Date keep

reserved, out of its authorized but unissued Warrant Securities, a number of shares sufficient to provide for the exercise of the Warrants.
 

ARTICLE 3
 

OTHER PROVISIONS RELATING TO RIGHTS OF HOLDERS OF WARRANT CERTIFICATES
 

3.1          No Rights As Warrant Securityholder Conferred By Warrants or Warrant Certificates. No Warrant Certificate or Warrant evidenced thereby shall
entitle the holder thereof to any of the rights of a holder of Warrant Securities, including, without limitation, the right to receive the payment of dividends or distributions, if
any, on the Warrant Securities or to exercise any voting rights, except to the extent expressly set forth in this Agreement or the applicable Warrant Certificate.

 
3.2          Lost, Stolen, Mutilated or Destroyed Warrant Certificates. Upon receipt by the Warrant Agent of evidence reasonably satisfactory to it and the

Company of the ownership of and the loss, theft, destruction or mutilation of any Warrant Certificate and/or indemnity
 

reasonably satisfactory to the Warrant Agent and the Company and, in the case of mutilation, upon surrender of the mutilated Warrant Certificate to the Warrant Agent for
cancellation, then, in the absence of notice to the Company or the Warrant Agent that such Warrant Certificate has been acquired by a bona fide purchaser, the Company shall
execute, and an authorized officer of the Warrant Agent shall manually countersign and deliver, in exchange for or in lieu of the lost, stolen, destroyed or mutilated Warrant
Certificate, a new Warrant Certificate of the same tenor and evidencing Warrants for a like number of Warrant Securities. Upon the issuance of any new Warrant Certificate
under this Section 3.2, the Company may require the payment of a sum sufficient to cover any tax or other governmental charge that may be imposed in relation thereto and
any other expenses (including the fees and expenses of the Warrant Agent) in connection therewith. Every substitute Warrant Certificate executed and delivered pursuant to
this Section 3.2 in lieu of any lost, stolen or destroyed Warrant Certificate shall represent an additional contractual obligation of the Company, whether or not the lost, stolen
or destroyed Warrant Certificate shall be at any time enforceable by anyone, and shall be entitled to the benefits of this Agreement equally and proportionately with any and
all other Warrant Certificates duly executed and delivered hereunder. The provisions of this Section 3.2 are exclusive and shall preclude (to the extent lawful) all other rights
and remedies with respect to the replacement of mutilated, lost, stolen or destroyed Warrant Certificates.

 
3.3          Holder of Warrant Certificate May Enforce Rights. Notwithstanding any of the provisions of this Agreement, any holder of a Warrant Certificate,

without the consent of the Warrant Agent, the holder of any Warrant Securities or the holder of any other Warrant Certificate, may, in such holder’s own behalf and for such
holder’s own benefit, enforce, and may institute and maintain any suit, action or proceeding against the Company suitable to enforce, or otherwise in respect of, such holder’s
right to exercise the Warrants evidenced by such holder’s Warrant Certificate in the manner provided in such holder’s Warrant Certificate and in this Agreement.

 
3.4          Adjustments.
 

(a)           In case the Company shall at any time subdivide its outstanding shares of [title of Preferred Stock purchasable through exercise of Warrants] into
a greater number of shares, the Warrant Price in effect immediately prior to such subdivision shall be proportionately reduced and the number of Warrant Securities
purchasable under the Warrants shall be proportionately increased. Conversely, in case the outstanding shares of [title of Preferred Stock purchasable through exercise of



Warrants] of the Company shall be combined into a smaller number of shares, the Warrant Price in effect immediately prior to such combination shall be proportionately
increased and the number of Warrant Securities purchasable under the Warrants shall be proportionately decreased.

 
(b)           If at any time or from time to time the holders of [title of Preferred Stock purchasable through exercise of Warrants] (or any shares of stock or

other securities at the time receivable upon the exercise of the Warrants) shall have received or become entitled to receive, without payment therefore,
 

(i)            [title of Preferred Stock purchasable through exercise of Warrants] or any shares of stock or other securities which are at any time
directly or indirectly convertible

 

into or exchangeable for [title of Preferred Stock purchasable through exercise of Warrants], or any rights or options to subscribe for, purchase or otherwise acquire any of the
foregoing by way of dividend or other distribution;

 
(ii)           any cash paid or payable otherwise than in accordance with the terms of [title of Preferred Stock purchasable through exercise of

Warrants] or otherwise than as a cash dividend paid or payable out of the Company’s current or retained earnings;
 
(iii)         any evidence of the Company’s indebtedness or rights to subscribe for or purchase the Company’s indebtedness; or
 
(iv)          [title of Preferred Stock purchasable through exercise of Warrants] or additional stock or other securities or property (including cash) by

way of spinoff, split-up, reclassification, combination of shares or similar corporate rearrangement (other than shares of [title of Preferred Stock purchasable through exercise
of Warrants] issued as a stock split or adjustments in respect of which shall be covered by the terms of Section 3.4(a) above), then and in each such case, the holder of each
Warrant shall, upon the exercise of the Warrant, be entitled to receive, in addition to the number of Warrant Securities receivable thereupon, and without payment of any
additional consideration therefore, the amount of stock and other securities and property (including cash and indebtedness or rights to subscribe for or purchase indebtedness)
which such holder would hold on the date of such exercise had he been the holder of record of such Warrant Securities as of the date on which holders of [title of Preferred
Stock purchasable through exercise of Warrants] received or became entitled to receive such shares or all other additional stock and other securities and property.

 
(c)           In case of (i) any reclassification, capital reorganization, or change in the [title of Preferred Stock purchasable through the exercise of the

Warrants] of the Company (other than as a result of a subdivision, combination or stock dividend provided for in Section 3.4(a) or Section 3.4(b) above), (ii) share exchange,
merger or similar transaction of the Company with or into another person or entity (other than a share exchange, merger or similar transaction in which the Company is the
acquiring or surviving corporation and which does not result in any change in the [title of Preferred Stock purchasable through the exercise of the Warrants] other than the
issuance of additional shares of [title of Preferred Stock purchasable through the exercise of the Warrants]) or (iii) the sale, exchange, lease, transfer or other disposition of all
or substantially all of the properties and assets of the Company as an entirety (in any such case, a “Reorganization Event”), then, as a condition of such Reorganization Event,
lawful provisions shall be made, and duly executed documents evidencing the same from the Company or its successor shall be delivered to the holders of the Warrants, so
that the holders of the Warrants shall have the right at any time prior to the expiration of the Warrants to purchase, at a total price equal to that payable upon the exercise of
the Warrants, the kind and amount of shares of stock and other securities and property receivable in connection with such Reorganization Event by a holder of the same
number of shares of [title of Preferred Stock purchasable through the exercise of the Warrants] as were purchasable by the holders of the Warrants immediately prior to such
Reorganization Event. In any such case appropriate provisions shall be made with respect to the rights and interests of the holders of the Warrants so that the provisions hereof
shall thereafter be applicable with respect to any shares of stock or other securities and property deliverable upon exercise the Warrants, and appropriate adjustments shall be
made to the Warrant Price payable

 

hereunder provided the aggregate purchase price shall remain the same. In the case of any transaction described in clauses (ii) and (iii) above, the Company shall thereupon be
relieved of any further obligation hereunder or under the Warrants, and the Company as the predecessor corporation may thereupon or at any time thereafter be dissolved,
wound up or liquidated. Such successor or assuming entity thereupon may cause to be signed, and may issue either in its own name or in the name of the Company, any or all
of the Warrants issuable hereunder which heretofore shall not have been signed by the Company, and may execute and deliver securities in its own name, in fulfillment of its
obligations to deliver Warrant Securities upon exercise of the Warrants. All the Warrants so issued shall in all respects have the same legal rank and benefit under this
Agreement as the Warrants theretofore or thereafter issued in accordance with the terms of this Agreement as though all of such Warrants had been issued at the date of the
execution hereof. In any case of any such Reorganization Event, such changes in phraseology and form (but not in substance) may be made in the Warrants thereafter to be
issued as may be appropriate.

 
(d)           The Company may, at its option, at any time until the Expiration Date, reduce the then current Warrant Price to any amount deemed appropriate

by the Board of Directors of the Company for any period not exceeding twenty consecutive days (as evidenced in a resolution adopted by such Board of Directors), but only
upon giving the notices required by Section 3.5 at least ten days prior to taking such action.

 
(e)           Except as herein otherwise expressly provided, no adjustment in the Warrant Price shall be made by reason of the issuance of any securities of the

Company or for any other reason whatsoever.
 
(f)            No fractional Warrant Securities shall be issued upon the exercise of Warrants. If more than one Warrant shall be exercised at one time by the

same holder, the number of full Warrant Securities which shall be issuable upon such exercise shall be computed on the basis of the aggregate number of Warrant Securities
purchased pursuant to the Warrants so exercised. Instead of any fractional Warrant Security which would otherwise be issuable upon exercise of any Warrant, the Company
shall pay a cash adjustment in respect of such fraction in an amount equal to the same fraction of the last sales price (or bid price if there were no sales) per Warrant Security,
in either case as reported on the New York Stock Exchange Composite Tape or the Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. (“NASDAQ”), as applicable, on the business day which next
precedes the day of exercise or, if the Warrant Securities are not then listed or admitted to trading on the New York Stock Exchange or NASDAQ, on the principal national
securities exchange on which the Warrant Securities are listed or admitted to trading or, if not listed or admitted to trading on any national securities exchange, the average of
the closing high bid and low asked prices in the over-the-counter market, as reported by The NASDAQ or the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, Inc. (“FINRA”), as
applicable, or such other system then in use, or if on any such date the Warrant Securities are not quoted by any such organization, an amount equal to the same fraction of the
average of the closing bid and asked prices as furnished by any NASDAQ firm selected from time to time by the Company for that purpose at the close of business on the
business day which next precedes the day of exercise.

 
(g)           Whenever the Warrant Price then in effect is adjusted as herein provided, the Company shall mail to each holder of the Warrants at such holder’s

address as it shall appear
 

on the books of the Company a statement setting forth the adjusted Warrant Price then and thereafter effective under the provisions hereof, together with the facts, in
reasonable detail, upon which such adjustment is based.

 
3.5          Notice to Warrantholders. In case the Company shall (a) effect any dividend or distribution described in Section 3.4(b), (b) effect any Reorganization

Event, (c) make any distribution on or in respect of the [title of Preferred Stock purchasable through the exercise of the Warrants] in connection with the dissolution,
liquidation or winding up of the Company, or (d) reduce the then current Warrant Price pursuant to Section 3.4(d), then the Company shall mail to each holder of Warrants at
such holder’s address as it shall appear on the books of the Warrant Agent, at least ten days prior to the applicable date hereinafter specified, a notice stating (x) the record
date for such dividend or distribution, or, if a record is not to be taken, the date as of which the holders of record of [title of Preferred Stock purchasable through the exercise



of Warrants] that will be entitled to such dividend or distribution are to be determined, (y) the date on which such Reorganization Event, dissolution, liquidation or winding
up is expected to become effective, and the date as of which it is expected that holders of [title of Preferred Stock purchasable through the exercise of the Warrants] of record
shall be entitled to exchange their shares of [title of Preferred Stock purchasable through the exercise of the Warrants] for securities or other property deliverable upon such
Reorganization Event, dissolution, liquidation or winding up, or (z) the first date on which the then current Warrant Price shall be reduced pursuant to Section 3.4(d). No
failure to mail such notice nor any defect therein or in the mailing thereof shall affect any such transaction or any adjustment in the Warrant Price required by Section 3.4.

 
3.6          [IF THE WARRANTS ARE SUBJECT TO ACCELERATION BY THE COMPANY, INSERT—ACCELERATION OF WARRANTS BY THE

COMPANY.
 

(a)           At any time on or after                          , the Company shall have the right to accelerate any or all Warrants at any time by causing them to expire
at the close of business on the day next preceding a specified date (the “Acceleration Date”), if the Market Price (as hereinafter defined) of the [title of Preferred Stock
purchasable through the exercise of the Warrants] equals or exceeds                           percent (         %) of the then effective Warrant Price on any twenty Trading Days (as
hereinafter defined) within a period of thirty consecutive Trading Days ending no more than five Trading Days prior to the date on which the Company gives notice to the
Warrant Agent of its election to accelerate the Warrants.

 
(b)           “Market Price” for each Trading Day shall be, if the [title of Preferred Stock purchasable through the exercise of the Warrants] is listed or

admitted for trading on the New York Stock Exchange or the NASDAQ, the last reported sale price, regular way (or, if no such price is reported, the average of the reported
closing bid and asked prices, regular way) of [title of Preferred Stock purchasable through the exercise of the Warrants], in either case as reported on the New York Stock
Exchange Composite Tape or the NASDAQ, as applicable, or, if the [title of Preferred Stock purchasable through the exercise of the Warrants] is not listed or admitted to
trading on the New York Stock Exchange or the NASDAQ, as applicable, on the principal national securities exchange on which the [title of Preferred Stock purchasable
through the exercise of the Warrants] is listed or admitted to trading or, if not listed or admitted to trading on any national securities exchange, the average of the closing high
bid and low asked prices in

 

the over-the-counter market, as reported by NASDAQ or FINRA, as applicable, or such other system then in use, or if on any such date the shares of [title of Preferred Stock
purchasable through the exercise of the Warrants] are not quoted by any such organization, the average of the closing bid and asked prices as furnished by any NASDAQ firm
selected from time to time by the Company for that purpose. “Trading Day” shall be each Monday through Friday, other than any day on which securities are not traded in the
system or on the exchange that is the principal market for the [title of Preferred Stock purchasable through the exercise of the Warrants], as determined by the Board of
Directors of the Company.

 
(c)           In the event of an acceleration of less than all of the Warrants, the Warrant Agent shall select the Warrants to be accelerated by lot, pro rata or in

such other manner as it deems, in its discretion, to be fair and appropriate.
 
(d)           Notice of an acceleration specifying the Acceleration Date shall be sent by mail first class, postage prepaid, to each registered holder of a Warrant

Certificate representing a Warrant accelerated at such holder’s address appearing on the books of the Warrant Agent not more than sixty days nor less than thirty days before
the Acceleration Date. Such notice of an acceleration also shall be given no more than twenty days, and no less than ten days, prior to the mailing of notice to registered
holders of Warrants pursuant to this Section 3.6, by publication at least once in a newspaper of general circulation in the City of New York.

 
(e)           Any Warrant accelerated may be exercised until [         ] p.m., [              ] time, on the business day next preceding the Acceleration Date. The

Warrant Price shall be payable as provided in Section 2.]
 

ARTICLE 4
 

EXCHANGE AND TRANSFER OF WARRANT CERTIFICATES
 

4.1          Exchange and Transfer of Warrant Certificates. [If Other Securities with Warrants which are immediately detachable—Upon] [If Other Securities with
Warrants which are not immediately detachable—Prior to the Detachable Date, a Warrant Certificate may be exchanged or transferred only together with the Other Security
to which the Warrant Certificate was initially attached, and only for the purpose of effecting or in conjunction with an exchange or transfer of such Other Security. Prior to any
Detachable Date, each transfer of the Other Security shall operate also to transfer the related Warrant Certificates. After the Detachable Date, upon] surrender at the corporate
trust office of the Warrant Agent, Warrant Certificates evidencing Warrants may be exchanged for Warrant Certificates in other denominations evidencing such Warrants or
the transfer thereof may be registered in whole or in part; provided that such other Warrant Certificates evidence Warrants for the same aggregate number of Warrant
Securities as the Warrant Certificates so surrendered. The Warrant Agent shall keep, at its corporate trust office, books in which, subject to such reasonable regulations as it
may prescribe, it shall register Warrant Certificates and exchanges and transfers of outstanding Warrant Certificates, upon surrender of the Warrant Certificates to the Warrant
Agent at its corporate trust office for exchange or registration of transfer, properly endorsed or accompanied by appropriate instruments of registration of transfer and written
instructions for transfer, all in form satisfactory to the Company and the Warrant Agent. No service charge shall be made for

 

any exchange or registration of transfer of Warrant Certificates, but the Company may require payment of a sum sufficient to cover any stamp or other tax or other
governmental charge that may be imposed in connection with any such exchange or registration of transfer. Whenever any Warrant Certificates are so surrendered for
exchange or registration of transfer, an authorized officer of the Warrant Agent shall manually countersign and deliver to the person or persons entitled thereto a Warrant
Certificate or Warrant Certificates duly authorized and executed by the Company, as so requested. The Warrant Agent shall not be required to effect any exchange or
registration of transfer which will result in the issuance of a Warrant Certificate evidencing a Warrant for a fraction of a Warrant Security or a number of Warrants for a whole
number of Warrant Securities and a fraction of a Warrant Security. All Warrant Certificates issued upon any exchange or registration of transfer of Warrant Certificates shall
be the valid obligations of the Company, evidencing the same obligations and entitled to the same benefits under this Agreement as the Warrant Certificate surrendered for
such exchange or registration of transfer.

 
4.2          Treatment of Holders of Warrant Certificates. [If Other Securities and Warrants are not immediately detachable—Prior to the Detachable Date, the

Company, the Warrant Agent and all other persons may treat the owner of the Other Security as the owner of the Warrant Certificates initially attached thereto for any
purpose and as the person entitled to exercise the rights represented by the Warrants evidenced by such Warrant Certificates, any notice to the contrary notwithstanding. After
the Detachable Date and prior to due presentment of a Warrant Certificate for registration of transfer, the] [The] Company, the Warrant Agent and all other persons may treat
the registered holder of a Warrant Certificate as the absolute owner thereof for any purpose and as the person entitled to exercise the rights represented by the Warrants
evidenced thereby, any notice to the contrary notwithstanding.

 
4.3          Cancellation of Warrant Certificates. Any Warrant Certificate surrendered for exchange, registration of transfer or exercise of the Warrants evidenced

thereby shall, if surrendered to the Company, be delivered to the Warrant Agent and all Warrant Certificates surrendered or so delivered to the Warrant Agent shall be
promptly canceled by the Warrant Agent and shall not be reissued and, except as expressly permitted by this Agreement, no Warrant Certificate shall be issued hereunder in
exchange therefor or in lieu thereof. The Warrant Agent shall deliver to the Company from time to time or otherwise dispose of canceled Warrant Certificates in a manner
satisfactory to the Company.

 
ARTICLE 5

 
CONCERNING THE WARRANT AGENT



 
5.1          Warrant Agent. The Company hereby appoints                              as Warrant Agent of the Company in respect of the Warrants and the Warrant

Certificates upon the terms and subject to the conditions herein set forth, and                            hereby accepts such appointment. The Warrant Agent shall have the powers and
authority granted to and conferred upon it in the Warrant Certificates and hereby and such further powers and authority to act on behalf of the Company as the Company may
hereafter grant to or confer upon it. All of the terms and provisions with respect to such powers and authority contained in the Warrant Certificates are subject to and governed
by the terms and provisions hereof.

 

5.2          Conditions of Warrant Agent’s Obligations. The Warrant Agent accepts its obligations herein set forth upon the terms and conditions hereof, including
the following to all of which the Company agrees and to all of which the rights hereunder of the holders from time to time of the Warrant Certificates shall be subject:

 
(a)           Compensation and Indemnification. The Company agrees promptly to pay the Warrant Agent the compensation to be agreed upon with the

Company for all services rendered by the Warrant Agent and to reimburse the Warrant Agent for reasonable out-of-pocket expenses (including reasonable counsel fees)
incurred without negligence, bad faith or willful misconduct by the Warrant Agent in connection with the services rendered hereunder by the Warrant Agent. The Company
also agrees to indemnify the Warrant Agent for, and to hold it harmless against, any loss, liability or expense incurred without negligence, bad faith or willful misconduct on
the part of the Warrant Agent, arising out of or in connection with its acting as Warrant Agent hereunder, including the reasonable costs and expenses of defending against any
claim of such liability.

 
(b)           Agent for the Company.  In acting under this Warrant Agreement and in connection with the Warrant Certificates, the Warrant Agent is acting

solely as agent of the Company and does not assume any obligations or relationship of agency or trust for or with any of the holders of Warrant Certificates or beneficial
owners of Warrants.

 
(c)           Counsel. The Warrant Agent may consult with counsel satisfactory to it, which may include counsel for the Company, and the written advice of

such counsel shall be full and complete authorization and protection in respect of any action taken, suffered or omitted by it hereunder in good faith and in accordance with the
advice of such counsel.

 
(d)           Documents. The Warrant Agent shall be protected and shall incur no liability for or in respect of any action taken or omitted by it in reliance upon

any Warrant Certificate, notice, direction, consent, certificate, affidavit, statement or other paper or document reasonably believed by it to be genuine and to have been
presented or signed by the proper parties.

 
(e)           Certain Transactions. The Warrant Agent, and its officers, directors and employees, may become the owner of, or acquire any interest in,

Warrants, with the same rights that it or they would have if it were not the Warrant Agent hereunder, and, to the extent permitted by applicable law, it or they may engage or
be interested in any financial or other transaction with the Company and may act on, or as depositary, trustee or agent for, any committee or body of holders of Warrant
Securities or other obligations of the Company as freely as if it were not the Warrant Agent hereunder. Nothing in this Warrant Agreement shall be deemed to prevent the
Warrant Agent from acting as trustee under any indenture to which the Company is a party.

 
(f)            No Liability for Interest. Unless otherwise agreed with the Company, the Warrant Agent shall have no liability for interest on any monies at any

time received by it pursuant to any of the provisions of this Agreement or of the Warrant Certificates.
 
(g)           No Liability for Invalidity. The Warrant Agent shall have no liability
 

with respect to any invalidity of this Agreement or any of the Warrant Certificates (except as to the Warrant Agent’s countersignature thereon).
 
(h)           No Responsibility for Representations. The Warrant Agent shall not be responsible for any of the recitals or representations herein or in the

Warrant Certificates (except as to the Warrant Agent’s countersignature thereon), all of which are made solely by the Company.
 
(i)            No Implied Obligations. The Warrant Agent shall be obligated to perform only such duties as are herein and in the Warrant Certificates

specifically set forth and no implied duties or obligations shall be read into this Agreement or the Warrant Certificates against the Warrant Agent. The Warrant Agent shall
not be under any obligation to take any action hereunder which may tend to involve it in any expense or liability, the payment of which within a reasonable time is not, in its
reasonable opinion, assured to it. The Warrant Agent shall not be accountable or under any duty or responsibility for the use by the Company of any of the Warrant
Certificates authenticated by the Warrant Agent and delivered by it to the Company pursuant to this Agreement or for the application by the Company of the proceeds of the
Warrant Certificates. The Warrant Agent shall have no duty or responsibility in case of any default by the Company in the performance of its covenants or agreements
contained herein or in the Warrant Certificates or in the case of the receipt of any written demand from a holder of a Warrant Certificate with respect to such default,
including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, any duty or responsibility to initiate or attempt to initiate any proceedings at law or otherwise or, except as provided
in Section 6.2 hereof, to make any demand upon the Company.

 
5.3          Resignation, Removal and Appointment of Successors.
 

(a)           The Company agrees, for the benefit of the holders from time to time of the Warrant Certificates, that there shall at all times be a Warrant Agent
hereunder until all the Warrants have been exercised or are no longer exercisable.

 
(b)           The Warrant Agent may at any time resign as agent by giving written notice to the Company of such intention on its part, specifying the date on

which its desired resignation shall become effective; provided that such date shall not be less than three months after the date on which such notice is given unless the
Company otherwise agrees. The Warrant Agent hereunder may be removed at any time by the filing with it of an instrument in writing signed by or on behalf of the Company
and specifying such removal and the intended date when it shall become effective. Such resignation or removal shall take effect upon the appointment by the Company, as
hereinafter provided, of a successor Warrant Agent (which shall be a bank or trust company authorized under the laws of the jurisdiction of its organization to exercise
corporate trust powers) and the acceptance of such appointment by such successor Warrant Agent. The obligation of the Company under Section 5.2(a) shall continue to the
extent set forth therein notwithstanding the resignation or removal of the Warrant Agent.

 
(c)           In case at any time the Warrant Agent shall resign, or shall be removed, or shall become incapable of acting, or shall be adjudged a bankrupt or

insolvent, or shall commence a voluntary case under the Federal bankruptcy laws, as now or hereafter constituted, or under any other applicable Federal or state bankruptcy,
insolvency or similar law or shall

 

consent to the appointment of or taking possession by a receiver, custodian, liquidator, assignee, trustee, sequestrator (or other similar official) of the Warrant Agent or its
property or affairs, or shall make an assignment for the benefit of creditors, or shall admit in writing its inability to pay its debts generally as they become due, or shall take
corporate action in furtherance of any such action, or a decree or order for relief by a court having jurisdiction in the premises shall have been entered in respect of the Warrant
Agent in an involuntary case under the Federal bankruptcy laws, as now or hereafter constituted, or any other applicable Federal or state bankruptcy, insolvency or similar
law, or a decree or order by a court having jurisdiction in the premises shall have been entered for the appointment of a receiver, custodian, liquidator, assignee, trustee,



sequestrator (or similar official) of the Warrant Agent or of its property or affairs, or any public officer shall take charge or control of the Warrant Agent or of its property or
affairs for the purpose of rehabilitation, conservation, winding up or liquidation, a successor Warrant Agent, qualified as aforesaid, shall be appointed by the Company by an
instrument in writing, filed with the successor Warrant Agent. Upon the appointment as aforesaid of a successor Warrant Agent and acceptance by the successor Warrant
Agent of such appointment, the Warrant Agent shall cease to be Warrant Agent hereunder.

 
(d)           Any successor Warrant Agent appointed hereunder shall execute, acknowledge and deliver to its predecessor and to the Company an instrument

accepting such appointment hereunder, and thereupon such successor Warrant Agent, without any further act, deed or conveyance, shall become vested with all the authority,
rights, powers, trusts, immunities, duties and obligations of such predecessor with like effect as if originally named as Warrant Agent hereunder, and such predecessor, upon
payment of its charges and disbursements then unpaid, shall thereupon become obligated to transfer, deliver and pay over, and such successor Warrant Agent shall be entitled
to receive, all monies, securities and other property on deposit with or held by such predecessor, as Warrant Agent hereunder.

 
(e)           Any corporation into which the Warrant Agent hereunder may be merged or converted or any corporation with which the Warrant Agent may be

consolidated, or any corporation resulting from any merger, conversion or consolidation to which the Warrant Agent shall be a party, or any corporation to which the Warrant
Agent shall sell or otherwise transfer all or substantially all the assets and business of the Warrant Agent, provided that it shall be qualified as aforesaid, shall be the successor
Warrant Agent under this Agreement without the execution or filing of any paper or any further act on the part of any of the parties hereto.

 
ARTICLE 6

 
MISCELLANEOUS

 
6.1          Amendment. This Agreement may be amended by the parties hereto, without the consent of the holder of any Warrant Certificate, for the purpose of curing

any ambiguity, or of curing, correcting or supplementing any defective provision contained herein, or making any other provisions with respect to matters or questions arising
under this Agreement as the Company and the Warrant Agent may deem necessary or desirable; provided that such action shall not materially adversely affect the interests of
the holders of the Warrant Certificates.

 
6.2          Notices and Demands to the Company and Warrant Agent. If the Warrant
 

Agent shall receive any notice or demand addressed to the Company by the holder of a Warrant Certificate pursuant to the provisions of the Warrant Certificates, the Warrant
Agent shall promptly forward such notice or demand to the Company.

 
6.3          Addresses. Any communication from the Company to the Warrant Agent with respect to this Agreement shall be addressed to                          , Attention:

                          and any communication from the Warrant Agent to the Company with respect to this Agreement shall be addressed to Rigel Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 2411
Stanwell Drive, Concord, California, 94520, Attention: General Counsel (or such other address as shall be specified in writing by the Warrant Agent or by the Company).

 
6.4          Governing Law. This Agreement and each Warrant Certificate issued hereunder shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the

State of New York.
 
6.5          Delivery of Prospectus. The Company shall furnish to the Warrant Agent sufficient copies of a prospectus meeting the requirements of the Securities Act

of 1933, as amended, relating to the Warrant Securities deliverable upon exercise of the Warrants (the “Prospectus”), and the Warrant Agent agrees that upon the exercise of
any Warrant, the Warrant Agent will deliver to the holder of the Warrant Certificate evidencing such Warrant, prior to or concurrently with the delivery of the Warrant
Securities issued upon such exercise, a Prospectus.

 
The Warrant Agent shall not, by reason of any such delivery, assume any responsibility for the accuracy or adequacy of such Prospectus.
 
6.6          Obtaining of Governmental Approvals. The Company will from time to time take all action which may be necessary to obtain and keep effective any and

all permits, consents and approvals of governmental agencies and authorities and securities act filings under United States Federal and state laws (including without limitation
a registration statement in respect of the Warrants and Warrant Securities under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended), which may be or become requisite in connection with
the issuance, sale, transfer, and delivery of the Warrant Securities issued upon exercise of the Warrants, the issuance, sale, transfer and delivery of the Warrants or upon the
expiration of the period during which the Warrants are exercisable.

 
6.7          Persons Having Rights Under Warrant Agreement. Nothing in this Agreement shall give to any person other than the Company, the Warrant Agent and

the holders of the Warrant Certificates any right, remedy or claim under or by reason of this Agreement.
 
6.8          Headings. The descriptive headings of the several Articles and Sections of this Agreement are inserted for convenience only and shall not control or affect

the meaning or construction of any of the provisions hereof.
 
6.9          Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which as so executed shall be deemed to be an original, but such

counterparts shall together constitute but one and the same instrument.
 
6.10        Inspection of Agreement. A copy of this Agreement shall be available at all reasonable times at the principal corporate trust office of the Warrant Agent

for inspection by the holder of any Warrant Certificate. The Warrant Agent may require such holder to submit his
 

Warrant Certificate for inspection by it.
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly executed, all as of the day and year first above written.

    
RIGEL PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

    
By

    
Its

Attest:
    
    
    

WARRANT AGENT
    

By



    
Its

Attest:
    
    
    
 

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO PREFERRED STOCK WARRANT AGREEMENT]
 

EXHIBIT A
 

FORM OF WARRANT CERTIFICATE
[FACE OF WARRANT CERTIFICATE]

 
[[Form if Warrants are attached to Other Securities and are not immediately
detachable.]

[Prior to                     , this Warrant Certificate cannot be transferred or
exchanged unless attached to a [Title of Other Securities].]

   
[Form of Legend if Warrants are not immediately exercisable.] [Prior to                     , Warrants evidenced by this Warrant Certificate cannot be

exercised.]
 

EXERCISABLE ONLY IF COUNTERSIGNED BY THE WARRANT AGENT AS PROVIDED HEREIN
 

VOID AFTER [        ] P.M., [              ] TIME, ON                     ,
 

RIGEL PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. 
WARRANTS TO PURCHASE 

[TITLE OF WARRANT SECURITIES]
 

No. Warrants
 

This certifies that                         or registered assigns is the registered owner of the above indicated number of Warrants, each Warrant entitling such owner [if
Warrants are attached to Other Securities and are not immediately detachable—, subject to the registered owner qualifying as a “Holder” of this Warrant Certificate, as
hereinafter defined),] to purchase, at any time [after [         ] p.m., [              ] time, on                          and] on or before [       ] p.m., [              ] time, on                          shares
of [Title of Warrant Securities] (the “Warrant Securities”), of Rigel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”) on the following basis: during the period from                         ,
through and including                         , the exercise price per Warrant Security will be $          , subject to adjustment as provided in the Warrant Agreement (as hereinafter
defined) (the “Warrant Price”). The Holder may exercise the Warrants evidenced hereby by providing certain information set forth on the back hereof and by paying in full, in
lawful money of the United States of America, [in cash or by certified check or official bank check in New York Clearing House funds] [by bank wire transfer in immediately
available funds], the Warrant Price for each Warrant Security with respect to which this Warrant is exercised to the Warrant Agent (as hereinafter defined) and by
surrendering this Warrant Certificate, with the purchase form on the back hereof duly executed, at the corporate trust office of [name of Warrant Agent], or its successor as
warrant agent (the “Warrant Agent”), which is, on the date hereof, at the address specified on the reverse hereof, and upon compliance with and subject to the conditions set
forth herein and in the Warrant Agreement (as hereinafter defined).

 
The term “Holder” as used herein shall mean [if Warrants are attached to Other Securities and are not immediately detachable—prior to                          (the

“Detachable Date”), the registered owner of the Company’s [title of Other Securities] to which this Warrant Certificate was initially attached, and after such Detachable Date,]
the person in whose name at the time this Warrant Certificate shall be registered upon the books to be maintained by the Warrant Agent for that purpose pursuant to Section 4
of the Warrant Agreement.

 
The Warrants evidenced by this Warrant Certificate may be exercised to purchase a whole number of Warrant Securities in registered form. Upon any exercise of

fewer than all of the Warrants evidenced by this Warrant Certificate, there shall be issued to the Holder hereof a new Warrant Certificate evidencing Warrants for the number
of Warrant Securities remaining unexercised.

 
This Warrant Certificate is issued under and in accordance with the Warrant Agreement dated as of                        ,             (the “Warrant Agreement”), between the

Company and the Warrant Agent and is subject to the terms and provisions contained in the Warrant Agreement, to all of which terms and provisions the Holder of this
Warrant Certificate consents by acceptance hereof. Copies of the Warrant Agreement are on file at the above-mentioned office of the Warrant Agent.

 

[If Warrants are attached to Other Securities and are not immediately detachable—Prior to the Detachable Date, this Warrant Certificate may be exchanged or
transferred only together with the [Title of Other Securities] (the “Other Securities”) to which this Warrant Certificate was initially attached, and only for the purpose of
effecting or in conjunction with, an exchange or transfer of such Other Security. Additionally, on or prior to the Detachable Date, each transfer of such Other Security on the
register of the Other Securities shall operate also to transfer this Warrant Certificate. After such date, transfer of this] [If Warrants are attached to Other Securities and are
immediately detachable—Transfer of this] Warrant Certificate may be registered when this Warrant Certificate is surrendered at the corporate trust office of the Warrant
Agent by the registered owner or such owner’s assigns, in the manner and subject to the limitations provided in the Warrant Agreement.

 
[If Other Securities with Warrants which are not immediately detachable—Except as provided in the immediately preceding paragraph, after] [If Other Securities

with Warrants which are immediately detachable or Warrants alone—After] countersignature by the Warrant Agent and prior to the expiration of this Warrant Certificate, this
Warrant Certificate may be exchanged at the corporate trust office of the Warrant Agent for Warrant Certificates representing Warrants for the same aggregate number of
Warrant Securities.

 
This Warrant Certificate shall not entitle the Holder hereof to any of the rights of a holder of the Warrant Securities, including, without limitation, the right to receive

payments of dividends or distributions, if any, on the Warrant Securities (except to the extent set forth in the Warrant Agreement) or to exercise any voting rights.
 
Reference is hereby made to the further provisions of this Warrant Certificate set forth on the reverse hereof, which further provisions shall for all purposes have the

same effect as if set forth at this place.
 
This Warrant Certificate shall not be valid or obligatory for any purpose until countersigned by the Warrant Agent.
 



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Warrant to be executed in its name and on its behalf by the facsimile signatures of its duly authorized
officers.

 
Dated:
     

RIGEL PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
     

By
     

Its
     
Attest:
     
    

Countersigned:
     
     

 

As Warrant Agent
     

By
 

Authorized Signature
     

 

[REVERSE OF WARRANT CERTIFICATE]
 

(Instructions for Exercise of Warrant)
 

To exercise any Warrants evidenced hereby for Warrant Securities (as hereinafter defined), the Holder must pay, in lawful money of the United States of America,
[in cash or by certified check or official bank check in New York Clearing House funds] [by bank wire transfer in immediately available funds], the Warrant Price in full for
Warrants exercised, to [Warrant Agent] [address of Warrant Agent], Attn:                      , which payment must specify the name of the Holder and the number of Warrants
exercised by such Holder. In addition, the Holder must complete the information required below and present this Warrant Certificate in person or by mail (certified or
registered mail is recommended) to the Warrant Agent at the appropriate address set forth above. This Warrant Certificate, completed and duly executed, must be received by
the Warrant Agent within five business days of the payment.

 
(To be executed upon exercise of Warrants)

 
The undersigned hereby irrevocably elects to exercise                   Warrants, evidenced by this Warrant Certificate, to purchase                   shares of the [Title of

Warrant Securities] (the “Warrant Securities”), of Rigel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and represents that he has tendered payment for such Warrant Securities, in lawful money of the
United States of America, [in cash or by certified check or official bank check in New York Clearing House funds] [by bank wire transfer in immediately available funds], to
the order of Rigel Pharmaceuticals, Inc., c/o [insert name and address of Warrant Agent], in the amount of $         in accordance with the terms hereof. The undersigned
requests that said Warrant Securities be in fully registered form in the authorized denominations, registered in such names and delivered all as specified in accordance with the
instructions set forth below.

 
If the number of Warrants exercised is less than all of the Warrants evidenced hereby, the undersigned requests that a new Warrant Certificate evidencing the

Warrants for the number of Warrant Securities remaining unexercised be issued and delivered to the undersigned unless otherwise specified in the instructions below.
 

Dated Name
 

Please Print
     
Address:
     
     
(Insert Social Security or Other Identifying Number of Holder)
 
Signature Guaranteed

Signature
  
 
(Signature must conform in all respects to name of holder as specified on the face of this Warrant Certificate and must bear a signature guarantee by a bank, trust company or
member broker of
 

the New York, Midwest or Pacific Stock Exchange).
 
This Warrant may be exercised at the following addresses:
  
By hand at
 
 
 
 
 
By mail at
 
 
 
 
 
[Instructions as to form and delivery of Warrant Securities and, if applicable, Warrant Certificates evidencing Warrants for the number of Warrant Securities remaining
unexercised—complete as appropriate.]



 

ASSIGNMENT
 

[Form of assignment to be executed if Warrant Holder desires to transfer Warrant)
 
 

FOR VALUE RECEIVED,                      hereby sells, assigns and transfers unto:
 

   
   
   
   
   
(Please print name and address including zip code) Please print Social Security or other identifying number
   
the right represented by the within Warrant to purchase                      shares of [Title of Warrant Securities] of Rigel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. to which the within Warrant relates
and appoints                      attorney to transfer such right on the books of the Warrant Agent with full power of substitution in the premises.
 
Dated

Signature
   
(Signature must conform in all respects to name of holder as specified on the face of the Warrant)
   
Signature Guaranteed
   
   
 



 
 

EXHIBIT 4.10
 

 
RIGEL PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

 
and

 
                , AS WARRANT AGENT

 
FORM OF DEBT SECURITIES

WARRANT AGREEMENT
 

DATED AS OF                
 

 
RIGEL PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

 
FORM OF DEBT SECURITIES WARRANT AGREEMENT

 
DEBT SECURITIES WARRANT AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”), dated as of                      between RIGEL PHARMACEUTICALS, INC., a Delaware

corporation (the “Company”) and                     , a [corporation] [national banking association] organized and existing under the laws of                      and having a corporate
trust office in                     , as warrant agent (the “Warrant Agent”).

 
WHEREAS, the Company has entered into an indenture dated as of [                      (the “Senior Indenture”), with                     , as trustee (such trustee, and any

successors to such trustee, herein called the “Senior Trustee”), providing for the issuance from time to time of its unsubordinated debt securities, to be issued in one or more
series as provided in the Senior Indenture (the “Debt Securities”);] [                     (the “Subordinated Indenture”), with                     , as trustee (such trustee, and any successors
to such trustee, herein called the “Subordinated Trustee”), providing for the issuance from time to time of its subordinated debt securities, to be issued in one or more series as
provided in the Subordinated Indenture (the “Debt Securities”);]

 
WHEREAS, the Company proposes to sell title of other securities being offered (the “Other Securities”) with] warrant certificates evidencing one or more warrants

(the “Warrants” or, individually, a “Warrant”) representing the right to purchase [title of Debt Securities purchasable through exercise of Warrants] (the “Warrant Debt
Securities”), such warrant certificates and other warrant certificates issued pursuant to this Agreement being herein called the “Warrant Certificates”; and

 
WHEREAS, the Company desires the Warrant Agent to act on behalf of the Company, and the Warrant Agent is willing so to act, in connection with the issuance,

registration, transfer, exchange, exercise and replacement of the Warrant Certificates, and in this Agreement wishes to set forth, among other things, the form and provisions
of the Warrant Certificates and the terms and conditions on which they may be issued, registered, transferred, exchanged, exercised and replaced.

 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and of the mutual agreements herein contained, the parties hereto agree as follows:
 

ARTICLE 1

ISSUANCE OF WARRANTS AND EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF WARRANT CERTIFICATES
 

1.1          Issuance of Warrants. [If Warrants alone—Upon issuance, each Warrant Certificate shall evidence one or more Warrants.] [If Other Securities and
Warrants—Warrant Certificates shall be [initially] issued in connection with the issuance of the Other Securities [but shall be separately transferable on and after                     
(the “Detachable Date”)] [and shall not

 

 
be separately transferable] and each Warrant Certificate shall evidence one or more Warrants.] Each Warrant evidenced thereby shall represent the right, subject to the
provisions contained herein and therein, to purchase one Warrant Debt Security. [If Other Securities and Warrants—Warrant Certificates shall be initially issued in units with
the Other Securities and each Warrant Certificate included in such a unit shall evidence                      Warrants for each [$                 principal amount] [             shares] of
Other Securities included in such unit].

 
1.2          Execution and Delivery of Warrant Certificates. Each Warrant Certificate, whenever issued, shall be in registered form substantially in the form set

forth in Exhibit A hereto, shall be dated the date of its countersignature by the Warrant Agent and may have such letters, numbers, or other marks of identification or
designation and such legends or endorsements printed, lithographed or engraved thereon as the officers of the Company executing the same may approve (execution thereof to
be conclusive evidence of such approval) and as are not inconsistent with the provisions of this Agreement, or as may be required to comply with any law or with any rule or
regulation made pursuant thereto or with any rule or regulation of any securities exchange on which the Warrants may be listed, or to conform to usage. The Warrant
Certificates shall be signed on behalf of the Company by any of its present or future chief executive officers, presidents, senior vice presidents, vice presidents, chief financial
officers, chief legal officers, treasurers, assistant treasurers, controllers, assistant controllers, secretaries or assistant secretaries under its corporate seal reproduced thereon.
Such signatures may be manual or facsimile signatures of such authorized officers and may be imprinted or otherwise reproduced on the Warrant Certificates. The seal of the
Company may be in the form of a facsimile thereof and may be impressed, affixed, imprinted or otherwise reproduced on the Warrant Certificates.

 
No Warrant Certificate shall be valid for any purpose, and no Warrant evidenced thereby shall be exercisable, until such Warrant Certificate has been countersigned

by the manual signature of the Warrant Agent. Such signature by the Warrant Agent upon any Warrant Certificate executed by the Company shall be conclusive evidence that
the Warrant Certificate so countersigned has been duly issued hereunder.

 
In case any officer of the Company who shall have signed any of the Warrant Certificates either manually or by facsimile signature shall cease to be such officer

before the Warrant Certificates so signed shall have been countersigned and delivered by the Warrant Agent, such Warrant Certificates may be countersigned and delivered
notwithstanding that the person who signed such Warrant Certificates ceased to be such officer of the Company; and any Warrant Certificate may be signed on behalf of the
Company by such persons as, at the actual date of the execution of such Warrant Certificate, shall be the proper officers of the Company, although at the date of the execution
of this Agreement any such person was not such officer.

 
The term “holder” or “holder of a Warrant Certificate” as used herein shall mean any person in whose name at the time any Warrant Certificate shall be registered

upon the books to be maintained by the Warrant Agent for that purpose [If Other Securities and Warrants are not immediately detachable—or upon the registration of the
Other Securities prior to the Detachable Date. Prior to the Detachable Date, the Company will, or will cause the registrar of the Other Securities to, make available at all times
to the Warrant Agent such information as to holders of the Other Securities as may be necessary to keep the Warrant Agent’s records up to date].

 



 
1.3          Issuance of Warrant Certificates. Warrant Certificates evidencing the right to purchase Warrant Debt Securities may be executed by the Company and

delivered to the Warrant Agent upon the execution of this Warrant Agreement or from time to time thereafter. The Warrant Agent shall, upon receipt of Warrant Certificates
duly executed on behalf of the Company, countersign such Warrant Certificates and shall deliver such Warrant Certificates to or upon the order of the Company.

 
ARTICLE 2

WARRANT PRICE, DURATION AND EXERCISE OF WARRANTS
 

2.1          Warrant Price. During the period specified in Section 2.2, each Warrant shall, subject to the terms of this Warrant Agreement and the applicable Warrant
Certificate, entitle the holder thereof, to purchase the principal amount of Warrant Debt Securities specified in the applicable Warrant Certificate at an exercise price of
                    % of the principal amount thereof [plus accrued amortization, if any, of the original issue discount of the Warrant Debt Securities] [plus accrued interest, if any,
from the most recent date from which interest shall have been paid on the Warrant Debt Securities or, if no interest shall have been paid on the Warrant Debt Securities, from
the date of their initial issuance.] [The original issue discount ($          for each $1,000 principal amount of Warrant Debt Securities) will be amortized at a          % annual rate,
computed on a[n] [semi-] annual basis [using a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months].] Such purchase price for the Warrant Debt Securities is referred to in this
Agreement as the “Warrant Price.”

 
2.2          Duration of Warrants. Each Warrant may be exercised in whole or in part at any time, as specified herein, on or after [the date thereof] [                    ] and

at or before [                    ] p.m., [City] time, on                      or such later date as the Company may designate by notice to the Warrant Agent and the holders of Warrant
Certificates mailed to their addresses as set forth in the record books of the Warrant Agent (the “Expiration Date”). Each Warrant not exercised at or before [             ] p.m.,
[City] time, on the Expiration Date shall become void, and all rights of the holder of the Warrant Certificate evidencing such Warrant under this Agreement shall cease.

 
2.3          Exercise Of Warrants.
 

(a)           During the period specified in Section 2.2, the Warrants may be exercised to purchase a whole number of Warrant Debt Securities in registered
form by providing certain information as set forth on the reverse side of the Warrant Certificate and by paying in full, in lawful money of the United States of America, [in
cash or by certified check or official bank check in New York Clearing House funds] [by bank wire transfer in immediately available funds] the Warrant Price for each
Warrant Debt Security with respect to which a Warrant is being exercised to the Warrant Agent at its corporate trust office, provided that such exercise is subject to receipt
within five business days of such payment by the Warrant Agent of the Warrant Certificate with the form of election to purchase Warrant Debt Securities set forth on the
reverse side of the Warrant Certificate properly completed and duly executed. The date on which payment in full of the Warrant Price is received by the Warrant Agent shall,
subject to receipt of the Warrant Certificate as aforesaid, be deemed to be the date on which the Warrant is exercised;

 

 
provided, however, that if, at the date of receipt of such Warrant Certificates and payment in full of the Warrant Price, the transfer books for the Warrant Debt Securities
purchasable upon the exercise of such Warrants shall be closed, no such receipt of such Warrant Certificates and no such payment of such Warrant Price shall be effective to
constitute the person so designated to be named as the holder of record of such Warrant Debt Securities on such date, but shall be effective to constitute such person as the
holder of record of such Warrant Debt Securities for all purposes at the opening of business on the next succeeding day on which the transfer books for the Warrant Debt
Securities purchasable upon the exercise of such Warrants shall be opened, and the certificates for the Warrant Debt Securities in respect of which such Warrants are then
exercised shall be issuable as of the date on such next succeeding day on which the transfer books shall next be opened, and until such date the Company shall be under no
duty to deliver any certificate for such Warrant Debt Securities. The Warrant Agent shall deposit all funds received by it in payment of the Warrant Price in an account of the
Company maintained with it and shall advise the Company by telephone at the end of each day on which a payment for the exercise of Warrants is received of the amount so
deposited to its account. The Warrant Agent shall promptly confirm such telephone advice to the Company in writing.

 
(b)           The Warrant Agent shall, from time to time, as promptly as practicable, advise the Company of (i) the number of Warrant Debt Securities with

respect to which Warrants were exercised, (ii) the instructions of each holder of the Warrant Certificates evidencing such Warrants with respect to delivery of the Warrant
Debt Securities to which such holder is entitled upon such exercise, (iii) delivery of Warrant Certificates evidencing the balance, if any, of the Warrants for the remaining
Warrant Debt Securities after such exercise, and (iv) such other information as the Company or the [Senior] [Subordinated] Trustee shall reasonably require.

 
(c)           As soon as practicable after the exercise of any Warrant, the Company shall issue, pursuant to the Indenture, in authorized denominations, to or

upon the order of the holder of the Warrant Certificate evidencing such Warrant, the Warrant Debt Securities to which such holder is entitled, in fully registered form,
registered in such name or names as may be directed by such holder. If fewer than all of the Warrants evidenced by such Warrant Certificate are exercised, the Company shall
execute, and an authorized officer of the Warrant Agent shall manually countersign and deliver, a new Warrant Certificate evidencing Warrants for the number of Warrant
Debt Securities remaining unexercised.

 
(d)           The Company shall not be required to pay any stamp or other tax or other governmental charge required to be paid in connection with any transfer

involved in the issue of the Warrant Debt Securities, and in the event that any such transfer is involved, the Company shall not be required to issue or deliver any Warrant
Debt Securities until such tax or other charge shall have been paid or it has been established to the Company’s satisfaction that no such tax or other charge is due.

 
(e)           Prior to the issuance of any Warrants there shall have been reserved, and the Company shall at all times through the Expiration Date keep

reserved, out of its authorized but unissued Warrant Debt Securities, a number of shares sufficient to provide for the exercise of the Warrants.
 

 
 

ARTICLE 3

OTHER PROVISIONS RELATING TO RIGHTS OF HOLDERS OF WARRANT CERTIFICATES
 

3.1          No Rights As Holders of Warrant Debt Securities Conferred By Warrants or Warrant Certificates. No Warrant Certificate or Warrant evidenced
thereby shall entitle the holder thereof to any of the rights of a holder of Warrant Debt Securities, including, without limitation, the right to receive the payment of principal of
(or premium, if any) or interest, if any, on the Warrant Debt Securities or to enforce any of the covenants in the Indenture.

 
3.2          Lost, Stolen, Mutilated or Destroyed Warrant Certificates. Upon receipt by the Warrant Agent of evidence reasonably satisfactory to it and the

Company of the ownership of and the loss, theft, destruction or mutilation of any Warrant Certificate and/or indemnity reasonably satisfactory to the Warrant Agent and the
Company and, in the case of mutilation, upon surrender of the mutilated Warrant Certificate to the Warrant Agent for cancellation, then, in the absence of notice to the
Company or the Warrant Agent that such Warrant Certificate has been acquired by a bona fide purchaser, the Company shall execute, and an authorized officer of the
Warrant Agent shall manually countersign and deliver, in exchange for or in lieu of the lost, stolen, destroyed or mutilated Warrant Certificate, a new Warrant Certificate of
the same tenor and evidencing Warrants for a like principal amount of Warrant Debt Securities. Upon the issuance of any new Warrant Certificate under this Section 3.2, the
Company may require the payment of a sum sufficient to cover any tax or other governmental charge that may be imposed in relation thereto and any other expenses
(including the fees and expenses of the Warrant Agent) in connection therewith. Every substitute Warrant Certificate executed and delivered pursuant to this Section 3.2 in



lieu of any lost, stolen or destroyed Warrant Certificate shall represent an additional contractual obligation of the Company, whether or not the lost, stolen or destroyed
Warrant Certificate shall be at any time enforceable by anyone, and shall be entitled to the benefits of this Agreement equally and proportionately with any and all other
Warrant Certificates duly executed and delivered hereunder. The provisions of this Section 3.2 are exclusive and shall preclude (to the extent lawful) all other rights and
remedies with respect to the replacement of mutilated, lost, stolen or destroyed Warrant Certificates.

 
3.3          Holder Of Warrant Certificate May Enforce Rights. Notwithstanding any of the provisions of this Agreement, any holder of any Warrant Certificate,

without the consent of the Warrant Agent, the [Senior] [Subordinated] Trustee, the holder of any Warrant Debt Securities or the holder of any other Warrant Certificate, may,
in such holder’s own behalf and for such holder’s own benefit, enforce, and may institute and maintain any suit, action or proceeding against the Company suitable to enforce,
or otherwise in respect of, such holder’s right to exercise the Warrants evidenced by such holder’s Warrant Certificate in the manner provided in such holder’s Warrant
Certificates and in this Agreement.

 
3.4          Merger, Sale, Conveyance or Lease. In case of (a) any share exchange, merger or similar transaction of the Company with or into another person or entity

(other than a share exchange, merger or similar transaction in which the Company is the acquiring or surviving
 

 
corporation) or (b) the sale, exchange, lease, transfer or other disposition of all or substantially all of the properties and assets of the Company as an entirety (in any such case,
a “Reorganization Event”), then, as a condition of such Reorganization Event, lawful provisions shall be made, and duly executed documents evidencing the same from the
Company’s successor shall be delivered to the holders of the Warrants, so that such successor shall succeed to and be substituted for the Company, and assume all the
Company’s obligations under, this Agreement and the Warrants. The Company shall thereupon be relieved of any further obligation hereunder or under the Warrants, and the
Company as the predecessor corporation may thereupon or at any time thereafter be dissolved, wound up or liquidated. Such successor or assuming entity thereupon may
cause to be signed, and may issue either in its own name or in the name of the Company, any or all of the Warrants issuable hereunder which heretofore shall not have been
signed by the Company, and may execute and deliver securities in its own name, in fulfillment of its obligations to deliver Warrant Debt Securities upon exercise of the
Warrants. All the Warrants so issued shall in all respects have the same legal rank and benefit under this Agreement as the Warrants theretofore or thereafter issued in
accordance with the terms of this Agreement as though all of such Warrants had been issued at the date of the execution hereof. In any case of any such Reorganization Event,
such changes in phraseology and form (but not in substance) may be made in the Warrants thereafter to be issued as may be appropriate.

 
3.5          Notice To Warrantholders. In case the Company shall (a) effect any Reorganization Event or (b) make any distribution on or in respect of the [title of

Warrant Debt Securities] in connection with the dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the Company, then the Company shall mail to each holder of Warrants at such
holder’s address as it shall appear on the books of the Warrant Agent, at least ten days prior to the applicable date hereinafter specified, a notice stating the date on which such
Reorganization Event, dissolution, liquidation or winding up is expected to become effective, and the date as of which it is expected that holders of [title of Warrant Debt
Securities] of record shall be entitled to exchange their shares of [title of Warrant Debt Securities] for securities or other property deliverable upon such Reorganization Event,
dissolution, liquidation or winding up. No failure to mail such notice nor any defect therein or in the mailing thereof shall affect any such transaction.

 
ARTICLE 4

EXCHANGE AND TRANSFER OF WARRANT CERTIFICATES
 

4.1          Exchange and Transfer of Warrant Certificates. [If Other Securities with Warrants which are immediately detachable—Upon] [If Other Securities with
Warrants which are not immediately detachable—Prior to the Detachable Date, a Warrant Certificate may be exchanged or transferred only together with the Other Security
to which the Warrant Certificate was initially attached, and only for the purpose of effecting or in conjunction with an exchange or transfer of such Other Security. Prior to any
Detachable Date, each transfer of the Other Security shall operate also to transfer the related Warrant Certificates. After the Detachable Date, upon] surrender at the corporate
trust office of the Warrant Agent, Warrant Certificates evidencing Warrants may be exchanged for Warrant Certificates in other denominations evidencing such Warrants or
the transfer thereof may be registered in whole or in part; provided that such other Warrant Certificates evidence Warrants for the same aggregate principal amount of Warrant
Debt Securities as the Warrant Certificates so surrendered. The Warrant Agent shall

 

 
keep, at its corporate trust office, books in which, subject to such reasonable regulations as it may prescribe, it shall register Warrant Certificates and exchanges and transfers
of outstanding Warrant Certificates, upon surrender of the Warrant Certificates to the Warrant Agent at its corporate trust office for exchange or registration of transfer,
properly endorsed or accompanied by appropriate instruments of registration of transfer and written instructions for transfer, all in form satisfactory to the Company and the
Warrant Agent. No service charge shall be made for any exchange or registration of transfer of Warrant Certificates, but the Company may require payment of a sum
sufficient to cover any stamp or other tax or other governmental charge that may be imposed in connection with any such exchange or registration of transfer. Whenever any
Warrant Certificates are so surrendered for exchange or registration of transfer, an authorized officer of the Warrant Agent shall manually countersign and deliver to the
person or persons entitled thereto a Warrant Certificate or Warrant Certificates duly authorized and executed by the Company, as so requested. The Warrant Agent shall not be
required to effect any exchange or registration of transfer which will result in the issuance of a Warrant Certificate evidencing a Warrant for a fraction of a Warrant Debt
Security or a number of Warrants for a whole number of Warrant Debt Securities and a fraction of a Warrant Debt Security. All Warrant Certificates issued upon any
exchange or registration of transfer of Warrant Certificates shall be the valid obligations of the Company, evidencing the same obligations and entitled to the same benefits
under this Agreement as the Warrant Certificate surrendered for such exchange or registration of transfer.

 
4.2          Treatment of Holders of Warrant Certificates. [If Other Securities and Warrants are not immediately detachable—Prior to the Detachable Date, the

Company, the Warrant Agent and all other persons may treat the owner of the Other Security as the owner of the Warrant Certificates initially attached thereto for any
purpose and as the person entitled to exercise the rights represented by the Warrants evidenced by such Warrant Certificates, any notice to the contrary notwithstanding. After
the Detachable Date and prior to due presentment of a Warrant Certificate for registration of transfer, the] [The] Company, the Warrant Agent and all other persons may treat
the registered holder of a Warrant Certificate as the absolute owner thereof for any purpose and as the person entitled to exercise the rights represented by the Warrants
evidenced thereby, any notice to the contrary notwithstanding.

 
4.3          Cancellation of Warrant Certificates. Any Warrant Certificate surrendered for exchange, registration of transfer or exercise of the Warrants evidenced

thereby shall, if surrendered to the Company, be delivered to the Warrant Agent and all Warrant Certificates surrendered or so delivered to the Warrant Agent shall be
promptly canceled by the Warrant Agent and shall not be reissued and, except as expressly permitted by this Agreement, no Warrant Certificate shall be issued hereunder in
exchange therefor or in lieu thereof. The Warrant Agent shall deliver to the Company from time to time or otherwise dispose of canceled Warrant Certificates in a manner
satisfactory to the Company.

 
ARTICLE 5

CONCERNING THE WARRANT AGENT
 

5.1          Warrant Agent. The Company hereby appoints                        as Warrant Agent of the Company in respect of the Warrants and the Warrant Certificates
upon the terms and

 



 
subject to the conditions herein set forth, and                        hereby accepts such appointment. The Warrant Agent shall have the powers and authority granted to and conferred
upon it in the Warrant Certificates and hereby and such further powers and authority to act on behalf of the Company as the Company may hereafter grant to or confer upon it.
All of the terms and provisions with respect to such powers and authority contained in the Warrant Certificates are subject to and governed by the terms and provisions hereof.

 
5.2          Conditions of Warrant Agent’s Obligations. The Warrant Agent accepts its obligations herein set forth upon the terms and conditions hereof, including

the following to all of which the Company agrees and to all of which the rights hereunder of the holders from time to time of the Warrant Certificates shall be subject:
 

(a)           Compensation and Indemnification. The Company agrees promptly to pay the Warrant Agent the compensation to be agreed upon with the
Company for all services rendered by the Warrant Agent and to reimburse the Warrant Agent for reasonable out-of-pocket expenses (including reasonable counsel fees)
incurred without negligence, bad faith or willful misconduct by the Warrant Agent in connection with the services rendered hereunder by the Warrant Agent. The Company
also agrees to indemnify the Warrant Agent for, and to hold it harmless against, any loss, liability or expense incurred without negligence, bad faith or willful misconduct on
the part of the Warrant Agent, arising out of or in connection with its acting as Warrant Agent hereunder, including the reasonable costs and expenses of defending against any
claim of such liability.

 
(b)           Agent for the Company. In acting under this Warrant Agreement and in connection with the Warrant Certificates, the Warrant Agent is acting

solely as agent of the Company and does not assume any obligations or relationship of agency or trust for or with any of the holders of Warrant Certificates or beneficial
owners of Warrants.

 
(c)           Counsel. The Warrant Agent may consult with counsel satisfactory to it, which may include counsel for the Company, and the written advice of

such counsel shall be full and complete authorization and protection in respect of any action taken, suffered or omitted by it hereunder in good faith and in accordance with the
advice of such counsel.

 
(d)           Documents. The Warrant Agent shall be protected and shall incur no liability for or in respect of any action taken or omitted by it in reliance upon

any Warrant Certificate, notice, direction, consent, certificate, affidavit, statement or other paper or document reasonably believed by it to be genuine and to have been
presented or signed by the proper parties.

 
(e)           Certain Transactions. The Warrant Agent, and its officers, directors and employees, may become the owner of, or acquire any interest in,

Warrants, with the same rights that it or they would have if it were not the Warrant Agent hereunder, and, to the extent permitted by applicable law, it or they may engage or
be interested in any financial or other transaction with the Company and may act on, or as depositary, trustee or agent for, any committee or body of holders of Warrant Debt
Securities or other obligations of the Company as freely as if it were not the Warrant Agent hereunder. Nothing in this Warrant Agreement shall be deemed to prevent the
Warrant Agent from acting as [Senior] [Subordinated] Trustee under the

 

 
[Senior] [Subordinated] Indenture.

 
(f)            No Liability for Interest. Unless otherwise agreed with the Company, the Warrant Agent shall have no liability for interest on any monies at any

time received by it pursuant to any of the provisions of this Agreement or of the Warrant Certificates.
 
(g)           No Liability for Invalidity. The Warrant Agent shall have no liability with respect to any invalidity of this Agreement or any of the Warrant

Certificates (except as to the Warrant Agent’s countersignature thereon).
 
(h)           No Responsibility for Representations. The Warrant Agent shall not be responsible for any of the recitals or representations herein or in the

Warrant Certificates (except as to the Warrant Agent’s countersignature thereon), all of which are made solely by the Company.
 
(i)            No Implied Obligations. The Warrant Agent shall be obligated to perform only such duties as are herein and in the Warrant Certificates

specifically set forth and no implied duties or obligations shall be read into this Agreement or the Warrant Certificates against the Warrant Agent. The Warrant Agent shall
not be under any obligation to take any action hereunder which may tend to involve it in any expense or liability, the payment of which within a reasonable time is not, in its
reasonable opinion, assured to it. The Warrant Agent shall not be accountable or under any duty or responsibility for the use by the Company of any of the Warrant
Certificates authenticated by the Warrant Agent and delivered by it to the Company pursuant to this Agreement or for the application by the Company of the proceeds of the
Warrant Certificates. The Warrant Agent shall have no duty or responsibility in case of any default by the Company in the performance of its covenants or agreements
contained herein or in the Warrant Certificates or in the case of the receipt of any written demand from a holder of a Warrant Certificate with respect to such default,
including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, any duty or responsibility to initiate or attempt to initiate any proceedings at law or otherwise or, except as provided
in Section 6.2 hereof, to make any demand upon the Company.

 
5.3          Resignation , Removal and Appointment of Successors.
 

(a)           The Company agrees, for the benefit of the holders from time to time of the Warrant Certificates, that there shall at all times be a Warrant Agent
hereunder until all the Warrants have been exercised or are no longer exercisable.

 
(b)           The Warrant Agent may at any time resign as agent by giving written notice to the Company of such intention on its part, specifying the date on

which its desired resignation shall become effective; provided that such date shall not be less than three months after the date on which such notice is given unless the
Company otherwise agrees. The Warrant Agent hereunder may be removed at any time by the filing with it of an instrument in writing signed by or on behalf of the Company
and specifying such removal and the intended date when it shall become effective. Such resignation or removal shall take effect upon the appointment by the Company, as
hereinafter provided, of a successor Warrant Agent (which shall be a bank or trust company authorized under the laws of the jurisdiction of its organization to exercise
corporate trust powers) and the acceptance of such appointment by such successor Warrant

 

 
Agent. The obligation of the Company under Section 5.2(a) shall continue to the extent set forth therein notwithstanding the resignation or removal of the Warrant Agent.

 
(c)           In case at any time the Warrant Agent shall resign, or shall be removed, or shall become incapable of acting, or shall be adjudged a bankrupt or

insolvent, or shall commence a voluntary case under the Federal bankruptcy laws, as now or hereafter constituted, or under any other applicable Federal or state bankruptcy,
insolvency or similar law or shall consent to the appointment of or taking possession by a receiver, custodian, liquidator, assignee, trustee, sequestrator (or other similar
official) of the Warrant Agent or its property or affairs, or shall make an assignment for the benefit of creditors, or shall admit in writing its inability to pay its debts generally
as they become due, or shall take corporate action in furtherance of any such action, or a decree or order for relief by a court having jurisdiction in the premises shall have
been entered in respect of the Warrant Agent in an involuntary case under the Federal bankruptcy laws, as now or hereafter constituted, or any other applicable Federal or
state bankruptcy, insolvency or similar law, or a decree or order by a court having jurisdiction in the premises shall have been entered for the appointment of a receiver,
custodian, liquidator, assignee, trustee, sequestrator (or similar official) of the Warrant Agent or of its property or affairs, or any public officer shall take charge or control of
the Warrant Agent or of its property or affairs for the purpose of rehabilitation, conservation, winding up or liquidation, a successor Warrant Agent, qualified as aforesaid,
shall be appointed by the Company by an instrument in writing, filed with the successor Warrant Agent. Upon the appointment as aforesaid of a successor Warrant Agent and



acceptance by the successor Warrant Agent of such appointment, the Warrant Agent shall cease to be Warrant Agent hereunder.
 
(d)           Any successor Warrant Agent appointed hereunder shall execute, acknowledge and deliver to its predecessor and to the Company an instrument

accepting such appointment hereunder, and thereupon such successor Warrant Agent, without any further act, deed or conveyance, shall become vested with all the authority,
rights, powers, trusts, immunities, duties and obligations of such predecessor with like effect as if originally named as Warrant Agent hereunder, and such predecessor, upon
payment of its charges and disbursements then unpaid, shall thereupon become obligated to transfer, deliver and pay over, and such successor Warrant Agent shall be entitled
to receive, all monies, securities and other property on deposit with or held by such predecessor, as Warrant Agent hereunder.

 
(e)           Any corporation into which the Warrant Agent hereunder may be merged or converted or any corporation with which the Warrant Agent may be

consolidated, or any corporation resulting from any merger, conversion or consolidation to which the Warrant Agent shall be a party, or any corporation to which the Warrant
Agent shall sell or otherwise transfer all or substantially all the assets and business of the Warrant Agent, provided that it shall be qualified as aforesaid, shall be the successor
Warrant Agent under this Agreement without the execution or filing of any paper or any further act on the part of any of the parties hereto.

 
ARTICLE 6

MISCELLANEOUS
 

6.1          Amendment. This Agreement may be amended by the parties hereto, without the
 

 
consent of the holder of any Warrant Certificate, for the purpose of curing any ambiguity, or of curing, correcting or supplementing any defective provision contained herein,
or making any other provisions with respect to matters or questions arising under this Agreement as the Company and the Warrant Agent may deem necessary or desirable;
provided that such action shall not materially adversely affect the interests of the holders of the Warrant Certificates.

 
6.2          Notices and Demands to the Company and Warrant Agent. If the Warrant Agent shall receive any notice or demand addressed to the Company by the

holder of a Warrant Certificate pursuant to the provisions of the Warrant Certificates, the Warrant Agent shall promptly forward such notice or demand to the Company.
 
6.3          Addresses. Any communication from the Company to the Warrant Agent with respect to this Agreement shall be addressed to                     , Attention: 

                     and any communication from the Warrant Agent to the Company with respect to this Agreement shall be addressed to Rigel Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 2411 Stanwell
Drive, Concord, California, 94520, Attention: General Counsel (or such other address as shall be specified in writing by the Warrant Agent or by the Company).

 
6.4          Governing Law. This Agreement and each Warrant Certificate issued hereunder shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the

State of New York.
 
6.5          Delivery Of Prospectus. The Company shall furnish to the Warrant Agent sufficient copies of a prospectus meeting the requirements of the Securities Act

of 1933, as amended, relating to the Warrant Debt Securities deliverable upon exercise of the Warrants (the “Prospectus”), and the Warrant Agent agrees that upon the
exercise of any Warrant, the Warrant Agent will deliver to the holder of the Warrant Certificate evidencing such Warrant, prior to or concurrently with the delivery of the
Warrant Debt Securities issued upon such exercise, a Prospectus. The Warrant Agent shall not, by reason of any such delivery, assume any responsibility for the accuracy or
adequacy of such Prospectus.

 
6.6          Obtaining of Governmental Approvals. The Company will from time to time take all action which may be necessary to obtain and keep effective any and

all permits, consents and approvals of governmental agencies and authorities and securities act filings under United States Federal and state laws (including without limitation
a registration statement in respect of the Warrants and Warrant Debt Securities under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended), which may be or become requisite in
connection with the issuance, sale, transfer, and delivery of the Warrant Debt Securities issued upon exercise of the Warrants, the issuance, sale, transfer and delivery of the
Warrants or upon the expiration of the period during which the Warrants are exercisable.

 
6.7          Persons Having Rights Under Warrant Agreement. Nothing in this Agreement shall give to any person other than the Company, the Warrant Agent and

the holders of the Warrant Certificates any right, remedy or claim under or by reason of this Agreement.
 
6.8          Headings. The descriptive headings of the several Articles and Sections of this Agreement are inserted for convenience only and shall not control or affect

the meaning or construction of any of the provisions hereof.
 

 
6.9          Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which as so executed shall be deemed to be an original, but such

counterparts shall together constitute but one and the same instrument.
 
6.10        Inspection of Agreement. A copy of this Agreement shall be available at all reasonable times at the principal corporate trust office of the Warrant Agent

for inspection by the holder of any Warrant Certificate. The Warrant Agent may require such holder to submit his Warrant Certificate for inspection by it.
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly executed, all as of the day and year first above written.
 

RIGEL PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
    

By
    

Its
    
Attest:
    
    
    
    
    
    

WARRANT AGENT
    

By
    

Its



    
Attest:
    
    
    
    
    
    
 

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO DEBT SECURITIES WARRANT AGREEMENT]
 

 
EXHIBIT A 

FORM OF WARRANT CERTIFICATE
[FACE OF WARRANT CERTIFICATE]

 
[[Form if Warrants are attached to Other Securities and are not immediately
detachable.]

[Prior to                     , this Warrant Certificate cannot be transferred or
exchanged unless attached to a [Title of Other Securities].]

   
[Form of Legend if Warrants are not immediately exercisable.] [Prior to                     , Warrants evidenced by this Warrant Certificate

cannot be exercised.]
 

EXERCISABLE ONLY IF COUNTERSIGNED BY THE WARRANT AGENT AS PROVIDED HEREIN
 

VOID AFTER [        ] P.M., [CITY] TIME, ON                     ,
 

 
RIGEL PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

WARRANT CERTIFICATE REPRESENTING 
WARRANTS TO PURCHASE 

[TITLE OF WARRANT DEBT SECURITIES]
 

No.                                                                                                                                                                                         Warrants
 

This certifies that                                 or registered assigns is the registered owner of the above indicated number of Warrants, each Warrant entitling such owner [If
Warrants are attached to Other Securities and are not immediately detachable —, subject to the registered owner qualifying as a “Holder” of this Warrant Certificate, as
hereinafter defined)] to purchase, at any time [after [          ] p.m., [City] time, on                                 and] on or before [        ] p.m., [City] time, on                                , $       
principal amount of [Title of Warrant Debt Securities] (the “Warrant Debt Securities”), of Rigel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”), issued or to be issued under the
Indenture (as hereinafter defined), on the following basis: during the period from                                , through and including                                , each Warrant shall entitle the
Holder thereof, subject to the provisions of this Agreement, to purchase the principal amount of Warrant Debt Securities stated in the Warrant Certificate at the warrant price
(the “Warrant Price”) of        % of the principal amount thereof [plus accrued amortization, if any, of the original issue discount of the Warrant Debt Securities] [plus accrued
interest, if any, from the most recent date from which interest shall have been paid on the Warrant Debt Securities or, if no interest shall have been paid on the Warrant Debt
Securities, from the date of their original issuance]. [The original issue discount ($          for each $1,000 principal amount of Warrant Debt Securities) will be amortized at a
          % annual rate, computed on a[n] [semi-]annual basis [using a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months]. The Holder may exercise the Warrants evidenced
hereby by providing certain information set forth on the back hereof and by paying in full, in lawful money of the United States of America, [in cash or by certified check or
official bank check in New York Clearing House funds] [by bank wire transfer in immediately available funds], the Warrant Price for each Warrant Debt Security with
respect to which this Warrant is exercised to the Warrant Agent (as hereinafter defined) and by surrendering this Warrant Certificate, with the purchase form on the back
hereof duly executed, at the corporate trust office of [name of Warrant Agent], or its successor as warrant agent (the “Warrant Agent”), which is, on the date hereof, at the
address specified on the reverse hereof, and upon compliance with and subject to the conditions set forth herein and in the Warrant Agreement (as hereinafter defined).

 
The term “Holder” as used herein shall mean [If Warrants are attached to Other Securities and are not immediately detachable—, prior to                            ,            

(the “Detachable Date”), the registered owner of the Company’s [title of Other Securities] to which this Warrant Certificate was initially attached, and after such Detachable
Date,] the person in whose name at the time this Warrant Certificate shall be registered upon the books to be maintained by the Warrant Agent for that purpose pursuant to
Section 4 of the Warrant Agreement.

 
The Warrants evidenced by this Warrant Certificate may be exercised to purchase Warrant Debt Securities in the principal amount of $1,000 or any integral multiple

thereof in registered form. Upon any exercise of fewer than all of the Warrants evidenced by this Warrant
 

 
Certificate, there shall be issued to the Holder hereof a new Warrant Certificate evidencing Warrants for the aggregate principal amount of Warrant Debt Securities remaining
unexercised.

 
This Warrant Certificate is issued under and in accordance with the Warrant Agreement dated as of                        ,           (the “Warrant Agreement”), between the

Company and the Warrant Agent and is subject to the terms and provisions contained in the Warrant Agreement, to all of which terms and provisions the Holder of this
Warrant Certificate consents by acceptance hereof. Copies of the Warrant Agreement are on file at the above-mentioned office of the Warrant Agent.

 
The Warrant Debt Securities to be issued and delivered upon the exercise of Warrants evidenced by this Warrant Certificate will be issued under and in accordance

with an Indenture, [dated as of                      ,               (the “Senior Indenture”), between the Company and                                 , as trustee (such trustee, and any successors to
such trustee, the “Senior Trustee”)] [dated as of                                ,                                , (the “Subordinated Indenture”), between the Company and                                , as
trustee (such trustee, and any successors to such trustee, the “Subordinated Trustee”)] and will be subject to the terms and provisions contained in the Warrant Debt Securities
and in the Indenture. Copies of the [Senior] [Subordinated] Indenture, including the form of the Warrant Debt Securities, are on file at the corporate trust office of the Trustee.

 
[If Warrants are attached to Other Securities and are not immediately detachable—Prior to the Detachable Date, this Warrant Certificate may be exchanged or

transferred only together with the [Title of Other Securities] (the “Other Securities”) to which this Warrant Certificate was initially attached, and only for the purpose of
effecting or in conjunction with, an exchange or transfer of such Other Security. Additionally, on or prior to the Detachable Date, each transfer of such Other Security on the
register of the Other Securities shall operate also to transfer this Warrant Certificate. After such date, transfer of this] [If Warrants are attached to Other Securities and are



immediately detachable—Transfer of this] Warrant Certificate may be registered when this Warrant Certificate is surrendered at the corporate trust office of the Warrant
Agent by the registered owner or such owner’s assigns, in the manner and subject to the limitations provided in the Warrant Agreement.

 
[If Other Securities with Warrants which are not immediately detachable-Except as provided in the immediately preceding paragraph, after] [If Other Securities with

Warrants which are immediately detachable or Warrants alone—After] countersignature by the Warrant Agent and prior to the expiration of this Warrant Certificate, this
Warrant Certificate may be exchanged at the corporate trust office of the Warrant Agent for Warrant Certificates representing Warrants for the same aggregate principal
amount of Warrant Debt Securities.

 
This Warrant Certificate shall not entitle the Holder hereof to any of the rights of a holder of the Warrant Debt Securities, including, without limitation, the right to

receive payments of principal of (and premium, if any) or interest, if any, on the Warrant Debt Securities or to enforce any of the covenants of the Indenture.
 
Reference is hereby made to the further provisions of this Warrant Certificate set forth on the reverse hereof, which further provisions shall for all purposes have the

same effect as if set
 

 
forth at this place.

 
This Warrant Certificate shall not be valid or obligatory for any purpose until countersigned by the Warrant Agent.
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Warrant to be executed in its name and on its behalf by the facsimile signatures of its duly authorized

officers.
 

Dated:
   

RIGEL PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
   
    

By
    

Its
    
Attest:
    
    
    

Countersigned:
    
    
    
    

As Warrant Agent
    
    
    

By
Authorized Signature

 
 

 
[REVERSE OF WARRANT CERTIFICATE]

 
(Instructions for Exercise of Warrant)

 
To exercise any Warrants evidenced hereby for Warrant Debt Securities (as hereinafter defined), the Holder must pay, in lawful money of the United States of

America, [in cash or by certified check or official bank check in New York Clearing House funds] [by bank wire transfer in immediately available funds], the Warrant Price
in full for Warrants exercised, to [Warrant Agent] [address of Warrant Agent], Attn:                         , which payment must specify the name of the Holder and the number of
Warrants exercised by such Holder. In addition, the Holder must complete the information required below and present this Warrant Certificate in person or by mail (certified
or registered mail is recommended) to the Warrant Agent at the appropriate address set forth above. This Warrant Certificate, completed and duly executed, must be received
by the Warrant Agent within five business days of the payment.

 
(To be executed upon exercise of Warrants)

 
The undersigned hereby irrevocably elects to exercise                    Warrants, represented by this Warrant Certificate, to purchase $            principal amount of the

[Title of Warrant Debt Securities] (the “Warrant Debt Securities”) of Rigel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and represents that he has tendered payment for such Warrant Debt
Securities, in lawful money of the United States of America, [in cash or by certified check or official bank check in New York Clearing House funds] [by bank wire transfer in
immediately available funds], to the order of Rigel Pharmaceuticals, Inc., c/o [insert name and address of Warrant Agent], in the amount of $             in accordance with the
terms hereof. The undersigned requests that said principal amount of Warrant Debt Securities be in fully registered form in the authorized denominations, registered in such
names and delivered all as specified in accordance with the instructions set forth below.

 
If the number of Warrants exercised is less than all the Warrants evidenced hereby, the undersigned requests that a new Warrant Certificate evidencing the Warrants

for the aggregate principal amount of Warrant Debt Securities remaining unexercised be issued and delivered to the undersigned unless otherwise specified in the instructions
below.

 
 

Dated Name
Please Print

   
Address:
   



   
   
   
   
(Insert Social Security or Other Identifying Number of Holder)
 
 
Signature Guaranteed

Signature
    
    
 

 
(Signature must conform in all respects to name of holder as specified on the face of this Warrant Certificate and must bear a signature guarantee by a bank, trust company or
member broker of the New York, Midwest or Pacific Stock Exchange).
 
This Warrant may be exercised at the following addresses:
 
 
By hand at
 
 
 
 
 
By mail at
 
 
 
 
 
 
[Instructions as to form and delivery of Warrant Debt Securities and, if applicable, Warrant Certificates evidencing Warrants for the number of Warrant Debt Securities
remaining unexercised—complete as appropriate.]
 

 
ASSIGNMENT

 
[Form of assignment to be executed if Warrant Holder desires to transfer Warrant]

 
FOR VALUE RECEIVED,                      hereby sells, assigns and transfers unto:     
 
   
   
   
   
   
(Please print name and address including zip code) Please print Social Security or other identifying number
 
the right represented by the within Warrant to purchase $            aggregate principal amount of [Title of Warrant Debt Securities] of Rigel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. to which the
within Warrant relates and appoints                      attorney to transfer such right on the books of the Warrant Agent with full power of substitution in the premises.
 
Dated

Signature
 
(Signature must conform in all respects to name of holder as specified on the face of the Warrant)
 
Signature Guaranteed
 
 
 
 



Exhibit 5.1
 
February 26, 2009
 
Rigel Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
1180 Veterans Boulevard
South San Francisco, CA 94080
 
Ladies and Gentlemen:
 
We have acted as counsel to Rigel Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), in connection with its filing of post-effective amendment no. 1 to a
registration statement on Form S-3 (the “Registration Statement”) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”). The Company has provided us with a
prospectus (the “Prospectus”), which forms part of the Registration Statement. The Prospectus provides that it will be supplemented in the future by one or more prospectus
supplements (each, a “Prospectus Supplement”). The Registration Statement, including the Prospectus as supplemented from time to time by one or more Prospectus
Supplements, will provide for the registration by the Company of:
 
·              shares of common stock, $0.001 par value per share, of the Company (the “Common Stock”);
 
·              shares of preferred stock, $0.001 par value per share, of the Company (the “Preferred Stock”);
 
·              senior debt securities, in one or more series (the “Senior Debt Securities”), which may be issued pursuant to an indenture to be dated on or about the date of the first
issuance of Senior Debt Securities thereunder, by and between a trustee to be selected by the Company (the “Trustee”) and the Company, in the form filed as Exhibit 4.4 to
the Registration Statement (the “Senior Indenture”);
 
·              subordinated debt securities, in one or more series (the “Subordinated Debt Securities” and, together with the Senior Debt Securities, the “Debt Securities”), which
may be issued pursuant to an indenture to be dated on or about the date of the first issuance of Subordinated Debt Securities thereunder, by and between the Trustee and the
Company, in the form filed as Exhibit 4.5 to the Registration Statement (the “Subordinated Indenture”);
 
·              warrants to purchase Common Stock, Preferred Stock, or Debt Securities (the “Warrants”), which may be issued under warrant agreements, to be dated on or about
the date of the first issuance of the applicable Warrants thereunder, by and between a warrant agent to be selected by the Company (the “Warrant Agent”) and the Company,
in the forms filed as Exhibits 4.8, 4.9 and 4.10 to the Registration Statement (each, a “Warrant Agreement”); and
 
·              units comprised of one or more Debt Securities, shares of Common Stock, shares of Preferred Stock, and Warrants, in any combination (the “Units”), which may be
issued under unit agreements, to be dated on or about the date of the first issuance of the applicable Units thereunder, by and between a unit agent to be selected by the
Company (the “Unit Agent”) and
 

 
the Company in the form filed as Exhibit 4.11 to the Registration Statement (each, a “Unit Agreement”).
 
The Common Stock, the Preferred Stock, the Debt Securities, the Warrants and the Units are collectively referred to herein as the “Securities.” The Securities are being
registered for offering and sale from time to time pursuant to Rule 415 under the Securities Act. The aggregate public offering price of the Securities being registered will be
$100,000,000.
 
In connection with this opinion, we have examined and relied upon the originals, or copies certified to our satisfaction, of such records, documents, certificates, opinions,
memoranda and other instruments as in our judgment are necessary or appropriate to enable us to render the opinion expressed below. As to certain factual matters, we have
relied upon certificates of the officers of the Company and have not independently sought to verify such matters.
 
In rendering this opinion, we have assumed the genuineness and authenticity of all signatures on original documents; the authenticity of all documents submitted to us as
originals; the conformity to originals of all documents submitted to us as copies; the accuracy, completeness and authenticity of certificates of public officials; and the due
authorization, execution and delivery of all documents where authorization, execution and delivery are prerequisites to the effectiveness of such documents. With respect to
our opinion as to the Common Stock, we have assumed that, at the time of issuance and sale, a sufficient number of shares of Common Stock are authorized and available for
issuance and that the consideration for the issuance and sale of the Common Stock (or Preferred Stock or Debt Securities convertible into Common Stock or Warrants
exercisable for Common Stock) is in an amount that is not less than the par value of the Common Stock. With respect to our opinion as to the Preferred Stock, we have
assumed that, at the time of issuance and sale, a sufficient number of shares of Preferred Stock are authorized, designated and available for issuance and that the consideration
for the issuance and sale of the Preferred Stock (or Debt Securities convertible into Preferred Stock or Warrants exercisable for Preferred Stock) is in an amount that is not
less than the par value of the Preferred Stock.  We have also assumed that any Warrants and Units offered under the Registration Statement, and the related Warrant
Agreement and Unit Agreement, as applicable, will be executed in the forms filed as exhibits to the Registration Statement or incorporated by reference therein. We have also
assumed that (i) with respect to Securities being issued upon conversion of any convertible Preferred Stock, the applicable underlying Securities will be duly authorized,
validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable; and (ii) with respect to any Securities being issued upon conversion of any convertible Debt Securities or upon exercise of any
Warrants, the applicable underlying Securities will be valid and legally binding obligations of the Company, enforceable against the Company in accordance with their terms,
except as enforcement may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, arrangement, moratorium or other similar laws affecting creditors’ rights, and
subject to general equity principles and to limitations on availability of equitable relief, including specific performance.
 
Our opinion herein is expressed solely with respect to the federal laws of the United States, the Delaware General Corporation Law and, as to the Debt Securities and Warrants
constituting valid and legally binding obligations of the Company, solely with respect to the laws
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of the State of New York. Our opinion is based on these laws as in effect on the date hereof. We express no opinion as to whether the laws of any jurisdiction are applicable to
the subject matter hereof. We are not rendering any opinion as to compliance with any federal or state law, rule or regulation relating to securities, or to the sale or issuance
thereof.
 
On the basis of the foregoing and in reliance thereon, and subject to the qualifications herein stated, we are of the opinion that:
 
1. With respect to the Common Stock offered under the Registration Statement, provided that (i) the Registration Statement and any required post-effective amendment
thereto have all become effective under the Securities Act and the Prospectus and any and all Prospectus Supplement(s) required by applicable laws have been delivered and
filed as required by such laws; (ii) the issuance of the Common Stock has been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action on the part of the Company; (iii) the issuance
and sale of the Common Stock do not violate any applicable law, are in conformity with the Company’s then operative Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, as
amended (the “Certificate of Incorporation”) and Amended and Restated Bylaws (the “Bylaws”), do not result in a default under or breach of any agreement or instrument
binding upon the Company and comply with any applicable requirement or restriction imposed by any court or governmental body having jurisdiction over the Company; and



(iv) the certificates for the Common Stock have been duly executed by the Company, countersigned by the transfer agent therefor and duly delivered to the purchasers thereof
against payment therefor, then the Common Stock, when issued and sold as contemplated in the Registration Statement, the Prospectus and the related Prospectus
Supplement(s) and in accordance with any applicable duly authorized, executed and delivered purchase, underwriting or similar agreement, or upon conversion of any
convertible Preferred Stock, or convertible Debt Securities in accordance with their terms, or upon exercise of any Warrants in accordance with their terms, will be duly
authorized, validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable.
 
2. With respect to the Preferred Stock offered under the Registration Statement, provided that (i) the Registration Statement and any required post-effective amendment
thereto have all become effective under the Securities Act and the Prospectus and any and all Prospectus Supplement(s) required by applicable laws have been delivered and
filed as required by such laws; (ii) the terms and issuance of the Preferred Stock have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action on the part of the Company;
(iii) the terms of the shares of Preferred Stock and their issuance and sale do not violate any applicable law, are in conformity with the Certificate of Incorporation and
Bylaws, do not result in a default under or breach of any agreement or instrument binding upon the Company and comply with any applicable requirement or restriction
imposed by any court or governmental body having jurisdiction over the Company; and (iv) the certificates for the Preferred Stock have been duly executed by the Company,
countersigned by the transfer agent therefor and duly delivered to the purchasers thereof against payment therefor, then the Preferred Stock, when issued and sold as
contemplated in the Registration Statement, the Prospectus and the related Prospectus Supplement(s) and in accordance with any applicable duly authorized, executed and
delivered purchase, underwriting or similar agreement, or upon conversion of any convertible Debt
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Securities in accordance with their terms, or upon exercise of any Warrants in accordance with their terms, will be duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and
nonassessable.
 
3.  With respect to any series of the Debt Securities issued under the Senior Indenture or the Subordinated Indenture, as applicable, and offered under the Registration
Statement, provided that (i) the Registration Statement and any required post-effective amendment thereto have all become effective under the Securities Act and the
Prospectus and any and all Prospectus Supplement(s) required by applicable laws have been delivered and filed as required by such laws; (ii) the Senior Indenture or the
Subordinated Indenture, as applicable, has been duly authorized by the Company and the Trustee by all necessary corporate action; (iii) the Senior Indenture or the
Subordinated Indenture, as applicable, in substantially the form filed as an exhibit to the Registration Statement, has been duly executed and delivered by the Company and
the Trustee; (iv) the issuance and terms of the Debt Securities have been duly authorized by the Company by all necessary corporate action; (v) the terms of the Debt
Securities and of their issuance and sale have been duly established in conformity with the Senior Indenture or the Subordinated Indenture, as applicable, so as not to violate
any applicable law or result in a default under or breach of any agreement or instrument binding upon the Company, so as to be in conformity with the Certificate of
Incorporation and Bylaws, and so as to comply with any requirement or restriction imposed by any court or governmental body having jurisdiction over the Company; and
(vi) the Debt Securities have been duly executed and delivered by the Company and authenticated by the Trustee pursuant to the Senior Indenture or the Subordinated
Indenture, as applicable, and delivered against payment therefor, then the Debt Securities, when issued and sold in accordance with the Senior Indenture or the Subordinated
Indenture, as applicable, and a duly authorized, executed and delivered purchase, underwriting or similar agreement, or upon exercise of any Warrants in accordance with their
terms, will be valid and legally binding obligations of the Company, enforceable against the Company in accordance with their terms, except as enforcement thereof may be
limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, arrangement, moratorium or other similar laws affecting creditors’ rights, and subject to general equity
principles and to limitations on availability of equitable relief, including specific performance.
 
4. With respect to the Warrants issued under a Warrant Agreement and offered under the Registration Statement, provided that (i) the Registration Statement and any required
post-effective amendment thereto have all become effective under the Securities Act and the Prospectus and any and all Prospectus Supplement(s) required by applicable laws
have been delivered and filed as required by such laws; (ii) the Warrant Agreement has been duly authorized by the Company and the Warrant Agent by all necessary
corporate action; (iii) the Warrant Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by the Company and the Warrant Agent; (iv) the issuance and terms of the Warrants have
been duly authorized by the Company by all necessary corporate action; (v) the terms of the Warrants and of their issuance and sale have been duly established in conformity
with the Warrant Agreement and as described in the Registration Statement, the Prospectus and the related Prospectus Supplement(s), so as not to violate any applicable law
or result in a default under or breach of any agreement or instrument binding upon the Company, so as to be in conformity with the Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws,
and so as to comply with any requirement or restriction imposed by any court or governmental body having jurisdiction over the Company; and (vi) the Warrants have been
duly
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executed and delivered by the Company and authenticated by the Warrant Agent pursuant to the Warrant Agreement and delivered against payment therefor, then the
Warrants, when issued and sold in accordance with the Warrant Agreement and a duly authorized, executed and delivered purchase, underwriting or similar agreement, will be
valid and legally binding obligations of the Company, enforceable against the Company in accordance with their terms, except as enforcement thereof may be limited by
applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, arrangement, moratorium or other similar laws affecting creditors’ rights, and subject to general equity principles and to
limitations on availability of equitable relief, including specific performance.

 
We hereby consent to the filing of this opinion as an exhibit to the Registration Statement and to the reference to our firm under the caption “Legal Matters” in the Prospectus
which forms part of the Registration Statement. This opinion is expressed as of the date hereof, and we disclaim any undertaking to advise you of any subsequent changes in
the facts stated or assumed herein or of any subsequent changes in applicable law.
 
Very truly yours,
 
Cooley Godward Kronish LLP
 
 
By: /s/ Suzanne Sawochka Hooper

Suzanne Sawochka Hooper
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Exhibit 12.1
 

STATEMENT REGARDING COMPUTATION OF RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES
AND COMBINED FIXED CHARGES AND PREFERRED STOCK DIVIDENDS

(in thousands)
 

Our earnings were insufficient to cover fixed charges in each of the years in the five-year period ended December 31, 2008. “Earnings” consist of loss from
operations before income taxes and fixed charges. “Fixed charges” consist of interest expense and the portion of operating lease expense that represents interest. The
following table sets forth the extent to which earnings were insufficient to cover fixed charges.
 

Year Ended December 31,
2008 2007 2006

 

2005
 

2004
            
Earnings:
            

Loss from operations before income taxes $ (132,435) $ (74,272) $ (37,637) $ (45,256) $ (56,255)
Plus: Combined Fixed Charges and Preferred Stock

Dividends 1,792 1,921 1,911 1,795 1,900
Earnings, as defined $ (130,643) $ (72,351) $ (35,726) $ (43,461) $ (54,355)

            
Fixed charges:
            

Interest expense $ 160 $ 221 $ 290 $ 276 $ 324
            
Estimated interest component of rent 1,632 1,700 1,621 1,519 1,576

Total fixed charges $ 1,792 $ 1,921 $ 1,911 $ 1,795 $ 1,900
            
Combined Fixed Charges and Preferred Stock Dividends

Interest expense $ 160 $ 221 $ 290 $ 276 $ 324
            
Estimated interest component of rent 1,632 1,700 1,621 1,519 1,576
Preferred Stock Dividends — — — — —

Total combined fixed charges and preferred stock
dividends $ 1,792 $ 1,921 $ 1,911 $ 1,795 $ 1,900

Ratio of earnings to fixed charges ** — — — — —
            
Ratio of earnings to combined fixed charges and preferred stock

dividends ** — — — — —
Deficiency of earnings available to cover fixed charges $ (132,435) $ (74,272) $ (37,637) $ (45,256) $ (56,255)
Deficiency of earnings available to cover combined fixed

charges and preferred stock dividends $ (132,435) $ (74,272) $ (37,637) $ (45,256) $ (56,255)
 

** Because of the deficiency of earnings available to cover fixed charges, the ratio information is not applicable.
 



 
Exhibit 23.1

 
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

 
We consent to the reference to our firm under the caption “Experts” in Amendment No. 1 to the Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-148838) and related prospectus of
Rigel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. for the registration of up to $100,000,000 of its common stock, preferred stock, debt securities, warrants and units and to the use of our report
dated February 24, 2009, with respect to the financial statements of Rigel Pharmaceuticals, Inc., included as exhibit 99.1 to Amendment No.1 to the Registration Statement
(Form S-3 No. 333-148838), filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
 
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Palo Alto, California
February 24, 2009
 

 



 
Exhibit 25.1

 

 

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

 

 

FORM T-1
 

STATEMENT OF ELIGIBILITY UNDER
THE TRUST INDENTURE ACT OF 1939 OF A

CORPORATION DESIGNATED TO ACT AS TRUSTEE
Check if an Application to Determine Eligibility of

a Trustee Pursuant to Section 305(b)(2)
 

 

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
(Exact name of Trustee as specified in its charter)

 
31-0841368

I.R.S. Employer Identification No.
 

800 Nicollet Mall
Minneapolis, Minnesota 55402

(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)
 

Claude Acoba
U.S. Bank National Association

One California Street, Suite 2100
San Francisco, CA  94111

(415) 273-4563
(Name, address and telephone number of agent for service)

 

Rigel Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
(Issuer with respect to the Securities)

 
DELAWARE 94-3248524

(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)
 

1180 Veterans Boulevard
South San Francisco, CA 94080

(Address of Principal Executive Offices) (Zip Code)
 
 

$100,000,000
Common and Preferred Stock,

Senior and Subordinated Debt Securities,
Warrants and Units

(Title of the Indenture Securities)
 

 

 
FORM T-1

 
Item 1.                                   GENERAL INFORMATION.  Furnish the following information as to the Trustee.

 
a)              Name and address of each examining or supervising authority to which it is subject.

Comptroller of the Currency
Washington, D.C.

 
b)             Whether it is authorized to exercise corporate trust powers.

Trustee is authorized to exercise corporate trust powers.
 

Item 2.                                   AFFILIATIONS WITH OBLIGOR.  If the obligor is an affiliate of the Trustee, describe each such affiliation.
None

In answering this item, the trustee has relied, in part, upon information furnished by the obligor and the underwriters, and has also examined its own books and
records for the purpose of answering this item.

 
Items 3-15                                      Items 3-15 are not applicable because to the best of the Trustee’s knowledge, the obligor is not in default under any Indenture for which the Trustee acts as

Trustee.
 
Item 16.                            LIST OF EXHIBITS:  List below all exhibits filed as a part of this statement of eligibility and qualification.

 



1.               A copy of the Articles of Association of the Trustee.*
 
2.               A copy of the certificate of authority of the Trustee to commence business.*
 
3.               A copy of the certificate of authority of the Trustee to exercise corporate trust powers.*
 
4.               A copy of the existing bylaws of the Trustee.**
 
5.               A copy of each Indenture referred to in Item 4.  Not applicable.
 
6.               The consent of the Trustee required by Section 321(b) of the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, attached hereto as Exhibit 6.
 
7.               A copy of the latest report of condition of the trustee published pursuant to law or the requirements of its supervising or examining authority is annexed

hereto as Exhibit 7 and made a part hereof.

*                  Incorporated by reference to Registration Number 333-128217.
Copies of the Articles of Association of the trustee, as now in effect, a certificate of authority to commence business and a certificate of authority to exercise
corporate trust powers are on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission as Exhibits with corresponding exhibit numbers to the Form T-1 of Revlon
Consumer Products Corporation, filed pursuant to Section 305(b)(2) of the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, on November 15, 2005 (Registration
No. 333-128217), and are incorporated herein by reference.
 

**          Incorporated by reference to Registration Number 333-1145601.
Copies of the existing bylaws of the Trustee, amended June 6, 2007, are on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission as Exhibits with corresponding
exhibit numbers to the Form T-1 of iPCS, INC. filed pursuant to Section 305(b)(2) of the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, on August 21, 2007, and are
incorporated herein by reference.
 
 

 
NOTE

 
The answers to this statement insofar as such answers relate to what persons have been underwriters for any securities of the obligors within three years prior to the

date of filing this statement, or what persons are owners of 10% or more of the voting securities of the obligors, or affiliates, are based upon information furnished to the
Trustee by the obligors.
 

SIGNATURE
 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, the Trustee, U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, a national banking association
organized and existing under the laws of the United States of America, has duly caused this statement of eligibility and qualification to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, all in the City of San Francisco, State of California on the 18th of February, 2009.
 
 

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
   

By: /s/ Claude Acoba
Claude Acoba
Vice President
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Exhibit 6

 
CONSENT

 
                In accordance with Section 321(b) of the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, the undersigned, U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION hereby consents that reports of
examination of the undersigned by Federal, State, Territorial or District authorities may be furnished by such authorities to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon its
request therefor.
 
 
Dated:  February 18, 2009
 
 

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
   

By: /s/ Claude Acoba
Claude Acoba
Vice President
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Rigel Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

 
The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Rigel Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
 
We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of Rigel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the related statements of operations, stockholders’
equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2008. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Rigel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. at December 31, 2008 and
2007, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2008, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles.
 
/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP
 
Palo Alto, California
 
February 24, 2009
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RIGEL PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

 
BALANCE SHEETS

 
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

 
December 31,

2008
 

2007
      
Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 46,005 $ 44,503
Available-for-sale securities 88,472 63,793
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 3,610 2,834
Total current assets 138,087 111,130

      
Property and equipment, net 3,567 2,560
Other assets 2,204 2,099

$ 143,858 $ 115,789
      
Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 5,984 $ 4,320
Accrued compensation 1,625 8,133
Other accrued liabilities 12,029 2,031
Deferred rent 3,174 638
Capital lease obligations 1,339 990
Total current liabilities 24,151 16,112

      
Long-term portion of capital lease obligations 2,053 784
Long-term portion of deferred rent 13,311 16,486
Other long-term liabilities 178 225
      
Commitments and contingencies
      
Stockholders’ equity:



Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 10,000,000 shares authorized; none issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2008
and 2007 — —

Common stock, $0.001 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized; 36,646,397 and 31,381,774 shares issued and
outstanding on December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively 37 31

Additional paid-in capital 605,509 451,384
Accumulated other comprehensive income 396 198
Accumulated deficit (501,777 ) (369,431 )

Total stockholders’ equity 104,165 82,182
$ 143,858 $ 115,789

 
See accompanying notes.

 
3

 
RIGEL PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

 
STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

 
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

 
Years Ended December 31,

2008 2007
 

2006
Contract revenues from collaborations $ — $ 12,600 $ 33,473
Costs and expenses:

Research and development 109,670 70,364 56,968
General and administrative 27,044 21,763 19,552

136,714 92,127 76,520
        
Loss from operations (136,714 ) (79,527 ) (43,047)
Interest income 4,439 5,476 5,700
Interest expense (160 ) (221 ) (290)
Loss before income taxes (132,435 ) (74,272 ) (37,637)
Income tax benefit 89 — —
Net loss $ (132,346) $ (74,272) $ (37,637)
Net loss per share, basic and diluted $ (3.67) $ (2.57) $ (1.51)
        
Weighted average shares used in computing net loss per share, basic and diluted 36,025 28,936 24,936

 
See accompanying notes.
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RIGEL PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

 
STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

 
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

 
       

Accumulated
    

    

Additional
 

Deferred
 

Other
   

Total
Common Stock

 

Paid-in
 

Stock
 

Comprehensive
 

Accumulated
 

Stockholders’
Shares

 

Amount
 

Capital
 

Compensation
 

Income (Loss)
 

Deficit
 

Equity
Balance at December 31, 2005 24,814,671 $ 25 $ 366,203 $ (26 ) $ (92 ) $ (257,522) $ 108,588

Net loss — — — — — (37,637) (37,637)
Change in unrealized gain (loss) on available-

for-sale securities — — — — 105 —
—

105
Comprehensive loss (37,532)

Issuance of common stock upon exercise of options
and participation in Purchase Plan 366,016 — 2,793 — — — 2,793

Stock compensation expense — — 12,579 — — — 12,579
Reversal of deferred compensation expense balance — — (26 ) 26 — — —
Warrants issued with lease amendment 3 — — 801 — — — 801
Balance at December 31, 2006 25,180,687 25 382,350 — 13 (295,159) 87,229

Net loss — — — — — (74,272) (74,272)
Change in unrealized gain on available-for-sale

securities
— — — — 185 — 185

Comprehensive loss (74,087)
Issuance of common stock at $9.75 per share for

cash, net of issuance costs 5,750,000 6 52,330 — — — 52,336
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of options

and participation in Purchase Plan 451,087 — 5,017 — — — 5,017
Stock compensation expense — — 11,687 — — — 11,687
Balance at December 31, 2007 31,381,774 31 451,384 — 198 (369,431) 82,182

Net loss — — — — — (132,346) (132,346)
Change in unrealized gain on available-for-sale

securities — — — — 198 — 198
Comprehensive loss (132,148)

Issuance of common stock at $27.00 per share for
cash, net of issuance costs 5,000,000 5 127,535 — — — 127,540

Issuance of common stock upon exercise of options
and participation in Purchase Plan 264,623 1 2,831 — — — 2,832

Stock compensation expense — — 23,759 — — — 23,759



Balance at December 31, 2008 36,646,397 $ 37 $ 605,509 $ — $ 396 $ (501,777) $ 104,165
 

See accompanying notes.
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RIGEL PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

 
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

 
(In thousands)

 
Years Ended December 31,

2008 2007
 

2006
Operating activities
Net loss $ (132,346) $ (74,272) $ (37,637)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 1,425 1,344 1,418
Stock-based compensation expense 23,759 11,687 12,579
Changes in assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable — 1,104 (54)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (776 ) (395 ) 911
Other assets (105 ) 152 165
Accounts payable 1,721 2,363 (540)
Accrued compensation (6,508 ) 5,073 871
Other accrued liabilities 9,998 145 (438)
Deferred revenue — (3,066 ) (15,272)
Deferred rent and other long term liabilities (686 ) 3,658 2,161

        
Net cash used in operating activities (103,518 ) (52,207 ) (35,836)
        

Investing activities
Purchases of available-for-sale securities (194,603 ) (134,372 ) (85,209)
Maturities of available-for-sale securities 170,122 127,508 89,987
Proceeds from the sale of property and equipment 18 4 83
Capital expenditures (2,507 ) (933 ) (913)

        
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (26,970 ) (7,793 ) 3,948

        
Financing activities

Proceeds from capital lease financing 2,862 918 1,449
Payments on capital lease obligations (1,244 ) (1,495 ) (1,406)
Net proceeds from issuances of common stock and warrants 130,372 57,353 2,793
        
Net cash provided by financing activities 131,990 56,776 2,836
        

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,502 (3,224 ) (29,052)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 44,503 47,727 76,779
        
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 46,005 $ 44,503 $ 47,727
        
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Interest paid $ 172 $ 218 $ 247
        
Schedule of non cash transactions
Issuance of warrants with lease amendment $ — $ — $ 801

 
See accompanying notes.
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Rigel Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 
In this Annual Report on Form 10-K, “Rigel,” “we,” “us” and “our” refer to Rigel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. “common stock” refers to Rigel’s common stock, par value

$0.001 per share.
 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
 
Nature of operations and basis of presentation
 

We were incorporated in the state of Delaware on June 14, 1996. We are engaged in the discovery and development of novel, small-molecule drugs for the treatment
of inflammatory/autoimmune diseases, as well as for certain cancers and metabolic diseases.

 
Financial Statement Preparation
 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions



that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Significant estimates and assumptions made by management include the fair value of
short-term investments, period of the research collaborations, determination of at-risk milestones, fair values of stock-based compensation awards, impairment assessments,
the estimated useful life of assets and contingencies. We believe that the estimates and judgments upon which we rely are reasonable based upon information available to us at
the time that these estimates and judgments are made, however actual results could differ from these estimates. To the extent there are material differences between these
estimates and actual results, our consolidated financial statements will be affected.

 
Stock Award Plans
 

We have two stock option plans, the 2000 Equity Incentive Plan and 2000 Non-Employee Directors Stock Option Plan, that provide for granting to our officers,
directors and all other employees and consultants options to purchase shares of our common stock. Under the plans, we may issue non-qualified options or incentive stock
options. We also have an employee stock purchase plan, or Purchase Plan, where eligible employees can purchase shares of our common stock at a price per share equal to
the lesser of 85% of the fair market value on the first day of the offering period or 85% of the fair market value on the purchase date. The benefits provided under these plans
are stock-based payments subject to the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R) and guidance under the Securities and Exchange Commission’s Staff Accounting Bulletin 107, or
SAB No. 107 and SAB No. 110.

 
Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R) using the modified prospective application transition method. Under this method, the

stock-based compensation costs recognized beginning January 1, 2006 includes compensation costs for (i) all stock-based payments granted prior to, but not vested as of
January 1, 2006, based on the grant date fair value originally estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” or
SFAS No. 123, and (ii) all stock-based payments granted subsequent to January 1, 2006, based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of
SFAS No. 123(R). For awards granted on or after January 1, 2006, we adopted the use of the straight-line attribution method over the requisite service period for the entire
award. See Note 4 for a further discussion on stock-based compensation.

 
Cash, cash equivalents and available-for-sale securities
 
We consider all highly liquid investments in debt securities with maturity from the date of purchase of 90 days or less to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents consist of
money market funds, U.S. treasury bills, corporate bonds and commercial paper and investments in government-sponsored enterprises. Our short-term investments include
obligations of government-sponsored enterprises and corporate bonds and commercial paper. By policy, we limit the concentration of credit risk by diversifying our
investments among a variety of high credit-quality issuers.
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
 

All cash equivalents and short-term investments are classified as available-for-sale securities. Available-for-sale securities are carried at fair value at December 31,
2008 and 2007. Unrealized gains (losses) are reported in stockholders’ equity and included in other comprehensive income (loss). Fair value is estimated based on available
market information. The cost of securities sold is based on the specific identification method. See Note 5 for a summary of available-for-sale securities at December 31, 2008
and 2007.

 
Fair value of financial instruments
 

The carrying values of cash, cash equivalents, accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate fair value due to the short maturity of those instruments.
Available-for-sale securities are carried at fair value at December 31, 2008 and 2007. The carrying values of capital lease obligations approximate fair value due to similar
financing arrangements being available to us at market interest rates.

 
Property and equipment
 

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which range from
three to seven years. Leasehold improvements, if any, are amortized using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets or the term of the lease,
whichever is shorter.

 
Revenue recognition
 

We recognize revenue from our collaboration arrangements. Our revenue arrangements with multiple elements are evaluated under Emerging Issues Task Force
No. 00-21, “Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables,” and are divided into separate units of accounting if certain criteria are met, including whether the delivered
element has stand-alone value to the customer and whether there is objective and reliable evidence of the fair value of any undelivered items. The consideration we receive is
allocated among the separate units based on their respective fair values, and the applicable revenue recognition criteria are applied to each of the separate units. Advance
payments received in excess of amounts earned are classified as deferred revenue until earned.

 
Non-refundable, up-front payments received in connection with research and development collaboration agreements, including technology access fees, are deferred

and recognized on a straight-line basis over the relevant periods of continuing involvement, generally the research term. When a research term is not specified, we estimate the
time it will take us to complete our deliverables under the contract and recognize the upfront fee using the straight-line method over that time period. We review our estimates
every quarter for reasonableness.

 
Revenues related to collaborative research with our corporate collaborators are recognized as research services are performed over the related development periods

for each contract. Under these agreements, we are required to perform research and development activities as specified in each respective agreement. The payments received
are not refundable and are generally based on a contractual cost per full-time equivalent employee working on the project. Our research and development expenses under the
collaborative research agreements, except for the Merck collaboration signed in November 2004 related to ubiquitin ligases, approximate or exceed the revenue recognized
under such agreements over the term of the respective agreements. For the Merck collaboration, we recognized a pro-rata portion of the invoiced amounts for funding of our
research scientists based on the headcount dedicated to the project. When the research portion of the collaboration ended in May 2007, we recognized the full amount of the
deferred revenue related to the contract as we had no further obligations. It is our policy to recognize revenue based on our level of effort expended, however, revenue
recognized will not exceed amounts billable under the arrangement.

 
Revenues associated with at-risk milestones pursuant to collaborative agreements are recognized based upon the achievement of the milestones as set forth in the

applicable agreement.
 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
 
Research and development
 

Research and development expenses include costs for scientific personnel, supplies, equipment, consultants, research sponsored by us, allocated facility costs, costs
related to pre-clinical and clinical trials, and stock-based
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compensation expense. All such costs are charged to research and development expense as incurred. Collaboration agreements generally specify minimum levels of research
effort required to be performed by us.

 
Contingencies
 

We are subject to claims related to the patent protection of certain of our technologies, as well as purported securities class action lawsuits and other litigation. We
are required to assess the likelihood of any adverse judgments or outcomes to these matters as well as potential ranges of probable losses. A determination of the amount of
reserves required, if any, for these contingencies is made after careful analysis of each individual issue.

 
On February 6, 2009, a purported securities class action lawsuit was commenced in the United States District Court for the Northern District of California, naming us

and certain of our officers, directors and underwriters as defendants for our February 2008 stock offering. An additional purported securities class action lawsuit containing
similar allegations was subsequently filed in the United States District Court for the Northern District of California on February 20, 2009.  We are not currently able to
estimate the possible cost to us from these matters, as these suits are currently at an early stage and we cannot ascertain how long it may take to resolve these matters. We
have not established any reserve for any potential liability relating to these lawsuits.

 
A reserve may be required in the future due to new developments with respect to the pending lawsuits or patent claims or changes in approach such as a change in or

establishment of a settlement strategy in dealing with these matters. See Note 11 for a further discussion of this litigation.
 

Income Taxes
 

We use the asset and liability method to account for income taxes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to
differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to
be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities from a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period the change is enacted. A valuation
allowance is established to reduce deferred tax assets to an amount whose realization is more likely than not.

 
In July 2006, the FASB issued FIN 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes,” or FIN 48. This interpretation requires that we recognize in our financial

statements, the impact of a tax position, if that position is more likely than not of being sustained in an audit, based on the technical merits of the position. We adopted FIN 48
for the year ended December 31, 2007. There was no cumulative effect of the change in accounting principle recognized upon adoption. The adoption did not have a material
impact on our financial position or results of operations. See Note 10 for a further discussion of the adoption of FIN 48.

 
Net loss per share
 

Net loss per share has been computed according to FASB Statement No. 128, “Earnings Per Share,” which requires disclosure of basic and diluted earnings per
share. Basic earnings per share exclude any dilutive effects of options, shares subject to repurchase, warrants and convertible securities. Diluted earnings per share include the
impact of potentially dilutive securities.
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
 

During all periods presented, we had securities outstanding which could potentially dilute basic earnings per share in the future, but were excluded from the
computation of diluted net loss per share, as their effect would have been antidilutive. These outstanding securities consist of the following (in thousands, except per share
information):
 

December 31,
 

2008 2007
 

2006
 

Outstanding options 6,387 5,080 4,405
Warrants 100 100 175
Weighted average exercise price of options $ 16.82 $ 13.91 $ 14.50
Weighted average exercise price of warrants $ 10.57 $ 10.57 $ 13.23

 
Recent accounting pronouncements
 

On June 25, 2008, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, ratified the consensus reached by the EITF on EITF Issue No. 07-5 “Determining Whether
an Instrument (or Embedded Feature) is Indexed to an Entity’s Own Stock”, or EITF 07-5.  EITF 07-5 provides guidance on how to determine whether certain instruments or
features were indexed to the company’s own stock. EITF 07-5 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008, and interim
periods within those fiscal years. We evaluated the impact of adopting EITF 07-5 and concluded the adoption will have no material effect on our financial statements.

 
On December 12, 2007, the FASB ratified the consensus reached by the EITF on EITF Issue No. 07-1, “Accounting for Collaborative Arrangements,” or EITF 07-1.

EITF 07-1 defines collaborative arrangements and establishes reporting requirements for transactions between participants in a collaborative arrangement and between
participants in the arrangement and third parties. EITF 07-1 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008 and will be applied
retrospectively to all prior periods presented for all collaborative arrangements existing as of the effective date.  We are evaluating the impact of adopting EITF 07-1 on our
financial statements and can not estimate the impact of adoption at this time.

 
In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities-Including an Amendment of FASB

Statement No. 115.” SFAS No. 159 permits entities to choose to measure financial instruments and certain other items at fair value. Entities that elect the fair value option will
report unrealized gains and losses in earnings at each subsequent reporting date. The fair value option may be elected on an instrument-by-instrument basis, with few
exceptions. SFAS No. 159 also establishes presentation and disclosure requirements to facilitate comparisons between companies that choose different measurement
attributes for similar assets and liabilities. We adopted SFAS No. 159 on January 1, 2008, but did not elect the fair value option to measure eligible items.  Accordingly, this
statement had no effect on our financial statements.

 
In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements.” This standard defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value

under generally accepted accounting principles, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. SFAS No. 157 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal
years beginning after November 15, 2007, except that under FASB Staff Position, or FSP, 157-2, “Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 157,” companies are allowed to
delay the effective date of SFAS No. 157 for non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities that are not recognized or disclosed at fair value on a recurring basis until fiscal
years beginning after November 15, 2008.  In October 2008, FSP 157-3, “Determining the Fair Value of a Financial Asset When the Market for that Asset is Not Active” was
issued and effective upon issuance, including prior periods for which financial statements have not been issued.  FSP 157-3 clarified the application of SFAS No. 157 in a



market that is not active. We adopted SFAS No. 157 with regard to all financial assets and liabilities in our financial statements in the first quarter of 2008 and have elected to
delay the adoption of SFAS No. 157 for non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities until the first quarter of 2009.  The partial adoption of SFAS No. 157 in 2008 with
regard to all financial assets and liabilities had no material impact on our financial statements. We are currently evaluating the impact of adopting SFAS No. 157 with regard
to non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities.
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
 
Reclassifications
 

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation. We reclassified other receivables of $442,000 to prepaid expenses and
other current assets on the balance sheet.

 
2. SPONSORED RESEARCH AND LICENSE AGREEMENTS
 

In January 2005, we signed a collaborative research and license agreement with Pfizer, Inc. for the development of intrapulmonary products for the treatment of
allergic asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). The collaboration is primarily focused on our preclinical small molecule compounds, which inhibit IgE
receptor signaling in respiratory tract mast cells by blocking the signaling enzyme Syk kinase. The goal of the collaboration is for Pfizer to nominate two of the licensed
compounds in order to commence advanced preclinical development. We will earn milestone payments upon the selection of each of the two compounds, as well as in
connection with other clinical events and royalties from sales of the resulting products upon marketing approval. Pfizer is responsible for the manufacture of all preclinical and
clinical materials for each compound/product and all costs associated with development and commercialization. We did not have any further obligations to Pfizer after the
research phase of the collaboration ended in February 2007. In connection with this collaboration, Pfizer paid us $10.0 million upfront and purchased $5.0 million of our
common stock at a premium in 2005. In May 2006, we achieved the first milestone and received a $5.0 million milestone payment when Pfizer nominated R343 to commence
advanced preclinical development in allergic asthma. In December 2007, we achieved the second milestone and received another milestone payment of $5.0 million when
Pfizer initiated a Phase 1 clinical trial on R343. No milestone payments were received in 2008 as no further milestones were met. Pfizer remains obligated to pay us various
milestones and royalties in the future if certain conditions are met.

 
In November 2004, we entered into a broad collaboration agreement with Merck & Co., Inc. to investigate ubiquitin ligases, a new class of drug target, to find

treatments for cancer and potentially other diseases. At the time we entered into the agreement, we received an initial cash payment of $7.6 million and funding for our
research scientists for two and a half years. We recognized the upfront payment ratably over the two and a half year term of the research agreement. We recognized a pro-rata
portion of the invoiced amounts for funding of our research scientists based on the headcount dedicated to the project for the quarter. When the research portion of the
collaboration ended in May 2007, we recognized the full amount of the deferred revenue related to the contract as we had no further obligations under the collaboration. We
are eligible to receive certain milestone payments and royalties in the future. Merck is responsible for worldwide development and commercialization of any resulting
compounds and will pay Rigel royalties on future product sales, if any.

 
In October 2005, we entered into a collaborative research and license agreement with Merck Serono granting them an exclusive license to develop and commercialize

product candidates from our aurora kinase inhibitor program. Even though the agreement included a basket of compounds within the aurora kinase inhibitor program, the
collaboration and our efforts under the agreement were focused on R763. We were responsible for all costs associated with the preparation and filing of an IND for R763 while
Merck Serono is responsible for all development of R763 following regulatory acceptance of the IND and will bear all costs thereafter. We are also eligible to receive
milestone payments and royalties in the future. In connection with this collaboration, Merck Serono paid us $10.0 million upfront and purchased $15.0 million of our common
stock at a premium in 2005. We amortized the upfront amount into revenue over the nine months from the initiation of the collaboration in October 2005. As of June 2006, we
had completely recognized the upfront amount into revenue as we had performed all our deliverables under the collaboration and did not have any further obligations to
Merck Serono leading up to the initiation of the first clinical trial.

 
During February 2006, we received a milestone payment of $5.0 million triggered by the regulatory acceptance of the R763 IND in January 2006. In

September 2006, we received a $3.0 million milestone payment from Merck Serono in connection with the initiation of the Phase 1 study of R763. In October 2007, we
received another $3.0 million milestone payment from Merck Serono upon their exercise of the option to obtain Japan rights for R763.

 
3. SIGNIFICANT CONCENTRATIONS
 

There were no contract revenues reported during the year 2008. For the year ended December 31, 2007, Pfizer, Merck and Merck Serono accounted for 46%, 30%
and 24% of total revenues, respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2006, Merck Serono, Pfizer and Merck accounted for 46%, 30% and 24% of total revenues,
respectively. At December 31, 2008 and 2007, we had no accounts receivable. We do not require collateral or other security for accounts receivable.
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4. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION
 

Total stock-based compensation expense related to all of our stock-based awards that we recognized was as follows (in thousands):
 

 

Year Ended
 

December 31,
 

2008
 

2007 2006
Research and development $ 12,272 $ 5,519 $ 6,515
General and administrative 11,487 6,168 6,064
Stock-based compensation expense $ 23,759 $ 11,687 $ 12,579
 
In January 2008, we granted 1,305,691 shares of stock options to our employees.  Due to a higher stock price and volatility rate on the grant date, the valuation for

these stock options was approximately $24.1 million.  The increase of stock-based compensation expense in 2008 was mainly due to the amortization of expense associated
with the January 2008 grant.

 
Our stock compensation expense for 2007 includes a charge of approximately $924,000 to correct the misapplication of our estimated forfeiture rate to stock-based

compensation expense in 2006. In 2006, our quarterly reported amounts of stock compensation expense were inadvertently reduced by the effect of the expected forfeitures
which had already been taken into account in the preceding quarters. The impact of this adjustment was not material to 2007 and prior reporting periods.

 
Employee stock option plans
 

In 2006, an amendment to the 2000 Plan was approved to primarily increase the number of shares authorized for issuance by 500,000 shares of common stock. In
2007, the 2000 Plan was amended, primarily to increase the number of shares authorized for issuance to an aggregate total of 8,410,403 shares.  In 2008, the 2000 Plan was



amended, primarily to increase the number of shares authorized for issuance by 3,350,000 shares.  Options granted under our 2000 Plan expire no later than ten years from the
date of grant. The option price of each incentive stock option shall be at least 100% of the fair value on the date of grant, and the option price for each nonstatutory stock
option shall be not less than 85% of the fair value on the date of grant, as determined by the board of directors. Options may be granted with different vesting terms from time
to time, ranging from zero to five years. As of December 31, 2008, a total of 10,340,053 shares of common stock were authorized for issuance under the 2000 Plan. Options to
purchase 164,309 shares were exercised during the year ended December 31, 2008.

 
In 2007, the Directors’ Plan was amended, primarily to increase the number of shares authorized for issuance by 110,000 shares to an aggregate total of 435,000

shares.  In 2008, the Directors’ Plan was amended, primarily to increase the number of shares authorized for issuance by 100,000 shares to an aggregate total of 535,000
shares. The exercise price of options under the Directors’ Plan will be equal to the fair market value of the common stock on the date of grant. The maximum term of the
options granted under the Directors’ Plan is ten years. As of December 31, 2008, a total of 532,211 shares of common stock were authorized for issuance under the Directors’
Plan. No options to purchase shares were exercised during the year ended December 31, 2008.
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4. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION (Continued)
 

In December 2007, we adopted a Change of Control Severance Plan for employees serving at or above the level of Vice President. Under this plan, under certain
conditions, primarily upon a change in control of the Company, they would receive the payment of certain benefits, including accelerated vesting of all their outstanding stock
options and an extension of the period to exercise outstanding options to the earlier of the original option expiration date or the one year anniversary of the triggering event.
There was no stock-based compensation expense incurred during the current period due to the adoption of the Change of Control Severance Plan.

 
Pursuant to SFAS No. 123(R), we are required to estimate the amount of expected forfeitures when calculating compensation costs. We adjust our stock-based

compensation expense as actual forfeitures occur, review our estimated forfeiture rates each quarter and make changes to our estimate as appropriate.
 
Under SFAS No. 123(R), the fair value of each option award is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. We have segregated

option awards into three homogenous groups, officers and directors, all other employees, and consultants, for purposes of determining fair values of options.
 
We determined weighted-average valuation assumptions separately for each of these groups as follows:
 
·                  Volatility - - We estimated volatility using the historical share price performance over the expected life of the option up to the point where we have historical

market data. We also considered other factors, such as implied volatility, our current clinical trials and other company activities that may affect the volatility of
our stock in the future. We determined that at this time historical volatility is more indicative of our expected future stock performance.

 
·                  Expected term - We worked with various historical data to determine the most applicable expected term for each option group. These data included: (1) for options

exercised, term of the options from option grant date to exercise date; (2) for options cancelled, term of the options from grant date to cancellation date, excluding
unvested option forfeitures; and (3) for options which remained outstanding at the balance sheet date, term of the options from grant date to the end of the
reporting period, and the estimated remaining term of the options. The consideration and calculation of the above data gave us reasonable estimates of the
expected term for each option group. We also considered the vesting schedules of the options granted and factors surrounding exercise behavior of the option
groups, our current market price and company activity that may affect our market price. In addition, we also considered the vesting schedules of the options, the
optionee type (i.e., officers and directors, all other employees and consultants) and other factors that may affect the expected term of the option. For options
granted to consultants, we use the contractual term of the option, which is generally ten years, for the initial valuation of the option and the remaining contractual
term of the option for the succeeding periods.

 
·                  Risk-free interest rate - The risk-free interest rate is based on U.S. Treasury constant maturity rates with similar terms to the expected term of the options for each

option group.
 
·                  Forfeiture rate - We estimated the forfeiture rate using our historical experience with pre-vesting options. We review our forfeiture rates each quarter and make

changes as factors affecting our forfeiture rate calculations and assumptions change.
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4. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION (Continued)
 

·                  Dividend yield - The expected dividend yield is 0% as we have not paid and do not expect to pay dividends.
 
The following table summarizes the weighted-average assumptions relating to options granted pursuant to our equity incentive plans for the years ended

December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006:
 

 

Stock Option Plans
 

 

Year Ended
 

 

December 31,
 

 

2008
 

2007
 

2006
 

Risk-free interest rate 2.8 % 4.6 % 4.7 %
Expected term (in years) 4.5 4.1 4.4
Dividend yield 0.0 % 0.0 % 0.0 %
Expected volatility 93.0 % 79.6 % 95.6 %
 
Options are priced at the market price of our common stock on the date of grant, become exercisable at varying dates and generally expire ten years from the date of

grant. At December 31, 2008, options to purchase 4,485,639 shares of common stock were available for grant and 10,872,264 reserved shares of common stock were available
for future issuance under our stock option plans.

 
We recorded stock-based compensation expense of approximately $194,000, $209,000 and $267,000 for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006,

respectively, associated with options granted to consultants reflecting the fair value valuation and periodic fair value re-measurement of outstanding consultant options under
EITF No. 96-18, “Accounting for Equity Instruments That are Issued to Other Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with Selling, Goods or Services,” or EITF 96-18.
The valuation is based upon the current market value of our common stock and other assumptions, including the expected future volatility of our stock price, risk-free interest
rate and expected term. For consultant options granted on or after January 1, 2006, we amortized stock-based compensation using a straight-line attribution method consistent
with the method used for employees and with the attribution election we made upon adoption of SFAS No. 123(R). For options granted prior to January 1, 2006, we used the
accelerated method for expensing stock-based compensation. As of September 30, 2008, all of our outstanding consultant options were fully vested and the related stock-
based compensation expenses were fully recognized.
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4. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION (Continued)
 
Stock-based Compensation Award Activity
 

Option activity under our equity incentive plans was as follows:
 

   

Weighted-Average
 

Shares Available Number of
 

Weighted-Average
 

Remaining
 

Aggregate
For Grant Options

 

Exercise Price
 

Contractual Term
 

Intrinsic Value
Outstanding at January 1, 2006 1,694,834 3,893,219 $ 15.98
Authorized for grant 500,000 —
Granted (1,229,967 ) 1,229,967 $ 8.79
Exercised — (206,636) $ 7.96
Cancelled 511,339 (511,339) $ 14.72
            
Outstanding at December 31, 2006 1,476,206 4,405,211 $ 14.50
            
Authorized for grant 2,010,000 —
Granted (1,052,517 ) 1,052,517 $ 11.32
Exercised — (304,844) $ 12.96
Cancelled 72,967 (72,967) $ 15.92
            
Outstanding at December 31, 2007 2,506,656 5,079,917 $ 13.91
            
Authorized for grant 3,450,000 —
Granted (1,534,865 ) 1,534,865 $ 25.81
Exercised — (164,309) $ 10.19
Cancelled 63,848 (63,848) $ 18.63
            
Outstanding at December 31, 2008 4,485,639 6,386,625 $ 16.82 7.00 $ 625,764
            
Vested and expected to vest at
December 31, 2008 6,314,989 $ 16.82
            
Exercisable at December 31, 2008 5,262,038 $ 16.03 6.69 $ 610,924
            
Exercisable at December 31, 2007 3,944,713 $ 13.52
            
Exercisable at December 31, 2006 2,768,121 $ 13.39
Weighted average grant-date fair value of options

granted during 2008 $ 17.97
Weighted average grant-date fair value of options

granted during 2007 $ 7.00
Weighted average grant-date fair value of options

granted during 2006 $ 6.24
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4. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION (Continued)
 

The aggregate intrinsic value is calculated as the difference between the exercise price of the underlying awards and the quoted price of our common stock for the
options that were in-the-money at December 31, 2008. During the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, the aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised under
our stock option plans was approximately $2.4 million, $3.4 million and $470,000, respectively, determined as of the date of option exercise. As of December 31, 2008, there
was approximately $10.7 million of total unrecognized compensation cost, net of estimated forfeitures, related to unvested stock-based compensation arrangements granted
under our stock option plans and approximately $1.1 million of total unamortized compensation cost related to our Purchase Plan. The unamortized compensation cost related
to our stock option plans is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.19 years. We also had approximately 1.1 million of unvested stock options at
December 31, 2008. Future option grants and their valuation will increase our compensation cost in the future as the options are granted, valued and expensed ratably
according to their vesting periods.

 
Details of our stock options by exercise price are as follows as of December 31, 2008:

 
 

Options Outstanding
    

 

Number of
 

Weighted-Average
  

Options Exercisable
 

 

Outstanding
 

Remaining
 

Weighted-Average
 

Number of
 

Weighted-Average
 

Exercise Price
 

Options
 

Contractual Life
 

Exercise Price
 

Options
 

Exercise Price
 

$1.80-$8.15 666,678 5.90 $ 7.09 613,713 $ 7.04
$8.25-$9.93 1,271,979 5.41 8.62 1,209,956 8.57
$10.20-$11.36 568,436 7.87 10.94 334,592 10.92
$11.73-$14.75 614,509 7.85 11.94 614,509 11.94
$15.49-$22.54 670,249 6.10 19.25 601,889 19.07
$23.00-$24.56 1,288,747 6.74 23.84 1,035,527 23.80
$25.36-$40.50

1,306,027 9.06 26.45 851,852 26.46
            
$1.80 - $40.50 6,386,625 7.00 $ 16.82 5,262,038 $ 16.03
 
Employee Stock Purchase Plan



 
In August 2000, we adopted the Purchase Plan which was approved in September 2000 by our stockholders. In 2007, the Purchase Plan was amended to (i) increase

the number of shares authorized for purchase under the Purchase Plan by 1,500,000 and (ii) terminate the provision providing for an annual increase to the Purchase Plan,
effective January 1, 2008. The Purchase Plan permits eligible employees to purchase common stock at a discount through payroll deductions during defined offering periods.
The price at which the stock is purchased is equal to the lesser of 85% of the fair market value of the common stock on the first day of the offering or 85% of the fair market
value of our common stock on the purchase date. The initial offering period commenced on the effective date of our initial public offering. We issued 100,314, 146,243 and
159,380 shares of common stock during 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively, pursuant to the Purchase Plan at an average price of $11.54 per share, $7.28 per share and $7.21
per share, respectively. For 2008, 2007 and 2006, the weighted average fair value of stock issued under the Purchase Plan was $13.88, $2.80 and $4.95, respectively. The
number of shares reserved for future issuance under the Purchase Plan was increased by 1,500,000, 88,888 and 88,888 during 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. As of
December 31, 2008, we had 1,409,931 reserved shares of common stock for future issuance under the Purchase Plan.
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4. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION (Continued)
 

The fair value of awards granted under our Purchase Plan is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, which uses the weighted-
average assumptions set forth in the table below. Our Purchase Plan provides for a twenty-four month offering period comprised of four six-month purchase periods with a
look-back option. A look-back option is a provision in our Purchase Plan where eligible employees can purchase shares of our common stock at a price per share equal to the
lesser of 85% of the fair market value on the first day of the offering period or 85% of the fair market value on the purchase date. Our Purchase Plan also includes a feature that
provides for a new offering period to begin when the fair market value of our common stock on any purchase date during an offering period falls below the fair market value
of our common stock on the first day of such offering period. This feature is called a “reset.” Participants are automatically enrolled in the new offering period. We had a
“reset” for a new twenty-four month offering period starting on July 1, 2008 because the fair market value of our stock on June 30, 2008 was lower than the fair market value
of our stock on January 2, 2008, the first day of the offering period. We applied modification accounting in accordance with SFAS No. 123(R) to determine the incremental
fair value associated with this Purchase Plan “reset” and recognized the related stock-based compensation expense according to the FASB Technical Bulletin, or FTB, No. 97-
1, “Accounting Under Statement 123 for Certain Employee Stock Purchase Plans with a Look-back Option.” The total incremental fair value for this Purchase Plan “reset”
was $849,155, which will be recognized over the new twenty-four month offering period. We had another “reset” on January 2, 2009 because the fair market value of our
stock on December 31, 2008 was lower than the fair market value of our stock on July 1, 2008, the first day of the offering period.  We are assessing the incremental fair value
associated with this Purchase Plan “reset” which will be recorded beginning in the first quarter of 2009.

 
The following table summarizes the weighted-average assumptions related to our Purchase Plan for the twelve months ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006.

Expected volatilities for our Purchase Plan are based on the historical volatility of our stock. Expected term represents the weighted average of the purchase periods within the
offering period. The risk-free interest rate for periods within the expected term is based on U.S. Treasury constant maturity rates. There have been no significant changes in the
assumptions before and after the “reset” of our Purchase Plan in July 2008.

 
 

Employee Stock Purchase Plan
 

 

Year Ended
 

 

December 31,
 

 

2008
 

2007
 

2006
 

Risk-free interest rate 2.1 % 4.7 % 4.6 %
Expected term (in years) 1.3 0.6 1.2
Dividend yield 0.0 % 0.0 % 0.0 %
Expected volatility 99.0 % 45.5 % 109.9 %
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5. CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE SECURITIES
 

Cash, cash equivalents and available-for-sale securities consist of the following (in thousands):
 

December 31,
2008

 

2007
Checking account $ 491 $ 425
Money market funds 45,514 15,051
U. S. treasury bills 26,085 —
Government-sponsored enterprise securities 34,641 38,262
Corporate bonds and commercial paper 27,746 54,558
      

$ 134,477 $ 108,296
      
Reported as:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 46,005 $ 44,503
Available-for-sale securities 88,472 63,793
      

$ 134,477 $ 108,296
 
Cash equivalents and available-for-sale securities included the following securities with unrealized gains and losses (in thousands):

 
  

Gross
 

Gross
  

 

Amortized
 

Unrealized
 

Unrealized
 

Estimated
December 31, 2008

 

Cost
 

Gains
 

Losses
 

Fair Value
U. S. treasury bills $ 25,972 $ 113 $ — $ 26,085
Government-sponsored enterprise securities 34,501 140 — 34,641
Corporate bonds and commercial paper 27,603 143 — 27,746

          
Total $ 88,076 $ 396 $ — $ 88,472

          
   

Gross
 

Gross
  

 

Amortized
 

Unrealized
 

Unrealized
 

Estimated
December 31, 2007

 

Cost
 

Gains
 

Losses
 

Fair Value
Government-sponsored enterprise securities $ 38,256 $ 18 $ — $ 38,274



Corporate bonds and commercial paper 54,366 197 (5 ) 54,558
          
Total $ 92,622 $ 215 $ (5) $ 92,832

 
As of December 31, 2008, all of our cash equivalents and available-for-sale securities had maturities of less than one year.  At December 31, 2008, our available-for-

sale securities had a weighted average maturity of approximately 108 days. We have the ability to hold all investments as of December 31, 2008 to maturity.
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5. CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE SECURITIES (Continued)
 

At December 31, 2008 and 2007, we had no investment that has been in a continuous unrealized loss position for more than twelve months. As of December 31,
2007, a total of three individual securities were in an unrealized loss position for twelve months or less that was deemed to be temporary. The following table shows the
unrealized losses and fair values of these three securities as of December 31, 2007 by investment category (in thousands):
 

 

Estimated
Fair Value

 

Unrealized
Losses

Government-sponsored enterprise securities $ — $ —
Corporate bonds and commercial paper 6,394 (5 )

Total $ 6,394 $ (5)
 

6. FAIR VALUE
 

Under SFAS No. 157, fair value is defined as the price at which an asset could be exchanged or a liability transferred in a transaction between knowledgeable,
willing parties in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability. Where available, fair value is based on observable market prices or parameters or derived
from such prices or parameters. Where observable prices or parameters are not available, valuation models are applied.

 
Financial assets recorded at fair value in our financial statements are categorized based upon the level of judgment associated with the inputs used to measure their

fair value. Hierarchical levels, defined by SFAS No. 157 and directly related to the amount of subjectivity associated with the inputs to fair valuation of these assets and
liabilities, are as follows:

 
Level 1 — Inputs are unadjusted, quoted prices in active markets for identical assets at the reporting date.  Active markets are those in which transactions for the asset
or liability occur in sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.
 
The fair valued assets we hold that are generally included under this Level 1 are money market securities where fair value is based on publicly quoted prices.
 
Level 2 — Inputs are other than quoted prices included in Level 1, which are either directly or indirectly observable for the asset or liability through correlation with
market data at the reporting date and for the duration of the instrument’s anticipated life.
 
The fair valued assets we hold that are generally included under this Level 2 were government-sponsored enterprise securities, U. S. Treasury bills, corporate bonds
and commercial paper where fair value is based on valuation methodologies such as models using observable market inputs, including benchmark yields, reported
trades, broker/dealer quotes, bids, offers and other reference data.
 
Level 3 — Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities and which reflect
management’s best estimate of what market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability at the reporting date. Consideration is given to the risk inherent in
the valuation technique and the risk inherent in the inputs to the model.
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6. FAIR VALUE (Continued)
 

We carry no investments classified under Level 3.
 

Fair Value on a Recurring Basis
 

Financial assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis are categorized in the tables below based upon the lowest level of significant input to the valuations (in
thousands):
 

Assets at Fair Value as of December 31, 2008
Level 1 Level 2

 

Level 3
 

Total
Money market fund $ 45,514 $ — $ — $ 45,514
U. S. treasury bills — 26,085 — 26,085
Government-sponsored enterprise securities — 34,641 — 34,641
Corporate bonds and commercial paper — 27,746 — 27,746

          
Total $ 45,514 $ 88,472 $ — $ 133,986

 
7. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
 

Property and equipment consists of the following (in thousands):
 

 

December 31,
 

 

2008
 

2007
 

Laboratory and office equipment $ 19,019 $ 17,207
Construction in progress 5 5
      
Total property and equipment 19,024 17,212
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (15,457 ) (14,652 )



      
Property and equipment, net $ 3,567 $ 2,560

 
 During 2008, we disposed of approximately $694,000 of assets with related accumulated depreciation of approximately $619,000. In 2007, we disposed of

approximately $6,000 of assets with related accumulated depreciation of approximately $2,000.
 
At December 31, 2008 and 2007, equipment under capital leases included in property and equipment had a cost of approximately $5.2 million and $4.0 million,

respectively. Total depreciation expense, which includes amortization from equipment under capital leases, was $1.4 million, $1.3 million and $1.4 million for the years
ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.
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8. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS
 

At December 31, 2008, future minimum lease payments and obligations under all noncancelable leases were as follows (in thousands):
 

 

Capital
 

Operating
 

 

Leases
 

Leases
 

For years ending December 31,
2009 $ 1,504 $ 16,481
2010 1,261 14,561
2011 863 14,838
2012 45 15,354
2013 — 13,809
2014 and thereafter — 62,314
      
Total minimum payments required 3,673 $ 137,357
      
Less amount representing interest (281 )
Present value of future lease payments 3,392
Less current portion (1,339 )
      
Noncurrent obligations under capital leases $ 2,053

 
We entered into a build-to-suit lease agreement with our landlord in May 2001, and moved into our current facilities in February 2003. In January 2005, we entered

into an amendment with the landlord for our office lease to decrease the contractual rental commitments in 2005 by approximately $1.0 million. In July 2006, we amended our
facility lease again in order to defer certain rent payments originally to occur in 2006 and 2007. The deferred payments are due to be paid to the landlord over the period
starting from 2009 to 2012. We may prepay the deferred amount at any time without penalty. We reevaluated the lease amendment under SFAS No. 13, “Accounting for
Leases” and determined that the amended lease still qualified as an operating lease. In conjunction with the lease amendment, a warrant was issued to purchase 100,000 shares
of our common stock at $10.57 per share. The warrant remains exercisable until July 2013 and is exercisable at the option of the holder. See further discussion of the warrants
in Note 9—Stockholder’s Equity.

 
During May 2004, we initiated a sublease of approximately 15,000 square feet of our premises to a tenant for a period of two years. The sublease was amended in

September 2005 to extend the term for an additional year. In May 2007, we subleased approximately 6,180 square feet of our space to another tenant. The sublease was
terminated in March 2008. Rent expense, net of sublease income, under all operating leases amounted to approximately $14.5 million, $15.1million and $14.4 million for the
years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

 
In August 2000, we obtained a master agreement with a leasing company to finance our capital purchases. Under this agreement, from time to time we sell to the

leasing company at cost and lease back the equipment we purchased. The lease period is three years with the interest rate on the lease fixed at drawdown and ranging
approximately from 10.3% to 10.9%. Each line has a bargain purchase buyout provision of $101. We account for the sale-leaseback transaction as financing, with no sale and
no gain (loss) being recognized. As of December 31, 2008, the outstanding principal balance under the credit lines was approximately $714,000.
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8. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (Continued)
 

In January 2008, we obtained a new equipment lease line with a borrowing capability of $1.5 million.  Our borrowing capacity under this equipment lease line was
increased to $3.2 million in July 2008. Our ability to draw down on this line expired at the end of 2008. The repayment period from this line is three years beginning on the
date of each draw down, with the interest rate on the line fixed at each draw down. Each draw down has a bargain purchase buyout provision of $1. During the year 2008, we
drew down approximately $2.9 million, which is included in our capital lease obligation on our balance sheet. As of December 31, 2008, the outstanding principal balance
under the credit lines was approximately $2.7 million.

 
Obligations under all capital leases are secured by the assets financed under the leases.
 

9. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
 
Preferred Stock
 

We are authorized to issue 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock. As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, there were no issued and outstanding shares of preferred stock.
Our board of directors is authorized to fix or alter the designation, powers, preferences and rights of the shares of each such series of preferred shares, and the qualifications,
limitations or restrictions of any wholly unissued shares, to establish from time to time the number of shares constituting any such series, and to increase or decrease the
number of shares, if any.

 
Common Stock
 

During the first quarter of 2008, we completed an underwritten public offering in which we sold 5,000,000 shares of our common stock at a price of $27.00 per share
to the public. We received net proceeds of approximately $127.5 million after deducting underwriting discounts, and commissions and offering expenses.

 
Warrants



 
In conjunction with the facilities lease entered into in May 2001, we issued a warrant to the lessor to purchase 16,666 shares of our common stock at an exercise

price of $80.21 per share, a 15% premium to market at the time of issuance. This warrant expired in May 2006. The fair market value of this warrant, as determined using the
Black-Scholes valuation model, was approximately $683,000. This amount has been capitalized in other long-term assets and is being amortized into expense over the life of
the lease. As of December 31, 2008, approximately $413,000 remained to be amortized over the life of the lease.

 
In conjunction with the facilities lease amendment in October 2002, we issued a warrant to the lessor to purchase 55,555 shares of our common stock at an exercise

price of $17.73 per share. The warrant expired in October 2007. The fair value of this warrant, as determined using the Black-Scholes valuation model, was approximately
$565,000. This amount has been capitalized in other long-term assets and is being amortized into expense over the life of the lease. As of December 31, 2008, approximately
$342,000 remained to be amortized over the life of the lease.

 
In conjunction with the facilities lease amendment in July 2006, we issued a warrant to the lessor to purchase 100,000 shares of our common stock at an exercise

price of $10.57 per share. The warrant is outstanding as of December 31, 2008 and exercisable at any time up to July 2013. The fair value of this warrant, as determined using
the Black-Scholes valuation model, was approximately $801,000. The amount has been included in other long-term assets and is being amortized into expense over the life of
the lease. As of December 31, 2008, approximately $629,000 remained to be amortized over the life of the lease.
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9. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (Continued)
 

As of December 31, 2008, we had reserved shares of common stock for future issuance as follows:
 

 

December 31,
 

2008
Warrants 100,000
Incentive stock plans 10,872,264
Purchase Plan 1,409,931
    
Total 12,382,195

 
10. INCOME TAXES
 

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and
the amounts used for income tax purposes. Significant components of our deferred tax assets are as follows (in thousands):
 

 

December 31,
 

 

2008
 

2007
 

Deferred tax assets
Net operating loss carryforwards $ 152,034 $ 111,297
Research and development credits 19,511 15,469
Capitalized research and development expenses 19,815 15,671
Deferred compensation 15,282 7,647
Other, net 7,096 7,688

      
Total deferred tax assets 213,738 157,772
Valuation allowance (213,738 ) (157,772 )
      
Net deferred tax assets $ — $ —

 
As of December 31, 2008, we had net operating loss carryforwards for federal income tax purposes of approximately $431.0 million, which expire beginning in the

year 2011 and state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $94.0 million, which expire beginning in the year 2015.
 
We also have federal research and development tax credits of $14.1 million, which begin to expire in the year 2012 and state research and development tax credits of

approximately $12.2 million, which have no expiration date.  Federal refundable credit of $89,000 for 2008 was calculated based on fixed assets placed into service from
April 1, 2008 to December 31, 2008, in accordance with the provisions of the Housing and Economic Recovery Act of 2008.

 
Realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon future earnings, if any, the timing and amount of which are uncertain. Accordingly, the net deferred tax assets

have been fully offset by a valuation allowance. The valuation allowance increased by $56.0 million and $30.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007,
respectively.

 
Included in the valuation allowance balance at December 31, 2008 is $4.1 million of tax deductions related to the exercise of stock options which are not reflected as

an expense for financial reporting purposes. Accordingly, any future reduction in the valuation allowance relating to this amount will be credited directly to equity and not
reflected as an income tax benefit in the statement of operations.

 
Utilization of the net operating loss may be subject to annual limitations if there are ownership changes in the future. The limitations are subject to Internal Revenue

Code and similar state provisions and such limitations could result in the expiration of the net operating loss before utilization.
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10. INCOME TAXES (Continued)
 
Adoption of FASB Interpretation No. 48
 

On January 1, 2007, we adopted the provisions of FIN 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, which clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income
taxes recognized in accordance with SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes. The following table summarizes the activity related to our gross unrecognized tax benefits
(in thousands):
 

 

2008
 

2007
 

      



Balance at the beginning of the year
$ 3,400 $ 3,400

Increases related to prior year tax positions — —
Increases related to current year tax positions — —

      
Balance at the end of the year $ 3,400 $ 3,400

 
As of the date of adoption on January 1, 2007, we recorded a $3.4 million reduction to deferred tax assets for unrecognized tax benefits, all of which was offset by a

full valuation allowance and therefore did not record any adjustment to the beginning balance of retained earnings on the balance sheet. We do not anticipate a significant
change to its unrecognized tax benefits over the next twelve months.

 
We file income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and in California, and the tax returns filed for the years 2002 through 2007 have not been examined and

have not expired by the statute of limitations. Because of net operating loss and research credit carryovers, substantially all of our tax years remain open to examination.
 
Our policy is that we recognize interest and penalties accrued on any unrecognized tax benefits as a component of income tax expense. As of the date of adoption of

FIN 48, we did not have any accrued interest or penalties associated with any unrecognized tax benefits.
 

11. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
 

In February 2009, we announced that we have cut our research programs in virology and oncology as well as terminated certain related development and
administrative staff, which resulted in the dismissal of 36 employees or approximately 20% of our workforce. This measure is intended to maintain our emphasis on active
preclinical and clinical programs, while conserving our resources. We are still assessing the restructuring and other charges associated with this measure, which are expected
to be recorded in the first quarter of 2009.

 
On February 6, 2009, a purported securities class action lawsuit was commenced in the United States District Court for the Northern District of California, naming us

and certain of our officers, directors and underwriters as defendants for our February 2008 stock offering. The lawsuit alleges violations of the Securities Act of 1933 and the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 in connection with allegedly false and misleading statements made by us related to the results of a Phase II clinical trial of our product
candidate R788.  The plaintiff seeks damages, including rescission or rescissory damages for purchasers in the stock offering, an award of its costs and injunctive and/or
equitable relief for purchasers of our common stock during the period between December 13, 2007 and October 27, 2008, including purchasers in the stock offering. An
additional purported securities class action lawsuit containing similar allegations was subsequently filed in the United States District Court for the Northern District of
California on February 20, 2009.  It is possible that additional suits will be filed, or allegations received from stockholders, with respect to these same matters and also naming
us and/or our executive officers and directors as defendants. These lawsuits and any other related lawsuits are subject to inherent uncertainties and the actual cost will depend
upon many unknown factors. The outcome of the litigation is necessarily uncertain and we could be forced to expend significant resources in the defense of these lawsuits, and
we may not prevail. We are not currently able to estimate the possible cost to us from these matters, as the lawsuits are currently at an early stage and we cannot ascertain how
long it may take to resolve these matters. We have not established any reserve for any potential liability relating to these lawsuits. We believe that we have meritorious
defenses and intend to defend these lawsuits vigorously.
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12. SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA
 

(unaudited, in thousands, except per share amounts)
Year Ended December 31, 2008

 

Year Ended December 31, 2007
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

 

Q1
 

Q2
 

Q3
 

Q4
Revenue $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 2,644 $ 1,956 $ — $ 8,000
Net loss $ (27,262) $ (34,029) $ (37,691) $ (33,364) $ (17,081) $ (19,245) $ (18,944) $ (19,002)
Net loss per share, basic and diluted $ (0.79) $ (0.93) $ (1.03) $ (0.91) $ (0.68) $ (0.68) $ (0.61) $ (0.61)
Weighted average shares used in

computing net loss per share, basic
and diluted 34,417 36,505 36,581 36,584 25,184 28,355 31,030 31,084

 
Net loss in the fourth quarter of 2008 decreased mainly due to the reversal of the bonus expense of $3.0 million recorded in the previous quarters as we decided not to pay any
bonuses for 2008.
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